# Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies

**Edited by** Amira Mohammed Ali, Rasmieh Al-amer and Maha Atout

**Published in** Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Psychiatry





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2398-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2398-8

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies

#### **Topic editors**

Amira Mohammed Ali — Alexandria University, Egypt Rasmieh Al-amer — Western Sydney University, Australia Maha Atout — Philadelphia University, Jordan

#### Citation

Ali, A. M., Al-amer, R., Atout, M., eds. (2023). Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2398-8

# 🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

# Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies Amira Mohammed Ali, Maha Atout and Rasmieh Al-Amer
- 08 Teachers' Burnout Risk During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Relationships With Socio-Contextual Stress—A Latent Profile Analysis Camelia-Mădălina Răducu and Elena Stănculescu
- 18 Semantics–Prosody Stroop Effect on English Emotion Word Processing in Chinese College Students With Trait Depression Fei Chen, Jing Lian, Gaode Zhang and Chengyu Guo
- 29 Network Analysis of the Relationship Between Trait Depression and Impulsiveness Among Youth Jingxuan Zhang, Kuiliang Li, Yitong Xue and Zhengzhi Feng
- 41 Nurses experience of caring for patients with COVID-19: A phenomenological study Rasmieh Al-amer, Maram Darwish, Malakeh Malak, Amira Mohammed Ali, Kadejeh Al weldat, Abdulmajeed Alkhamees

Amira Mohammed Ali, Kadejeh Al weldat, Abdulmajeed Alkhamees, Khaled S. Alshammari, Yacoub Abuzied and Sue Randall

- 50 Factors influencing hospital anxiety and depression among emergency department nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic: A multi-center cross-sectional study Naif S. Alzahrani, Abdulaziz Mofdy Almarwani, Saeed A. Asiri, Hanan F. Alharbi and Fahad M. Alhowaymel
- 60 Impact of the self-directed learning approach and attitude on online learning ineffectiveness: The mediating roles of internet cognitive fatigue and flow state Mingming Shao, Jon-Chao Hong and Li Zhao
- 71 Determining the association between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms among over-65-year-old people: The moderating role of outdoor activities

Rixiang Xu, Yulian Liu, Tingyu Mu, Yaping Ye and Caiming Xu

81 Psychological effects and associated factors among vaccinated and unvaccinated general population against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh Md. Dhedharul Alam, Md. Joynal Abedin, Asraful Islam,

Md. Mosfeq-Ul-Hasan, Obaydur Rahman and Yi Xu

98 Anticipatory threat responses mediate the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety: A cross-sectional study Yuanyuan Xu, Wengiang Huang, Xiaofan Yan, Fang Lu and Min Li 111 Psychometric evaluation of the depression anxiety stress scale 8-items (DASS-8)/DASS-12/DASS-21 among family caregivers of patients with dementia

Amira Mohammed Ali, Rana Ali Alameri, Amin Omar Hendawy, Rasmieh Al-Amer, Ghada Shahrour, Esraa M. Ali, Abdulmajeed A. Alkhamees, Nashwa Ibrahim and Bothaina Hussein Hassan

124 Living alone is associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in a population-based cross-sectional study

Te-Yu Chen, Jiun-Hung Geng, Szu-Chia Chen and Jia-In Lee

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Wulf Rössler, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

\*CORRESPONDENCE Amira Mohammed Ali ⊠ amira.mohali@alexu.edu.eg

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 13 March 2023 ACCEPTED 17 March 2023 PUBLISHED 27 April 2023

#### CITATION

Ali AM, Atout M and Al-Amer R (2023) Editorial: Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies. *Front. Public Health* 11:1185503. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1185503

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ali, Atout and Al-Amer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies

#### Amira Mohammed Ali<sup>1\*</sup>, Maha Atout<sup>2</sup> and Rasmieh Al-Amer<sup>3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatric Nursing and Mental Health, Faculty of Nursing, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, <sup>2</sup>School of Nursing, Philadelphia University, Amman, Jordan, <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Nursing, Isra University, Amman, Jordan, <sup>4</sup>School of Nursing and Midwifery, Western Sydney University, Penrith, NSW, Australia

#### KEYWORDS

mental distress, dementia family caregivers, emotional processing, COVID-19 vaccine, loneliness, Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-8, older adults, college students

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Psychological distress in healthy, vulnerable, and diseased groups: Neurobiological and psychosocial bases, detection methods, and creative management strategies

Psychological distress is described as the non-specific mental symptoms of depression, anxiety, personality traits, and multiple psychological (e.g., burnout), somatic, and behavioral problems. It results from complex dynamics (social, psychological, neurochemical, etc.) associated with overwhelming and sustained stress and painful experiences. The COVID-19-related psychological impact has been widely addressed in this article collection. Nurses are directly involved in COVID-19 care, and two studies have denoted that their physical and mental health may considerably suffer. Alzahrani et al. reported a 63.8 and 68.8% prevalence of depression and anxiety, respectively, among emergency nurses in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic. Significant risk factors associated with anxiety and depression were low physical activity and working in urban areas. Using a purposive sampling approach, Al-Amer et al. interviewed 10 Jordanian nurses from a hospital designated for COVID-19 patients to explore the experience of Arab nurses of caring for COVID-19 patients. The themes generated from the qualitative data uncovered an impact of COVID-19 on nurses' health, unfamiliar work and social environments, and a need to conform to professional standards. The study highlighted specific risks to the physical and mental wellbeing of Arab nurses caring for COVID-19 patients.

Because of pandemic distress, especially among those caring for irreversible and chronic conditions, Ali et al. used data from an online survey of dementia family caregivers to examine the psychometrics of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8-items (DASS-8) relative to two longer distress measures. The DASS-8 demonstrated adequate validity (construct, measurement invariance, convergent, criterion, and discriminant) relative to the DASS-12 and DASS-21. Known-group validity tests revealed greater distress among female caregivers,

the adult children of care recipients, those caring for patients with high dependency in their activities of daily living, and those who received help with care (e.g., from health professionals). The DASS-8 revealed higher distress and strongly correlated with loneliness, suggesting its usability for identifying caregivers with greater proneness to psychopathology.

Because of the failure of lockdowns and traditional protective measures against COVID-19, vaccines have been promoted by the WHO to limit infection transmission, leading to many reported concerns regarding their safety and efficacy in different countries around the world. Based on a nationwide survey in Bangladesh, Alam et al. investigated the psychological effects and associated factors among individuals who received or did not receive COVID-19 vaccines. Consistent with similar studies, vaccinated individuals had significantly lower prevalence rates of psychological distress (36.4 vs. 51.5%), depression (21.1 vs. 37.9%), anxiety (25.1 vs. 44.9%), stress (19.4 vs. 30.4%), PTSD (29.4 vs. 38.3%), insomnia (18.7 vs. 39.4%), and fear symptoms (16.1 vs. 27.5%) than those who were not vaccinated, especially those who were employed or living in Dhaka. Among vaccinated people, living in nuclear families and losing family members or friends because of COVID-19 were associated with greater levels of distress, depression, anxiety, fear, and post-traumatic stress symptomatology.

Harboring large numbers of students and teachers, the school environment has been extensively affected by COVID-19-related closures and the strict emphasis on the use of protective measures, which represented a cause of stress for teachers, students, and families. Răducu and Stănculescu examined the burnout profiles of 330 Romanian kindergarten and primary school teachers and their association with various stressors, including workload, student misbehavior, lack of recognition, and poor colleague relationships. The study uncovered four burnout profiles, with high workload, student misbehavior, and lack of recognition being the main stressors. Better career opportunities, time management, and classroom management could help prevent teacher burnout, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, which has increased burnout symptoms.

The mental health of university students has also been addressed in many studies. Chen F. et al. studied the psychological mechanisms of English emotion word processing under the semantics-prosody Stroop effect paradigm in quiet and noisy listening environments among Chinese college students with trait depression (TD). Compared with low-TD students, high-TD students displayed a marked lack of sensitivity toward emotions. The Stroop effect influenced emotion word processing automatically, regardless of trait severity or listening conditions. While the speech-shaped noise backdrop had no effect, the participants were more affected by the Stroop effect when doing prosody tasks and recognizing emotions than when performing semantic activities and identifying the valence of English words. The results suggest an emotional processing disadvantage in individuals with high TD and the congruence-induced facilitation effect in the general Stroop effect. In another study, Zhang et al. examined the relationships among several aspects of TD and their relative relevance. The results of a network analysis confirmed that trait anhedonia relates to non-planning and cognitive impulsiveness, whereas trait dysthymia relates to motor impulsiveness, confirming that cognitive impulsiveness is an underlying characteristic of depression susceptibility, and trait dysthymia is a significant component connecting impulsiveness with trait sadness. Anhedonia and dysthymia seem to be distinct components in impulsive personality, and their management may aid the prevention of depression in this population. Moreover, Xu Y. et al. measured intolerance of uncertainty (IU) and electroencephalographic responses to uncertainty in trait-anxious (TA) and non-TA students to investigate whether mitigating anticipatory threat responses is a potential mechanism through which mindfulness may alleviate anxiety. In the predictable and unpredictable threat test, excessive anticipatory responses to unpredictable threats [IU, late positive potential (LPP), and reaction time (RT)] were high among TA students, along with low mindfulness. In uncertain threats, there were significant mediating effects of the LPP amplitude and RT on the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety. Shao et al. examined the factors influencing the effectiveness of online learning among 377 university students. A self-directed learning approach and attitude had a negative effect on the students' internet cognitive fatigue and a positive effect on their flow. Perceived learning ineffectiveness was positively influenced by internet cognitive fatigue and negatively influenced by the flow state. To enhance the effectiveness of online learning, online teachers may need to focus on improving students' self-directed learning awareness, attitude, and approach.

Living alone has been related to poor mental health, but largescale epidemiological research on the association between living alone and depression and anxiety is scarce. Chen T. Y. et al. evaluated the correlation between living alone and psychiatric illness in a large population-based study. It revealed a statistically significant correlation between the two variables in married but not unmarried subjects. Given that living alone may be a risk factor for psychiatric illness in married individuals, it is important to enhance care delivery to married individuals living alone due to divorce, separation, or the death of their spouse in order to safeguard their physical and mental health. In a related study, Xu R. et al. used data from the Chinese Longitudinal Healthy Longevity Survey to examine the relationship between living arrangements and depressive symptoms among older adults (over 65). Living arrangements significantly correlated with the risk for depressive symptoms, with those living alone or in assisted living institutions expressing a higher risk than those living with household members. However, engaging in outdoor activities played a moderating role and reduced the risk of depression among older adults living in assisted living institutions.

# Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.



# Teachers' Burnout Risk During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Relationships With Socio-Contextual Stress—A Latent Profile Analysis

#### Camelia-Mădălina Răducu<sup>†</sup> and Elena Stănculescu<sup>\*†</sup>

Department of Psychology, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rasmieh Al-Amer, Isra University, Jordan

#### Reviewed by:

Marcos Carmona-Halty, Universidad de Tarapacá, Chile Maha Subih, Al-Zaytoonah University of Jordan, Jordan Latefa Dardas, The University of Jordan, Jordan

#### \*Correspondence:

Elena Stănculescu elena.stanculescu@fpse.unibuc.ro

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 05 February 2022 Accepted: 28 March 2022 Published: 25 April 2022

#### Citation:

Răducu C-M and Stănculescu E (2022) Teachers' Burnout Risk During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Relationships With Socio-Contextual Stress—A Latent Profile Analysis. Front. Psychiatry 13:870098. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.870098 The purpose of this cross-sectional study was to identify distinct burnout profiles of teachers and to examine their association with work-related stressors, such as workload, students' misbehavior, classroom resources, professional recognition needs and poor colleague relations, as well as socio-demographic variables. Survey data were collected from 330 kindergarten and primary school teachers (84 males,  $M_{age} = 38.3$ , SD = 9.14). The latent profile analysis revealed four distinct profiles. The antecedents of teacher burnout (TB) profiles were the stress generated by workload, students' misbehavior, and low professional recognition. The socio-demographic variables, with the exception of gender, were covariates of the TB profiles. The findings implies that career opportunities prospects, classroom management and time-management programs may be useful in preventing teacher burnout.

Keywords: teacher burnout, work-related stress, psychological profile, COVID-19, online teaching, mixture modeling approach

# **INTRODUCTION**

In this very difficult time for people worldwide, teachers are one of the most challenged groups of workers (1). Being forced to adapt in a short time to new ways of working that include social distancing in classrooms, hybrid teaching and virtual instructions (2), teachers have reported increased levels of anxiety, difficulties in communication and a lack of administrative support (3). All these new stressors proximal to burnout added to the fear generated by COVID-19, which almost all people have experienced (4). A report to UNESCO (5) emphasized the importance of studying the psychological effects of the pandemic on most challenged workers so that the knowledge gained may be applied to prevent and alleviate the difficulties encountered by them in predicted future waves. In this regard, our purpose is to respond to this call by shedding light on stressors that contribute to teacher burnout (TB) in order to help support and enable teachers to meet the next challenges of the pandemic.

# TEACHERS' WORK-RELATED STRESS AND BURNOUT

After decades of research confirming that teaching is a stressful profession (6–8), it has been emphasized that understanding why stress is so pervasive in the field of education can help prevent it (9).

The burnout phenomenon has been conceptualized as a psychological response to prolonged work-related stress that affects one's health and emotional balance (10). The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the social connections of all people, generating new challenges at home and at work (10). In this regard, the socio-contextual burnout proposed by Pietarinen et al. (11) highlights a more social side of teacher burnout and describes three distinct symptoms: (i) exhaustion characterized by a lack of emotional energy and a feeling of being overwhelmed and tired at work; (ii) cynicism represented by detachment from the job in general, as well as from the teaching community and (iii) inadequacy in teacher-pupil interaction. Literature on this particular type of burnout is scarce but very relevant to the current working conditions of teachers.

Extensive previous research on TB has identified several individual and environmental factors that significantly contribute to TB before (12, 13) and during the COVID-19 pandemic (3, 14). Individual factors, such as gender and experience, have been discussed (15, 16). Other individual aspects, such as emotional intelligence (17, 18), personality traits (19, 20) and self-efficacy (14, 21) are also factors that influence TB. In this regard, previous studies have highlighted those seasoned teachers are less likely to experience burnout symptoms compared to younger teachers, while teachers with increased emotional intelligence and self-efficacy but less neurotics are more protected from experiencing burnout symptoms.

Furthermore, the most popular framework that explains the processes involved in professional stress and burnout is Lazarus and Folkman's (22) transactional model. According to this model, the activities undertaken by an individual (cognitive, emotional, behavioral and physiological reactions) to deal with a situation perceived as stressful will or will not allow them to overcome this situation. Additionally, this model emphasizes the importance of the cognitive evaluations that the subject makes of the situation and their own resources (personal and social) and highlights the influence of the individual's attempts to change the situation or themselves through coping strategies. In the educational field, Kyriacou (23) adopted the theoretical conceptualization put forward by Lazarus and Folkman (22) to predict school teachers' reactions. Thus, they defined teacher stress as "the experience by a teacher of negative, unpleasant emotions, such as anger, tension, frustration, depression, which result from a certain aspect of working as a teacher" (23). According to Kyriacou's (24) model of teacher stress, potential stressors are seen as antecedents of teacher stress. The main stressors are physical (e.g., many students in the class) and psychological (e.g., poor colleague relationships). The effect of stressors at work is mediated by coping mechanisms. If coping mechanisms are inadequate, stress occurs. According to the model, teachers' stress is considered to have a negative effect on several dimensions: psychological (e.g., dissatisfaction at work), physiological (e.g., high blood pressure) and behavioral (e.g., absenteeism). Previous studies have examined a wide range of potential variables that have influenced teacher stress, including school environment, classroom and instructional factors (25-28).

Another model introduced to identify precursors of work burnout due to excessive work is the job demands-resources (JD-R) framework (29). In this model, job demands are physical, psychological and social organizational aspects of the job that require physical and/or sustained psychological efforts or skills. Job resources are physical, psychological, social or organizational aspects of the job that are functional in achieving work objectives. These resources are compensatory responses to deficits in meeting demand; they are also recognized as catalysts for growth and development. Stress and burnout result from a subjective mismatch assessed between job demands and resources. A balance of job demands and resources would mean that individuals—in this case, teachers—could successfully fulfill their responsibilities and not experience stress and burnout symptoms. This model has been successfully involved in identifying the resources and job demands that lead to teacher stress and burnout before (30, 31) and during the pandemic (32).

Concerning environmental stressors in the pandemic context, the literature has often discussed organizational factors as important influences on TB. In this regard, time pressure and workload (33, 34), the lack of social and administrative support (9, 35, 36), teaching demands (3) and technostress (37) significantly contribute to TB in the pandemic context. In Romanian settings, before pandemic, as in other countries (19, 31, 38), the work overload and student misbehavior were positively associated with teacher burnout (39), while their low emotional intelligence and high level of neuroticism predicted the onset of burnout symptoms (18). However, the link between stressors and teacher burnout during the pandemic, in a cultural context, has not yet been studied.

In terms of measuring teachers' stressors, Boyle et al. (40) proposed a five-factor model based on teacher stress model (23) that includes workload, students' misbehavior, professional recognition needs, classroom resources and poor colleague relations as main sources of stress for teachers. As far as we know, no previous research has tried to profile TB in relation to stressors in and before a pandemic. Therefore, we examined all dimensions of teachers' stress from Boyle's model and their impact on TB profiles in the pandemic context.

Most of the previous research aimed at profiling TB focused only on clustering it with protective factors, such as self-efficacy, well-being, resilience and coping strategies (16, 41, 42), classroom management and social support (43, 44). Less attention has been paid to identifying those stressors that are the most challenging for teachers and taking into account their predictive role in TB profiles. Therefore, our study goes a step beyond previous studies that identified proactive strategies and other protective factors to emphasize that it is equally important to determine what stressors teachers struggle with during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **AIM OF THE STUDY**

The main purpose of the current research was to explore how various types of work-related stress among preschool and primary school teachers impact TB risk profiles. More specifically, we first determined whether there were distinct profiles of exhaustion, inadequacy and cynicism that might capture different patterns of TB. Second, we verified antecedents of profiles, namely various types of teacher stress, such as workload, students' misbehavior, professional recognition needs, classroom resources and poor colleague relations. The research design was developed in the framework of the job demands– resources model of burnout (29) and the transactional model of stress proposed by Lazarus and Folkman (22). The job demands–resources model highlights that high workload or work demands and low levels of resources are associated with job strain. According to the transactional model of stress, when one's perceived ability to cope is exceeded by perceived demands, the stress response intensifies.

Based on previous studies that highlighted burnout symptoms experienced by teachers in the COVID-19 pandemic (3, 16, 42), we determined the first research question (RQ):

(RQ1) Are there different teacher profiles in terms of experienced socio-contextual burnout consisting of exhaustion, cynicism toward the professional community and inadequacy in teacher –pupil interaction during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Furthermore, considering previous studies on the relationship between stressors such as workload (34), professional recognition (8, 45), student misbehavior (38), classroom resources (19), social support (44) and TB, we developed the next question:

(RQ2) Do teachers with the different profiles differ from each other in terms of experienced stressors, such as workload, professional recognition needs, students' misbehavior, classroom resources and poor colleague relations, during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Taking into account the previous study that highlighted the association between socio-demographic variables and TB profiles (16), we determined the last question:

(RQ3) Are socio-demographic variables—that is, gender, teaching level, professional experience and urban or rural teaching environment—covariates of TB profiles?

# **METHODS**

#### **Participants**

Our sample included 330 educators (75% women,  $M_{age} = 38.3$  years, SD = 9.14), of which 108 worked at the preschool level and 222 at the primary school level. Their reported professional experience was less than two years (4.5%), between two and five years (10.9%), between five and 10 years (19.1%), between 10 and 20 years (25.5%) and more than 20 years (40%). Using a convenience sampling method, we selected the teachers from the register of district Teachers Council The total response rate of the e-mail paper survey sent to teachers was 45%. The selection criteria for inclusion in this study were a primary or preschool level of teaching.

### Procedure

The current study had a cross-sectional design based on responses to a survey that comprised three sections. The first section included the study details, the informed consent and the guaranteed confidentiality of all data obtained. The second section included participants' socio-demographic information, such as gender, teaching grades, years of professional experience and urban or rural teaching environment. The last section involved reporting the levels of burnout and stress. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the recommendations and approval by Bucharest University Ethics Committee (no 11/26.04.2021). Data were collected during the 2021 spring break via Google Forms, the questionnaires being sent to teachers by e-mail.

#### Measures

The Romanian translation of all measures used in the current study was performed according to the recommended forwardbackward translation procedures described by Sousa and Rojjanasrirat (46).

The Socio-Contextual Teacher Burnout Inventory (STBI) (11) was used to measure TB. This nine-item scale (sample item: "With this work pace, I don't think I'll make it to the retiring age") employed a Likert scale from 1-completely disagree to 7completely agree. The established three constructs were teacher exhaustion (item e.g., "I feel burnt out."), cynicism toward the teacher community (item e.g., "I often feel like an outsider in my work community.") and inadequacy in the pupil-teacher relationship (item e.g., The challenging pupils make me question my abilities as a teacher."). There is currently no study in the literature that indicates a cut-off for this scale. Therefore, according to the study of Pyhältö et al. (16), we considered that as the scores are higher, the burnout level is also higher. More precisely, we considered that depending on the answers given on the Likert scale from 1 to 7, we will have the following thresholds: 1-3—no burnout; 4-6—very low burnout; 7-9—mild burnout; 10-12-moderate burnout; 13-15-high moderate burnout; 16-18-high burnout; 19-21-very high burnout. In our sample, STBI proved very good psychometric properties in terms of: (i) internal consistency ( $\omega_{hierarchical} = 0.91$ ,  $\omega_{exhaustionl} = 0.88$ ,  $\omega_{inadeguacy} = 0.85, \, \omega_{cynicism} = 0.80; \, CR = 0.94);$  (ii) convergent validity (AVE = 0.64); and (iii) construct validity (CFI = 0.97, TLI = 0.95, RMSEA = 0.06, CI [0.04, 0.09], SRMSEA = 0.02,  $\lambda_s$ ranged between 0.57 and 0.86).

The Teacher Stress Inventory (TSI) measures work-related teacher stress (40). This scale comprises 20 items (e.g., "Level of stress concerning noisy pupils") and uses a Likert scale from 0-no stress to 4-extreme stress to assess teachers' stress in five dimensions-workload (item e.g., "Level of stress concerning to much work to do"), students' misbehavior (item e.g., "Level of stress concerning maintaining class discipline."), professional recognition needs (item e.g., "Level of stress concerning poor career structure/poor promotion prospects."), classroom resources (item e.g., "Level of stress concerning lack of time to spend with individual pupils.") and poor colleague relations (item e.g., "Level of stress concerning attitudes and behaviors of other teachers."). In our sample, TSI proved good psychometric properties in terms of: (i) internal consistency ( $\omega_{hierarchical} = 0.92, \omega_{profrecognition} = 0.80,$  $\omega_{stdbehavior} = 0.88, \, \omega_{workvol} = 0.60, \, \omega_{workresources} = 0.87, \, \omega_{relations}$ = 0.82; CR = 0.94); (ii) convergent validity (AVE = 0.53); and (iii) construct validity (CFI = 0.95, TLI = 0.93, RMSEA = 0.07, CI [0.05, 0.09], SRMSEA = 0.03,  $\lambda_s$  ranged between 0.59 and 0.83). Socio-demographic variables such as gender, teaching level, professional experience and urban or rural teaching environment were collected.

# **Data Analysis**

Latent profile analysis (LPA) was performed to identify sets of mutually exclusive and exhaustive latent profiles using continuous indicator variables, that is, the three dimensions of TB-exhaustion, inadequacy and cynicism. LPA is a mixture modeling technique by which groups of people are captured based on similarities in their responses to various research variables, in our study the three dimensions of TB. LPA analysis was conducted using Mplus 8.6 software (47). The robust maximum likelihood (RML) estimator was used, as it produces robust standard errors to handle non-normally distributed data. Models with 2-5 classes were considered, each with three indicators, that is, the dimensions of TB. We run Monte Carlo analysis to compute the specific fit indicators for statistical power to detect the correct number of profiles in LPA, as recommended by Tein et al. (48) and Spurk et al. (49). Optimal model selection was based on several information criteria-log likelihood (LL), Akaike information criterion (AIC), Bayesian information criterion (BIC), sample size-adjusted BIC (SSA-BIC) and entropy R<sup>2</sup>. Lower values for the AIC, BIC and SSA-BIC indicate a better balance between model fit and parsimony, while higher values for entropy (i.e. > 0.80) indicate better classification utility and class separation. Supplementary testsan adjusted Lu-Mendell-Rubin likelihood ratio test (aLMR) and a bootstrap likelihood ratio test (BLRT)-were performed in order to compare the subsequent models. A statistically significant test result (p < 0.05) indicates that the model with k classes fits the data better than the model with one latent class less, that is, k-1 classes (50). Additionally, solution stability was checked to assure the maximum likelihood solution is replicated using multiple sets of random starting variables. Model identification was evaluated with 1,000 sets of random starting values for all models, 100 iterations and 100 solutions retained for final stage optimization. After identification of the profiles, we testified the predictive role of various types of teacher stress on profile membership using multinomial logistic regression computed with the R3STEP procedure. Baseline-category multinomial logistic regression provides the increase in odds of membership in a target latent profile compared to other profiles for one-unit increases in the predictor, that is, various types of teacher stress. The association between socio-demographic variables-gender, teaching level, professional experience and urban/rural teaching environmentand profile membership was conducted based on multinomial logistic regression with an R3STEP approach.

# RESULTS

The descriptive statistics for sociodemographic variables are shown in **Table 1**.

Furthermore, the profile indicators and predictors of profile membership are depicted in **Table 2**.

# **Latent Profile Solutions**

Fit statistics from the LPA models, that is, two-profile to fiveprofile solutions, are set out in **Table 3**. As can be seen, gradual improvement was observed up to the four-profile solution, and the five-profile solution decreased the quality of the classification. TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics for sociodemographic variables.

Variable Frequency (Valid%		
Male	84 (25.5%)	
Female	246 (74.5%)	
Preschool	108 (32.7%)	
Primary school	222 (67.3%)	
<2	15 (4.5%)	
2–5 36	(10.9%)	
6–10	63 (19.1%)	
11-20	84 (25.5%)	
>20	132 (40.0%)	
Urban	217 (65.8%)	
Rural	113 (34,2%)	
	Male Female Preschool Primary school <2 2–5 36 6–10 11–20 >20 Urban	

TABLE 2 | Profile indicators and predictors of profile membership.

	M (SD)	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
Exhaustion	12.18 (4.51)	3	21	-0.10	-0.80
Inadequacy	9.79 (4.88)	3	21	0.36	-0.90
Cynicism	11.66 (5.31)	3	21	-0.19	-1.24
Stress workload	4.38 (1.99)	0	8	-0.47	-0.40
Stress students' misbehavior	11.64 (5.87)	0	24	-0.04	-0.94
Stress low professional recognition	3.71 (2.06)	0	8	0.04	-0.59
Stress low resources	4.76 (2.41)	0	8	-0.20	-1.06
Stress poor colleagues relations	5.06 (3.05)	0	12	0.21	-0.85

the significant V-L-M-R Likelihood results (<0.5) averaged over replications as indicating that the study had enough power or capacity to correctly recover a four-profile vs. a three-profile solution Although some of the fit indicators—LL, AIC, BIC and SSQ-BIC—had the lowest values for the five-profile solution, entropy was lowest and the best loglikelihood value has been not replicated for the model including five-profile solution. The aLMR value was not significant for the five-profile solution but was significant for the four-profile solution. Consequently, these results lent support for the four-profile solution as the best fitting model for the present study's data. Additionally, in the fourprofile model, the average latent profile probabilities for the most likely profile were 0.97, 0.87, 0.94 and 0.91. All were well above the cut-off (> 0.80) recommended by Watson et al. (51).

# Four-Profile Model of TB Risk

The model best fitted to our data, the four-profile model of TB risk, is depicted in **Figure 1**, taking into account within-profile item means obtained for each indicator of profile membership, that is exhaustion, inadequacy and cynicism.

Parameter estimates for overall item respectively withinprofile item means for the four-profile model are set out in **Table 4**. As can be seen, the first profile, *Low burnout* 

#### TABLE 3 | Model fit information for latent profile analysis.

No. of profiles	Free parameters	LL	AIC	BIC	SSA-BIC	Entropy	aLMR	BLRT
		070 / 70	5 400 50		5 405 70		5 ( 0, ( 0, 0 0))	
2	10	-2704.76	5429.52	5467.51	5435.79	0.880	518.40 (0.00)	0.00
3	14	-2588.96 - <b>2561.22</b>	5205.92 <b>5158.45</b>	5259.10	5214.69	0.897	222.03 (0.00)	0.00
4	18			5226.83	5169.74	0.883	<b>53.17 (0.00)</b>	0.00
5	22	-2531.01	5105.03	5189.61	5119.83	0.879	57.92 (0.15)	0.0

Bold indicates best fitted model. LL, log likelihood; AIC, Akaike information criterion; BIC, Bayesian information criterion; SSA-BIC, sample size adjusted BIC; aLMR, adjusted Lu-Mendell-Rubin likelihood ratio test; BLRT, bootstrapped likelihood ratio test.



TABLE 4 | Parameter estimates for the four-profile model.

		Low risk	Mild risk 2	High moderate risk 3	High risk 4
Profile prevalence		<i>n</i> = 103	n = 103	n = 90	<i>n</i> = 34
Profile indicators	Overall item means		Within	-profile means	
	( <b>SD</b> )		Es	timate (SE)	
Exhaustion	12.18 (5.31)	7.39 (0.29)	12.56 (0.32)	15.04 (0.36)	17.90 (0.79
Inadequacy	9.79 (4.88)	4.74 (0.18)	8.59 (0.22)	13.82 (0.46)	18.02 (0.59
Cynicism	11.69 (4.51)	4.97 (0.17)	12.18 (0.33)	15.96 (0.23)	18.87 (0.54

*risk*, included 31.2% of the teachers and was characterized by low levels of exhaustion and very low levels of inadequacy in the teacher-student relationship and cynicism toward the professional community. These results are significantly less than those obtained in all other profiles. The second profile, *Mild burnout risk*, included 31.2% of the teachers and was defined by moderate levels of exhaustion and cynicism on the one hand and low levels of inadequacy on the other. Therefore, the teachers with this profile have mild burnout risk, especially in terms of exhaustion and cynicism. The third profile, *High moderate burnout risk*, included 27.3% of the teachers and was characterized by high moderate exhaustion, inadequacy and cynicism. These results reveal a simultaneously increased pattern of all three symptoms of TB risk. The final profile, *High burnout risk*, included 10.3% of the teachers and was characterized by a similar pattern to the previous one but with higher levels of all three indicators.

**TABLE 5** | Effects of predictors on membership in latent profiles of TB risk. Odds ratios (OR), 95% confidence interval for the effects of work-related stress on TB profile membership.

Burnout profile	Odds ratio (OR)	LL2.5%	UL2.5%
Reference profile: Low burnout risk			
"Mild burnout risk"			
Stress workload	2.190***	1.399	3.429
Stress student's misbehavior	1.410***	1.241	1.601
Stress professional recognition	1.180	0.911	1.528
Stress classroom resources	0.669	0.518	0.864
Stress poor relations	1.218	0.944	1.573
"High moderate burnout risk"			
Stress workload	3.139***	1.878	5.248
Stress student's misbehavior	2.146***	1.761	2.615
Stress professional recognition	0.971	0.677	1.392
Stress classroom resources	0.532	0.374	0.756
Stress poor relations	1.197	0.840	1.706
High burnout risk			
Stress workload	1.314	0.778	1.927
Stress student's misbehavior	0.865	0.387	1.937
Stress professional recognition	5.664**	3.124	8.178
Stress classroom resources	0.351	0.081	1.515
Stress poor relations	1.109	0.902	1.986

LL, lower limit of the confidence interval; UL, upper limit.

\*\*p < 0.01.

#### \*\*\*p < 0.001.

### **Antecedents of Latent Profiles**

Having as reference the Low burnout risk profile, we noticed there was a significant tendency to increase the sources of stress generated by workload and students' behavior but only at the level of the Mild burnout risk and High moderate burnout risk profiles. In other words, these types of stress have a more pronounced impact on the high moderate than the mild burnout risk profile. Our findings revealed an interesting pattern. In the case of the High burnout risk profile, although the odds ratio (OR) for stress generated by workload was > 1, it did not reach the threshold of statistical significance and did not have a significantly higher contribution to this profile membership. The same pattern was obtained in the case of stress related to poor colleagues relations, that is OR > 1, p = 0.64. The stress generated by students' misbehavior did not have a significant impact either (OR < 1, p > 0.05). Furthermore, the results showed that the only significant contribution was the stress generated by low professional recognition, as set out in Table 5.

# Socio-Demographic Variables as Covariates of TB Profile Membership

The results proved that gender did not have a significant impact on TB profiles. On the contrary, all the other socio-demographic variables were significant predictors of profile membership. In terms of teaching level, preschool teachers had higher odds (OR = 1.42, 95% CI [1.12, 1.81]) of belonging to the *Mild burnout risk* profile than to the *Low burnout risk* profile. Furthermore, our findings show that teachers with high professional experience had higher odds (OR = 6.20, 95% CI [2.79, 13.81]) of belonging to the *High burnout risk* profile than to the *Low burnout risk* profile. Comparing teachers according to urban/rural teaching environment, we found that those from rural schools had higher odds (OR = 2.11, 95% CI [1.77, 2.50]) of belonging to the *Higher moderate burnout risk* profile than to the *Low burnout risk* profile.

#### DISCUSSION

Our findings show that TB profiles were classified into four different categories: *Low burnout risk, Mild burnout risk, High moderate burnout risk* and *High burnout risk.* The profiles differed in all three symptoms of burnout—exhaustion, cynicism toward the teacher community and inadequacy in the pupil-teacher relationship. In addition, differences were found concerning teachers' stressors between profiles in terms of various types of stress, more precisely workload, students' misbehavior and professional recognition needs.

The first latent profile from our analysis was *Low burnout risk*. The teachers belonging to this profile displayed low levels of exhaustion, very low levels of inadequacy in the teacher–pupil relationship and cynicism toward the professional community. Additionally, the findings revealed that the levels of all three indicators of profile membership were statistically significantly lower than those in the other profiles. It is not surprising that teachers with the *Low risk burnout* profile do not experience symptoms of inadequacy in interaction with pupils and cynicism because previous studies have already highlighted that teachers who are less stressed are more efficacious (15, 21) and have better relationships with pupils (52, 53).

The second profile, *Mild burnout risk*, was characterized by moderate levels of exhaustion and cynicism toward the professional community on one side and low levels of inadequacy on the other side. Our findings proved that these mild burnout symptoms seem to be generated by the increase in stress generated by workload and students' misbehavior. Along the same lines, moderate exhaustion and cynicism was identified among Canadian teachers (32), where exhaustion was correlated with job demands.

The third profile, *High moderate burnout risk*, was characterized by teachers with high moderate symptoms of exhaustion, inadequacy in interactions with pupils and cynicism toward the professional community. In this case, the burnout symptoms are fueled by workload and students' misbehavior but with a stronger impact than in the case of teachers with the *Mild burnout risk* profile. In this regard, it seems that even during the pandemic period, workload and students' misbehavior remained the main stressors as before the pandemic (19, 24, 38).

The *High burnout risk* profile, the profile with the lowest prevalence (n = 34), represented the teachers who experienced higher levels of exhaustion, cynicism toward the teaching community and inadequacy in teacher-pupil interaction. In examining the *High risk burnout* profile, we noticed the teachers within it registered a high level of cynicism toward the professional community, unlike those in a study of Finnish

teachers (16). One explanation could be that in our sample the largest source of stress that had a statistically significant difference from other profiles was that generated by low professional recognition. If the feeling of inadequacy might be more closely related to intra-individual issues, such as self-esteem and general self-efficacy (41, 54), cynicism toward the professional community reflects dissatisfaction that has a rather external source than a dispositional trait (26, 55, 56) revealed correlates of cynicism such as social support, organizational commitment, and work–family or family–work conflict. It seems plausible that online teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic increased the level of stressors encountered by teachers, which in turn could affect organizational commitment and affective engagement and could accentuate possible previous family–work conflicts.

Another explanation could be related to the fact that professional recognition needs are translated into remuneration, career promotion prospects and social recognition (24, 40). As it is already recognized in JD-R model (29) that the lack of resources compared to demands would result in stress, which might eventually lead to TB and attrition (28) and that the perceived imbalance of effort and reward is associated with a high risk of developing burnout symptoms (57), it seems that for teachers with this profile the lack of gratification increased their burnout symptoms. This increase in the need for professional recognition could be due to the fact, as previous studies conducted during the pandemic have shown (10, 37, 58), that new teaching conditions produced new stressors for teachers and forced them to put extra effort into the teaching process (59), and thus the need for reward increased. Furthermore, despite that fact that stressors such as students' misbehavior and workload were present among teachers with the High-risk burnout profile, they did not make a significantly higher contribution for this profile membership compared to both previous ones.

Navigating through profiles from the high-risk level to the low risk level we gain valuable understanding of TB. In our case, the increased stress and frustration related to the lack of professional recognition in terms of remuneration, social recognition, and career opportunities together with the increased level of cynicism are what burdens teachers in this profile the most. Moreover, teachers' stress related to financial compensation was also identified among Bulgarian teachers (60), Slovak teachers (61), Greek teachers (62) and Turkish teachers (63) in the pandemic period. Thus, these challenging times seem to accentuate even more teachers' frustration related to professional recognition, especially in some European countries. Accordingly, further studies, particularly longitudinal personoriented studies on professional recognition needs, are needed to test these assumptions.

As Huttell et al. (64) explained, burnout is not stable in nature and profile grouping is not a stable individual trait. The progression toward burnout and profile grouping can be reversed based on changes in the relationships between resources and demands. In this regard, burnout symptoms can appear anytime and have increased alarmingly during the COVID-19 pandemic, thus putting teachers' mental health at risk.

In the case of the average burnout risk profiles *Mild burnout* risk and *Moderate burnout risk*, differences from the reference

profile, Low burnout risk, were found in terms of stress related to workload and students' misbehavior. Interestingly, the teachers belonging to this profile, even though they live under the same contextual settings, were not affected by the lack of social/professional recognition. Rather, they were stressed only by workload and students' misbehavior. One explanation for the fact that teachers belonging to these profiles were not affected by the lack of social/professional recognition could be that the frustrations related to lack of professional recognition were absorbed by their interest in the quality of their instructional process (7). Thus, according to the JD-R model (29), their passion and vocation were important internal resources that offset the new demands of the workplace, but they experienced limited resources in managing the increased workload generated by the new teaching conditions and a lack of resources in managing virtual relationships with students, being unprepared to find ways to maintain discipline in the online classroom (32).

The present study makes several contributions to the literature on TB (11, 16). First, it expands the body of research on TB in the challenging context of online teaching related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Second, it adds to the few studies that have been based on the mixture modeling approach, more specifically LPA, and has the advantage of having a person-centered approach rather than a variable-centered approach. Third, it is the first study to our knowledge that analyses the various types of work-related stress as antecedents of TB profiles. More precisely, the high levels of stress related to students' misbehavior and workload were related to a high probability of belonging to the Mild burnout risk and High moderate burnout risk profiles, while the high level of stress related to professional recognition needs generated a high probability of belonging to the High burnout risk profile. In this regard, it seems that the pandemic period accented stressors such as workload and students' misbehavior, which were reported even before the pandemic (24, 27, 38) as major inconveniences for teachers. To these was added a new stressor proximal to burnout, the lack of professional recognition.

In terms of socio-demographic variables, our findings revealed no association between gender and profile membership, which is in line with Pyhältö et al.'s (16) study. Preschool teachers had higher odds than primary school teachers of being included in the Mild burnout risk profile than in the Low burnout risk profile. One explanation for this finding could be the fact that the pandemic brought up new routines, such as extra handwashing, stricter sanitation requirements, different teacher-child ratios, prohibiting parents from entering preschools and social distancing (65, 66), all of which increased kindergarten teachers' physical and mental stress. As mentioned, an interesting pattern emerged; in our research, teachers with higher professional experience had a higher burnout risk in the context of remote learning related to the COVID-19 pandemic than less experienced teachers. However, it seems plausible if we take into account that in online teaching younger teachers have been more advantaged due to stronger digital skills compared to older teachers who have encountered greater difficulties in adapting to e-learning systems (67, 68). Additionally, teachers in rural educational environments were at high moderate risk of burnout compared to those teaching in urban environments.

This finding seems to be very relevant, first because the lack of infrastructure for broadband access in some rural areas often constrained rural teachers in terms of having to operate with fewer resources than their urban counterparts (69).

The current study has some limitations that should be noted. First, the study used a convenience sampling technique; therefore, the findings cannot be generalized. Second, the use of cross-sectional data in this study necessitates further longitudinal and experimental design studies. More specifically, the crosssectional design and R3STEP approach used in the specified mixture model reveal various exogenous covariates of burnout profiles, that is, work-related stressors but no causal links with TB. Therefore, future longitudinal studies are needed to capture how to evolve the relationship between various types of workrelated stress and socio-contextual burnout after the remote learning period and after the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, in terms of future research directions, more studies are needed to find the factors that lead to increased levels of cynicism toward professional community and explore if they are either intraindividual or socio-contextual in nature. Additionally, because a broader cul-tural context is very complex but was not the focus of the present article, further cross-cultural comparative studies on burnout should be conducted.

### **Practical Implications**

Considering the prevalence of teachers in two of four profiles determined in the present study, namely High moderate risk and High burnout risk, it should be considered a priority to identify as early as possible the teachers at risk for the onset of burnout symptoms and those who have difficulty managing work-related stress. Taking into account that the most common antecedents or risk factors for TB proved to be workload and students' misbehavior, it is tremendously important that teachers at risk ask for and receive help so that the burnout symptoms do not affect their health, their relationships with pupils and their personal lives. In this regard, the closest resource is social support (53). For example, collaborative teaching could help in buffering burnout symptoms by sharing work, asking for advice, bringing out concerns and receiving help from co-workers (70). In addition, an intervention program based on cognitive behavioral therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction has proven effective in reducing TB (71) and should be considered for implementation in order to support teachers' mental health during the pandemic and beyond.

Concerning professional recognition needs that proved to be a major stressor, we highlight that teachers may be able to tolerate a greater workload if they feel they are well-rewarded for their efforts and if they value their work with children (72). Therefore, our study encourages cross-cultural learning and

### REFERENCES

 Linos E, Ruffini K, Wilcoxen S. Reducing burnout and resignations among frontline workers: a field experiment. J Public Admin Res Theory. (2021) 1:356–402. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3846860 sharing among preschool and primary school teachers through teacher exchanges and collaborations that can generate a unique understanding of the best ways to fight TB.

# CONCLUSIONS

In summary, our study expands the empirical body of research on TB risk (16, 20, 32, 53) by being the first study to explore TB symptoms and work-related stressors during the COVID-19 pandemic using a person-centered approach. The results showed that over half of the teachers in our sample were affected to varying degrees by low to high burnout symptoms. Four TB profiles were identified. Workload, students' misbehavior and the lack of professional recognition were the major stressors that contribute the most to TB profile membership. The pandemic context brought to light a new stressor proximal to TBprofessional recognition needs. In this regard, the present study highlights that educational managers could support teachers' health and well-being by: (1) knowing teachers' needs, worries and stressors in order to prevent the appearance of symptoms of exhaustion, inadequacy in the teacher-pupil relationship and cynicism toward the professional community; (2) decreasing burnout through supportive programs based on developing skills for classroom management in various learning environments, time management and work-life balance; and (3) professional development programs that promote career opportunities such as self-actualization, visibility and social recognition.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Bucharest Ethics Committee (no 11/26.04.2021). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

C-MR contributed in conceptualization, developed the questionnaires, and collected the data. ES and C-MR developed the analytical plan, undertook the statistical analyses, interpreted the results of the statistical analyses, and wrote the paper. Both authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

 Răducu C-M, Stănculescu E. Adaptability to online teaching during Covid-19 pandemic: a multiple mediation analysis based on Kolb's theory. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:8032. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18158032

3. Pressley T. Factors contributing to teacher burnout during COVID-19. *Educ Res.* (2021) 50:325–7. doi: 10.3102/0013189X211004138

- Stănculescu E. Fear of COVID-19 in Romania: validation of the Romanian version of the fear of COVID-19 scale using graded response model analysis. Int J Ment Health Addict. (2021) 6:1–16. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00428-4
- Holmes EA, O'Connor RC, Perry VH, Tracey I, Wessely S, Arseneault L, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:547– 60. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30168-1
- 6. Cooper C, Travers C. Teachers under pressure: stress in the teaching profession. New York, NY: Routledge. (2012). doi: 10.4324/9780203059975
- Redín CI, Erro-Garcés A. Stress in teaching professionals across Europe. Int J Educ Res. (2020) 103:101623. doi: 10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101623
- Rudow B. Stress and burnout in the teaching profession: European studies, issues, and research perspectives. Underst Prev Teach Burn Sourceb Int Res Pract. (1999) 2:38–58. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511527784.004
- Sokal L, Trudel LE, Babb J. Canadian teachers' attitudes toward change, efficacy, and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Educ Res Open*. (2020) 1:100016. doi: 10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100016
- Hayes S, Priestley JL, Ishmakhametov N, Ray HE. "I'm not working from home, I'm living at work": perceived stress and workrelated burnout before and during COVID-19. *PsyArXiv* [Preprint]. (2020). doi: 10.31234/osf.io/vnkwa
- Pietarinen J, Pyhältö K, Soini T, Salmela-Aro K. Reducing teacher burnout: a socio-contextual approach. *Teach Teach Educ.* (2013) 35:62– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.tate.2013.05.003
- Ferradás M. del M, Freire C, García-Bértoa A, Núñez JC, Rodríguez S. Teacher profiles of psychological capital and their relationship with burnout. *Sustainability*. (2019) 11:5096. doi: 10.3390/su11185096
- Mäkikangas A, Kinnunen U. The person-oriented approach to burnout: a systematic review. Burn Res. (2016) 3:11–23. doi: 10.1016/j.burn.2015.12.002
- Pellerone M. Self-perceived instructional competence, self-efficacy and burnout during the Covid-19 pandemic: a study of a group of Italian school teachers. *Eur J Investig Health Psychol Educ.* (2021) 11:496– 512. doi: 10.3390/ejihpe11020035
- Klassen RM, Chiu MM. Effects on teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction: teacher gender, years of experience, and job stress. J Educ Psychol. (2010) 102:741–56. doi: 10.1037/a0019237
- Pyhältö K, Pietarinen J, Haverinen K, Tikkanen L, Soini T. Teacher burnout profiles and proactive strategies. *Eur J Psychol Educ*. (2020) 36:219– 42. doi: 10.1007/s10212-020-00465-6
- Mérida-López S, Extremera N. Emotional intelligence and teacher burnout: a systematic review. *Int J Educ Res.* (2017) 85:121-30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijer.2017.07.006
- Colomeischi AA. Teachers' burnout in relation with their emotional intelligence and personality traits. *Procedia-Soc Behav Sci.* (2015) 180:1067– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.02.207
- Kokkinos CM. Job stressors, personality and burnout in primary school teachers. Br J Educ Psychol. (2007) 77:229–43. doi: 10.1348/000709905X90344
- Mojsa-Kaja J, Golonka K, Marek T. Job burnout and engagement among teachers: worklife areas and personality traits as predictors of relationships with work. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health*. (2015) 28:102– 19. doi: 10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00238
- Schwarzer R, Hallum S. Perceived teacher self-efficacy as a predictor of job stress and burnout: mediation analyses. *Appl Psychol.* (2008) 57:152– 71. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00359.x
- 22. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. *Stress, Appraisal, and Coping*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company (1984).
- 23. Kyriacou C. Teacher stress and burnout: an international review. *Educ Res.* (1987) 29:146–52. doi: 10.1080/0013188870290207
- Kyriacou C. Teacher stress: directions for future research. *Educ Rev.* (2001) 53:27–35. doi: 10.1080/00131910120033628
- Stoeber J, Rennert D. Perfectionism in school teachers: relations with stress appraisals, coping styles, and burnout. *Anxiety Stress Coping.* (2008) 21:37– 53. doi: 10.1080/10615800701742461
- Pal S, Saksvik PØ. Work-family conflict and psychosocial work environment stressors as predictors of job stress in a cross-cultural study. *Int J Stress Manag.* (2008) 15:22. doi: 10.1037/1072-5245.15.1.22

- Abós Á, Sevil-Serrano J, Kim LE, Klassen RM, García-González L. How should stressors be examined in teachers? Answering questions about dimensionality, generalizability and predictive effects using the multicontext stressors scale. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:3388. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16183388
- 28. Harmsen R, Helms-Lorenz M, Maulana R, van Veen K. The relationship between beginning teachers' stress causes, stress responses, teaching behaviour and attrition. *Teach Teach.* (2018) 24:626–43. doi: 10.1080/13540602.2018.1465404
- Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol. (2001) 86:499. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- McCarthy CJ, Lambert RG, Lineback S, Fitchett P, Baddouh PG. Assessing teacher appraisals and stress in the classroom: review of the classroom appraisal of resources and demands. *Educ Psychol Rev.* (2016) 28:577– 603. doi: 10.1007/s10648-015-9322-6
- Bottiani JH, Duran CA, Pas ET, Bradshaw CP. Teacher stress and burnout in urban middle schools: associations with job demands, resources, and effective classroom practices. J Sch Psychol. (2019) 77:36–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2019.10.002
- Sokal L, Babb J, Eblie Trudel L. Latent Profile Analysis of Manitoban Teachers' Burnout during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Winnipeg: The University of Winnipeg (2021). doi: 10.36939/ir.202103231319
- 33. Li R, Liu H, Chen Y, Yao M. Why teachers want to leave? The roles of achievement goals, burnout and perceived school context. *Learn Individ Differ*. (2021) 89:102032. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2021.102032
- Pacaol N. Teacher's workload intensification: a qualitative case study of its implications on teaching quality. *Int Online J Educ Teach*. (2021) 8:43–60.
- Maas J, Schoch S, Scholz U, Rackow P, Schüler J, Wegner M, et al. Teachers' perceived time pressure, emotional exhaustion and the role of social support from the school principal. *Soc Psychol Educ.* (2021) 24:441– 64. doi: 10.1007/s11218-020-09605-8
- 36. Collie RJ. COVID-19 and teachers' somatic burden, stress, and emotional exhaustion: examining the role of principal leadership and workplace buoyancy. *Aera Open.* (2021) 7:2332858420986187. doi: 10.1177/2332858420986187
- Klapproth F, Federkeil L, Heinschke F, Jungmann T. Teachers' experiences of stress and their coping strategies during COVID-19 induced distance teaching. J Pedagog Res. (2020) 4:444–52. doi: 10.33902/JPR.2020062805
- Aloe AM, Shisler SM, Norris BD, Nickerson AB, Rinker TW. A multivariate meta-analysis of student misbehavior and teacher burnout. *Educ Res Rev.* (2014) 12:30–44. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2014.05.003
- Albulescu P, Tuşer A, Sulea C. Effective strategies for coping with burnout. A study on Romanian teachers. *Psihol Resur Um.* (2018) 16:59–74.
- Boyle GJ, Borg MG, Falzon JM, Baglioni AJ Jr. A structural model of the dimensions of teacher stress. *Br J Educ Psychol.* (1995) 65:49– 67. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8279.1995.tb01130.x
- Ballantyne J, Retell J. Teaching careers: exploring links between wellbeing, burnout, self-efficacy and praxis shock. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 10:2255. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02255
- Di Monte C, Monaco S, Mariani R, Di Trani M. From resilience to burnout: psychological features of Italian general practitioners during COVID-19 emergency. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:2476. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.567201
- Gilmour AF, Sandilos LE, Pilny WV, Schwartz S, Wehby JH. Teaching students with emotional/behavioral disorders: teachers' burnout profiles and classroom management. J Emot Behav Disord. (2021) 29:135– 54. doi: 10.1177/10634266211020258
- 44. Greenglass ER, Fiksenbaum L, Burke RJ. The Relationship Between Social Support and Burnout Over Time in Teachers. Occupational Stress. New York, NY: CRC Press (2020). p. 239–48. doi: 10.1201/9781003072430-21
- 45. Pines AM. The changing psychological contract at work and employee burnout. J Health Hum Serv Adm. (2002) 25:11–32.
- 46. Sousa VD, Rojjanasrirat W. Translation, adaptation and validation of instruments or scales for use in cross-cultural health care research: a clear and user-friendly guideline. J Eval Clin Pract. (2011) 17:268– 74. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01434.x
- 47. Asparouhov T, Muthén B. Advances in Bayesian model fit evaluation for structural equation models. *Struct Equ Model*

*Multidiscip J.* (2021) 28:1–14. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2020.17 64360

- Tein J-Y, Coxe S, Cham H. Statistical power to detect the correct number of classes in latent profile analysis. *Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J.* (2013) 20:640–57. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2013.824781
- Spurk D, Hirschi A, Wang M, Valero D, Kauffeld S. Latent profile analysis: a review and "how to" guide of its application within vocational behavior research. J Vocat Behav. (2020) 120:103445. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103445
- Peel D, McLachlan GJ. Robust mixture modelling using the t distribution. Stat Comput. (2000) 10:339–48. doi: 10.1023/A:1008981510081
- Watson D, Clark LA, Weber K, Assenheimer JS, Strauss ME, McCormick RA. Testing a tripartite model: II. Exploring the symptom structure of anxiety and depression in student, adult, and patient samples. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (1995) 104:15. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.104.1.15
- Bakioglu F, Kiraz Z. Burnout and wellbeing of teacher candidates: the mediator role of cynicism. *Ann Psychol.* (2019) 35:521– 8. doi: 10.6018/analesps.35.3.354441
- Meredith C, Schaufeli W, Struyve C, Vandecandelaere M, Gielen S, Kyndt E. 'Burnout contagion'among teachers: a social network approach. J Occup Organ Psychol. (2020) 93:328–52. doi: 10.1111/joop.12296
- Cano-García FJ, Padilla-Muñoz EM, Carrasco-Ortiz MÁ. Personality and contextual variables in teacher burnout. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2005) 38:929– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2004.06.018
- Abraham R. Organizational cynicism: bases and consequences. Genet Soc Gen Psychol Monogr. (2000) 126:269.
- Cole MS, Bruch H, Vogel B. Emotion as mediators of the relations between perceived supervisor support and psychological hardiness on employee cynicism. J Organ Behav Int J Ind Occup Organ Psychol Behav. (2006) 27:463– 84. doi: 10.1002/job.381
- Unterbrink T, Hack A, Pfeifer R, Buhl-Grießhaber V, Müller U, Wesche H, et al. Burnout and effort-reward-imbalance in a sample of 949 German teachers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* (2007) 80:433–41. doi: 10.1007/s00420-007-0169-0
- Chitra A. Study on impact of occupational stress on job satisfaction of teachers during covid-19 pandemic period. *Glob Dev Rev.* (2020) 4:52–62.
- Kidd W, Murray J. The Covid-19 pandemic and its effects on teacher education in England: how teacher educators moved practicum learning online. *Eur J Teach Educ.* (2020) 43:542– 58. doi: 10.1080/02619768.2020.1820480
- Valkov P, Peeva K. Stress among university teachers: empirical research in Bulgaria. *Trakia J Sci.* (2020) 18:257–66. doi: 10.15547/tjs.2020.s.01.045
- Magdová M, Bozogánová M, Berinšterová M. The factors supporting the slovak teachers' turnover according to the type of school. *Psychol Appl Trends*. (2020) 1:142–6. doi: 10.36315/2020inpact030
- Anastasiou S. Economic crisis, emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and personal accomplishment of teachers in Greece. *Humanities*. (2020) 8:230– 9. doi: 10.18488/journal.73.2020.82.230.239
- Fessehatsion PW, Peng P. Exploring teachers' retention and attrition in middle and secondary schools in eritrea: perspectives of currently serving teachers. *Int J Res Educ Sci.* (2021) 7:227–44. doi: 10.46328/ijres.1532

- Hultell D, Melin B, Gustavsson JP. Getting personal with teacher burnout: a longitudinal study on the development of burnout using a person-based approach. *Teach Teach Educ.* (2013) 32:75–86. doi: 10.1016/j.tate.2013.01.007
- Samuelsson IP, Wagner JT, Ødegaard EE. The coronavirus pandemic and lessons learned in preschools in Norway, Sweden and the United States: OMEP Policy forum. Int J Early Child. (2020) 52:129–44. doi: 10.1007/s13158-020-00267-3
- Swigonski NL, James B, Wynns W, Casavan K. Physical, mental, and financial stress impacts of COVID-19 on early childhood educators. *Early Child Educ J*. (2021) 49:799–806. doi: 10.1007/s10643-021-01223-z
- Wang X, Li B. Technostress among university teachers in higher education: a study using multidimensional person-environment misfit theory. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:1791. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01791
- Hämäläinen R, Nissinen K, Mannonen J, Lämsä J, Leino K, Taajamo M. Understanding teaching professionals' digital competence: what do PIAAC and TALIS reveal about technology-related skills, attitudes, and knowledge? *Comput Hum Behav.* (2021) 117:106672. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106672
- Hayes SD, Flowers J, Williams SM. "Constant communication": rural principals' leadership practices during a global pandemic. *Front Educ.* (2021) 5:618067. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2020.618067
- Stănculescu E. Psychological predictors and mediators of subjective wellbeing in a sample of Romanian teachers. *Rev Cercet Si Interv Socială*. (2014) 46:37–52.
- 71. Grensman A, Acharya BD, Wändell P, Nilsson GH, Falkenberg T, Sundin Ö, et al. Effect of traditional yoga, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy, and cognitive behavioral therapy, on health-related quality of life: a randomized controlled trial on patients on sick leave because of burnout. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* (2018) 18:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12906-018-2141-9
- 72. Leiter MP, Maslach C. Areas of worklife: a structured approach to organizational predictors of job burnout. In: Perrewé PL, Ganster DC, editors. *Emotional and Physiological Processes and Positive Intervention Strategies*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited (2003). p. 91–134.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Råducu and Stånculescu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Semantics–Prosody Stroop Effect on English Emotion Word Processing in Chinese College Students With Trait Depression

#### Fei Chen\*, Jing Lian, Gaode Zhang and Chengyu Guo

School of Foreign Languages, Hunan University, Changsha, China

This study explored the performance of Chinese college students with different severity of trait depression to process English emotional speech under a complete semantics-prosody Stroop effect paradigm in guiet and noisy conditions. A total of 24 college students with high-trait depression and 24 students with low-trait depression participated in this study. They were required to selectively attend to either the prosodic emotion (happy, sad) or semantic valence (positive and negative) of the English words they heard and then respond quickly. Both prosody task and semantic task were performed in quiet and noisy listening conditions. Results showed that the high-trait group reacted slower than the low-trait group in the prosody task due to their bluntness and insensitivity toward emotional processing. Besides, both groups reacted faster under the consistent situation, showing a clear congruency-induced facilitation effect and the wide existence of the Stroop effect in both tasks. Only the Stroop effect played a bigger role during emotional prosody identification in quiet condition, and the noise eliminated such an effect. For the sake of experimental design, both groups spent less time on the prosody task than the semantic task regardless of consistency in all listening conditions, indicating the friendliness of basic emotion identification and the difficulty for second language learners in face of semantic judgment. These findings suggest the unneglectable effects of college students' mood conditions and noise outside on emotion word processing.

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Maha Atout, Philadelphia University, Jordan

#### Reviewed by:

Süleyman Kasap, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Turkey Zilong Xie, University of Kansas Medical Center, United States

> \*Correspondence: Fei Chen chenfeianthony@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

**Received:** 04 March 2022 **Accepted:** 06 May 2022 **Published:** 06 June 2022

#### Citation:

Chen F, Lian J, Zhang G and Guo C (2022) Semantics–Prosody Stroop Effect on English Emotion Word Processing in Chinese College Students With Trait Depression. Front. Psychiatry 13:889476. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.889476 Keywords: semantics-prosody Stroop, English, emotion word processing, trait depression, college students

# INTRODUCTION

Among all sources and respects of emotional communication cues, the comprehensive process of multisensory integration is typically employed to reach a locutionary conveyance. This ability to perceive and combine both linguistic messages (i.e., verbal content meaning) and paralinguistic messages (i.e., non-verbal cues by pragmatic context, body language, and tone of voice) facilitates sophisticated social interaction (1, 2). Yet, the co-occurring semantic meaning and emotional cues in utterances simultaneously are not always presented in a consistent state, and the very discrepant messages combined may lead to delays or even challenges to a correct interpretation of true emotional expression (3–6).

As two prime channels for emotional speech interaction, verbal content and prosodic information mainly bridge the daily communication linguistically and emotionally. The general semantic meaning of speech enjoys the main content of emotional expression, but often the

paralinguistic messages serve as completion and exterior presentation in physical forms (7). Therefore, verbal content acts as the most common means, and prosodic information is one of the most fundamental aspects of social interaction (8). Prosodic cues even present a clearer emotional tendency, particularly when verbal form representation is obstructed due to implicitness or other language barriers (9). By means of changes in pitch, loudness, speech rate, and pauses (10), emotional prosody reveals various non-verbal respects of language that make speakers convey emotional cues in conversation (11). But in real communication practice, emotional prosody can be isolated from semantic information, and in return interacts with verbal content, as a consequence of irregular verbal expression [e.g., sarcasm; (12, 13)].

Empirical research under the Stroop effect paradigm (14) examined the emotional interactions with these informative dimensions through cross-channel and cross-modal experiments (9, 15). With participants facing congruent and incongruent stimuli under different modalities, the inter-competence between linguistic information and paralinguistic information in emotional speech processing would be presented, suggesting relative dominance of either of them (16, 17). Participants performed better with congruent stimuli, while the prolonged reaction time and poorer accuracy rate were caused by specific but conflicting stimuli, which was in line with the congruence-induced facilitation effect and on the other hand, the incongruence-induced interference effect (18–20).

However, interpersonal and social interactions pose challenges for major depressive people, since major depression is closely connected with cognitive impairments in memory and executive functions (21, 22). Depression, a mood disorder marked especially by sadness, inactivity, difficulty in thinking and concentration, has increasingly become a major threat to human life and has arisen significant interest both in the pathological characteristics and the social performance of the patients (23– 25). And people with the depression-related illness often display a quite fixed pattern of negative thinking about experience, values, and the whole world generally, and the correct social interaction and interpretation can be compromised (26).

As a subclinical state of depression, trait depression is the exact and frequently occurred tendency of an individual to experience depressive emotions (27). Being regarded as being below the diagnostic criteria for depression clinically, trait depression shares some similarities with depression on cognitive and physiological deficits (28), including pessimism, inferiority, loneliness, and unworthiness (27). As mentioned above, people with major depressive disorder (MDD) presented no self-positivity bias, and they even presented self-negativity bias, which connected more closely with negative information, leading to more automated processing of negative information in the environment (29-31). The lack of self-positive bias makes trait-depressive individuals make people succumb to depression disorders more easily, meaning the group of people who have not yet developed depression disorder but mostly are susceptible. The trait mirrors the long-term emotional stability of their state of mind (32). Although the introduction of various experimental designs and assessment scales availed research for MDD patients,

the emotional speech processing for people with trait depression lacks solid evidence. Studies on emotional speech processing in trait-depressive people are quite scarce (33), partly due to the lack of attention on this specific group of people with mood disorders tendency, and partly due to the lack of a scales for the professional assessment of depressive state and trait (26, 34).

In view of previous studies employing the Stroop-like paradigm to investigate emotional processing, only a few of them focused on college students with trait depression. What is still worth mentioning is mainly the variants of the experimental design. First, studies on emotional speech processing exploring the interaction between word information and emotional prosody are rich. The congruency of affective prosody and word valence facilitated the emotional processing, which was corroborated by later studies (35, 36). The relatively salient role of paralinguistic prosodic information over semantics in emotion word processing was presented with both cross-channel and cross-modal behavioral evidence (9). Second, many previous studies on emotional processing performed on participants with MDD showed quite consistent results. The key role of correct interpretation of emotional signals across verbal and nonverbal channels can be worse (37, 38). The cognitive patterns displayed by MDD patients presented the impaired perception of positive cues and the enhanced attention to negative cues as well in emotional communication (39, 40). Such biased emotional perception has been attested by plenty of studies via face recognition (41-43) and a few studies via voice recognition (44). These are in accordance with findings at the neurophysiologic level presenting a reduction of activation in frontal and limbic areas in MDD patients (45, 46). Third, Gao et al. (47) presented the mechanisms of the "bilingual advantage effect" under the condition of different languages in the Stroop task. It turned out that skilled bilinguals performed better and presented stronger inhibitory control ability under the condition of the first language than monolinguals. And these bilinguals possessed better information monitoring ability and conflict resolution, which shed some light on the variants of the Stroop paradigm in terms of language capability (48).

To date, very few studies on emotional processing employed vocal speech as auditory materials to explore the performance of college students with trait depression. In the research field of psychology and sociology, the study concerning emotional conflict of college students with trait depression under the Stroop paradigm variants in the visual modality merely examined the different responses of participants under emotionally consistent and inconsistent conditions between words and facial expressions (33), showing emotional consistency effects (i.e., the fact that participants had higher accuracy and shorter response time under the word-face consistent condition). Gao et al. (33) found that the accuracy of the high trait depression group was significantly higher than that of the low trait depression group in all conditions. But the response time of the high trait depression group was significantly lower under the condition of emotional inconsistency, partly because participants tended to use a kind of processing strategy to complete the cognitive task more conveniently, according to the Emotion Infusion Theory proposed by Bower (49). Therefore, high trait-depressive participants may have a state of readiness and be able to judge the valence of emotion and face more quickly.

Within the existing literature, the studies concerning emotional prosody were examined either in MDD patients or under the simplified semantics-prosody paradigm (in lack of word valence in some experiments). Of all, the marked inclination of emotional conflicts and emotional prosody in participants with MDD seems quite certain and a truism in a general way. And studies ranging from facial signals to human voice and even cross-modal are increasingly mature and complete. Yet, research on emotional prosody in trait-depressive college students under a complete semantics-prosody Stroop effect paradigm is still quite poor. Furthermore, relevant studies were all conducted under the ideal experimental condition, rather than under background noise with ecological value. Moreover, individual differences were rarely considered as a significant factor affecting participants' performance in certain experimental circumstances. Different levels of second language proficiency and personal state of mind are not negligible. So, this study will discuss the interaction of semantic content and emotional prosody during emotion word processing by human voice under a complete Stroop effect paradigm, with different severity of Chinese trait-depressive college students as participants, trying to explore the differences between and within groups, and then to shed light on the undiscovered land.

The current study applied the experimental protocols of Schirmer and Kotz (36) and investigated the English emotion word processing in Chinese college students with trait depression through cross-channel experiments. In terms of participants, the second language proficiency and their severity of trait depression varied more or less because of the well-known individual differences, embodying some of the individuals' proficiency in speech perception (50). For these second language learners of English, the aural English words, to some extent, turn into a language barrier as the second language proficiency, but it is less likely to appear the ceiling effect since all English words we selected in this experiment as language materials are "everyday words" with fair verbal valence. These words were produced with happy and sad emotions, which were the two most distinguished and uncontroversial emotions shared across cultures (51, 52). Besides, participants' long-term state of mind with depressive emotions exerts influence on the perception of emotional prosody (53). Experiment 1 employed both semantic valence judgment with and without prosody-congruency stimuli (i.e., the semantic task), and emotional prosody judgment with and without semantic-congruency stimuli (i.e., the prosody task) to explore the altered perception of speech emotions. Based on the poor performance of MDD on semantic and emotional prosody work, people with trait depression might also present prolonged response time and insensitive emotion recognition on the emotion word processing through verbal and non-verbal channels, thus less Stroop effect in semantic valence judgment. Following the same protocols, Experiment 2 stimulated a more authentic locutionary situation by means of the speech-shaped noise (i.e., an energetic environmental degradation), which added difficulties and interference in emotion word perception both linguistically and prosodically, to break the limit of the singular

laboratory environment and reach conclusions with broader sense (54, 55). In this case, we hypothesized that the noisy condition might aggravate the emotional perception difficulty for the high trait-depressive group.

In a nutshell, with the second language-based and psychologyrelated behavioral study, we aimed to explore further the mechanisms of emotional perception in college students with trait depression specifically. By contrasts between different severity of trait depression and different levels of listening conditions, practical patterns of the Stroop-like paradigm and theoretical frameworks of emotional processing would be enriched in greater detail, which could facilitate the effective probe of nature about multiple channels of the cognitive process for clinical populations.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Participants**

In total, 48 Chinese college student volunteers (24 men and 24 women) were recruited for this experiment, all born in China and native Mandarin speakers. Age varied from 18 to 26 years. They were graduate or undergraduate students who had English as their second language, and they have passed CET-4 (College English Test Band 4). All participants' trait depression scores were evaluated based on the Chinese version of the State-Trait Depression Scale (ST-DEP), which was proposed by Spielberger (56) and then translated into Chinese by Lei et al. (26). With evidence of being highly valid and more focused on the assessment of cognitive and affective factors, it serves as an effective measure to distinguish between depressive state and trait (57). With a full score of 16-64, students with higher scores would be regarded as participants with high-severity trait depression and likewise, college students with lower scores would be regarded as participants with low-severity trait depression in the current study (26). Specifically, the high-trait group (n = 24)comprised 11 men and 13 women who scored above 40 but no more than 64 in the T-DEP, while the low-trait group (n = 24)contained 13 men and 11 women who scored above 16 but no more than 30.

Furthermore, all participants were tested for their English skills with the LexTALE test, an efficient vocabulary test to measure L2 language proficiency (58), and phonological short-term working memory (WM) with a digit-span test, the information held temporarily for use in immediate activities such as reasoning and decision making, which serves as a significant indicator of language learning ability (59). In addition, they fulfilled the self-rating of Emotional Intelligence Test [SREIT; (60)], a 33-item scale concerning mental representation and utilization of emotions. The demographic characteristics of participants are presented in **Table 1**. As displayed, there did exist significant group differences between the high trait depression group and low trait depression group in terms of T-DEP and SREIT, but not in the age, LexTALE, and WM.

All participants were right-handed with normal or corrected vision, and only those who reported no history of speech, hearing impairment, no musical training, or had no experience of major

#### TABLE 1 | Basic information of participants.

	High-trait group ( <i>n</i> = 24)		Low-trait group ( <i>n</i> = 24)		
	М	SD	М	SD	p
Chronological age	21.96	2.07	22.25	1.87	0.611
T-DEP	44.92	4.98	25.54	4.01	<0.001***
SREIT	113.26	12.37	129.63	13.76	<0.001***
LexTALE	54.74	5.82	55.48	7.46	0.703
WM	27.42	1.72	27.01	3.39	0.595

Means (and standard deviations) of chronological age, T-DEP, SREIT, LexTALE (L2 vocabulary size), and WM for the high-trait group and low-trait group. T-DEP, Trait Depression Scale; SREIT, Self-Rating of Emotional Intelligence Test; WM, working memory. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

depressive therapy were recruited in the current study (61). This study was approved by the (institution redacted for peer review) to ensure proper compliance with the informed consent procedure. Participants completed the informed consent at the study and got reimbursed for their participation.

#### Stimuli

The stimuli we employed in the study contained 120 English words (60 verbs and 60 adjectives) carefully selected from "The Oxford 3000," a list of the 3,000 most important words to learn in English from the Oxford English Corpus, and "The Longman Communication 3000," a list of the 3,000 most frequent words in spoken and written English that account for 86% of the language, to avoid rare words and therefore guarantee the understandability for these second language learners of English. The whole stimulus set (American spelling) included 60 positive words and 60 negative words based on a pilot study of valence ratings obtained from four advanced English speakers and one native speaker who did not participate in either of the experiments. They were instructed to judge the semantic valence of the words in a randomized order on a 5-point scale from -2 (highly negative) to 2 (highly positive). Negative words had a mean valence of -1.43 (SD = 0.24), and positive words of 1.44 (SD = 0.35), showing no significant difference in valence strength (positive words were rated just as strong as negative words). Additionally, word frequency was counted by means of the Corpus of Contemporary American English [COCA; (62)]. As shown in Table 2, the positive words presented a similar word frequency as the negative words; positive and negative words showed comparable syllable numbers.

A Canadian male speaker (35 years old) produced all English words clearly in a quiet setting with happy and sad prosody (240 stimuli = 120 words × 2 prosodic categories), which were subsequently normalized to the same duration (1,000 ms). The pitch, however, was different between happy and sad prosodies (p < 0.001). Specifically, words read in happy prosody had an average pitch of 154.07 Hz (SD = 43.04) and words read in sad prosody of only 98.72 Hz (SD = 6.67), which is in line with the acoustic attributes of happy and sad utterances (63). Thus, pitch variations in accordance with the speaker's emotion

	Туре	<i>M</i> (SD)		<i>M</i> (SD)	р
Word frequency	Positive	44813.18 (21884.29)	Negative	39013.72 (20774.27)	0.14
	List 1	41913.77 (21433.09)	List 2	41913.13 (21638.33)	0.99
	Adjectives	40596.93 (21929.90)	Verbs	43229.97 (21051.11)	0.50
Syllable numbers	Positive	2.03 (0.78)	Negative	1.97 (0.74)	0.63
	List 1	1.98 (0.77)	List 2	2.02 (0.75)	0.81
	Adjectives	2.07 (0.84)	Verbs	1.94 (0.66)	0.34

serve as assistant effects for listeners to complete the prosody-identification task (64).

Moreover, though the same words were employed as stimuli in two experiments, we added noise (SNR = 10 dB) to the audio files for Experiment 2 to create a noisy condition. The whole stimuli were divided into two lists (List 1 and List 2), with each list containing 30 positive and 30 negative words spoken by happiness and sadness prosody, conveying both semantic meaning and prosodic emotion to participants simultaneously. Thus, under different instructions of tasks, participants accordingly pay selective attention to either semantic valence information or emotional prosody information of the auditory stimuli. Notably, each list was presented under arrangement on different tasks. Therefore, half of the participants already having heard one list of words under semantic instruction would hear the other list of words under prosodic instruction and *vice versa*.

### **Task and Procedures**

The whole experiment was conducted in a quiet room and each participant was seated in a comfortable chair facing a computer monitor, a noise-canceling headphone, and a Chronos box [an E-Prime-based device with high accuracy of response time; (65)]. Two tasks were performed for participants to selectively attend to word valence information (semantic task: positive or negative) or emotional prosody information (prosody task: happy or sad) of auditory stimuli under corresponding instructions in quiet (Experiment 1) or noisy (Experiment 2) environment. In both experiments, instructions and auditory stimuli were presented by E-Prime [Version 3.0; (66)] on the computer, with the stimulus presentation program customized in advance. Having received the standard auditory information of English words through the noise-canceling headphone (Sennheiser HD280 Pro) binaurally at a comfortable sound intensity level (65 dB SPL), participants offered their responses by pressing the corresponding button of Chronos as quickly and as accurately as possible to indicate their judgments. The accuracy and response time recorded by Chronos would then serve as the measurement.

Participants were told to complete the practice session first as a familiarization process with four spoken words in the semantic task and prosody task, respectively, and these eight words were not used in the real experiment. After participants responded, the instant accuracy would be presented on the screen. Those who reached at least 80% accuracy would enter the formal task phase. **TABLE 3** Results of linear mixed effects model on reaction time (full presentation with results of both Experiment 1 and Experiment 2).

Effect	Chi-square	p
Severity	4.26	0.039*
Congruency	123.90	< 0.001***
Task	69.93	< 0.001***
Condition	7.96	0.005**
scale_Trial	28.57	< 0.001***
scale_Digit span	0.14	0.706
LexTALE	5.21	0.022*
Severity:Congruency	0.01	0.910
Severity:Task	6.45	0.011*
Congruency:Task	9.38	0.002**
Severity:Condition	17.01	< 0.001***
Congruency:Condition	0.06	0.801
Task:Condition	13.56	< 0.001***
Severity:Congruency:Task	0.06	0.808
Severity:Congruency:Condition	1.14	0.285
Severity:Task:Condition	0.07	0.785
Congruency:Task:Condition	2.26	0.133
Severity:Congruency:Task:Condition	4.45	0.035*

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

In formal experiments, for word valence and emotional prosody in each experimental stimulus, participants were instructed to pay main attention to only one respect, though the twofold pairings with two different channels presented either congruency (positive-happy, negative-sad) or incongruency (positive-sad, negative-happy). Specifically, under the instruction of semantic information, participants would identify word valence as positive or negative while ignoring the prosody in this "semantic task." On the other way around, in the "prosody task," participants would judge emotional prosody as happy or sad under the instruction of prosody information while ignoring word valence. Instructions were visually presented on the computer screen to make sure participants' full understanding of each task. Stimuli were presented in a randomized fashion within different tasks to each participant. Unlike the familiarization session, no instant feedback of accuracy would be presented on the screen to avoid the unnecessary distraction of participants, and the session would proceed to the next trial if no response was recorded within 5,000 ms.

Experiment 2 followed the same procedure of the protocols and employed the same word in the quiet environment of Experiment 1, only the speech-shaped noise at a fixed signalto-noise ratio (SNR = 10 dB) was affiliated to create a noisy environment in Experiment 2, with the effect of energetic masking (67, 68). The SNR of 10 dB was determined based on a pilot study, which reached the lowest SNR level with a minimum accuracy of 80% in both tasks. To avoid the fatigue effect, there was a short break between two experiments, which were presented to participants in random order. The whole experiment took approximately 1 h.

### **Data Analyses**

For statistical analyses, a range of calculations were performed in R [Version 4.1.2; (69)]. For the collected data, 48 subjects

participated in two experiments, with each experiment containing 2 tasks and each task containing 120 items, 23,040 data were obtained in total ( $48 \times 2 \times 2 \times 120 = 23,040$  observations). As for the preliminary data filtering process, only data with reaction time between 100 ms to 2,500 ms were counted as acceptable in the experiment to enhance data validity, since neither the excessive speed nor the noticeable delay in response time was admitted in the study. Then, we eliminated incorrect responses, and 18,809 observations were kept eventually. Besides, we also performed a log transformation to reaction time data since in many perceptual experiments response time exhibits positive skewness (70). Furthermore, to compare the inter-group difference of T-DEP scores, SREIT scores, and WM between high-trait group and low-trait group, we employed two-sample *t*-tests with the R package of ez (71).

In general, a linear mixed-effect model (LMM) was constructed using the R package of lme4 (72). Considering the huge difference between types of data, the trial number of words and digit-span scores of participants were centered and therefore reached normalization. When fitting all the LMMs in the analyses of the two identification data, "Reaction time" was counted as the dependent variable. Fixed factors: "Severity (high vs. low)," "Congruency (congruent vs. incongruent)," "Task (semantic vs. prosodic)," "Condition (quiet vs. noisy)," and all their interactions; two random factors: "Participant" and "Item," were included in the model. And controlled co-variants were LexTALE scores, working memory, and normalized trial number. By-participant random intercepts and slopes for all possible fixed factors were included in the initial model (73), which was compared with a simplified model that excluded a specific fixed factor using the analysis of variance (ANOVA) function in lmerTest package (74). The model was fitted to optimize it. Besides, Tukey's post hoc tests were employed using lsmeans packages (75) to elaborate the significant interaction effects when necessary.

# RESULTS

Statistics suggested that the mean age of participants is 22.10 (SD = 1.96, range = 18–26) years, and they have received an average of 15.83 (SD = 1.84) years of formal education. **Table 3** presents the fullest results of the LMM on these participants' reaction time across two experiments, showing a significant four-way interaction of "Severity" × "Congruency" × "Task" × "Condition" [ $\chi^2$  (1) = 4.45, p < 0.05], which was further separately analyzed under two different conditions (quiet and noisy conditions), namely, Experiment 1 and Experiment 2.

### **Experiment 1 (Quiet Condition)**

**Figure 1A** shows high-severity and low-severity traitdepressive participants' reaction time in semantic-emotion interference tasks in quiet condition. As displayed in **Table 4**, in the quiet condition, a significant two-way interaction of "Severity" × "Task" was found [ $\chi^2$  (1) = 4.14, p < 0.05]. The following *post hoc* tests showed that when participants conducted



the prosody task, high-trait group reacted slower than low-trait group ( $\beta = 0.094$ , SE = 0.047, z = 1.978, p < 0.05), but there exists no such significant difference when they conducted semantic task ( $\beta = 0.008$ , SE = 0.027, z = 0.278, p = 0.781); in general, participants reacted faster in the prosody task regardless of their trait depression scores (ps < 0.001).

As **Table 4** displays, a significant two-way interaction of "Congruency" × "Task" was found as well in the quiet condition  $[\chi^2 (1) = 9.82, p < 0.01]$ . More specifically, when performing both prosody ( $\beta = -0.054$ , SE = 0.007, z = -7.700, p < 0.001) and semantic ( $\beta = -0.022$ , SE = 0.007, z = -3.035, p < 0.01) tasks, both high-trait group and low-trait group spent less time under consistent situation compared with inconsistent situation. The results displayed that participants tended to be more affected by semantic congruency (or not) in the prosody task than be affected by prosody congruency (or not) in the semantic task.

There was also a clear fact that regardless of consistency or not (the Stroop effect set on the experiment), they spent less time when they conducted prosody task rather than semantic task (ps < 0.001).

# **Experiment 2 (Noisy Condition)**

**Figure 1B** displays high-trait and low-trait groups' reaction time in semantic and prosody tasks under a noisy condition. As displayed in **Table 5**, in the noisy condition, LMM revealed a clear main effect of "Congruency" [ $\chi^2$  (1) = 34.61, p < 0.001] in the noisy condition, while the two-way and three-way interactions between "Congruency" and any other factors failed to reach significance (all ps > 0.05). Notably, while "Congruency" and "Task" produced a two-way interaction and the Stroop effect therein made differences in the two tasks in a quiet condition, no such interaction was found in the noisy condition.

Besides, a significant two-way interaction of "Severity" × "Task" was detected in the noisy condition  $[\chi^2 (1) = 83.11, p < 0.001]$ . When participants conducted the prosody task ( $\beta = 0.126, SE = 0.035, z = 3.611, p < 0.001$ ), the

TABLE 4   Linear mixed-effects model with severity, congruency, task as the fixed
effects and the logarithm of reaction time as dependent variables in Experiment 1.

**TABLE 5** | Linear mixed-effects model with severity, congruency, task as the fixed effects and the logarithm of reaction time as dependent variables in Experiment 2.

Effect	Chi-square	р
Severity	2.34	0.126
Congruency	56.36	< 0.001***
Task	60.25	< 0.001***
scale_Digit span	0.35	0.553
scale_Trial	14.06	< 0.001***
LexTALE	5.88	0.015*
Severity:Congruency	0.63	0.427
Severity:Task	4.14	0.042*
Congruency:Task	9.82	0.002**
Severity:Congruency:Task	2.43	0.119

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

group difference was quite clear: high-trait group took a longer time to identify emotions expressed by noisy-interferential spoken English words than low-trait group, which closely resembled the results in the quiet condition. However, there was no such significant difference between two groups when they conducted the semantic task ( $\beta = 0.036$ , SE = 0.035, z = 1.035, p = 0.301).

Besides, in the noisy condition, both high-trait and low-trait groups took a shorter time to complete the prosody task than the semantic task (ps < 0.001). Primarily, these data presented that Chinese college students tended to identify emotions faster than L2 verbal content under all listening conditions.

#### DISCUSSION

So far, the question remains unresolved as to how people with a propensity to depression process emotional cues of the second language during daily communication. To fill the research gap of emotion word processing for second language learners with different severity of trait depression, the current study investigated the interaction of semantic content and emotional prosody under a complete Stroop effect paradigm by Chinese college students with trait depression in quiet and noisy environments. It was designed to address the following three research questions. First, we tried to investigate the differences between high trait-depressive group and low trait-depressive group in emotion word processing. Second, we were interested in the general mechanisms of the Stroop effect on emotion word processing in two severity of trait-depressive groups. And finally, we aimed to figure out whether any change in English emotion word processing would be posed by the influence of noise. The following discussions tried to answer these research questions based on relevant findings.

# Specific for High Trait-Depressive Group: Bluntness Toward Emotions

For the issue of Chinese college students in terms of the emotional prosody identification, results of the current study showed that in two experiments, the response time of the high-trait depression group was significantly longer than that of the lowtrait depression group regardless of the congruency condition.

Effect	Chi-square	p
Severity	4.65	0.031*
Congruency	34.61	< 0.001***
Task	1539.82	< 0.001***
scale_Digit span	0.00	>0.999
scale_Trial	19.97	< 0.001***
LexTALE	2.07	0.150
Severity:Congruency	0.00	>0.999
Severity:Task	83.11	< 0.001***
Congruency:Task	0.72	0.395
Severity:Congruency:Task	1.50	0.220

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001

This finding of the semantics-prosody Stroop experiment, however, is not congruent with previous findings of the wordface Stroop experiment with trait-depressive college students (33). They found that the response time of the high-trait depression group was significantly shorter than that of the low-trait depression group under the condition of emotional inconsistency. In order to explain this, the authors adopted the Affect Infusion Model (49), meaning participants took strategies in advance and processed information more conveniently, potentially accounting for this phenomenon. So, it is the earlier readiness for cognitive processing more conveniently that assisted the high-trait depression group to react faster.

The poorer performance of emotional processing in hightrait depression people is generally in line with previous studies of emotion-related judgment in patients with MDD. Previous studies presented their impaired recognition of emotions in the visual modality (i.e., facial expressions) or auditory modality (i.e., emotions are expressed vocally). They seemed to show deficits in the correct perception of affective prosody (76). And in most rating experiments, MDD tended to skew the recognition of emotional stimuli into two directions: the tendency toward negative emotional stimuli, and the bluntness of positive stimuli (38). Since trait-depressive undergraduates are associated with low heart rate variability and more specifically its parasympathetic component, which is considered a physiological index of emotion regulation capacity (77), they are less competent to regulate their emotions and reach controlled sensory processing. Participants got poor concentration toward outside information with increasing severity of depression.

Both in quiet and noisy conditions, the results of the current study showed clear contrasts of reaction time between different trait-depression groups in the prosody task, while no such significant contrast was found in the semantic task. This is plausible due to the closer connection between the prosody task and the effect on the long-term psychology of participants.

# General for Participants: Extensive Existence of Stroop Effect

Variants of Stroop effect protocols, as behavioral experiments, were considered as an exploration of the primitive operations of cognition, offering clues to the fundamental process of attention and an ideal tool for the research of automatic processing (78). Results of the current study showed the consistency facilitation effect, meaning that participants took a shorter response time under emotional consistency conditions, which is congruent with previous findings (9, 18, 19). Interestingly, the high-trait depression group lacked activated sensitivity toward emotion perception, then they might have been less affected by the change of emotional prosody when they conducted semantic tasks. However, the lack of two-way interaction of "Congruency" and "Severity" in Experiment 1, indicated that the effect of congruency of stimuli from two channels did not vary between the high-trait group and the low-trait group. Besides, the main effect of "Congruency" in Experiment 2 symbolized the "independence" of the Stroop effect from the mental state of individuals inside (i.e., participants' trait depression severity) and environmental influences outside (i.e., quiet and noisy listening conditions). The results were roughly analogous, jointly indicating an extensive existence of the Stroop effect.

Notably, the anterior cingulate cortex and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex were reported to remain active when resolving conflict (79), indicating the brain activity in Stroop interference. And the widespread view about the Stroop effect in cognition told that mental skills (e.g., reading) are automatic once they were acquired through repetitive and extensive practice (80). Cattell (81) suggested an automatic process in the cognitive science of the Stroop effect. The automatic process was regarded as unintentional, uncontrolled, unconscious, and fast (82). Just as in the word–color experiment initially, participants in the current study could not "resist" processing word meaning in the prosodic task or pay attention to emotional prosody in the semantic task, and the interference made the difference.

# Noise in Emotion Word Processing: Masking Effect

While the Stroop effect presented high automation, it did make a varying difference between semantic task and prosody task in the quiet condition. More specifically, in Experiment 1, under the interaction of "Congruency" and "Task," "Congruency" exerted a higher influence in the prosody task (\*\*\*p < 0.001) than in the semantic task (\*\*p < 0.01). In other words, all participants were more affected by the Stroop effect in emotion identification with the interference of English word content, which might relate to experimental design. One potential factor to account for this could be that, compared with the word valence judgment in the semantic task, identifying emotions as happy or sad in the prosody task was easier for participants, which could be proved by the reduced response time. First, we selected the two most uncontroversial emotions that share across multi-cultures as the basic emotions. Unlike other finer emotions (e.g., suspicious, surprising, sarcasm, regret), familiarity and understandability increased the response efficiency. Therefore, it is very much unlikely for participants to misinterpret them. Second, given the significant pitch difference of audio stimuli between happy tone and sad tone, there existed an obvious contrast, with happy tone much higher than sad tone (p < 0.001), while no such significant pitch contrasts between positive and negative words were observed (p = 0.808). This was not surprising since the happiness expression was always presented with explicit and unneglectable acoustic cues, such as higher pitch and quicker speed (64). Thus, participants reached faster responses within a short time. Third, although college students in this experiment have received an average of 15.83 years of education and learned English from a young age, they did not achieve perfect scores in LexTALE (M = 55.11). In semantic task, listening to English audio files only once and reacting within 5 s for second language learners could be a demanding task of pretty pressure, accompanied by a significant decrease of attention toward the emotional prosody of English words and a less Stroop effect. On the other hand, in the prosody task, going much easy on the emotion identification could always leave much other room for attention to verbal content, and the semanticsprosody channel congruency (positive-happy, negative-sad) or incongruency (positive-sad, negative-happy) mattered more. This aligned with the perceptual load theory: to what extent the task-irrelevant stimuli are processed is determined by whether there are spare attentional resources left when they are used to process the task-relevant stimuli (83).

However, this varying degree of Stroop effect between two tasks was not consistently observed in Experiment 2, where the listening background changed from quiet to speech-shaped noise. The interaction of "Congruency" and "Task" did not reach statistical significance in the noisy condition. Primarily, it is likely that the audio files accompanied by the noise created a relatively harsh environment for listeners to make their responses quickly. Unlike in the quiet condition where listeners could rely on the integrated prosody of words to identify emotions, they were probably forced to hear every syllable with much more effort to do the same job. And for these second language learners, mishearing only one syllable under a noisy condition could lead to loss and confusion about the lexical meaning of the whole word in the semantic task. Thus, the prosody tasks did not appear to be as easy and convenient due to the impact of noise. The increased difficulty of both tasks posed challenges for listeners to allocate their limited attention and seek the optimal solutions.

Moreover, the perception of English speech under noisy conditions occupied many more cognitive resources, including WM and inhibitory ability (84). After all, having controlled for language skills, WM, and emotional intelligence, the better inhibitory ability still predicted higher problem-solving accuracy (85). Factors such as noisy environment and other languages can adversely affect the speech perception process, leading to an increased difficulty for full understanding and a longer time to decode what was heard accurately (86). Since adverse listening conditions impair the encoding of speech signals, which means listeners have to allocate processing resources to separated aspects (87). (88, 89) also pointed out that the perceptual load of the current task participants conducted determined the allocation of cognitive resources during the process of selective attention. If the perceptual load of the current task was relatively low, and only a part of the attention resources was consumed in the process, then the extra attention resources would spare automatically to process the distractive stimuli, thus producing the distractive effect. On the contrary, if the perceptual load of the current task was high and the limited attention resources

were exhausted at once, the distractible stimulation unrelated to the task could not be perceptually processed, so the distractor effect will not be produced. In all in, in the current experiment, the additional cognitive, linguistic, and perceptual resources to understand English speech in noise, heavily consumed an individual's cognitive resources, leading to less Stroop effect.

# **Limitations and Future Directions**

There exist several limitations in the current study. First, the conclusions were limited to trait-depressive Chinese college students of age 18-26 years. Given the extensive distribution of this mentally impaired population of all age groups, data, and information of only a fraction of college students, with even indistinctive second language competence in hearing, might limit how we interpret the model. Whether the results mentioned above reflect the psychological features of more common people remains unclear. Thus, a larger size of participants with marked characteristics is highly needed to draw more compelling views, with the assessing scales being of high validity. Second, compared with some previous studies adopting the Stroop-like paradigm, this research only focused on the binary cross-channel contrasts of audio emotional stimuli (semantic vs. prosodic), without applying more access to communication channels and modalities (e.g., facial expressions, videos). For the experimental design, practical settings are highly feasible. For instance, more types of noises with effects of closer authentic communication simulation or even real-life environment (i.e., babble noise), diverse emotions with finer classification sharing across cultures (i.e., surprise, sarcasm), multiple approaches to keeping abreast of language and psychological research to comprehend the neurological basis (i.e., event-related potential measures). Finally, it would be beneficial for further investigations on the clinical group of MDD to apply the current findings to the clinical setting.

# CONCLUSION

In summary, this current study investigated psychological mechanisms of English emotion word processing under the semantics-prosody Stroop effect paradigm in quiet and noisy listening backgrounds, with Chinese college students with trait depression as participants. It was proved that the high trait depression group showed evident bluntness toward emotions compared with the low trait depression group in emotion word processing. And the widely existed Stroop effect affects the emotion word processing automatically, regardless of

# REFERENCES

- Kasap S, Tanhan F. The effect of body posture on foreign language anxiety. Sakarya Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi. (2019) 37:46–65.
- Schroeder J, Kardas M, Epley N. The humanizing voice: speech reveals, and text conceals, a more thoughtful mind in the midst of disagreement. *Psychol Sci.* (2017) 28:1745–62. doi: 10.1177/0956797617713798
- Grandjean D, Bänziger T, Scherer KR. Intonation as an interface between language and affect. *Prog Brain Res.* (2006) 156:235–47. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56012-1

participants' trait severity (i.e., high trait or low trait) and listening conditions (i.e., quiet or noisy). The results also showed that participants tended to be more affected by the Stroop effect when they conducted prosody tasks and recognized emotions than being affected in the semantic task and identified English word valence. However, such contrast was not observed with a background of speech-shaped noise, indicating the masking effect of noise on cognitive processing. Taken together, these findings provide evidence supporting the emotional processing deficit of high trait-depressive people and congruence-induced facilitation effect in widespread Stroop effect, which provide a reference on the cross-linguistic special group with multi-listening conditions for future studies and offer fairly basic evidence for clinical application of the trait depression.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the School of Foreign Languages, Hunan University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FC conceived and designed the study, performed the statistical analysis, and offered the financial support. JL collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. GZ designed the study and interpreted the data. CG participated in the statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was partly supported by the Social Science Foundation of Hunan Province (No. 20ZDB003) and Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities, Hunan University (No. 531118010660).

- Paulmann S, Pell MD. Is there an advantage for recognizing multi-modal emotional stimuli? *Motiv Emot.* (2011) 35:192–201. doi: 10.1007/s11031-011-9206-0
- Wilson D, Wharton T. Relevance and prosody. J Pragmat. (2006) 38:1559–79. doi: 10.1016/j.pragma.2005.04.012
- Yang L, Campbell N. Linking form to meaning: the expression and recognition of emotions Through prosody. *Proceedings of the 4th ISCA Tutorial and Research Workshop (ITRW) on Speech Synthesis.* (Kolkata: ISCA) (2001).
- 7. Song Y, Zhong J, Jia Z, Liang D. Emotional prosody recognition in children with high-functioning autism under the influence of emotional intensity:

based on the perspective of emotional dimension theory. *J Commun Disord.* (2020) 88:106032. doi: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2020.106032

- Morton JB, Trehub SE. Children's understanding of emotion in speech. *Child* Dev. (2001) 72:834–43. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00318
- Lin Y, Ding H, Zhang Y. Prosody dominates over semantics in emotion word processing: evidence from cross-channel and cross-modal stroop effects. J Speech Lang Hear Res. (2020) 63:896–912. doi: 10.1044/2020\_JSLHR-19-00258
- Hellbernd N, Sammler D. Prosody conveys speaker's intentions: acoustic cues for speech act perception. *J Memory Lang.* (2016) 88:70–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jml. 2016.01.001
- Bach DR, Buxtorf K, Grandjean D, Strik WK. The influence of emotion clarity on emotional prosody identification in paranoid schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 39:927–38. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004704
- Mitchell RL. Age-related decline in the ability to decode emotional prosody: primary or secondary phenomenon? *Cogn Emot.* (2007) 21:1435–54. doi: 10. 1080/02699930601133994
- Wittfoth M, Schröder C, Schardt DM, Dengler R, Heinze HJ, Kotz SA. On emotional conflict: interference resolution of happy and angry prosody reveals valence-specific effects. *Cereb Cortex*. (2010) 20:383–92. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhp106
- Stroop JR. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J Exp Psychol. (1935) 18:643–62. doi: 10.1037/h0054651
- Filippi P, Ocklenburg S, Bowling DL, Heege L, Güntürkün O, Newen A, et al. More than words (and faces): evidence for a stroop effect of prosody in emotion word processing. *Cogn Emot.* (2017) 31:879–91. doi: 10.1080/ 02699931.2016.1177489
- Barnhart WR, Rivera S, Robinson CW. Different patterns of modality dominance across development. *Acta Psychol.* (2018) 182:154–65. doi: 10. 1016/j.actpsy.2017.11.017
- Spence C, Parise C, Chen Y-C. The colavita visual dominance effect. In: Murray MM, Wallace MT editors. *The Neural Bases of Multisensory Processes*. (Abindon: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis) (2012).
- Liu P, Rigoulot S, Pell MD. Culture modulates the brain response to human expressions of emotion: electrophysiological evidence. *Neuropsychologia*. (2015) 67:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.11.034
- Pell MD, Jaywant A, Monetta L, Kotz SA. Emotional speech processing: disentangling the effects of prosody and semantic cues. *Cogn Emot.* (2011) 25:834–53. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2010.516915
- Schwartz R, Pell MD. Emotional speech processing at the intersection of prosody and semantics. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7:e47279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0047279
- Kindermann SS, Kalayam B, Brown GG, Burdick KE, Alexopoulos GS. Executive functions and P300 latency in elderly depressed patients and control subjects. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2000) 8:57–65. doi: 10.1097/00019442-200002000-00008
- Zakzanis KK, Leach L, Kaplan E. On the nature and pattern of neurocognitive function in major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol.* (1998) 11:111–9.
- Ebmeier KP, Donaghey C, Steele JD. Recent developments and current controversies in depression. *Lancet.* (2006) 367:153–67. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)67964-6
- Gotlib IH, Lee CM. The social functioning of depressed patients: a longitudinal assessment. J Soc Clin Psychol. (1989) 8:223–37. doi: 10.1521/jscp.1989.8.3.223
- Levendosky AA, Okun A, Parker JG. Depression and maltreatment as predictors of social competence and social problem-solving skills in school-age children. *Child Abuse Neglect*. (1995) 19:1183–95. doi: 10.1016/0145-2134(95) 00086-N
- Lei ZH, Xv R, Deng SB, Luo YJ. Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of state-trait depression scale in college students. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2011) 25:136–40.
- 27. Costa PT, McCrae RR. *Neo Personality Inventory-Revised (NEO PI-R)*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (1992).
- Terracciano A, Tanaka T, Sutin AR, Sanna S, Deiana B, Lai S, et al. Genomewide association scan of trait depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2010) 68:811–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.030
- Hallion LS, Ruscio AM. A meta-analysis of the effect of cognitive bias modification on anxiety and depression. *Psychol Bull.* (2011) 137:940–58. doi: 10.1037/a0024355

- Iijima Y, Takano K, Boddez Y, Raes F, Tanno Y. Stuttering thoughts: negative self-referent thinking is less sensitive to aversive outcomes in people with higher levels of depressive symptoms. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:1333. doi: 10. 3389/fpsyg.2017.01333
- Takano K, Iijima Y, Sakamoto S, Raes F, Tanno Y. Is self-positive information more appealing than money? Individual differences in positivity bias according to depressive symptoms. *Cogn Emot.* (2016) 30:1402–14. doi: 10. 1080/02699931.2015.1068162
- Ritterband LM, Spielberger CD. Construct validity of the Beck depression inventory as a measure of state and trait depression in nonclinical populations. *Depress Stress.* (1996) 2:123–45. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(97)00094-3
- Gao C, He CS, Yan XZ. Emotional conflicts of college students with trait depression under the word-face Stroop paradigm. J Heihe University. (2019) 8:56–8.
- Endler NS, Macrodimitris SD, Kocovski NL. Depression: the complexity of self-report measures. J Appl Biobehav Res. (2000) 5:26–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9861.2000.tb00062.x
- Fazio RH, Sanbonmatsu DM, Powell MC, Kardes FR. On the automatic activation of attitudes. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1986) 50:229–38. doi: 10.1037/ /0022-3514.50.2.229
- Schirmer A, Kotz SA. ERP evidence for a sex-specific stroop effect in emotional speech. J Cogn Neurosci. (2003) 15:1135–48. doi: 10.1162/ 089892903322598102
- Emerson CS, Harrison DW, Everhart DE. Investigation of receptive affective prosodic ability in school-aged boys with and without depression. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol.* (1999) 12:102–9.
- Schlipf S, Batra A, Walter G, Zeep C, Wildgruber D, Fallgatter A, et al. Judgment of emotional information expressed by prosody and semantics in patients with unipolar depression. *Front Psychol.* (2013) 4:461. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2013.00461
- Kan Y, Mimura M, Kamijima K, Kawamura M. Recognition of emotion from moving facial and prosodic stimuli in depressed patients. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2004) 75:1667–71. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2004.036079
- Sloan DM, Bradley MM, Dimoulas E, Lang PJ. Looking at facial expressions: dysphoria and facial EMG. *Biol Psychol.* (2002) 60:79–90. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0511(02)00044-3
- Dalili MN, Penton-Voak IS, Harmer CJ, Munafo MR. Meta-analysis of emotion recognition deficits in major depressive disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:1135–44. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714002591
- Garrido-Vásquez P, Jessen S, Kotz SA. Perception of emotion in psychiatric disorders: on the possible role of task, dynamics, and multimodality. *Soc Neurosci.* (2011) 6:515–36. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2011.620771
- Krause FC, Linardatos E, Fresco DM, Moore MT. Facial emotion recognition in major depressive disorder: a meta-analytic review. J Affect Disord. (2021) 293:320–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.06.053
- 44. Péron J, El Tamer S, Grandjean D, Leray E, Travers D, Drapier D, et al. Major depressive disorder skews the recognition of emotional prosody. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 35:987–96. doi: 10.1016/j. pnpbp.2011.01.019
- Canli T, Sivers H, Thomason ME, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Gabrieli JDE, Gotlib IH. Brain activation to emotional words in depressed vs healthy subjects. *Neuroreport.* (2004) 15:2585–8. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200412030-00005
- Epstein J, Pan H, Kocsis JH, Yang Y, Butler T, Chusid J, et al. Lack of ventral striatal response to positive stimuli in depressed versus normal subjects. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2006) 163:1784–90. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2006.163.10.1784
- Gao S, Jiao JL, Liu Y, Wen SX, Qiu XS. Bilingual advantage in Stroop under the condition of different languages. J Psychol Sci. (2017) 40:315–20.
- Tse CS, Altarriba J. The effects of first-and second-language proficiency on conflict resolution and goal maintenance in bilinguals: evidence from reaction time distributional analyses in a stroop task. *Bilingualism.* (2012) 15:663–76. doi: 10.1017/S1366728912000077
- Bower GH. Mood congruity of social judgments. 1st ed. In: Forgas JP editor. *Emotion and Social Judgments*. (New York, NY: Garland Science) (1991). p. 31–53. doi: 10.4324/9781003058731-3
- Ehrman ME, Leaver BL, Oxford RL. A brief overview of individual differences in second language learning. *System*. (2003) 31:313–30. doi: 10.1016/S0346-251X(03)00045-9

- Ekman P. Are there basic emotions? *Psychol Rev.* (1992) 99:550–3. doi: 10. 1037/0033-295X.99.3.550
- 52. Ekman P, Cordaro D. What is meant by calling emotions basic. *Emot Rev.* (2011) 3:364–70. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410740
- Cusi AM, Nazarov A, Holshausen K, MacQueen GM, McKinnon MC. Systematic review of the neural basis of social cognition in patients with mood disorders. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2012) 37:154–69. doi: 10.1503/jpn.100179
- McLaughlin DJ, Baese-Berk MM, Bent T, Borrie SA, Van Engen KJ. Coping with adversity: individual differences in the perception of noisy and accented speech. Atten Percept Psychophys. (2018) 80:1559–70. doi: 10.3758/s13414-018-1537-4
- Speck I, Rottmayer V, Wiebe K, Aschendorff A, Thurow J, Frings L, et al. PET/CT background noise and its effect on speech recognition. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:22065. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-01686-5
- Spielberger CD. State-Trait Depression Scales (Form X-1). Palo Alto, CA: Mind Garden (1995).
- Krohne HW, Schmukle SC, Spaderna H, Spielberger CD. The state-trait depression scales: an international comparison. *Anxiety Stress Coping.* (2002) 15:105–22. doi: 10.1080/10615800290028422
- Lemhöfer K, Broersma M. Introducing LexTALE: a quick and valid lexical test for advanced learners of English. *Behav Res Methods*. (2012) 44:325–43. doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0146-0
- Baddeley A. Working memory: looking back and looking forward. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2003) 4:829–39. doi: 10.1038/nrn1201
- Schutte NS, Malouff JM, Hall LE, Haggerty DJ, Cooper JT, Golden CJ, et al. Development and validation of a measure of emotional intelligence. *Pers Individ Differ*. (1998) 25:167–77. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00001-4
- Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*. (1971) 9:97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71) 90067-4
- 62. Davies M. *The Corpus of Contemporary American English (COCA).* (2008). Available online at https://www.english-corpora.org/coca/ (accessed October 01, 2021).
- 63. Schirmer A, Kotz SA, Friederici, AD. Sex differentiates the role of emotional prosody during word processing. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* (2002) 14:228–33. doi: 10.1016/s0926-6410(02)00108-8
- Scherer KR, Banse R, Wallbott HG. Emotion inferences from vocal expression correlate across languages and cultures. J Cross Cult Psychol. (2001) 32:76–92. doi: 10.1177/0022022101032001009
- 65. Babjack DL, Cernicky B, Sobotka AJ, Basler L, Struthers D, Kisic R, et al. Reducing audio stimulus presentation latencies across studies, laboratories, and hardware and operating system configurations. *Behav Res Methods*. (2015) 47:649–65. doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0608-x
- 66. Psychology Software Tools. *World-Leading Stimulas Presentation Software E-Prime 3.0.* Pittsburgh, PA: Psychology Software Tools (2021).
- Helfer KS, Freyman RL. Aging and speech-on-speech masking. Ear Hear. (2008) 29:87–98. doi: 10.1097/AUD.0b013e31815d638b
- Tun PA, Wingfield A. One voice too many: adult age differences in language processing with different types of distracting sounds. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. (1999) 54B:317–27. doi: 10.1093/geronb/54B.5.P317
- 69. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2018).
- Baayen RH, Milin P. Analyzing reaction times. Int J Psychol Res. (2010) 3:12–28. doi: 10.21500/20112084.807
- Lawrence MA. ez: Easy Analysis and Visualization of Factorial Experiments. R Package Version 4.4-0. (2016). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project. org/package=ez (accessed November 01, 2021).
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Barr DJ, Levy R, Scheepers C, Tily HJ. Random effects structure for confirmatory hypothesis testing: keep it maximal. J Memory Lang. (2013) 68:255–78. doi: 10.1016/j.jml.2012.11.001

- 74. Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J Stat Softw. (2017) 82:1–26.
- Lenth RV. Least-squares means: the R package lsmeans. J Stat Softw. (2016) 69:1–33. doi: 10.18637/jss.v069.i01
- Uekermann J, Abdel-Hamid M, Lehmkämper C, Vollmoeller W, Daum I. Perception of affective prosody in major depression: a link to executive functions? *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* (2008) 14:552–61. doi: 10.1017/S1355617708080740
- 77. Yan WR, Wang ZH. The characteristic of heat rate variability in state-trait depressive undergraduates. *Proceedings of the 14th National Conference of Psychology*. Xi'An: (2011).
- MacLeod CM. Half a century of research on the stroop effect: an integrative review. *Psychol Bull.* (1991) 109:163–203. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.109. 2.163
- Banich MT, Milham MP, Atchley R, Cohen NJ, Webb A, Wszalek T, et al. fMRI studies of Stroop tasks reveal unique roles of anterior and posterior brain systems in attentional selection. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2000) 12:988–1000. doi: 10.1162/08989290051137521
- Besner D, Stolz JA, Boutilier C. The stroop effect and the myth of automaticity. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (1997) 4:221–5. doi: 10.3758/BF03209396
- Cattell JM. The time it takes to see and name objects. *Mind.* (1886) 11:63–5. doi: 10.1093/mind/os-XI.41.63
- Moors A, De Houwer J. Automaticity: a theoretical and conceptual analysis. Psychol Bull. (2006) 132:297–326. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.297
- Lavie N. Perceptual load as a necessary condition for selective attention. J Exp Psychol. (1995) 21:451–68. doi: 10.1037/0096-1523.21.3.451
- Gordon-Salant S, Shader MJ, Wingfield A. Age-related changes in speech understanding: peripheral versus cognitive influences. In: Helfer KS, Bartlett EL, Popper AN, Fay RR editors. *Aging and Hearing: Causes and Consequences*. (Basel: Springer International Publishing) (2020). p. 199–230. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-030-49367-7\_9
- Coderre EL, Filippi CG, Newhouse PA, Dumas JA. The stroop effect in kana and kanji scripts in native Japanese speakers: an fMRI study. *Brain Lang.* (2008) 107:124–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2008.01.011
- Van Engen KJ, Peelle JE. Listening effort and accented speech. Front Hum Neurosci. (2014) 8:577. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00577
- Murphy DR, Craik FIM, Li KZH, Schneider BA. Comparing the effects of aging and background noise on short-term memory performance. *Psychol Aging*. (2000) 15:323–34. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.15.2.323
- Lavie N, Cox S. On the efficiency of visual selective attention: efficient visual search leads to inefficient distractor rejection. *Psychol Sci.* (1997) 8:395–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.1997.tb00432.x
- Lavie N, Fox E. The role of perceptual load in negative priming. J Exp Psychol. (2000) 26:1038–52. doi: 10.1037/0096-1523.26.3.1038

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chen, Lian, Zhang and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Network Analysis of the Relationship Between Trait Depression and Impulsiveness Among Youth

Jingxuan Zhang, Kuiliang Li, Yitong Xue and Zhengzhi Feng\*

Department of Medical Psychology, Army Medical University, Chongqing, China

**Objective:** Both impulsiveness and trait depression are the trait-level risk factors for depressive symptoms. However, the two traits overlap and do not affect depressive symptoms independently. This study takes impulsiveness and trait depression into a whole construct, aiming to find the complex associations among all facets and explore their relative importance in a trait network. It can help us find the key facets that need consideration in preventing depression.

**Materials and Methods:** We used the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS) and Trait Depression Scale (T-DEP) as measuring tools, conducted network analysis, and applied the Graphic Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (GLASSO) algorithm to estimate the network structure and compute the linkage and centrality indexes. The accuracy and stability of the indexes were estimated through bootstrapping. All the computations were performed by R script and packages.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Maha Atout, Philadelphia University, Jordan

#### Reviewed by:

William Sulis, McMaster University, Canada Samantha Jane Brooks, Liverpool John Moores University, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Zhengzhi Feng fzz@tmmu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 April 2022 Accepted: 13 May 2022 Published: 17 June 2022

#### Citation:

Zhang J, Li K, Xue Y and Feng Z (2022) Network Analysis of the Relationship Between Trait Depression and Impulsiveness Among Youth. Front. Psychiatry 13:916332. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.916332 **Results:** We found that "trait anhedonia" was connected with "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness, while "trait dysthymia" was connected with "motor" impulsiveness. "Cognitive" impulsiveness had a statistically significant higher expected influence than "motor" impulsiveness and had the trend to be dominant in the network. "Trait dysthymia" had a statistically significant higher bridge expected influence than "cognitive" impulsiveness and had the trend to be the key facet linking impulsiveness with trait depression. "Non-only children" had higher network global strength than "only children." All indexes were accurate and stable.

**Conclusion:** The present study confirms the complex associations among facets of trait depression and impulsiveness, finding that "cognitive" impulsiveness and "trait dysthymia" are the two key factors in the network. The results imply that different facets of impulsiveness should be considered respectively regarding anhedonia and dysthymia. "Cognitive" impulsiveness and "trait dysthymia" are critical to the prevention of depression.

#### Keywords: trait depression, impulsiveness, network analysis, facet, dysthymia, anhedonia, youth

Abbreviations: BIS, Barratt impulsiveness scale; BIS-11-CV, Barratt impulsiveness scale 11th Chinese version; Non.I, nonplanning impulsiveness of the BIS; Mot.I, motor impulsiveness of the BIS; Cog.I, cognitive impulsiveness of the BIS; ST-DEP, state trait depression scale; T-DEP, trait depression scale; Dys.T, trait dysthymia of the T-DEP; Anh.T, trait anhedonia of the T-DEP; SDS, self-rating depression scale; BDI, beck depression inventory; GGM, Gaussian graphical model; GLASSO, graphic least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; PCM, partial correlation model; SPL, short path length; CI, confidence interval; CS, correlation stability; SD, standard deviation; PRISMA, preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses.

# INTRODUCTION

Impulsiveness is an important risk factor for several mental disorders, including depression (1-3). The causal effect of impulsiveness on depression is confirmed by a longitudinal study (3). This indicates that impulsiveness is a vulnerability to depression. However, as assessed by the big-five personality inventory, trait depression predicts depressive symptoms, while impulsiveness does not (4). Trait depression and impulsiveness are two correlated facets of the domain "Neuroticism" (5), which is also verified when the two traits are measured by independent scales (6). Consequently, we infer that impulsiveness does not predict depressive symptoms independently but acts as an overlapped vulnerability with trait depression. Therefore, it is necessary to put the two traits together rather than to view them as independent factors of depression. However, both impulsiveness and trait depression are complex concepts, including distinct facets. It is not clear enough which facets are dominant or how the two traits are correlated with each other on the facet level. This is critical to understand the trait basis of depression and to take proper measures for prevention.

There are different models of impulsiveness. In the neurocognitive domain, Fineberg et al. (7, 8) divided impulsiveness into the motor, disadvantageous decisionmaking, choice, and reflection. Barratt's model, in turn, regards impulsiveness as a trait and also includes neurocognitiverelated components, which are widely used in studies. It divides impulsiveness into the following three facets: "nonplanning," "motor," and "cognitive" (9) (refer to Supplementary Table 1 for facets and definitions). Both Eysenck's personality model (10) and the big-five personality model (5) include a depressive trait component, but do not consider the core feature of depression, i.e., anhedonia. Spielberger's model divides depression into anhedonia (lack of pleasure) and dysthymia (existence of despondent mood) (11), which can well cover the core features of depression (12). Meanwhile, Spielberger's model includes both state and trait depression. Different from state depression which refers to depressive symptoms or emotions now, trait depression, which includes "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia," represents general depressive feelings throughout a long period of time (11, 13).

There is evidence that various facets of impulsiveness are associated with depression. The self-reported facets, such as "urgency" (14–16), "lack of perseverance" (16), "inattention," "lack of planning," and "inability in controlling temper or behavior" (17), are positively correlated with depression. In addition, the behavioral-measured impulsive decisionmaking and disinhibition of response are significantly different in depressive participants compared to the control groups (2). However, the above studies do not consider trait-level depression and its facets.

Although there are few studies discussing the relationships between trait anhedonia and impulsiveness or between trait dysthymia and impulsiveness, existing evidence shows that state (or diagnosed) anhedonia and dysthymia are related to different kinds of impulsiveness. Some studies reveal that state anhedonia and impulsiveness are positively correlated (18, 19), while others find negative associations (20, 21). It may be due to the use of different concepts of impulsiveness [e.g., dysfunctional impulsiveness (19), impulsive personality (18), and delay discounting rate (20)]. The relationship between state dysthymia and impulsiveness is unknown with few studies discussing it. Nevertheless, there is evidence that state dysthymia co-occurs with borderline personality disorder (22, 23), which shows impulsive features. Above all, whether different facets of impulsiveness and trait depression are correlated is not clear.

We do not find any study discussing the relative importance of different facets of impulsiveness and trait depression. Therefore, we cannot come up with a hypothesis about which facet is dominant in the construct. However, there is indirect information about the associations between the facets of depression and impulsiveness. Reward processing impairment is one of the core features of anhedonia in depression (24). Depressive patients with anhedonia show reduced positive emotions for the future reward, which is explained as a lack of anticipatory pleasure (25). This symptom presents a kind of non-planning-for-the-future character, which is also included in Barratt's impulsiveness model (9). Mood distress, as one of the features of dysthymia, is related to cognitive control (26) that is associated with lacking cognitive or behavioral inhibition. This indicates that dysthymia may be correlated with another two factors of Barratt's model, namely, "motor" and "cognitive" (9).

Therefore, in the present study, we take Spielberger's statetrait depression model (11) and Barratt's impulsiveness model (9, 27) to explore the relative importance and complex relationship between the facets of trait depression and impulsiveness. Simultaneously, we are aiming to find the key facets that link the two traits and to explore whether the demographic variables can influence the whole correlation pattern and the total correlation strength of all the facets. Network analysis is a suitable method to cover both the analyses of intercorrelations (represented by edge weight) and relative importance (represented by centrality indexes) (28). It can also consider the linkage of one variable among two or more communities (29), compare the whole correlation patterns and the total correlation strength between different populations (30), and give clear visualized results (28). These are not what the traditional correlation analysis possesses. Therefore, we apply network analysis (28), which includes all the trait facets in a network with all facets as nodes and associations as edges, covering both the analyses of intercorrelations (represented by edge weight) and relative importance (represented by centrality indexes). According to the association pattern on the state (or diagnostic) level mentioned above, we hypothesize that "trait anhedonia" is more closely connected with "non-planning" impulsiveness, while "trait dysthymia" is more closely connected with "motor" and "cognitive" impulsiveness. Regarding the relative importance of the facets and the other study objectives, we refer to the posterior results.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Participants**

A total of 295 participants (female = 181, male = 113, not report gender = 1) who were under 40 years (mean = 20.71,

SD = 2.97) were recruited initially. All the participants were youth studying in academies or working in Chongqing, China. They completed a paper version of the Trait Depression Scale (T-DEP) and Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS) under the instruction of surveyors. We rejected 21 participants because they reported psychopathological family history or clinical history. The valid sample contained 274 participants (female = 167, male = 106, not report = 1), aging from 17 to 34 years (mean = 20.70, SD = 3.01) (refer to Table 1). There were 10 participants who had missing values in the two scales (seven participants with one missing value and three participants with two missing values each) [refer to Figure 1 for the PRISMA diagram (31) of the participants' recruitment process]. We addressed these missing values with multiple imputation. This imputation method generates two or more values for each missing value through a certain algorithm and creates several imputation datasets. Researchers choose one or took the average of all datasets for the analysis (32). In this study, we used R "mice" package (33), applying a predictive mean matching algorithm to process multiple imputations. There were one and five participants who had missing values in gender and "only child" variables, respectively. These participants were rejected when gender or "only child" was considered in the network comparisons.

# Assessment

#### **Trait Depression Scale**

The Trait Depression Scale is a subscale of the State Trait Depression Scale (ST-DEP) developed by Charles D. Spielberger in 1995 (11). Unlike the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS) (34) and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (35), it is

TABLE 1   Demographic information and descriptive statistics.					
	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	n	%		
Age	$20.70 \pm 3.01$				
Gender (male)		106	38.7		
Gender (female)		167	60.9		
Gender (not report)		1	0.4		
Only child (yes)		117	42.7		
Only child (non)		152	55.5		
Only child (not report)		5	1.8		
Left-behind child (yes)		68	24.8		
Left-behind child (non)		206	75.2		
BIS	$73.12 \pm 13.91$				
Non.I	$22.51 \pm 6.03$				
Mot.I	$26.95\pm5.76$				
Cog.I	$23.66 \pm 5.11$				
T-DEP	$28.96 \pm 7.81$				
Anh.T	$16.23\pm4.88$				
Dys.T	$12.72\pm3.85$				

SD, standard deviation; n, number of the participants; only child, the only one alive child of his or her parents; left-behind child, not living together with his or her parents before 10 years of age; BIS, barratt impulsiveness scale; Non.I, non-planning impulsiveness of the BIS; Mot.I, motor impulsiveness of the BIS; Cog.I, cognitive impulsiveness of the BIS; T-DEP, trait depression scale; Anh.T, trait anhedonia of the T-DEP; Dys.T, trait dysthymia of the T-DEP.

used to measure one's long-term depressive emotion (trait) rather than the state within 1 or 2 weeks. In addition, ST-DEP neglects the items relevant to somatization, retaining the items reflecting cognition and emotion, which are divided into two facets in both the S-DEP and T-DEP, namely, euthymia and dysthymia. Euthymia is the "existence of positive affect," while dysthymia is the "existence of negative affect" (11). Given that the euthymia subscale is reversely scored, it represents "lack of positive affect," namely, "anhedonia." The scale consists of thirty-two items, with sixteen items each in the S-DEP and T-DEP. Of the sixteen items of the T-DEP, eight items represent anhedonia, and the other eight items represent dysthymia. The Chinese version was translated and revised by Lei et al. (36). The reliability and construct validity of both the S-DEP and T-DEP were demonstrated among samples from college students (36). In this study, the T-DEP was shown to be reliable, with McDonald's omega values of 0.910 (95% CI = [0.892, 0.928]) and 0.861 (95% CI = [0.831, 0.892]) in anhedonia and dysthymia subscales, respectively.

#### Barratt Impulsiveness Scale

The Barratt Impulsiveness Scale was originally developed by Barratt (37). It has been widely used to evaluate impulsive traits and behavioral patterns of healthy individuals or those who have impulse control disorder, borderline personality disorder, or other relevant mental disorders (9). There are thirty items in BIS, which are divided into three subscales, namely, "nonplanning," "motor," and "cognitive" impulsiveness, representing "lack of forethought," "acting without inhibition," and "acting without thinking," respectively. Li and Philips translated the 11th version of the BIS into Chinese (Barratt Impulsiveness Scale 11th Chinese version, BIS-11-CV) (38), and they retained six items, revised five items, and replaced nineteen items. The reliability and validity of the BIS-11-CV have been shown to be good among Chinese samples from communities and colleges (27). However, according to Li and Philips' study (38), Item 13 (one item for "non-planning" impulsiveness) is more likely a feature of "cognitive" impulsiveness, while Item 24 (one item for "cognitive" impulsiveness) is more likely a feature of "motor" impulsiveness. We accepted the conclusion in this study; thus, the BIS-11-CV had good reliability with a coefficient of internal consistency in the present sample. The McDonald's omega values of the three subscales were 0.872 (95% CI = [0.844, 0.900]), 0.836 (95%) CI = [0.806, 0.867]), and 0.846 (95% CI = [0.812, 0.881]).

# **Statistical Analyses**

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Demographic information and descriptive statistics were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 20.0 (39).

#### Network Analyses

RStudio version 1.4 with R 4.0.4 was used to conduct the network analyses (40).

#### Network Estimation

Gaussian graphical model (GGM) (41) is the basic method of cross-sectional network analysis. Based on GGM, the partial



correlation model (PCM) (41) can eliminate spurious correlation. This study used the Graphic Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (GLASSO) algorithm (42) to estimate the partial correlations of each observed variable, which could shrink the weak correlations to zero within the network to obtain a more stable network. The GLASSO algorithm was applied with the EBICglasso function of the R "qgraph" package (43). The network was visualized as nodes and edges of different colors and thicknesses. The red edges represent negative partial correlations, while the blue edges represent positive partial correlations.

#### Centrality

Centrality represents the numbers, strength, and closeness of the correlations of one node with others in a network. The basic indexes of centrality are degree, closeness, and betweenness (43). Closeness and betweenness include "short path length, SPL" (28), considering all the direct and indirect correlations of one node with others, which allows the importance of the node to be evaluated. In the weighted network, the sum of weights of all edges of one node represents the centrality index, which is named "strength." Studies have shown the strength centrality to be more stable than closeness and betweenness (44, 45). However, for a network with both positive and negative edges, a previous study has shown that "expected influence," which is the sum of the value of all edges connecting to one node, is more appropriate (46). In the present study, the expected influence was chosen to represent the centrality index.

#### Stability and Accuracy Analyses

These two indexes were calculated by the R "bootnet" package (47). Because centrality statistics can be unreliable, accuracy and stability analyses were necessary. Therefore, the *post-hoc* stability and accuracy analyses were conducted. The 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated for the accuracy of edge weights with bootstrapping. The narrower the 95% CI was, the more accurate the edge weights were. The recommended value of edge weight accuracy is not less than 0.5 (47). The stability of centrality indexes was estimated by calculating the correlation stability (CS) coefficient with case-dropping bootstrapping. The CS coefficient should not be lower than 0.25 and better be more than 0.5 (47).

#### Bridge

The Bridge indexes are usually used to describe overlapping nodes in studies on mental disorders (48). The bridge expected influence can indicate the risk of contagion among different disorders (29). In this study, the bridge expected influence was applied to illustrate the overlap of the two traits to prove that those who were vulnerable to depression had certain characteristics of impulsiveness. It was calculated by the R package "networktools" (49). The higher the bridge expected influence was, the greater the overlap was.

#### Network Comparison

To examine the effects of gender (male and female), "only child" (only child and non-only child), and "left-behind

child" (left-behind child and non-left-behind child) on the network, we conducted network comparisons by the R "NetworkComparisonTest" package, applying permutation test to compare the network invariance (the network structure pattern) and the global strength invariance (the sum of the weight of the edges within the network) (30). The network comparisons for the three factors were performed, respectively.

# RESULTS

# Demographic Information and Descriptive Statistics

The demographic information and descriptive statistics are shown in **Table 1**.

# **Network Structure**

The network of trait depression and impulsiveness is shown in Figure 2. Eight of ten possible connections were not zero. Within trait depression, "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia" were closely connected, with an edge weight of 0.400. Within impulsiveness, "cognitive" impulsiveness was linked with "nonplanning" and "motor" impulsiveness with the edge weights of 0.515 and 0.271, respectively, while "non-planning" and "motor" impulsiveness were connected, with an edge weight of 0.006. Between the two traits, "trait anhedonia" was related to "non-planning" impulsiveness (weight = 0.193) and "cognitive" impulsiveness (weight = 0.157), and "trait dysthymia" was connected with "motor" impulsiveness (weight = 0.309) and "non-planning" impulsiveness (weight = 0.089). Among these, the weights of the edges "Mot.I-Dys.T" and "Non.I-Dys.T" were neither significantly different (95%  $CI_{bootstrap} = [-0.002,$ 0.459]) nor were the weights of the edges "Non.I-Anh.T" and "Cog.I-Anh.T" (95% CI<sub>bootstrap</sub> = [-0.301, 0.246]) (refer to Table 2). Meanwhile, the weight of the edge "Non.I-Cog.I" was significantly larger than those of "Mot.I-Cog.I"  $(95\% \text{ CI}_{bootstrap} = [0.045, 0.454])$  and "Non.I-Mot.I" (95%  $CI_{bootstrap} = [0.258, 0.687])$  (refer to **Table 2**). The weights of the edges "Cog.I-Dys.T" and "Mot.I-Anh.T" were shrunk to zero after applying the GLASSO algorithm, which indicated that these two linkages were of the least importance in this network.

#### Centrality

We used expected influence as the index of centrality. As shown in **Figure 3**, "Cog.I" had the highest expected influence values (the expected influence values are listed in **Table 3**), indicating that this node was the most important one in the network and had the strongest connections to other nodes. "Mot.I" had the lowest expected influence value, indicating that this node was the least important one in the network. However, the significance test showed that only the comparison between "Cog.I" and "Mot.I" was statistically significant (refer to **Table 3**).

### **Stability and Accuracy**

The number of bootstrapping samples was 2,000 when calculating both the edge weight accuracy and the CS coefficient



of expected influence. In this network, the edge weight accuracy was 0.75 (the bootstrap mean of the edge weight is plotted in **Supplementary Figure 1**), higher than the recommended 0.5 (47). The CS coefficient of expected influence was 0.44 (the average correlation with the original sample for expected influence is plotted in **Supplementary Figure 2**), higher than the recommended 0.25 (47). These results indicate that the centrality statistics were stable and accurate.

# Bridge

The bridge index is usually used in symptom networks to determine which symptoms have the greatest risk of contagion between two symptom groups. However, for personality networks, it can be applied to describe which trait components linked the different personalities closest. We regarded impulsiveness and trait depression as two communities when calculating the bridge expected influence values. The trait components were represented by facets (five facets in total). According to Figure 4, the most important bridge trait component was "trait dysthymia," and the bridge expected influence value of which was 0.398. However, only the difference between "trait dysthymia" and "cognitive" impulsiveness was significant (95% CI<sub>bootstrap</sub> = [0.011, 0.461]) (refer to Table 4) (the bridge expected influence values are listed in Supplementary Table 4). The CS coefficient of bridge expected influence was calculated with bootstrapping (n = 2,000), resulting in a value of

TABLE 2 | Edge weight comparisons.

Edge 1	Edge 2	95% Cl <sub>bootstrap</sub> of ∆ weight (edge 1–edge 2)	
		Lower	Upper
Mot.I–Dys.T	Non.I–Dys.T	-0.002	0.459
Cog.I–Anh.T	Non.I–Anh.T	-0.301	0.246
Non.I–Cog.I	Mot.I–Cog.I	0.045	0.454
Mot.I–Cog.I	Non.I–Mot.I	-0.036	0.457
Non.I–Cog.I	Non.I–Mot.I	0.258	0.687

Non.I, non-planning impulsiveness of the BIS; Mot.I, motor impulsiveness of the BIS; Cog.I, cognitive impulsiveness of the BIS; Anh.T, trait anhedonia of the T-DEP; Dys.T, trait dysthymia of the T-DEP; 95% Cl<sub>bootstrap</sub>, 95% confidence interval computed with the bootstrapping method. The level of significance test was alpha = 0.05 (corrected by Bonferroni correction).

0.29 (the average correlation with the original sample for bridge expected influence is plotted in **Supplementary Figure 3**), which was higher than the recommended 0.25 (47). This indicates that the bridge centrality statistics were stable.

### **Network Comparisons**

We did not find differences between male and female in network invariance (M = 0.163, p = 0.614) or global strength (S = 0.238, male = 1.972, female = 2.211, p = 0.199). This indicates that gender does not affect the network structure pattern or



connection strength. There were also no significant differences between the "left-behind child" group and the "non-left-behind child" group in network invariance (M = 0.233, p = 0.312) or global strength (S = 0.156, "left-behind child" = 1.827, "non-left-behind child" = 1.982, p = 0.438). However, although there was no significant difference between "only child" group and "non-only child" group in network invariance (M = 0.179, p = 0.487), we found a difference in global strength invariance (S = 0.408, "only child" = 1.889, "non-only child" = 2.297, p = 0.038). This result indicates that the "non-only child" group has a stronger global connection than the "only child" group among impulsiveness and trait depression facets.

# DISCUSSION

In the present study, we adopted the network analysis method to explore the associations between different facets of trait depression (e.g., "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia") and impulsiveness (e.g., "non-planning," "motor," and "cognitive" impulsiveness) and their relative importance. We demonstrate that "trait anhedonia" is connected with "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness but not with "motor" impulsiveness and that "trait dysthymia" is connected with "non-planning" and "motor" impulsiveness but not with "cognitive" impulsiveness. In addition, according to the expected influence, "cognitive" impulsiveness is the most important facet in the network, which can link other facets globally. Meanwhile, "trait dysthymia" is the most important facet linking trait depression with impulsiveness. Among the demographic variables, "only child" affects the network global strength, while "gender" and "left-behind child" do not, which indicates that the facets of trait depression and impulsiveness are more closely connected with each other in "non-only child" than in "only child."

# **Network Structure**

As demonstrated in our hypothesis, what we mainly care about are the associations of the three facets of impulsiveness with "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia." There are two disagreements between the results and the hypothesis. First, "cognitive" impulsiveness is connected with "trait anhedonia" rather than "trait dysthymia." The cognitive component of impulsiveness mentioned earlier is measured by a behavioral task, which mainly refers to error-related brain activities. However, in this study, "cognitive" impulsiveness is measured by a selfreport questionnaire, which represents a more general impulsive
Node 1 Node 2		95% Cl <sub>bootstrap</sub> of ∆ expected influence (node 1–node 2)				
	-	Lower	Upper			
Cog.I	Mot.I	0.083	0.667			
Non.I	Cog.I	-0.503	0.228			
Dys.T	Cog.I	-0.451	0.151			
Anh.T	Cog.I	-0.556	0.094			
Non.I	Mot.I	-0.032	0.507			
Dys.T	Mot.I	-0.011	0.520			
Anh.T	Mot.I	-0.081	0.436			
Dys.T	Non.I	-0.278	0.251			
.nh.T	Non.I	-0.436	0.202			
nh.T	Dys.T	-0.413	0.224			

Non.I, non-planning impulsiveness of the BIS; Mot.I, motor impulsiveness of the BIS; Cog.I, cognitive impulsiveness of the BIS; Anh.T, trait anhedonia of the T-DEP; Dys.T, trait dysthymia of the T-DEP; 95%  $CI_{bootstrap}$ , 95% confidence interval computed with the bootstrapping method. The level of significance test was alpha = 0.05 (corrected by Bonferroni correction).

cognitive process (not thinking thoroughly before action). In addition, the correlation between anhedonia and the cognitive component of impulsiveness is confirmed in a study, in which "cognitive" is directly measured by brain functional imaging (50). Second, "non-planning" impulsiveness is connected not only with "trait anhedonia" but also with "trait dysthymia." There may be two possible explanations for this result. One is that both "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia" have unmotivating components, which can be observed from the item meanings of T-DEP (36). Another is that "non-planning" impulsiveness includes both unmotivating components that are related to "trait anhedonia" and other components that may be related to "trait dysthymia." The result that "non-planning" impulsiveness is connected with "trait anhedonia" agrees with the result of a previous study, considering the non-planning reward process and anhedonia symptoms (50). However, the relationship between "trait dysthymia" and the "non-planning" impulsiveness needs further consideration in the future.

The connection between "trait dysthymia" and "motor" impulsiveness confirms the hypothesis. The positive linkage between "motor" impulsiveness and "trait dysthymia" agrees with the result of a previous study, showing that dysthymic symptoms are related to cognitive control evaluated by behavioral measurement and ERN (26) because behavioral measuring of cognitive control includes behavioral inhibition component that is the feature of "motor" impulsiveness. The connections between "trait dysthymia" and "non-planning" impulsiveness and between "trait dysthymia" and "motor" impulsiveness are not significantly different. However, the edge weight of "trait dysthymia—motor impulsiveness" has a trend to be larger (refer to **Table 2**). These findings indicate that "trait dysthymia" tends to be mainly linked with "motor" impulsiveness.

In conclusion, we tend to believe that "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness are the trait features of anhedonia and "motor" impulsiveness is the trait feature of dysthymia.

In addition, within trait depression, "trait anhedonia" and "trait dysthymia" are closely linked with each other.

This indicates that trait depression seems to be an integral construct, which agrees with the description in DSM-5 (51) that anhedonia and dysthymia are the two cardinal symptoms of major depressive disorder. However, within impulsiveness, the association between "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness is stronger compared with the other two associations. This may be because "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness are mainly cognitive features, while "motor" impulsiveness is mainly a behavioral feature (9). Therefore, impulsiveness seems not to be a simple structure.

#### **Expected Influence**

The expected influence reveals the importance of each trait facet (46). The five trait facets are included in a single structure, which may be regarded as the vulnerable personality for depressive disorder. "Cognitive" impulsiveness is a relatively more important facet in this study. This indicates that it is connected with other facets more widely or more closely. "Cognitive" impulsiveness represents quick thinking without inhibition (38), which is a stable feature of cognitive processing. The results infer that the cognitive feature of impulsiveness may be the core factor. It agrees with the cognitive hypothesis of depression (52). "Motor" impulsiveness is the least important facet in this structure. This indicates that "motor" impulsiveness only composes a small part of the vulnerability to depression. One possible reason is that "motor" impulsiveness includes fewer cognitive components than the other two impulsiveness facets (38). However, the cognitive component is an important factor in depression (52). Another possible reason is that "motor" impulsiveness, defined as impaired behavioral inhibition (9), is included in the behavioral inhibition system that has a weak correlation with anhedonia (53). The other three facets (e.g., "non-planning" impulsiveness, "trait anhedonia," and "trait dysthymia") have no significant difference in relative importance from neither "cognitive" impulsiveness nor "motor" impulsiveness. This result reveals that "cognitive" impulsiveness only has a significantly larger weight than "motor" impulsiveness, which indicates that none of the five facets is statistically dominant in this network. Nevertheless, "cognitive" impulsiveness has the trend to be dominant.

# **Bridge Expected Influence**

Regarding trait depression and impulsiveness as two different systems, we use the bridge index (48) to find the common components between them. "Trait dysthymia" is a common component that links trait depression with impulsiveness. A possible explanation is that "trait dysthymia," as a habitual mood distress feature, could be affected by the inability of controlling temper and behavior (9). "Cognitive" impulsiveness has the lowest bridge expected influence, despite its highest expected influence. This indicates that it less directly links with "trait dysthymia" and "trait anhedonia" but through other trait facets. The bridge expected influence of the other three facets (e.g., "trait anhedonia," "motor" impulsiveness, and "nonplanning" impulsiveness) has no significant difference from neither "cognitive" impulsiveness nor "trait dysthymia," which indicates that none of the five facets is statistically more



important than others in linking impulsiveness with trait depression. However, "trait dysthymia" has the trend to be the most important facet bridging the two traits.

# **Network Comparisons**

The results of the network comparisons show that gender, "only child," and "left-behind child" does not affect the network structure. Previous studies have revealed that gender (54), "only child" (55), and "left-behind child" (56) are the factors that affect the prevalence of depressive symptoms. However, the present study mainly focuses on the inner correlation pattern. This may lead to the non-significant effects of demographic variables on network structure. Global strength represents the degree of associations among the facets of trait depression and impulsiveness. In previous studies, gender's effects on the association between impulsiveness and depressive symptoms are inconsistent. Some of them report significant effects (57, 58) but others do not (59, 60). In the present study, gender does not affect global strength, which agrees with the non-significant results of the previous studies. Further studies are needed to figure out whether gender's non-significant effect on the global strength of the associations among the facets of impulsiveness and depression is stable across symptom-level and trait-level. To the best of our knowledge, although there are studies exploring the effect of "only child" and "left-behind child" on depression (55, 56), few consider their influences on the association between impulsiveness and depression. Both "only child" and "left-behind child" include the factor of childhood experience, which is the basis of personality formation and development (61, 62). In our study, "only child" does influence the global strength of this

#### TABLE 4 | Bridge expected influence comparisons of each node.

			Unner
Node 1	Node 2	95% Cl <sub>bootstrap</sub> of $\Delta$ bridg (node 1–n	

		Lower	Upper
Cog.I	Mot.I	-0.347	0.172
Non.I	Cog.I	-0.168	0.377
Dys.T	Cog.I	0.011	0.461
Anh.T	Cog.I	-0.094	0.380
Non.I	Mot.I	-0.269	0.253
Dys.T	Mot.I	-0.072	0.336
Anh.T	Mot.I	-0.162	0.262
Dys.T	Non.I	-0.077	0.345
Anh.T	Non.I	-0.199	0.263
Anh.T	Dys.T	-0.425	0.200

Non.I, non-planning impulsiveness of the BIS; Mot.I, motor impulsiveness of the BIS; Cog.I, cognitive impulsiveness of the BIS; Anh.T, trait anhedonia of the T-DEP; Dys.T, trait dysthymia of the T-DEP; 95% Cl<sub>bootstrap</sub>, 95% confidence interval computed with the bootstrapping method. The level of significance test was alpha = 0.05 (corrected by Bonferroni correction).

personality network but "left-behind child" does not. This may be due to the psychosocial confounders (e.g., parenting pattern and family structure), which we have not taken into consideration.

#### Implications

Above all, the results indicate that "cognitive" impulsiveness is an underlying feature, while "trait dysthymia" is a key feature that links impulsiveness with trait depression. For the prevention of depression, it seems that "cognitive" impulsiveness needs more consideration because it widely influences the whole vulnerability network. "Trait dysthymia" needs more attention when considering the reciprocal effects of impulsiveness and trait depression. A better intervention of "trait dysthymia" may reduce the likelihood of the co-existence of trait depression and impulsiveness, which can decrease the risk of the aftermath led by depression and impulsiveness together (e.g., suicide). When considering the subtypes of depression, dysthymia needs more attention on both "trait dysthymia" and "motor" impulsiveness, while anhedonia needs more attention on "trait anhedonia," "cognitive," and "non-planning" impulsiveness. In addition, "non-only children" need more attention in the prevention of depression, because they are more possible to have both impulsiveness and trait depression than "only children."

# Limitations

There are some limitations to this study. First, the sample comprised college students and residents in Chongqing, China. It is unknown whether the results can be expanded to a wider sample. Second, the data were collected in a crosssectional manner before morbidity, which was not sufficient to determine whether the network is on trait level. Third, some psychosocial confounders were not taken into consideration, which might affect the network structure and strength. In the future, depressive populations in the premorbid, state, and remitted stages can all be recruited. The relations existing across the three stages would be stronger evidence for the trait hypothesis. More participants need to be recruited from different areas and ethnicities. More psychosocial factors that may influence personality can be included to reduce bias.

# CONCLUSION

The present study confirms the correlation between trait depression and impulsiveness personality, finding that "trait anhedonia" is associated with "non-planning" and "cognitive" impulsiveness, while "trait dysthymia" is associated with "motor" impulsiveness. Therefore, in the prevention of depression, different aspects of impulsiveness should be considered respectively regarding anhedonia and dysthymia. In addition, "cognitive" impulsiveness is an underlying feature of the vulnerability to depression, and "trait dysthymia" is a key factor linking impulsiveness with trait depression. Therefore, "cognitive" impulsiveness and "trait dysthymia" are critical to the prevention of depression.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethics Committee of Army Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JZ contributed to the design of the research, conducting a questionnaire survey and statistical analyses, and drafting the manuscript. KL contributed to the questionnaire survey, writing the R script, and revising the manuscript. YX contributed to the questionnaire survey, arranging the raw data, and performing statistical analyses. ZF contributed to the design of the whole study and the critical revision of the manuscript. All authors have read and revised the final manuscript.

# FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81971278).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We specifically appreciate Professor Michael Phillips (Director, Suicide Research and Prevention Center, Shanghai Mental Health Center, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine) who helped us in the application of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale 11th Chinese version. The undergraduates and colleagues of the research group assisted in data input and management, for which we are very thankful.

# REFERENCES

- Brooks SJ, Lochner C, Shoptaw S, Stein DJ. Using the research domain criteria (RDoC) to conceptualize impulsivity and compulsivity in relation to addiction. *Prog Brain Res.* (2017) 235:177–218. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2017.08.002
- Fields SA, Schueler J, Arthur KM, Harris B. The role of impulsivity in major depression: a systematic review. *Curr Behav Neurosci Rep.* (2021) 8:38–50.
- Granö N, Keltikangas-Järvinen L, Kouvonen A, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, Vahtera J, et al. Impulsivity as a predictor of newly diagnosed depression. *Scand J Psychol.* (2007) 48:173–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2007.00566.x
- Lyon KA, Juhasz G, Brown LJE, Elliott R. Big Five personality facets explaining variance in anxiety and depressive symptoms in a community sample. J Affect Disord. (2020) 274:515–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.047
- Makransky G, Mortensen EL, Glas CA. Improving personality facet scores with multidimensional computer adaptive testing: an illustration with the NEO PI-R. Assessment. (2013) 20:3–13. doi: 10.1177/1073191112437756
- Velotti P, Garofalo C. Personality styles in a non-clinical sample: the role of emotion dysregulation and impulsivity. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2015) 79:44–9.
- Fineberg NA, Chamberlain SR, Goudriaan AE, Stein DJ, Vanderschuren LJ, Gillan CM, et al. New developments in human neurocognition: clinical, genetic, and brain imaging correlates of impulsivity and compulsivity. CNS Spectr. (2014) 19:69–89. doi: 10.1017/S1092852913000801
- Fineberg NA, Potenza MN, Chamberlain SR, Berlin HA, Menzies L, Bechara A, et al. Probing compulsive and impulsive behaviors, from animal models to endophenotypes: a narrative review. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2010) 35:591–604. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.185
- Stanford MS, Mathias CW, Dougherty DM, Lake SL, Anderson NE, Patton JH. Fifty years of the barratt impulsiveness scale: an update and review. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2009) 47:385–95.
- 10. Eysenck HJ. Biological basis of personality. Nature. (1963) 199:1031-4.
- Krohne HW, Schmukle SC, Spaderna H, Spielberger CD. The State-Trait Depression Scales: an International Comparison. *Anxiety Stress Coping*. (2002) 15:105–22.
- Goldin RL, Matson JL. DSM-5. In: Volkmar FR editor. *Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2015). p. 1–2.
- Chiappelli J, Kochunov P, DeRiso K, Thangavelu K, Sampath H, Muellerklein F, et al. Testing trait depression as a potential clinical domain in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 159:243–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.0 8.003
- Smith GT, Guller L, Zapolski TC. A comparison of two models of Urgency: urgency predicts both rash action and depression in youth. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2013) 1:266–75. doi: 10.1177/2167702612470647
- Dekker MR, Johnson S. Major depressive disorder and emotion-related impulsivity: are both related to cognitive inhibition?. *Cogn Ther Res.* (2018) 42:398–407. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.11.006
- d'Acremont M, Van der Linden M. How is impulsivity related to depression in adolescence? Evidence from a French validation of the cognitive emotion regulation questionnaire. J Adolesc. (2007) 30:271–82. doi: 10.1016/ j.adolescence.2006.02.007
- Khemakhem K, Boudabous J, Cherif L, Ayadi H, Walha A, Moalla Y, et al. Impulsivity in adolescents with major depressive disorder: a comparative tunisian study. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2017) 28:183–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2017.06. 002
- Houeto JL, Magnard R, Dalley JW, Belin D, Carnicella S. Trait impulsivity and anhedonia: two gateways for the development of impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease?. *Front Psychiatry*. (2016) 7:91. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016. 00091
- Marissen MA, Arnold N, Franken IH. Anhedonia in borderline personality disorder and its relation to symptoms of impulsivity. *Psychopathology*. (2012) 45:179–84. doi: 10.1159/000330893

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.916332/full#supplementary-material

- Lempert KM, Pizzagalli DA. Delay discounting and future-directed thinking in anhedonic individuals. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. (2010) 41:258–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.02.003
- Amr M, Volpe FM. Relationship between anhedonia and impulsivity in schizophrenia, major depression and schizoaffective disorder. Asian J Psychiatr. (2013) 6:577–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2013.09.002
- Riso LP, Klein DN, Ferro T, Kasch KL, Pepper CM, Schwartz JE, et al. Understanding the comorbidity between early-onset dysthymia and cluster B personality disorders: a family study. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1996) 153:900–6. doi: 10.1176/ajp.153.7.900
- Schulz SC, Camlin KL, Berry SA, Jesberger JA. Olanzapine safety and efficacy in patients with borderline personality disorder and comorbid dysthymia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 46:1429–35. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(99)00128-6
- McCabe C. Neural correlates of anhedonia as a trait marker for depression. In: Ritsner MS editor. Anhedonia: A Comprehensive Handbook Volume II: Neuropsychiatric And Physical Disorders. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands (2014). p. 159–74.
- Tanaka SC, Doya K, Okada G, Ueda K, Okamoto Y, Yamawaki S. Prediction of immediate and future rewards differentially recruits cortico-basal ganglia loops. *Nat Neurosci.* (2004) 7:887–93. doi: 10.1038/nn1279
- Ladouceur CD, Slifka JS, Dahl RE, Birmaher B, Axelson DA, Ryan ND. Altered error-related brain activity in youth with major depression. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2012) 2:351–62. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2012.01.005
- Zhou L, Xiao S, He X, Li J, Liu H. Reliability and validity of Chinese version of Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-11. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2006) 14:343–4. doi: 10.2190/om.66.3.b
- Bringmann L, Vissers N, Wichers M, Geschwind N, Kuppens P, Peeters F, et al. A network approach to psychopathology: new insights into clinical longitudinal data. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e60188. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0060188
- Jones P, Ma R, McNally R. Bridge centrality: a network approach to understanding comorbidity. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2019) 56:353–367. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2019.1614898
- van Borkulo C, Boschloo L, Borsboom D, Penninx BW, Waldorp LJ, Schoevers RA. Association of symptom network structure with the course of [corrected] depression. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:1219–26. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2015.2079
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Int J Surg.* (2010) 8:336–41.
- 32. Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys: Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (1987).
- van Buuren S, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. J Stat Softw. (2011) 45:1–67. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.12.63
- Zung WWA. Self-Rating Depression Scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1965) 12:63– 70.
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Carbin MG. Psychometric properties of the beck depression inventory: twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (1988) 8:77–100.
- Lei ZH, Rui XU, Deng SB. Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of State-Trait Depression Scale in college students. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2011) 25:136–40. doi: 10.1037/pas0000207
- Barratt ES. Anxiety and impulsiveness related to psychomotor efficiency. *Percept Mot Skills*. (1959) 9:191–8.
- Li X, Phillips MR, Xu D, Zhang Y, Yang S, Tong Y, et al. Reliability and validity of an adapted Chinese version of Barratt Impulsiveness Scale. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2011) 25:610–5.
- IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp (2013).

- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2021).
- Epskamp S, Waldorp L, Mõttus R, Borsboom D. Discovering psychological dynamics: the gaussian graphical model in cross-sectional and time-series data. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2017) 53:453–80.
- Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Sparse inverse covariance estimation with the graphical LASSO. *Biostatistics*. (2008) 9:432–41. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/ kxm045
- Epskamp S, Cramer A, Waldorp L, Schmittmann V, Borsboom D. qgraph: network visualizations of relationships in psychometric data. J Stat Softw. (2012) 48:1–8.
- Bringmann L, Elmer T, Epskamp S, Krause R, Schoch D, Wichers M, et al. What do centrality measures measure in psychological networks?. J Abnorm Psychol. (2019) 128:892–903. doi: 10.1037/abn0000446
- Epskamp S, Rhemtulla M, Borsboom D. Generalized network psychometrics: combining network and latent variable models. *Psychometrika*. (2016) 82:904– 27. doi: 10.1007/s11336-017-9557-x
- Robinaugh DJ, Millner AJ, McNally RJ. Identifying highly influential nodes in the complicated grief network. J Abnorm Psychol. (2016) 125:747–57. doi: 10.1037/abn0000181
- Epskamp S, Borsboom D, Fried E. Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav Res Methods*. (2016) 50:195–212. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0862-1
- Cramer AOJ, Waldorp LJ, van der Maas HLJ, Borsboom D. Comorbidity: a network perspective. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2010) 33:137–50. doi: 10.1017/ S0140525X09991567
- Jones P. networktools: Assorted Tools for Identifying Important Nodes in Networks. R package version 100. (2017). Available online at: https://cran.rproject.org/package=networktools
- Gong L, He C, Zhang H, Zhang H, Zhang Z, Xie C. Disrupted reward and cognitive control networks contribute to anhedonia in depression. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 103:61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.0 5.010
- Francesmonneris A, Pincus H, First M. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-V. Virginia: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- 52. Beck A. Cognitive models of depression. J Cogn Psychother. (1986) 1:5-37.
- 53. Xie J, Fang P, Zhang Z, Luo R, Dai B. Behavioral inhibition/activation systems and depression among females with substance use disorder: the mediating role of intolerance of uncertainty and anhedonia. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:644882. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.644882
- Shi P, Yang A, Zhao Q, Chen Z, Ren X, Dai QA. Hypothesis of gender differences in self-reporting symptom of depression: implications to solve under-diagnosis and under-treatment of depression in males. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:589687. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.589687

- Cao Y, Huang L, Si T, Wang NQ, Qu M, Zhang XY. The role of only-child status in the psychological impact of COVID-19 on mental health of Chinese adolescents. J Affect Disord. (2021) 282:316–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.113
- Cheng J, Sun YH. Depression and anxiety among left-behind children in China: a systematic review. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2015) 41:515–23. doi: 10.1111/cch.12221
- Ekinci O, Albayrak Y, Caykoylu A. Impulsivity in euthymic patients with major depressive disorder: the relation to sociodemographic and clinical properties. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2011) 199:454–8. doi: 10.1097/NMD. 0b013e3182214116
- Novak KD, Foti D. Individual difference in reward processing: depression, impulsivity, and moderating effects of age and gender. *Psychophysiology*. (2018) 55:S29–30.
- De Pasquale C, Sciacca F, Conti D, Pistorio ML, Hichy Z, Cardullo RL, et al. Relations between mood states and eating behavior during COVID-19 pandemic in a sample of italian college students. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:684195. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.684195
- Regan T, Harris B, Fields SA. Are relationships between impulsivity and depressive symptoms in adolescents sex-dependent?. *Heliyon.* (2019) 5:e02696. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02696
- Wang L, Wu W, Qu G, Tang X, Sun Y. The personality traits of left-behind children in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Health Med.* (2019) 24:253–68. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2018.1540787
- Yang J, Hou X, Wei D, Wang K, Li Y, Qiu J. Only-child and non-only-child exhibit differences in creativity and agreeableness: evidence from behavioral and anatomical structural studies. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2017) 11:493–502. doi: 10.1007/s11682-016-9530-9

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhang, Li, Xue and Feng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christos Theleritis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

#### REVIEWED BY

Yijin Wu, Shandong University, China Mahlagha Dehghan, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Iran

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE Abdulmajeed Alkhamees a.alkhamees@gu.edu.sa

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 17 April 2022 ACCEPTED 24 June 2022 PUBLISHED 19 July 2022

#### CITATION

Al-amer R, Darwish M, Malak M, Ali AM, Al weldat K, Alkhamees A, Alshammari KS, Abuzied Y and Randall S (2022) Nurses experience of caring for patients with COVID-19: A phenomenological study. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:922410. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.922410

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Al-amer, Darwish, Malak, Ali, Al weldat, Alkhamees, Alshammari, Abuzied and Randall. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Nurses experience of caring for patients with COVID-19: A phenomenological study

Rasmieh Al-amer<sup>1,2</sup>, Maram Darwish<sup>3</sup>, Malakeh Malak<sup>4</sup>, Amira Mohammed Ali<sup>5</sup>, Kadejeh Al weldat<sup>1</sup>, Abdulmajeed Alkhamees<sup>6\*</sup>, Khaled S. Alshammari<sup>7</sup>, Yacoub Abuzied<sup>8</sup> and Sue Randall<sup>9</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Nursing, Isra University, Amman, Jordan, <sup>2</sup>School of Nursing and Midwifery, Western Sydney University, Penrith, NSW, Australia, <sup>3</sup>Vascular Surgery Department, University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, United Kingdom, <sup>4</sup>Community Health Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Al-Zaytoonah University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan, <sup>5</sup>Department of Psychiatric Nursing and Mental Health, Faculty of Nursing, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, <sup>6</sup>Department of Medicine, Unayzah College of Medicine and Medical Sciences, Qassim University, Unayzah, Al Qassim, Saudi Arabia, <sup>7</sup>Stroke Unit, Nursing Department, Rehabilitation Hospital, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, <sup>8</sup>Spinal Cord Injury Unit, Nursing Department, Rehabilitation Hospital, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, <sup>9</sup>Susan Wakil School of Nursing and Midwifery, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

**Introduction:** COVID-19 has impacted all dimensions of life and imposed serious threat on humankind.

**Background:** In Jordan, understanding how nurses experienced providing care for patients with COVID-19 offers a framework of knowledge about similar situations within the context of Arabic culture.

**Aim:** To explore nurses' experience with providing hands-on care to patients with active COVID-19 infection in an Arabic society.

**Methods:** A descriptive phenomenological study interviewed 10 nurses through a purposive sampling approach until data saturation was reached. The research site was hospital designated to receive patients with active COVID-19 infection. Semi-structured interviews were used to collect the data.

**Findings:** Three themes were generated from the data: the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on nurses' health; unfamiliar work and social environments; and conforming to professional standards.

**Discussion:** There are specific risks to the physical and mental wellbeing of nurses who provide hands-on care to patients with COVID-19 in an Arabic society.

**Implication for nursing and health policy:** Health care institutions should consider establishing programs that promote nurses' wellbeing and support their productivity in a crisis. A danger pay allowance should be considered for nurses during extraordinary circumstances, such as pandemics.

KEYWORDS

nurses, experience, caring, COVID-19, collectivist, a phenomenological study, Arabic culture, Jordan

## Introduction

The novel coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) virus emerged in Wuhan in late December 2019 and was declared as a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) early in March 2020, and is the most serious virus outbreak yet in the 21st century (1). It has placed the global health care system and health workforce under unprecedented pressure. Health care systems worldwide have failed to provide effective preventive measures and management plans to contain the pandemic (2). This has promoted feelings of uncertainty among health care professionals, specifically nurses.

Nurses spend more time with patients than any other health care team; hence, it is plausible that they are at higher risk for attracting and transmitting the disease (3). The nature of the SARS-CoV-2 virus including its incubation period, mode of transmission, and infectivity emphasized the continuity of the threat and risk to nurses' health, justifying feelings of uncertainty and mental health concerns (4, 5).

COVID-19 outbreak has raised levels of stress, anxiety and depression among nurses. Recent studies from China (5–7) and Italy (8), the first two regions to be impacted by this disease, reported that nurses who delivered hands-on care for patients with COVID-19 were at higher risk of developing mental health disorders compared with other health care providers. Furthermore, a study by Rossi et al. (8), which included 1,379 health care providers, of which one-third were nurses, reported that having a co-worker who suffered from COVID-19 was a significant factor that exacerbated mental health problems among nurses.

## Background

In collectivist communities the dimensions of care are bound by the nature of the social norm, for example, family members who work as health care providers are obliged to provide care for their relatives who suffer an illness, even if there is a concurrent, potentially deadly, health threat like COVID-19. All aforementioned features of the SARS-CoV-2 virus and the nature of the Arabic cultural norms increase the susceptibility of nurses and other health care workers to the virus, thereby negatively impacting their mental health status (9, 10). For example, a collective social norm mandates that nurses who have a relative with COVID-19 should provide care for them and dedicate their time for the family, because a family's interest comes first.

Like other countries, Jordan had suffered from the COVID-19 pandemic, which has caused a wide range of physical, social, psychological and economic implications. Case zero in Jordan was reported on 2 March 2020 in the capital city of Amman, with the first COVID-19 carrier being a traveler from Italy (11). Thereafter, the incidence curve increased slightly and

then plateaued, during which the Jordanian health authorities reported low incidence levels ranging from one case in the beginning of March 2020 to 68 cases in mid-August 2020. Afterwards, the curve started showing an upward trend, with the number of confirmed cases increasing significantly to 7,933, among whom 60 had died (1), including 29 health care providers (12). Although the Jordanian health authorities had a 7-month window (March-November) to enhance the health care system preparedness for this pandemic, progress remained slow. Two studies assessed nurses' reactions to COVID-19 in Jordan (9, 10). Al-Amer et al. (10) study recruited around 400 nurses using an online survey, and found a high prevalence of depression, anxiety and stress among the study participants. Abuhammad et al. (9) study identified nine Facebook nursing groups in Jordan and evaluated their accounts regarding their perception of their roles during COVID-19. Both studies were conducted between March and April 2020 when the number of cases ranged between 1 to 22 cases daily.

Few qualitative studies have investigated nurses' perception regarding the care for patients with COVID-19, particularly those with active symptoms. To our knowledge, no studies have considered how perceptions might differ for nurses living and working in a collectivist society such as the Jordanian's. Hence, understanding nurses' perception and experience in relation to the current pandemic situation carries substantial value. The present study is the first to explore the experiences of Jordanian nurses in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic. Hence, the study was guided by the following research question "What was the lived experience by Jordanian nurses caring for Patients with COVID-19 like?"

# Aim

In this research, we aimed to describe the experience of providing hands-on care to patients with COVID-19 from the accounts of nurses in Jordan which is a collectivist society. The term "active COVID-19" was conceptualized to refer to any person who tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 and exhibited symptoms that warranted hospital admission.

#### **Methods**

#### Study design

This study used the descriptive phenomenological approach by Husserl (13). According to Husserl, the phenomenon should be allowed to speak for itself through the voices of people. Husserl's (14) philosophy states that researchers must "bracket" any prior knowledge, preconceived notions, and judgements about the phenomenon of interest before data collection to avoid influencing outcomes (15). The researchers who collected and analyzed the data practiced phenomenological reduction by asking themselves a series of questions.

#### Sample and setting

Using purposive sampling, 10 nurses who provided handson care for patients with active COVID-19 were approached. The purposive sampling technique was deemed suitable for this study because the data source was a closed fit to deliver data that would answer the study-related research question (16, 17). Nurses providing hands-on care for patients with COVID-19 are the most experienced and will be informed about this phenomenon. Thus, they were recruited to reflect the expert experience that can deliver data relevant to the research inquiries (18).

The study populations were all nurses and recruited from major hospitals in Amman that were designated for treating patients with COVID-19. The inclusion criteria for the study subjects were being a registered nurse providing hands-on care for patients with active COVID-19 infection at least a month prior to the data collection procedure, and willing to participate in this study. The study excluded associate nurses because their duty of care is limited to specific procedures, for example, they were not allowed to administer medications, and the study aimed to have participants that could reflect on the whole experience of caring for patients with COVID-19. The sample size was determined based on the saturation, which took place on the 10th participant when the collected data held no new additional findings (19).

#### Data collection

The first author, who has a PhD in nursing and experience in conducting qualitative interviews collected the data using a semi-structured interview guide developed by the first and last author based on available literature (Box 1). The guide was piloted among two nurses and subsequently, slight modifications were made, bearing in mind that the two-pilot interviews were excluded from the final report because it aimed to improve interview schedules and specific questions. Literature have reported that pilot study in qualitative research could identify several challenges for researchers such as but not limited to the "instrumentation rigor" and management of bias (20, 21). Piloting the interview guide was an important step toward the decision that the data collection should be conducted using a telephone-based approach, rather than in person as was originally proposed. In the pilot, wearing face masks made establishing a rapport with the participants difficult because the masks concealed our identities. We tried to overcome this barrier by disclosing some information about our families because in collectivist communities, individuals would be honored and more accepting if their families have good reputations. Additionally, during the interviews, the participants displayed hospitality by providing food, which should not be refused; thus, we felt that this might harm us or harm our participants. Accordingly, we committed to uphold "non-maleficence," as the wellbeing of the researchers, the community and the participants were a priority, and switched our approach to telephone-based interviews. It is important to note that COVID-19 has necessitated innovation in a wide range of dimensions of our lives-and research is no exception. For example, in qualitative research paradigm, face-to-face interviews were considered the "gold standard" approach to collecting data (17, 18, 22). However, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the face-to-face interview approach has encountered many constraints of social distancing and the prioritization of participants' and researchers' safety (23). Conducting qualitative interviews using a telephone approach offered researchers the opportunity to study the contexts of crisis while safeguarding participants and researchers (Roberts et al., 2021). However, telephone interviews could restrict the establishment of rapport between the researcher and the respondents which in turn could influence the richness of the data (22).

Ethics approval was granted by Isra University Human Research Ethics Committee/ethics approval number (JS/BA/94). Then an invitation was sent out to hospitals where patients with COVID-19 were treated. Hospitals that agreed to participate were asked to provide the research team with their nurse's email addresses, after which emails introducing the research team and the purpose of this study were sent to the nurses through hospitals "nursing departments" emails. Nurses who replied and fulfilled the inclusion criteria were contacted and sent a detailed participant information sheet and consent form. Signed consent was returned via email. The interviews, arranged at mutually convenient times, were semi-structured with predetermined but open-ended questions that required rigor in the topics addressed but allowed flexibility in the exchange. The participants were advised that they could stop the interview at any point, and informed that the interview would be recorded using the "Voice Memos" mobile application for data collection and quality assurance purposes. Two nurses did not agree to their interview being recorded, prompting the first author to take down notes instead. Each interview lasted between 40 and 50 min.

The first author who is a female and shared the participants' language and culture conducted the interviews which facilitated establishing rapport with the participants. Participants were asked to narrate their experiences with providing hands-on care to patients with active COVID-19 (using their own words). Afterwards, each interview was transcribed verbatim. Another author reviewed and checked each transcribed interview against the audio materials. Identifying information was removed and participants were allocated a code. The reporting of data in this study has been performed according to the COREQ

#### BOX 1

Participants interview guide

- Can you tell me your experience of providing hands-on-care for a COVID-19 patient since the advent of the pandemic?
- Can you share with me an experience that of significance to you during providing hands-on-care for a COVID-19 patient?
- Please describe a day in which you were taking care of a COVID-19 patients.
- Please share me how do you see yourself as "a nurse" during this pandemic.

guidelines. All interviews took place between November and December 2020.

#### Data analysis

Data collection and analysis occurred concurrently and provided "rich" quality rather than "thick" quantity of data (24). Three of the researchers convened after the analysis of each interview to validate the analytical process. Data analysis were performed manually and was guided by Colaizzi (25) framework for phenomenological data analysis, which included the following steps: (a) familiarization; the researcher read each interview transcript several times to familiarize themselves with the data; (b) identifying significant statements; all statements in the narrative that had direct relevance to providing care for patients with COVID-19 were identified; (c) Formulating meanings; meaning relevant to the studied phenomenon was extracted from a careful attention of important statements. (d) significant statements and identified meanings across all interviews were grouped into themes (e) exhaustive description was generated in which the researchers have written a complete and a comprehensive description of the phenomenon under study where all the themes were included; (f) the researchers then consolidated the exhaustive description into a short, and dense statement that weas important to the phenomenon under study and the basic structure was constructed; (g) the researcher validated the study findings by the participants. Afterwards, quotes were provided to support the themes.

#### Rigor

This study maintained the trustworthiness of the data based on the criteria established by Lincoln and Guba (26), including credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability. The credibility of data was ensured by "member checking" in which we have sent interviews transcripts to the participants for validation, however; only seven of them have responded. Also, the credibility was enhanced by the co-analyses that was jointly conducted by three of the research team. Also, this study provided a thick description of the context, the participants' characteristics, the settings, and the data collection procedure to maintain transferability. Dependability was ensured for the researcher kept a reflexive journal throughout the study and the data analysis process (27), Confirmability was confirmed by keeping a careful record" an audit trail" which includes the original notes, transcription and the analysis to preserve confirmability.

# Findings

#### Participant characteristics

Ten nurses aged 27–45 years participated in the study (six were female), two contracted COVID-19 (one male and one female), nine had a bachelor's degree and one had a master's degree. Participants' experience as registered nurses ranged between 1 and 15 years.

Three major themes were obtained by the researchers through the analysis: The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses' health; Unfamiliar work and social environments; and conforming to professional standards.

#### Theme 1: The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses' health: "I am at a huge risk of getting infected and ending up in the ICU and dying"

Nurses strongly perceived COVID-19 as a deadly disease that negatively impacted their physical and psychological health. Moreover, they were uncertain regarding how this virus would behave. They felt they were at greater risk of infection,

"I did not recognize my friend when he got it, I am too afraid, no strong treatment for it [G]

Three of the participants felt that COVID-19 was a serious physical threat, not only to them, but also to others around them, given that they might become potential agents of transmission:

"I moved my daughter to my mother-in-law's place because my wife and I are both working. There will be a chance she will end up being a COVID-19 patient because of us." [H]

The threat posed by this virus included physical implications and psychological difficulties. Eight of the participants felt that the health of their patients did not improve and instead deteriorated. They felt depressed about the situation and uncertain about their own health:

"I feel helpless and depressed. No matter what I do, the results are not encouraging; people dying every day, few of them made it." [M]

When health care workers became infected and exhibited active symptoms that required intensive care and ventilator support, participants expressed having experienced some form of physical pain, somatisation and helplessness. Six of the study participants remarked that seeing a colleague infected with COVID-19, being on ventilator was most depressing.

"It was depressing to see one of the anaesthesiologists connected to the ventilator, I (felt) a crushing sensation on my chest. I could not do anything." [A]

Most participants remarked that they were stressed, anxious and scared from the uncertainty and often used the phrase "what if," alongside their fear of transmitting it to their families.

"I keep on thinking, what if I got infected or transmitted the disease to my family; this causes me anxiety and stress; I can't run from such thoughts." [R]

Having a family member who got infected brought up severe psychological reactions that were compounded by guilt. The nurses involved assumed that they were the source of this infection and felt extremely depressed:

"When my father got infected with COVID-19, I was badly depressed I kept on blaming myself. What if my father dies?" [M]

Being asymptomatic would not help health care providers escape blame, shame and stigma. However, the participants admitted that these were the features of this pandemic:

"I personally got infected with COVID-19 on 21 October 2020. Three days before I knew I had corona, I visited my uncle. On 24 October, he had symptoms, and he has been on oxygen therapy. He kept on calling me and telling me that I have infected him, as if I am to be blamed. I did not know I had corona when I visited him, and the whole family were stigmatizing me as a person who transmitted it to others." [T]

#### Theme 2: Unfamiliar work and social environments: "Everything is changing in all dimensions; the workplace, and socially"

Nurses felt that COVID-19 had altered the work and social environment. COVID-19 was viewed as a disease that had implications on social relationships and interpersonal communication through their social life in general. All these changes were new to collectivist communities in which gatherings are main pillars of social life. Furthermore, nurses' workplaces experienced dramatic challenges that included the use of unfamiliar and limiting personal protective equipment (PPE) as the only protective measure against contracting the virus. Moreover, nurses had to address a wide range of new medical procedures and drugs.

Participants stated that they lacked PPE as well as the knowledge needed to provide quality care. No clear strategy or guideline had been established. Continuous changes in the treatment plan resulted in inefficient care:

"The lack of PPEs, the care we were providing were not anchored on a solid guideline. They changed the protocol many times, this will reduce the quality of care." [M]

They reported having to address new PPE measures, which had been portrayed as a physical and psychological burden on nurses; donning and doffing were a daily struggle.

"I personally put my PPEs on and change these PPE twice a day, I postpone everything that I need to do to a PPE-free slot once a day. It is very exhausting to keep donning and doffing." [G]

Four participants remarked that whilst wearing PPE during fasting for Ramadan, they experienced severe unbearable headaches, mainly due to dehydration:

"During Ramadan, I was fasting and had to wear the PPEs, and I felt thirsty because it is a hot outfit...after that I developed a headache, which affected my capacity to provide care." [N]

Masks and face shields were perceived as barriers to communication. Participants mentioned that patients often could not hear them clearly and would ask them to repeat their words multiple times:

"I got frustrated to repeat what I have just said, it was very difficult for me to connect with my patients, how a nurse would be able to build a relationship with patients." [Z]

All participants reported that patients felt frightened by nurses wearing PPE. It created a barrier that exacerbated loneliness, which could have resulted in severe anxiety and worries for patients and nurses. In addition, patients had difficulty in accepting personnel in PPE.

"My patients reported feeling lonely, they were not familiar with seeing nurses behind shields." [S]

Participants experienced unfamiliar social environments and reported that they encountered limitations when visiting their parents and elderly family members. The pandemic prevented them from paying the utmost cultural respect to their parents. Participants said keeping distance from their parents or any elderly family members during normal conditions brought shame. However, they practiced social distancing and limited their visits to their parents, given that they were obliged by COVID-19 restrictions and wanted their parents to survive:

"It is hard to feel that you are trying to keep some social distancing with your parents. It is important to greet them with respect, hug them, kiss their hands and show them great admiration." [D]

# Theme 3: Conforming to professional standards: "This is my career, I should serve no matter what, and I have to care."

Although nurses were aware of the risk imposed by this pandemic and most of them remarked that they have suffered from physical and psychological stress, they were all committed to nursing ethics and continued to care for infected patients. They also stated that caring for infected patients was formed partly because of their religion, as well as the nature of their career.

"I am a Muslim; I do everything for God; I wanted my patients to get better so I can take care of the others who are on the waiting list." [H]

However, all participants reported a time when they felt ambivalent toward providing care for infected patients, particularly when a shortage of PPE occurred, and some of the staff had contracted the virus. However, they continued to provide care and fight against COVID-19. They stated that they provided care and found a refuge in God for protection because of their good deeds:

"I had thoughts 'I am not a martyr,' but I felt this is not me, I am a person 'who accepted to be identified as a nurse,' so, I decided to act as a nurse in accordance with my career ethics." [Z]

Some of the participants stated that caring for patients with COVID-19 had created an ethical dilemma: personal safety vs patient wellbeing. On the personal side, nurses were reluctant to provide care when PPE were lacking, and their safety was jeopardized. They argued that they had an ethical commitment toward their own safety and denied the widespread perception that nurses were born to be martyrs:

"I had a huge conflict and stress in me, but when they made the protective gears available for us, we did what our conscience required us to do, we cared." [N]

## Discussion

The current study aimed to explore how Jordanian nurses experienced providing care to patients with active COVID-19. In Jordan, work and family commitments are intertwined. Three themes were identified: the impact of COVID-19 on nurses' health; unfamiliar work and social environments; and conforming to professional standards.

COVID-19 has placed the nursing workforce across numerous countries under unprecedented pressure, which in turn has impacted their mental wellbeing (3). The current study supports previous literature which reported that nurses had a high level of depression, anxiety and stress during the COVID-19 pandemic (10) and viewed COVID-19 as a deadly disease (4–7). This could lead nurses to perceive COVID-19 as a disease with high fatality rate, hence, thinking of caring for infected patients as a burden. Nurses who provide care for patients of Arabic culture are more prone to mental health difficulties because such societies spend large amounts of time with their extended families and are not familiar with social distancing, specifically when it comes to their relatives (10).

The findings in the current study highlight the negative impact on participants' physical and psychological wellbeing. Some study participants experienced vicarious trauma after witnessing health care colleagues' sufferings and/or death from SARS-Cov-2 infection. This kind of trauma could be viewed as the "cost of caring" as nurses witness their colleagues suffering, this has resulted in psychological, and physiological difficulties. It appears that Jordanian nurses have become occupied with thoughts about their associates with COVID-19 infection. Similar findings were reported among Italian health care providers (8). Literature describes this as secondary traumatic stress syndrome (7). One participant described the threat to health in terms of actual physical pain of seeing colleagues being ventilated. We argue that nurses can live vicariously with the pandemic even when not infected with COVID-19. For example, repeated exposure to traumatic experiences could lead to vicarious trauma (28, 29), emotional distress and compassion fatigue (30, 31), which was also noted in nurses caring for COVID-19 patients (32). The relentless nature of the pandemic adds to this risk and was recognized by participants as being compounded by unfamiliar environments. These findings suggest that nursing leaders and policy makers need to pay more attention to the psychological capacity of nurses going forward.

Acute concern among nurses regarding the safety of their family members and the potential of transmitting the disease to their families was evident from the current study; this is understandable in light of the fact that nurses are responsible to promote their own health safety, and in Arabic community family's interest takes precedence on individual's benefits. Hence, nurses are required to balance their obligations of beneficence and duty to care for patients and duties to protect their loved ones. Prioritizing the wellbeing of family has been

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.922410

reported as a barrier to health care workers' motivation to work in a pandemic (33). Although this was not evident in the present study, the effects of working during a pandemic emphasized the psychological distress experienced by our participants. This was further highlighted when one participant was blamed for the illness of a relative who contracted COVID-19. Several editorials have identified factors that would increase the propensity for a health care worker to develop mental health disorders during this outbreak, including fear of catching COVID-19 or transmitting it to a loved one (30, 34) and the high rates of associated mortality (34). Our study supports these commentaries. Our participants reported experiencing negative emotions when they witnessed the long-term suffering of their family members because of COVID-19.

Stresses at work can be mitigated by a healthy work-life balance. Having interests outside work, being able to socialize (35), and family and social support are important factors in reducing mental illness and burnout (36). In Arabic societies, the family is viewed as part of oneself. Thus, the pandemic negatively affected social norms on family inclusion. For example, in Arabic societies such as Jordan, the importance of family cannot be overstated. Large family gatherings and the social etiquette of hugging and kissing, especially with elderly relatives, has been considered a sign of utmost respect. Removing these facets of life that serve as a buffer against a challenging work environment as a result of pandemic measures (e.g., social distancing and lockdown), have added an additional layer of risk for Jordanian nurses to develop current and future mental health problems.

Wearing PPE was viewed as a barrier between the nurse and patient and negatively impacted communication with both patients and colleagues. This was plausible because verbal and non-verbal communication are both equally important in establishing rapport and trust. In line with our findings, McCarthy et al. (37) reported that wearing PPE hampered effective communication with patients, specifically among patients who were in isolation (37, 38). For example, the face mask has made non-verbal and verbal communication difficult. Face masks were also viewed as a physical barrier to empathy, which is essential in developing trust, a therapeutic relationship and effective communication between health care providers and patients because masks concealed their identity and facial expressions (39). Overall, PPE was found to conceal the role of a health care provider. For example, some patients had difficulty distinguishing a nurse from other health care providers, adding another barrier to effective communication and impacting patient-nurse relationships (37). However, we believe PPE are very important for patients and the nurses' health; in addition, employers are required to provide nurses with adequate PPE, and the institutions should be held accountable for any harm that affects nurses due to the lack PEE.

Nursing during COVID-19 has been recognized as a challenge to nurses' wellbeing (40). Our participants described

changes in their work environments that caused additional work given that they were inexperienced and lacked education regarding the changes and how to appropriately manage them. In ordinary circumstances, strong leadership is expected to steer staff through change. A report by The King's Fund (41) stated that nurses and midwives have three core work needs: (1) autonomy (control over their work lives and ability to act consistently with their values); (2) belonging (the need to be connected to, cared for and be caring of others at work and to be respected, valued and supported); and (3) contribution (the need to be effective in their work and to deliver outcomes that are valued). Further recommendations suggest that commitment across health regulators, health improvement bodies and all partners in health and social care are required, that, alongside the core work needs, would ensure wellbeing and motivation at work and minimize stress (41). A framework such as this may be a valuable tool for supporting staff in future work environments as they recover from the COVID-19 pandemic and prepare for future challenges in the health sector.

Belonging (1) and contribution (3) (41) were evident in our participants responses under the theme "conforming to professional standards," Commitment to their professional and moral responsibilities as a nurse were clearly articulated. This may be explained in terms of the courage of compassion (41). A strong religious belief regarding what was right in this situation was also evident. However, despite their commitment and religious beliefs, participants did struggle with the ethical dilemma of balancing their responsibility to themselves and their family with the people in their care. The dilemma was exacerbated by the magnitude and uncertainty of the pandemic. Work overload, which was herein caused by COVID-19, has been reported as one reason for the occurrence of ethical dilemmas in nursing practice (42).

## Conclusion

In exploring nurses' experiences of caring for COVID patients, we discovered that nurses working and living in a collectivist society, in which the work and social life are highly interconnected reported high levels of mental distress. Although nurses had suffered from physical, social, and mental difficulties, they were committed to providing patient care in which they conformed to their professional standards. The balancing act of managing personal wellbeing, societal expectations and professional commitments added to the impact of caring for COVID-19 patients in a collectivist society in which resources and health management structures to keep nurses safe were limited. The findings have implications for nursing and health policy.

# Implications for nursing and health policy

Findings presented herein are significant in the context of being prepared for a situational crisis. This study has identified that nurses experienced risks to mental health because of COVID-19, hence, nursing leaders should develop ways to protect their staff from stress created in such situations. Health care institutions should consider establishing counseling programmes that promote nurses' mental health and support their productivity in a crisis, with specific emphasis on selfcare activities The risk to health perceived by participants suggests that policymakers should have a plan in place to guide nurses in the present and future outbreaks. For instance, update nurses with all the current guidelines that are issued by health care bodies such as the (WHO) and provide them with all protective supplies to stay informed, productive and connected. Based on the findings from this study, nurses could be consulted for more practical PPE designs to facilitate their movements and establishing a connection with their patients.

Nurse leaders could use these findings to increase the awareness of the danger that nurses may encounter during such crises and request "a danger pay allowance" to provide them with additional compensation during exceptional times.

#### Study limitation

This study focuses on Arab nurses from collectivist communities. Other nurses with different ethnicities may have different experiences with providing care to patients with COVID-19. Furthermore, the study used the telephone approach interview, although this approach has a wide range of advantages such as but not limited to overcoming the geographic limitations, it could have limited cultivating the rapport and connection between the interviewer and the interviewee because of the absence of visual or non-verbal cues which in turn could have affected the richness of the interviews.

# References

# Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Isra University Ethics Committee (no. JS/BA/94). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### Acknowledgments

The researchers would like to thank the Deanship of Scientific Research and Qassim University for funding the publication of this project.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

3. Foster S. Supporting nurses' wellbeing. Br J Nurs. (2020) 29:1223. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2020.29.20.1223

4. Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112954. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112954

<sup>1.</sup> World Health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020. (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-generals-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19-\$-\$11-march-2020 (accessed January 15, 2021)

<sup>2.</sup> Søreide K, Hallet J, Matthews JB, Schnitzbauer AA, Line PD, Lai P, et al. Immediate and long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on delivery of surgical services. *Br J Surg.* (2020) 107:1250–61. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11670

<sup>5.</sup> Sampaio F, Sequeira C, Teixeira L. Nurses' mental health during the Covid-19 outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2020) 62:783– 7. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000001987

6. Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.0 3.028

7. Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e203976. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.202 0.3976

8. Rossi R, Socci V, Pacitti F, Di Lorenzo G, Di Marco A, Siracusano A, et al. Mental health outcomes among frontline and second-line health care workers during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in Italy. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2010185. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020. 10185

9. Abuhammad S, AlAzzam M, Mukattash T. The perception of nurses towards their roles during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2020) 75:e13919). doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13919

10. Al-Amer RM, Malak MZ, Aburumman G, Darwish M, Nassar MS, Darwish M, et al. Prevalence and predictors of depression, anxiety, and stress among Jordanian nurses during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *Int J Ment Health.* (2021) 51:1–12. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-35820/v1

11. GardaNorld. Jordan: first COVID-19 case confirmed March 2/update 2. (2020). Available online at: https://www.garda.com/crisis24/news-alerts/319416/jordan-first-covid-19-case-confirmed-march-2-update-2 (acessed January 8, 2021)

12. Al Ghad Newspaper. (2021). 29 [inline image]. Available online at: https://alghad.com/29-D9D8B1D9D9D8A7D8A8D98AD9D9D9D8A7 D8D8B1D8A7D9D8D98AD8B4D8A79D8A3D8A8D98AD8B6 (accessed January 8, 2021).

13. Fochtman D. Phenomenology in pediatric cancer nursing research. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. (2008) 25:185–92. doi: 10.1177/1043454208319186

14. Husserl E. The Crisis of European Sciences and Transcendental Phenomenology: An Introduction to Phenomenological Philosophy. Translated by D.Carr. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press (1954;1970).

15. Lewis PJ, Adeney R. Narrative research. In: Mills J, Birks M, editors. *Qualitative Methodology: A Practical Guide*. London: Sage (2014). p. 161–79.

16. Ali MA, Hussin N, Haddad H, Al-Araj R, Abed IA. A multidimensional view of intellectual capital: the impact on innovation performance. J Open Innov Technol Mark Complex. (2021) 7:216. doi: 10.3390/joitmc704 0216

17. Liamputtong P, Rice ZS. Qualitative inquiry and inclusive research. In: Handbook of Social Inclusion. (2021) 1-19. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-48277-0\_16-1

18. Silverman D. Qualitative Research, 5th ed. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE (2021).

19. Charmaz K, Thornberg R. The pursuit of quality in grounded theory. *Qual Res Psychol.* (2021) 18:305–27. doi: 10.1080/14780887.2020.178 0357

20. Chenail RJ. Interviewing the investigator: strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *Qual Rep.* (2011) 16:255–62. Available online at: www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/

21. Malmqvist J, Hellberg K, Möllås G, Rose R, Shevlin M. Conducting the pilot study: A neglected part of the research process? Methodological findings supporting the importance of piloting in qualitative research studies. *Int J Qual Methods.* (2019) 18:1609406919878341. doi: 10.1177/160940691987 8341

22. Moises C Jr. Online data collection as adaptation in conducting quantitative and qualitative research during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eur J Educ Stud.* (2020) 7:78–87. doi: 10.46827/ejes.v7i11.3336

23. Roberts JK, Pavlakis AE, Richards MP. It's more complicated than it seems: Virtual qualitative research in the COVID-19 era. *Int. J. Qual. Methods.* (2021) 20:16094069211002959. doi: 10.1177/16094069211002959

24. Fusch PI, Ness LR. Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qual Rep.* (2015) 20:1408. doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281

25. Colaizzi PF. Psychological research as the phenomenologist views it. In: Valle RS, King M, editors. *Existential-Phenomenological Alternatives for Psychology*. Oxford University Press (1978).

26. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage Publications (1985).

27. Klenke K. Qualitative research as method. In: *Qualitative Research in the Study of Leadership.* Emerald Group Publishing Limited (2016).

28. Newman C, Eason M, Kinghorn G. Incidence of vicarious trauma in correctional health and forensic mental health staff in New South Wales, Australia. *J Forensic Nurs*. (2019) 15:183–92. doi: 10.1097/JFN.00000000000245

29. Qutishat M, Sharour LA, Al-Dameery K, Al-Harthy I, Al-Sabei S. (2021). COVID-19-related posttraumatic stress disorder among jordanian nurses during the pandemic. *Disaster Med Public Health Prep.* 1–8. doi: 10.1017/dmp.2021.199

30. Jackson D, Bradbury-Jones C, Baptiste D, Gelling L, Morin K, Neville S, et al. *Life in the Pandemic: Some Reflections on Nursing in the Context of COVID-19.* Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Online Library (2020). doi: 10.1111/jocn.15257

31. Usher K, Durkin J, Bhullar N. The COVID-19 pandemic and mental health impacts. *Int J Ment Health Nurs.* (2020) 29:315. doi: 10.1111/inm.12726

32. Li Z, Ge J, Yang M, Feng J, Qiao M, Jiang R, et al. Vicarious traumatization in the general public, members, and non-members of medical teams aiding in COVID-19 control. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:916–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.007

33. Ives J, Greenfield S, Parry JM, Draper H, Gratus C, Petts JI, et al. Healthcare workers' attitudes to working during pandemic influenza: a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health.* (2009) 9:56. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-56

34. Neto MLR, Almeida HG, Esmeraldo JD, Nobre CB, Pinheiro WR, de Oliveira CRT, et al. When health professionals look death in the eye: the mental health of professionals who deal daily with the 2019 coronavirus outbreak. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112972. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112972

35. Goodwin M, Richards K. Best practices in healthcare management begin with self. *Nurs Econ.* (2017) 35:152. Available online at: http://www.nursingeconomics. net/

36. Chen J, Li J, Cao B, Wang F, Luo L, Xu J. Mediating effects of self-efficacy, coping, burnout, and social support between job stress and mental health among young Chinese nurses. *J Adv Nurs*. (2020) 76:163–73. doi: 10.1111/jan.14208

37. McCarthy B, O'Donovan M, Trace A. A new therapeutic communication model "TAGEET" to help nurses engage therapeutically with patients suspected of or confirmed with COVID-19. *J Clin Nurs*. (2020). doi: 10.1111/jocn.15609

38. Chen F, Zang Y, Liu Y, Wang X, Lin X. Dispatched nurses' experience of wearing full gear personal protective equipment to care for COVID-19 patients in China—a descriptive qualitative study. *J Clin Nurs.* (2021). doi: 10.1111/jocn.15753

39. Wong CKM, Yip BHK, Mercer S, Griffiths S, Kung K, Wong MC, et al. Effect of facemasks on empathy and relational continuity: a randomised controlled trial in primary care. *BMC Fam Pract*. (2013) 14:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-14-200

40. Vallone F, Smith AP, Zurlo MC. Work-related stress and wellbeing among nurses: testing a multi-dimensional model. *Jpn Nurs Sci.* (2020) 17:e12360. doi: 10.1111/jjns.12360

41. West M, Bailey S, Williams E. The courage of compassion: Supporting nurses and midwives to deliver high-quality care. London: The King's Fund (2020) 8:2021.

42. Haahr A, Norlyk A, Martinsen B, Dreyer P. Nurses experiences of ethical dilemmas: a review. *Nurs Ethics.* (2020) 27:258–72. doi: 10.1177/0969733019832941

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Amira Mohammed Ali, Alexandria University, Egypt

#### REVIEWED BY

Irem Akova, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Turkey Anna Cybulska, Pomeranian Medical University in Szczecin, Poland Amin Omar Hendawy, Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology, Japan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Naif S. Alzahrani nzahrani@taibahu.edu.sa

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 04 April 2022 ACCEPTED 13 July 2022 PUBLISHED 03 August 2022

#### CITATION

Alzahrani NS, Almarwani AM, Asiri SA, Alharbi HF and Alhowaymel FM (2022) Factors influencing hospital anxiety and depression among emergency department nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic: A multi-center cross-sectional study. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:912157. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.912157

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Alzahrani, Almarwani, Asiri, Alharbi and Alhowaymel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Factors influencing hospital anxiety and depression among emergency department nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic: A multi-center cross-sectional study

# Naif S. Alzahrani<sup>1</sup>\*, Abdulaziz Mofdy Almarwani<sup>2</sup>, Saeed A. Asiri<sup>3</sup>, Hanan F. Alharbi<sup>4</sup> and Fahad M. Alhowaymel<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Surgical Nursing, College of Nursing, Taibah University, Medina, Saudi Arabia, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatric Nursing, College of Nursing, Taibah University, Medina, Saudi Arabia, <sup>3</sup>Department of Medical Surgical Nursing, College of Nursing, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, <sup>4</sup>Department of Maternity and Child Health Nursing, College of Nursing, Princess Nourah bint Abdulrahman University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, <sup>5</sup>Department of Nursing, College of Applied Medical Sciences, Shagra University, Shagra, Saudi Arabia

**Introduction:** The emergency department (ED) is a highly stressful environment, which exposes nurses to infection. ED nurses handle life-threatening conditions, endure long working hours, and deal with anxious patients and their families.

**Aim:** This study aimed to examine factors, which may influence anxiety and depression levels among ED nurses during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional design was used with 251 participants from six hospitals in Saudi Arabia (mean age =  $32.7 \pm 6.59$ , range = 21-54 years, 70.5% females). Data were collected using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), and the analysis was conducted using structural equation modeling (SEM).

**Results:** Based on the HADS scores, 29.1 and 25.5% of ED nurses were identified as doubtful cases for depression and anxiety, respectively. Additionally, 34.7 and 43.3% of ED nurses were identified as definite cases for depression and anxiety, respectively. Higher anxiety levels were observed among female nurses, nurses with lower physical activity levels, and nurses who worked in urban areas. Low physical activity levels and more than 6 years of work experience correlated with a higher level of depression. None of the hypothesized paths in the anxiety and depression models were significant, except for two observed variables—namely, work location and physical exercise in the anxiety model and physical exercise in the depression model.

**Conclusion:** Emergency department nurses expressed high levels of anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic, which may negatively affect their performance and reduce care quality. Therefore, health care leaders should implement specialized mental health education programs focused on nursing occupational safety and support to improve ED nurses' psychological well-being. Specific attention should be paid to ED female nurses who work in urban areas, especially those with more than 6 years of experience.

KEYWORDS

mental health, female nurses, urban area, healthcare, psychology, COVID-19

# Introduction

The emergency department (ED) is a highly stressful environment, which exposes nurses to infection. ED nurses handle life-threatening conditions, endure long working hours, and deal with anxious patients or their families (1). The spread of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and its mutations, such as Omicron, have contributed to increased stress in the ED environment (2, 3). This is because emergency care is the front treatment line for COVID-19 patients. Therefore, ED nurses are more vulnerable to psychological distress, particularly anxiety and depression (2).

Anxiety is a mental health condition characterized by excessive worrying and at least three of the following symptoms: restlessness, fatigue, irritability, difficulty concentrating, muscle tension, or sleep disturbance (3). Depression is a disorder associated with a low mood that impacts an individual's day-to-day functioning (3). Depression and anxiety symptoms experienced during the pandemic may be associated with individuals' perception of COVID-19 as a collective traumatic event (4, 5). Both of these conditions are key determinants of psychological distress. They are associated with sleep disturbance, poor coping behaviors such as disordered eating and addictive behaviors, and poor quality of life (6–8).

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, Saudi Arabia and other countries in the region had already experienced outbreaks that negatively impacted the public and healthcare providers. For example, the outbreak of Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV) was identified in 2012. According to the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 887 reported MERS-CoV cases in 2014, approximately 85% of which were reported in Saudi Arabia (8). Of 386 healthcare providers in Saudi Arabia, where approximately 76% were nurses, a study reported high anxiety levels during this period, and fears of contracting MERS-CoV were high, specifically for professionals working in high-contact areas with suspected or positive virus cases (9). In March 2020, Saudi Arabia declared a national emergency due to the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic (10), and subsequently, COVID-19's psychological impact intensified among health care providers. The prevalence of depression, anxiety, and stress among Saudi Arabian healthcare professionals are still high (11). A study conducted in Qatar, during the COVID-19 pandemic, found that 10.6% of healthcare workers tested positive for the virus, and nurses and midwives had the highest infection rates accounting for 33.2% of all the infected healthcare workers (12).

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 outbreak, numerous studies have measured the prevalence of factors contributing to anxiety and depression among healthcare providers. A metaanalysis of 65 studies exploring COVID-19's psychological impact on healthcare workers reports an anxiety prevalence of 31-38%. This prevalence was higher among nurses than doctors (39.3 vs. 32.5%) (13). Moreover, depression prevalence ranged from 28 to 35%. This prevalence was higher among nurses than doctors (42.4 vs. 39.1%) (13). These high incidences of anxiety and depression are attributed to a variety of factors and characteristics, such as age (14), physical activity (15), work location (16), and years of experience in the medical profession (15, 17, 18). Studies have reported inconsistent figures for the prevalence of anxiety and depression symptoms among nurses. For instance, a cross-sectional national study in China reported that the depression rate was 44% among ED nurses (19). Another recent study during the COVID-19 pandemic found that over half of healthcare providers had anxiety and depression, with nurses reporting higher levels of anxiety and depression than other healthcare providers (20). Conversely, a study in China found lower depression (29%) and anxiety (21%) rates among nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic (21).

The poor psychological health of healthcare providers negatively impacts their personal and professional well-being. At an individual level, poor psychological health could lead to suicide, substance abuse, and physical illnesses such as cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, and metabolic diseases (8, 11, 12). At a professional level, poor psychological health is associated with reduced clinical competency, proneness to clinical errors, communication breakdown, absenteeism, poor job performance, and increased turnover (22). These undesirable consequences of poor psychological health ultimately affect the quality of patient care and safety (22).

Early recognition of psychological health issues among healthcare providers, particularly ED nurses, is essential for improving the quality of patient care and safety. Estimating the prevalence of depression and anxiety among ED nurses is critical for assisting the health authorities in identifying factors contributing to nurses' distress and implementing mitigation strategies. To our knowledge, there is no data on the prevalence of anxiety and depression among ED nurses in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study aimed to examine the prevalence and influencing factors of hospital anxiety and depression among ED nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia. According to existing literature, several factors could influence hospital anxiety and depression (14-18). Therefore, in this study, we hypothesized that factors including age, sex, marital status, years of experience, work location, shift duration, and physical exercise would influence hospital anxiety and depression levels among ED nurses. We further hypothesized that ED nurses would exhibit high hospital anxiety and depression levels.

## Materials and methods

#### Study design

A cross-sectional design was used to examine the factors, which may influence anxiety and depression levels among ED nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia.

#### Setting

This study was conducted in two main Saudi Arabian provinces—Medina and Riyadh. Four hospitals in Medina Province were surveyed, with one located outside the city in a non-urban area. Two hospitals in Riyadh Province were surveyed, with one also located outside the city in a non-urban area. Hospitals were chosen based on the level of medical care provided to ensure the inclusion of at least one tertiary and secondary hospital from each province. Moreover, EDs in these hospitals predominantly admitted COVID-19 patients. The data were collected between September and December 2021.

#### Sample

 $G^*$ Power was used to determine a sufficient sample size (23) using an alpha of 0.05, a power of 0.80, and a small effect size (f = 0.10). The researchers used a small effect size to detect significant results. Based on the aforementioned parameters and

small effect size, the desired sample size was 235 participants. An online self-report questionnaire was developed through Google Forms, and the link was sent to head nurses and charge nurses, who distributed the questionnaire among ED nurses. The targeted hospitals had 362 registered ED nurses (Figure 1). In total, 251 questionnaires were completed and submitted, with an overall response rate of 70%. All participants were adults over 18 years old working in EDs as nurses.

#### Measurements

Data were collected electronically using an English selfreported questionnaire. The questionnaire comprised two parts. The first part collected demographic data: age, sex, marital status, location of the working hospital, years of experience, physical exercise, and weekly work shifts. The second part included the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), which is widely used in clinical settings (24). HADS is a 14-item scale with two subscales-seven items to measure anxiety and seven to measure depression. Depression items tend to focus on the anhedonic symptoms of depression, whereas anxiety items tend to focus on generalized anxiety symptoms (25). Each item is scored on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0-3. The total scores for both the anxiety and depression subscales range from 0 to 21. A score of 7 or less on the subscales indicates normal anxiety and depression levels, 8-10 indicates doubtful cases of anxiety and depression, and 11-21 indicates a definite case of anxiety and depression (26). Internal reliability coefficients reported in the literature for the scale are quite robust, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.83 and 0.82 for the anxiety and depression subscales, respectively (21). In our sample, the HADS exhibited adequate internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.79 and 0.78 for the anxiety and depression subscales, respectively.

#### Ethical considerations

Approval for conducting the study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of the Ministry of Health in Saudi Arabia (150-2021). The researchers did not collect any identifying or personal information from the participants to maintain the latter's privacy and confidentiality. The primary researcher stored data on a personal computer. Participation in this study was voluntary. Additionally, all participants were made aware of the study's aims and informed about their right to withdraw at any time.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software version 28 and AMOS version 26 were used to analyze the



data. Descriptive statistics, including mean, standard deviation, median, IQR, frequency, and percentage, were used to describe the characteristics of the study sample. Additionally, due to the violation of the normality assumption, non-parametric tests (Mann-Whitney U test and Spearman's rank correlation) were conducted to compare depression and anxiety scores across participants' factors and examine the relationships among the study variables. Structural equation modeling (SEM) was used to explore the association between these factors. Overall model fit was assessed using the comparative fit index (CFI), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI). An SRMR <0.08, CFI, and TLI equal to or above 0.95 indicated an adequate model fit (5, 7). We tested the association between anxiety and depression with age, sex, marital status, years of experience, hospital locations, work shifts, and physical exercise factors. A *p*-value of  $\leq 0.05$  was considered statistically significant.

## Results

#### Demographic characteristics

A total of 251 ED nurses participated in the study. The mean age of the participants was 32.7 years (range = 21-54 years). Most respondents were females (70.5%), married (50.6%), had over 10 years of nursing experience (35.5%), worked an 8-h dayshift (41%), and performed regular physical exercise (57.8%) (Table 1).

## Prevalence of anxiety and depression among emergency department nurses and their association with participants' characteristics

The anxiety score median (Q1-Q3) was 10.0 (7.0-13.0), while the depression score median (Q1-Q3) was 9.0 (6.0-12.0). These scores were divided into three categories: normal scores, doubtful cases, and definite cases. Approximately one-third of ED nurses (36.3%) exhibited normal scores on the depression scale, followed by definite depression cases (34.7%), and finally, doubtful depression cases (29.1%). Simultaneously, most ED nurses (43.4%) were definite cases on the anxiety scale, followed by normal scores (31.1%) and then doubtful cases (25.5%) (Table 2).

Mann–Whitney U test revealed that anxiety scores were significantly higher among female nurses working in ED than male nurses (U = 532, z = -2.34, p = 0.019, with a low effect size r = 0.18). ED nurses who performed regular physical exercise reported lower depression and anxiety scores. This difference was significant for both depression (U = 595, z = -3.05, p = 0.024, with a low effect size r = 179.19) and anxiety

scores (U = 640, z = -2.25, p = 0.002, with a low effect size r = 0.14). Anxiety scores were significantly higher among ED nurses working in urban areas than those working in nonurban areas (U = 195, z = -2.76, p = 0.006, with a low effect size r = 0.17). Furthermore, nurses with more than 6 years of experience reported higher depression and anxiety scores than nurses with less than 6 years of experience. However, a statistically significant difference was observed in the depression scores (U = 660, z = -2.11, p = 0.035, with a low effect size r = 0.13) (Table 3).

## The association between participants' characteristics and hospital depression and anxiety

**Table 4** shows a strong correlation between anxiety and depression (r = 0.674, p = 0.001). Physical activity, work location, age, and sex were weakly correlated with anxiety. Years of experience and physical activity were weakly correlated with depression. Therefore, non-significant variables and paths were

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics (N = 251).

Measure	Ν	M	SD
Age (years)	251	32.7	6.59
Measure	N	%	
Gender			
Male	74	29.5	
Female	177	70.5	
Marital status			
Single	100	39.8	
Married	127	50.6	
Divorced	24	9.6	
Years of experience			
1-3 years	62	24.7	
4-6 years	52	20.7	
7-9 years	48	19.1	
10 years and more	89	35.5	
Work shift per week			
8 h day shift	103	41.0	
8 h evening shift	26	10.4	
8 h night shift	30	12.0	
12 h day shift	48	19.1	
12 h night shift Work location	44	17.5	
Urban	224	89.2	
Non-urban	27	10.8	
Do you perform regular	r physical exercise?		
Yes	145	57.8	
No	106	42.2	

N, number of participants; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; %, percentage.

not included in the path analysis model, which was used to predict anxiety and depression (**Figure 2**). This model had an excellent fit for all measures [ $\chi^2(1) = 0.126$ , p = 0.722, CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.05, RMSEA = 0.00, SRMR = 0.008], and accounted

for 91.5 and 33.0% of the variance in anxiety and depression, respectively. **Figure 2** shows that physical exercise negatively predicted depression, whereas anxiety and sex exhibited a significant direct effect on depression. Similarly, depression,

TABLE 2 Descriptive anxiety and depression statistics among ED nurses (N = 251).

Variables	Total score ( $N = 251$ )	0–7 Normal cases		8-10 Doubtful cases		11-21 Definite cases	
	MD (Q1-Q3)	N	%	N	%	N	%
Prevalence of depression among ED nurses	9.00 (6.00-12.0)	91	36.3	73	29.1	87	34.7
Prevalence of anxiety among ED nurses	10.0 (7.00–13.0)	78	31.1	64	25.5	109	43.4

N, number of participants; MD, median; Q1, first quartile; Q3, third quartile.

TABLE 3 Differences in factors contributing to anxiety and depression among ED nurses (N = 251).

Variables	Ν	Depression		Anxiety	Anxiety	
		MD (Q1-Q3)	p	MD (Q1-Q3)	p	
Sex			0.869		0.019*	
Female	177	9.0 (6.0–11.0)		10.0 (7.0–13.0)		
Male	74	9.0 (5.0-12.0)		9.0 (5.0-12.0)		
Physical activity			0.024**		0.002**	
Yes	145	9.0 (6.0–13.0)		9.0 (7.0-14.0)		
No	106	10.0 (5.0-11.0)		10.0 (6.0-12.0)		
Work location			0.179		0.006**	
Urban	224	9.0 (6.0–11.7)		10.0 (7.0-13.0)		
Non-urban	26	8.50 (1.0-12.0)		6.00 (1.0-11.2)		
Years of experience			0.035*		0.829	
$\leq 6$ years	114	9.0 (5.0-11.0)		10.0 (7.0-13.0)		
>6 years	137	10.0 (6.0–12.0)		10.0 (6.0-12.0)		
Work shift duration			0.854		0.367	
8 h shift	159	9.00 (6.0-11.0)		10.0 (7.0-12.0)		
12 h shift	92	9.00 (5.0-12.0)		10.0 (6.0–14.00)		
Work shift time			0.759		0.456	
Day shift	177	9.00 (5.50-11.0)		10.0 (6.0–13.0)		
Night shift	74	9.00 (5.75-12.0)		10.0 (7.0-13.0)		

p < 0.05; p < 0.01. N, number of participants; MD, median; Q1, first quartile; Q3, third quartile.

TABLE 4 Correlations among anxiety, depression, and participants factors.

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Anxiety	-								
2. Depression	0.674**	-							
3. Age	$-0.178^{**}$	0.062	-						
4. Sex	0.148*	0.010	0.122	-					
5. Marital status	0.037	0.111	0.501**	0.085	-				
6. Work location	-0.175**	-0.085	0.043	-0.267**	-0.029	-			
7. Years of experience	0.038	0.149*	0.729**	0.174**	0.541**	-0.018	-		
8. Physical activity	-0.143*	-0.193**	-0.240**	0.040	0.231**	0.055	0.224**	-	
9. Work shift	0.047	0.019	-0.126*	0.054	-0.050	$-0.135^{*}$	-0.038	-0.040	-

The symbols \* and \*\* indicate that correlation is significant at the levels of 0.05 and 0.01, respectively.



physical activity, work location, age, and sex exhibited a significant direct effect on anxiety.

Physical exercise exhibited a weak indirect effect on depression *via* anxiety ( $\beta = -0.161$ , 95% CI: -3.113 to -0.021, *p* = 0.025). The indirect effects of sex and work location on depression were marginal (*p* = 0.059 and 0.063, respectively). Physical exercise and work location exhibited significant indirect effects *via* depression on anxiety ( $\beta = -0.197$ , 95% CI: -3.113 to -0.021, *p* = 0.004) and ( $\beta = 0.202$ , 95% CI: -0.006 to 2.634, *p* = 0.011), respectively. The indirect effect of age on anxiety was marginal (*p* = 0.064).

# Discussion

This study examined the prevalence of depression and anxiety among ED nurses in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic. The effects of ED nurses' characteristics on depression and anxiety were also analyzed. Combining respondents in the categories of doubtful and definite cases, approximately 64 and 69% of ED nurses can be reported as cases of anxiety and depression, respectively. These results are similar to a study conducted in China, where researchers found that less than half of 1,103 ED nurses were depressed (19). Anxiety and depression were also high among 441 nurses in Iran (16). In a study conducted in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic, just over half of the 502 healthcare providers reported depressive and generalized anxiety disorders. Nurses exhibited significantly higher depressive and generalized anxiety disorder scores than other healthcare providers (18). Another Saudi Arabian study revealed moderate to high perceived stress among 176 frontline nurses, with high perceived infectability and germ aversion during the COVID-19 pandemic (27). ED nurses often deal with more severe and life-threatening cases that need close-contact interpersonal interactions with infectious patients (28). Moreover, factors such as a heavy workload, adverse events, and erratic working hours contribute to increased depression and anxiety among these nurses (29, 30). Consequently, with the escalation of urgent cases during the COVID-19 pandemic imposing undue strain on an already stressful environment, nurses are likely to experience increased stress and anxiety levels.

In the current study, specific characteristics were associated with the high prevalence of depression and anxiety among ED nurses. Age was a significant negative predictor of anxiety, consistent with several studies that reported higher anxiety levels among young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic (31). Age was negatively correlated with physical activity and positively correlated with marital status and years of experience. We found that regular exercise can significantly reduce the levels of depression and anxiety among ED nurses. This result was expected because regular physical activity tends to reduce the risk of depressive illnesses (32, 33). A study conducted among healthcare workers in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic revealed that inadequate exercise significantly predicted negative mental well-being and low self-efficacy (15).

In the current study, work location only significantly affected ED nurses' anxiety levels. Nurses who worked in urban areas reported significantly higher anxiety levels than those who worked in non-urban areas. Our results are inconsistent with a study conducted in Iran during the COVID-19 pandemic; wherein there were no significant differences in depression and anxiety between urban and rural areas (16). A possible explanation for this is the large number of patients in our study who visited EDs at hospitals in urban areas, likely owing to the high population density in these areas. These numbers have substantially increased during the COVID-19 pandemic, thus increasing the workload of ED nurses. As mentioned above, the workload is a significant risk factor for negative psychological impacts on ED nurses (29, 30).

The present study's results further indicated that female nurses were more depressed and anxious than male nurses; however, a statistically significant difference was only observed in anxiety scores. Our results agree with reports from China and Iran during the COVID-19 pandemic, where researchers found that female nurses had significantly higher depression and anxiety scores (16, 21). Our results also align with a study among healthcare providers in Saudi Arabia, which found that female healthcare workers were significantly more depressed and anxious during the COVID-19 pandemic (20). However, our results are inconsistent with a similar study, which found that perceived stress among nurses did not differ by gender during the pandemic (27). In general, women frequently report higher anxiety levels than men (34). This may be due to the prevalence of female nurses with families, whose responsibilities often extend to caring for family members, children, and others. Hence, their fear of contagion may increase while having to attend to ED patients during a pandemic (35).

In the current study, ED nurses with more than 6 years of experience were more depressed and anxious than those with six or fewer years of experience. However, only depression was significantly different between the groups. Our result is inconsistent with studies from Pakistan (17) and Vietnam (18), which showed that nurses with less experience exhibited higher depression and anxiety levels. A study conducted in Saudi Arabia found that healthcare workers with less experience reported negative mental well-being and low self-efficacy (15). The present study's results were unexpected as most studies indicate that younger nurses experience more negative psychological outcomes than their older counterparts (36–39). However, the COVID-19 pandemic is an anomalous situation and, thus, a possible explanation for the variant results. The pandemic may exacerbate experiences of depression and anxiety among all nurses despite their experience level.

Finally, stress levels were higher among nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic, correlating with higher depression and anxiety levels (40). In the current study, 64 and 69% of ED nurses were classified as doubtful/definite cases of anxiety and depression, respectively. These levels are considered relatively high. A study conducted in Saudi Arabia on 999 international nurses before COVID-19 found slightly lower scores for anxiety and depression compared with our results, where 54% of nurses were depressed and 65% were anxious (41). Another study comprising 102 Australian nurses before the COVID-19 pandemic showed even lower scores, with 32.4 and 41.2% of nurses being depressed and anxious, respectively (42). The prevalence of anxiety and depression among 850 nurses in a Hong Kong study was also low (37.3 and 35.8%, respectively) (43). Therefore, we concluded that ED nurses experienced substantially higher levels of anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Limitations

This study has some noteworthy limitations. The first is using a cross-sectional design, which only provides a snapshot of the participants at a given time. The second is using a convenience sampling method with a small sample size, which could result in respondent bias due to the group's heterogeneity, such as in the age and gender of participants. This could reduce the results' generalizability. The third limitation is using an English version of the measurement with nurses from different backgrounds. Although all the nurses understood the language, this could have affected the accuracy of anxiety and depression measurements, as English is not their first language. Lastly, our results support the protective role of physical exercise. However, details on the type, frequency, and duration of physical activity performed were not assessed. This point should be addressed in future studies in order to maximize the use of exercise as a distress-mitigating intervention among ED nurses.

# Conclusion

The results of this study demonstrate a moderate-tohigh prevalence of anxiety and depression among ED nurses in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic, with certain demographic characteristics associated with this high prevalence. Higher anxiety levels were associated with being female, low levels of physical activity, and working in an urban area. Similarly, low levels of physical activity and having more than 6 years of experience were correlated with a high level of depression. In conclusion, ED nurses in Saudi Arabia might suffer from psychological distress, particularly anxiety and depression, which could impact their performance and reduce the quality of care. Therefore, healthcare leaders in Saudi Arabia should implement specialized mental health education programs focused on nursing occupational safety and support. These programs can help improve ED nurses' psychological well-being. Specific attention should be paid to ED female nurses who work in urban areas, especially those with more than 6 years of experience. ED nurses must be involved in stress management and coping strategy programs to maintain psychological well-being and reduce psychiatric comorbidities.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Saudi Ministry of Health Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# References

1. Bardhan R, Heaton K, Davis M, Chen P, Dickinson DA, Lungu CTA. Cross sectional study evaluating psychosocial job stress and health risk in emergency department nurses. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 16:E3243. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16183243

2. Zhan Y-X, Zhao S-Y, Yuan J, Liu H, Liu Y-F, Gui L-L, et al. Prevalence and influencing factors on fatigue of first-line nurses combating with COVID-19 in China: a descriptive cross-sectional study. *Curr Med Sci.* (2020) 40:625–35. doi: 10.1007/s11596-020-2226-9

3. Ali AM, Alkhamees AA, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. The depression anxiety stress scale 21: development and validation of the depression anxiety stress scale 8-item in psychiatric patients and the general public for easier mental health measurement in a post COVID-19 world. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:10142. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181910142

4. Ali AM, Al-Amer R, Kunugi H, Stănculescu E, Taha SM, Saleh MY, et al. The arabic version of the impact of event scale-revised: psychometric evaluation among psychiatric patients and the general public within the context of COVID-19 outbreak and quarantine as collective traumatic events. *J Pers Med.* (2022) 12:681. doi: 10.3390/jpm12050681

5. Ali AM, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. Predictors of nutritional status, depression, internet addiction, facebook addiction, and tobacco smoking among women with eating disorders in Spain. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:735109. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.735109

6. Ali AM, Hendawy AO, Abd Elhay ES, Ali EM, Alkhamees AA, Kunugi H, et al. The bergen facebook addiction scale: its psychometric properties and invariance among women with eating disorders. *BMC Womens Health.* (2022) 22:99. doi: 10.1186/s12905-022-01677-2

7. Ali AM, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. The depression anxiety stress scale 8items expresses robust psychometric properties as an ideal shorter version of the depression anxiety stress scale 21 among healthy respondents from three continents. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:799769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.799769

## Author contributions

NA: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, and writing—original draft, review and editing. AA and FA: formal analysis, writing—original draft, review and editing. SA and HA: data curation, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Epidemiological Update: Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). Epidemiological update: Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). (2014). Available online at: http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/news-events/epidemiological-update-middle-east-respiratory-syndrome-coronavirus-mers-cov-6 (accessed June 27, 2022).

9. Bukhari EE, Temsah MH, Aleyadhy AA, Alrabiaa AA, Alhboob AA, Jamal AA, et al. Middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) outbreak perceptions of risk and stress evaluation in nurses. *J Infect Dev Ctries.* (2016) 10:845–50. doi: 10.3855/jidc.6925

10. Almarwani AM, Aljohani MS, Eweda G. Perceived quarantine competence, attitudes and practices among the public during the coronavirus pandemic: a saudi descriptive study. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e14242. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.1 4242

11. Almalki AH, Alzahrani MS, Alshehri FS, Alharbi A, Alkhudaydi SF, Alshahrani RS, et al. The psychological impact of COVID-19 on healthcare workers in Saudi Arabia: a year later into the pandemic. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:797545. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.797545

12. Alajmi J, Jeremijenko AM, Abraham JC, Alishaq M, Concepcion EG, Butt AA, et al. COVID-19 infection among healthcare workers in a national healthcare system: the qatar experience. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 100:386–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid. 2020.09.027

13. Batra K, Singh TP, Sharma M, Batra R, Schvaneveldt N. Investigating the psychological impact of COVID-19 among healthcare workers: a meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:E9096. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17239096

14. Pratt LA, Brody DJ. Depression in the U.S. household population, 2009-2012. *NCHS Data Brief.* (2014) 1–8.

15. Abo-Ali EA, Al-Rubaki S, Lubbad S, Nchoukati M, Alqahtani R, Albraim S, et al. Mental well-being and self-efficacy of healthcare workers in Saudi Arabia

during the COVID-19 pandemic. *RMHP*. (2021) 14:3167–77. doi: 10.2147/RMHP. S320421

16. Pouralizadeh M, Bostani Z, Maroufizadeh S, Ghanbari A, Khoshbakht M, Alavi SA, et al. Anxiety and depression and the related factors in nurses of Guilan University of Medical Sciences hospitals during COVID-19: a web-based crosssectional study. *Int J Afr Nurs Sci.* (2020) 13:100233. doi: 10.1016/j.ijans.2020. 100233

17. Nadeem F, Sadiq A, Raziq A, Iqbal Q, Haider S, Saleem F, et al. Depression, anxiety, and stress among nurses during the COVID-19 Wave III: results of a cross-sectional assessment. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. (2021) 14:3093–101. doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S338104

18. Tran T, Ngoc-Bich N, Luong M, Bui T, Phan T, Tran O, et al. Stress, anxiety and depression in clinical nurses in Vietnam: a cross-sectional survey and cluster analysis. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2019) 13:3. doi: 10.1186/s13033-018-0 257-4

19. An Y, Yang Y, Wang A, Li Y, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Prevalence of depression and its impact on quality of life among frontline nurses in emergency departments during the COVID-19 outbreak. *J Affect Disord*. (2020) 276:312–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.047

20. AlAteeq DA, Aljhani S, Althiyabi I, Majzoub S. Mental health among healthcare providers during coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in Saudi Arabia. J Infect Public Health. (2020) 13:1432–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2020.08. 013

21. Han L, Wong FKY, She DLM, Li SY, Yang YF, Jiang MY, et al. Anxiety and depression of nurses in a north west province in china during the period of novel coronavirus pneumonia outbreak. *J Nurs Scholarsh.* (2020) 52:564–73. doi: 10.1111/jnu.12590

22. Yahaya SN, Wahab SFA, Yusoff MSB, Yasin MAM, Rahman MAA. Prevalence and associated factors of stress, anxiety and depression among emergency medical officers in Malaysian hospitals. *World J Emerg Med.* (2018) 9:178–86. doi: 10.5847/ wjem.j.1920-8642.2018.03.003

23. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner AG. \*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods*. (2007) 39:175–91. doi: 10.3758/bf03193146

24. Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT, Neckelmann D. The validity of the hospital anxiety and depression scale. an updated literature review. *J Psychosom Res.* (2002) 52:69–77. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(01)00296-3

25. Terluin B, Brouwers EPM, van Marwijk HWJ, Verhaak PFM, van der Horst HE. Detecting depressive and anxiety disorders in distressed patients in primary care; comparative diagnostic accuracy of the four-dimensional symptom questionnaire (4DSQ) and the hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS). *BMC Fam Pract.* (2009) 10:58. doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-10-58

26. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (1983) 67:361-70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x

27. Pasay-an E. Exploring the vulnerability of frontline nurses to COVID-19 and its impact on perceived stress. *J Taibah Univ Med Sci.* (2020) 15:404–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtumed.2020.07.003

28. Lu D-M, Sun N, Hong S, Fan Y, Kong F, Li Q. Occupational stress and coping strategies among emergency department nurses of China. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. (2015) 29:208–12. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2014.11.006

29. Lim J, Bogossian F, Ahern K. Stress and coping in Australian nurses: a systematic review. *Int Nurs Rev.* (2010) 57:22–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-7657.2009. 00765.x

30. Roden-Foreman JW, Bennett MM, Rainey EE, Garrett JS, Powers MB, Warren AM. Secondary traumatic stress in emergency medicine clinicians. *Cogn Behav Ther.* (2017) 46:522–32. doi: 10.1080/16506073.2017.1315612

31. Ali AM, Alkhamees AA, Abd Elhay ES, Taha SM, Hendawy AO. COVID-19-related psychological trauma and psychological distress among communitydwelling psychiatric patients: people struck by depression and sleep disorders endure the greatest burden. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 9:799812. doi: 10.3389/ fpubh.2021.799812

32. Stanton R, Happell B, Reaburn P. The mental health benefits of regular physical activity, and its role in preventing future depressive illness. *NRR*. (2014) 4:45–53. doi: 10.2147/NRR.S41956

33. Ali AM, Kunugi H. Apitherapy for age-related skeletal muscle dysfunction (Sarcopenia): a review on the effects of royal jelly, propolis, and bee pollen. *Foods*. (2020) 9:E1362. doi: 10.3390/foods9101362

34. Kelley ML, Braitman AL, White TD, Ehlke SJ. Sex differences in mental health symptoms and substance use and their association with moral injury in veterans. *Psychol Trauma*. (2019) 11:337–44. doi: 10.1037/tra0000407

35. Wu P, Fang Y, Guan Z, Fan B, Kong J, Yao Z, et al. The psychological impact of the SARS epidemic on hospital employees in China: exposure, risk perception, and altruistic acceptance of risk. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2009) 54:302–11. doi: 10.1177/070674370905400504

36. Clendon J, Walker L. 'Being young': a qualitative study of younger nurses' experiences in the workplace. *Int Nurs Rev.* (2012) 59:555–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-7657.2012.01005.x

37. Roberts NJ, McAloney-Kocaman K, Lippiett K, Ray E, Welch L, Kelly C. Levels of resilience, anxiety and depression in nurses working in respiratory clinical areas during the COVID pandemic. *Respir Med.* (2021) 176:106219. doi: 10.1016/j. rmed.2020.106219

38. Jiang H, Huang N, Jiang X, Yu J, Zhou Y, Pu H. Factors related to job burnout among older nurses in Guizhou province, China. *PeerJ.* (2021) 9:e12333. doi: 10.7717/peerj.12333

39. Işık O, Tengilimoğlu D, Tosun N, Zekioğlu A, Tengilimoğlu O. Evaluating the factors (stress, anxiety and depression) affecting the mental health condition of nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eval Health Prof.* (2022) 45:86–96. doi: 10.1177/01632787211062660

40. Serrano J, Hassamal S, Hassamal S, Dong F, Neeki M. Depression and anxiety prevalence in nursing staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nurs Manage*. (2021) 52:24–32. doi: 10.1097/01.NUMA.0000752784.86469.b9

41. Zaghloul MS, Saquib J, AlMazrou A, Saquib N. Mental health status of expatriate nurses in northcentral Saudi Arabia. *J Immigr Minor Health.* (2019) 21:1233–40. doi: 10.1007/s10903-018-00853-7

42. Maharaj S, Lees T, Lal S. Prevalence and risk factors of depression, anxiety, and stress in a cohort of Australian Nurses. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:61. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16010061

43. Cheung T, Yip PSF. Depression, anxiety and symptoms of stress among Hong Kong Nurses: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2015) 12:11072–100. doi: 10.3390/ijerph120911072

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rasmieh Al-amer, Isra University, Jordan

#### REVIEWED BY

Ilkay Aşkin Tekkol, Kastamonu University, Turkey Motasem Darwish, Middle East University, Jordan Malakeh Malak, Al-Zaytoonah University of Jordan, Jordan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Li Zhao li.zhao@njnu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 24 April 2022 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 04 August 2022

#### CITATION

Shao M, Hong J-C and Zhao L (2022) Impact of the self-directed learning approach and attitude on online learning ineffectiveness: The mediating roles of internet cognitive fatigue and flow state. *Front. Public Health* 10:927454. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.927454

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shao, Hong and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Impact of the self-directed learning approach and attitude on online learning ineffectiveness: The mediating roles of internet cognitive fatigue and flow state

#### Mingming Shao, Jon-Chao Hong and Li Zhao\*

School of Education Science, Nanjing Normal University, Nanjing, China

Online learning has become an important learning approach in universities. However, since many students may have been exposed to online learning for the first time during this period of the COVID-19 pandemic, the quality factors of online learning and psychological distress of students need to be considered in the research on their learning. This paper discusses factors that influence the learning effect of university students in the online learning environment. A total of 377 university students participated in the survey. Structural equation modeling was used to verify the research hypotheses. The results show that the self-directed learning (SDL) approach and attitude can negatively predict students' Internet cognitive fatigue (ICF) and positively predict their Flow, whereas perceived learning ineffectiveness can be predicted by Internet cognitive fatigue positively and by Flow state negatively. The results can be a reference for online teachers to enhance students' online SDL attitude, and to discipline their SDL approach so as to promote online learning effectiveness.

#### KEYWORDS

online learning, self-directed learning approach, self-directed learning attitude, internet cognitive fatigue, flow, learning ineffectiveness

## Introduction

Online learning has been widely adopted since 2020 (1). In order to achieve better online learning effectiveness, the realization and maintenance of online learning quality must be addressed (2). Moreover, psychological distress, such as attention and self-directed learning, has a great influence on online learning (3). Self-directed learning (SDL) involves the whole learning process from diagnosing learning needs, describing learning objectives, to evaluating learning outcomes by the learners themselves (4). Kim et al. (5) suggested that designing effective learner content to promote students' interaction is the most important work in maintaining their motivation for online learning (5). In these courses the quality of learner-content interaction may not be a predominant factor; rather, individual self-directed learning is more important (6). Thus,

to explore the learning effectiveness of online learning, this study investigated learners' self-directed learning related to their achievement of the desired learning outcomes.

As Cinquin et al. (7) pointed out, it cannot be expected that all students will find online tools beneficial, as students differ in their learning preferences and styles (7). In particular, some online courses may result in impairments of cognitive function (attention, memory, etc.). On the other hand, when navigating online learning environments, some learners may experience a state of flow (8). While in a flow state, learners concentrate on the activity being performed and lose awareness of other environmental stimuli unrelated to their learning (9). Some studies have indicated that students who experience Internet cognitive fatigue may not enjoy online learning (10). Flow experience has been found to effectively enhance online learning, for example, learning English as a second language (11). However, few studies have discussed how these two mental states interact during online learning. Thus, the present study also explored learners' Internet cognitive fatigue and flow state while they were involved in the online learning process.

Learning outcome is one of the measurements to assess how effective a learning platform is. The perception of the learning effectiveness of online learning is dependent upon whether the desired outcomes are achieved (12). The "dark" aspect of psychology indicates that young people are inclined to view bias in the social world through the external manifestations of lower grades (13). For example, adolescent students tend to make negative evaluations of social norms (14). Thus, in this study, learning performance was replaced by learning ineffectiveness so as to better enable participants to make self-evaluations of their own learning performance perceptions (15). Moreover, learning effectiveness perceived in different contexts is important to understand, as different learning interventions might influence the effectiveness differently. Thus, this study established a structural equation model to explore the influence of two aspects of self-directed learning (approach and attitude) on the different performance of attention (cognitive fatigue and flow state), and the role of these four factors on the effect of online learning performance. According to the research results, people can train learners' self-directed learning approach and give targeted guidance to their self-directed learning attitudes, so as to promote concentration and avoid cognitive fatigue, effectively improving the online learning performance in the future.

## Theoretical background

# Self-directed learning approach and attitude

Tough (16) first proposed the concept of "self-directed learning" (SDL) as a way of learning (16). Knowles (4) defined it as an approach whereby learners diagnose their

own learning needs, clearly describe their learning objectives, look for learning resources, choose and implement suitable learning strategies, and evaluate their learning outcomes, all without others' help (4). Caffarella (17) described SDL as an attitude toward autonomous learning (17). Taken together, SDL comprises two orientations: attitude orientation and approach orientation. In attitude orientation, SDL is considered to be a personal trait of the learner. As well as having different attitude orientations, learners also have different degrees of autonomy. In the approach orientation, the emphasis is placed on learners' learning activities such as their planning and implementation of learning strategies in and after class (18). Moreover, attitudes and actions (approaches) can generate context-related learning effectiveness (19). University students' SDL when taking online courses, including the self-directed learning approach and selfdirected learning attitudes, was introduced into this study.

The trait activation theory (TAT) explicates how work situations comprising shared challenge and hindrance stressors can be relevant for the expression of online learning (20). TAT highlights important interactions between person and situation variables. In this context, self-directed learning in online learning was proposed. Song and Hill (21) began to focus on self-directed learning in an online learning environment, and built a SDL model in an online context that combined SDL with personal attributes and learning processes, indicating the impact of environmental factors on SDL (21). Kim et al. (22) took a closer look at the application of self-directed learning in the field of online learning (22). They found that SDL could help students who studied online to develop the characteristics of a personalized system, and to improve their ability to manage overall learning activities and monitor their own performance, which could in turn help them to better adapt to online learning. As the expectation of SDL is that individual learners assume responsibility for their own online learning depending on their unique needs and individual goals (23), the roles that the two types of SDL play in online learning have not been extensively discussed. Thus, this study explored university students' two types of SDL, SDL-approach and SDL-attitude, while they learned online.

#### Internet cognitive fatigue and flow state

The inability to maintain attention is central to the concept and operational definition of cognitive fatigue (24), which has been defined as an executive failure during time spent performing tasks. It involves neglectfulness, loss of memory, distracted attention, as well as a lack of concentration (25). It evokes mind wandering, which may also interfere with other mental processes (26). Cognitive appraisal has been defined as "an evaluative process that determines why and to what extent a particular transaction or series of transactions between the person and the environment is stressful" (27). In this

study, Internet cognitive fatigue (ICF) that is the result of using LINE is referred to as LINE cognitive fatigue (28). ICF may affect students' learning performance, such as by causing distraction and reducing focus, creating a heavy mental load, and causing problems with Internet usage that recurrently influence learning performance (29). In contrast to cognitive fatigue, Csikszentmihalyi (30) introduced the flow state. Flow is defined as a state in which individuals are so deeply engaged in the current activity that they do not pay attention to other activities or the passage of time (30). This state was defined as a holistic experience in which individuals perceive themselves as being totally involved (31). When they are in a flow state, they are absorbed in the activity they are performing, and the focus of their awareness is targeted. Their minds become more unwandered, and they perceive themselves as being able to control their environment (32, 33).

Many of the studies on mental state while using the Internet have used the flow concept to address online navigation phenomena, but they have produced mixed evidence regarding the efficacy of such online learning (34). Thus, this study examined two types of mental state, namely ICF and Flow, in order to clarify some of the reported ambiguities regarding the conceptualization and operationalization of the effectiveness of online learning.

#### Learning ineffectiveness

In the research on online learning, some studies have focused on the hurdles that impede the effective delivery of online courses; for example, in massive and emergency online platforms (35, 36), factors such as the unpreparedness of most administrators, staff members, and students are hurdles (29). Of particular note is students' desire for learning effectiveness (37). Existing research has shown that young adults try to associate self-perception biases with behavioral outcomes and look down on external attributes (38). Hong et al. (15) used learning ineffectiveness to explore online learning effect (15). Accordingly, the present study considered the role of online learning ineffectiveness related to remote learning.

# Literature summary and research significance

Although there has been some research on self-directed learning and attention in academia (24), and on the relationship between them (39), few scholars have explored the significance of self-directed learning by dividing it into learning approach and learning attitude. Some learners have mastered the method of self-directed learning but are not willing to carry it out, while others want to carry it out but do not know how to learn scientifically and effectively. Both of these situations can

lead to the failure of self-directed learning, which can be linked with two different forms of attention: cognitive fatigue and concentration. It is also innovative to link these two conditions to two different forms of attention: Internet cognitive fatigue and flow state. It would be interesting to see whether these two different conditions promote concentration or divergence.

In addition, since teenagers tend to have more positive selfperceptions, and what they perceive may not be the same as what they perform, the existing research resulting to promote learning performance may not be suitable (38). Therefore, it is also of great significance to explore whether the conversion of the scale into learning ineffectiveness is different from the positive learning performance results. At the same time, the learning environment of online learning is different from that of traditional learning environments. The situation of online learning changes the self-directed learning and attention of students, which also has an impact on learning effectiveness.

#### Research model and hypotheses

#### Hypotheses

While students are navigating online learning environments, they may perceive challenges that link to opportunities for action. When they are in a state of flow, they also engage in and focus on the activity they are performing; they may focus or lose concentration on any environmental change. This is considered desirable insofar as it changes their mental state so that they realize that the challenges they face are in balance with their learning attitude and approaches (40). When students are engaged in online learning, their self-directed learning attitude may affect their ICF and flow states (8). However, few researchers have discussed how the self-directed learning approach and attitude affect the ICF and Flow in the particular context of online learning; thus, the following hypotheses were proposed:

- H1 SDL-approach is negatively related to ICF.
- H2 SDL-approach is positively related to Flow.
- H3 SDL-attitude is negatively related to ICF.
- H4 SDL-attitude is positively related to Flow

Online courses have increased the accessibility of learning, but students' ability to concentrate is an important factor in measuring the quality of their online learning (41). Attention guidance can facilitate students' constructive use of instructional materials when they engage in online learning conversations (42). On the other hand, students often carry out online learning in situations where they are easily distracted (43). Many students have reported that they find it difficult to pay attention (44), and previous researchers have aimed to identify when mind wandering occurs. However, few have discussed how students' ICF and Flow affect their perceptions of learning ineffectiveness in the particular context of online learning; thus the following hypotheses were proposed:

- **H5** ICF is positively related to students' learning ineffectiveness.
- **H6** Flow is negatively related to students' learning ineffectiveness in online learning.

#### Research model

The cognitive appraisal theory (CAT) categorizes personal traits in terms of positive or negative valence, which can trigger different psychological states (45). Moreover, according to the environmental psychology theory (46), it is assumed that the set of physical and tangible cues in an environment affects users' emotional states and behaviors. In the COVID-19 environment of online learning, the self-directed learning approach and attitude serve as mental state antecedents, and learning ineffectiveness is a mental state consequence. As a result, the present study proposed a model to identify individual traits that are subject to environmental factors which shape an individual's vulnerability to COVID-19 as stressor-related online learning problem. Therefore, the research model was conceptualized as shown in Figure 1.

## Method

#### Participants and procedure

A survey with a questionnaire was administered to university students with online learning experience in Jiangsu province, China. The questionnaire was uploaded to an online tool called *Questionnaire Star* (www.wjx.com). A web site, valid for participants to access for one month, was generated and the link was randomly sent to 50 university students in Jiangsu. Participants were then invited to share the link with their classmates. A total of 384 questionnaires were collected. After deleting those questionnaires with unanswered items, the same answer to all items, and less than 2-minute answering time, 377 valid questionnaires remained, giving an effective response rate of 98%.

#### Instruments

The questionnaire was designed by adapting from previous studies. Two professors majoring in psychology and three in education checked and revised the accuracy of the item statements, using the forward-backward translation approach to obtain the face validity of the questionnaire. A 5-point Likert scale was designed, with 1 for strongly disagree, and 5 for strongly agree. After data collection, the reliability and validity of the questionnaire items and constructs were tested. The questionnaire consists of three parts. The first part is the introduction of the survey and the explanation of the data collected only for the participants with online learning experience. The second part is the investigation of the basic information of the subjects. The third part is the main part of the questionnaire, including the potential variables of SDL-approach, SDL-attitude, Internet cognitive fatigue, and Flow state.

#### SDL measurement

Self-directed learning can help to understand an individual's attitude toward online learning and provide further insight into how an individual can use learning methods in an online environment (23). This study adopted the scale of Sun (47), which divides self-directed learning into two aspects: approach and attitude. In the original scale, there were five items for self-directed learning approach and five for self-directed learning attitudes (47). The descriptions of these 10 items were adapted according to the circumstances of this study.

#### SDL-approach measurement

Self-directed learning is the foundation of all learning, whether formal or informal, and the effectiveness of learning is related to individual motivation. All people are capable of self-directed learning, but their development level varies due to individual methods (48). Accordingly, five items were adapted related to how we should achieve self-regulation in learning. Exemplary items include: I can make my own study plan effectively, and When I encounter problems with the use of the online learning system, I will find the best solution by myself.

#### SDL-attitude measurement

Crook (49) explained that autonomous learners are active and take the initiative in learning, rather than passively waiting to be taught (49). As people take more responsibility for their own lives and benefit from self-discipline in the learning process, self-directed learning attitude refers to whether they have a strong willingness to learn independently. Accordingly, five items were adapted in this study, for example: When a new concept or thing comes along, I like to explore it myself, and When I come across something I don't understand, I like to try to find a solution on my own.

#### Internet cognitive fatigue measurement

This measure referred to the scale of Schwid (50), where cognitive fatigue is thought to be a cognitive decline on tests



that require sustained attention. Hong et al. (10) and Hwang et al. (28) mentioned the cognitive decline related to interaction with internet information (10, 28). There were seven items in the original questionnaire pool to explore participants' perceptions of cognitive fatigue. Since the participants of the original questionnaire were those with a steady job, the project description was revised in this study and two questions unsuitable for student participants were deleted. Accordingly, five items were adapted. Examples include: When I study online, I am distracted by the interaction of different avatars, and I cannot quickly grasp what others are saying, and When studying online, if the teacher talks too much at one time, I can't understand.

#### Flow measurement

When people are in a state of flow, they become absorbed in the activity they are performing, the focus of their awareness becomes narrower, they are less conscious of themselves, and they feel that they have control of their environment (31). Based on the understanding of flow state in existing studies, eight items were self-compiled for this study; examples are: When studying online, I can concentrate on class for a long time, and When I study online, I won't listen and think about other things.

# Perceived ineffectiveness of online learning measurement

Online learning ineffectiveness was introduced by Hong et al. (15). Considering the "dark" psychology of young adults, Hong et al. (15) used ineffectiveness rather than effectiveness when designing items for students' online learning performance (15). There were nine items in the original questionnaire, but one item with low reliability was deleted in this study. Accordingly, eight items were adapted; examples are: Since learning online, the quality of my homework has deteriorated, and Since online study began, my ability to observe and find problems has become weaker.

#### Results

First-order CFA was first applied to determine the reliability of the tool and to delete unreasonable questionnaire items. The reliability and validity of variables were tested to determine the credibility of the research instrument. Finally, structural equation modeling (SEM) was used to verify the hypothetical structural model. In this study, SPSS 24.0 was used for descriptive statistics and reliability and validity analysis, and AMOS 24.0 was used for CFA and path analysis of the structural model.

#### Participant information

Of the respondents, 29.2% were males and 70.8% were females, 40.3% were freshmen, 38.7% were sophomores, and 21.0% were juniors (no seniors were recruited because most university senior students were in internships and were not participating in school courses at the time). As for their online learning time, about 13.5% spent 1–2 h per week, 51.2% spent 2–4 h per week, 24.4% spent 4–6 h, and only 10.9% students had more than 6 h per week of online learning. Regarding the number of online courses, 17.0% had 1–3 courses, 76.7% had 4–6, 5.6% had 7–9, and only 0.8% had more than 10 online courses.

#### Item analysis

The original questionnaire had 31 items in total, including SDL-approach, SDL-attitude, ICF, Flow, and learning ineffectiveness. When a sample is used in first-order

Variable	Measure item	М	SD	FL	CR	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha
Self-directed learning approach	SDL-approach 1	3.45	0.791	0.774	0.8176	0.5991	0.819
	SDL-approach 2	3.62	0.752	0.770			
	SDL-approach 3	3.62	0.807	0.778			
Self-directed learning attitude	SDL-attitude 1	3.69	0.875	0.787	0.8888	0.6669	0.889
	SDL-attitude 2	3.86	0.911	0.781			
	SDL-attitude 3	3.64	0.839	0.852			
	SDL-attitude 5	3.69	0.822	0.844			
Internet Cognitive Fatigue	ICF1	2.67	0.983	0.858	0.8871	0.6628	0.893
	ICF2	2.40	0.873	0.800			
	ICF3	2.32	0.841	0.796			
	ICF5	2.80	1.056	0.801			
Flow	Flow 4	3.90	0.769	0.793	0.8871	0.6629	0.897
	Flow 5	3.98	0.711	0.795			
	Flow 6	3.89	0.733	0.857			
	Flow 7	4.03	0.710	0.810			
Learning ineffectiveness	LI1	2.62	1.043	0.729	0.9495	0.7593	0.950
	LI2	2.57	1.047	0.887			
	LI3	2.56	1.080	0.942			
	LI4	2.54	1.118	0.896			
	LI5	2.54	1.108	0.922			
	LI6	2.62	1.066	0.835			

TABLE 1 Dimension reliability and validity analysis.

M, Mean; SD, Standard Deviation; FL, Factor Loading; CR, Composite Reliability; AVE, Average Variance Extracted.

confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), if the factor loading is less than 0.5, the items should be deleted (51). Moreover, the highest residual values of items in each construct should be deleted until the threshold value met the first-order CFA requirements (51). The value of GFI was 0.919; NFI was 0.943; CFI was 0.972; RMSEA was 0.049; and  $\chi^2/df$  was 1.907. Accordingly, the following questionnaire items were retained: self-directed learning approach (3 items), self-directed learning attitude (4 items), ICF (4 items), Flow (4 items) and learning ineffectiveness (6 items), giving a total of 21 items.

#### Construct reliability and validity analysis

SPSS 24.0 was used to analyze the reliability and validity of the questionnaire. Cronbach's alpha was adopted for the internal consistency analysis. Table 1 shows that the Cronbach's alpha of all constructs was higher than 0.8. The composite reliability (CR) is for measuring the external consistency of constructs. In this study, CR values ranged from 0.82 to 0.95, indicating acceptable validity (51).

According to Fornell and Larcker's (52) study of convergent validity, the higher the convergent validity, the higher the factor loading (FL) (52). According to the previous research, a FL above

0.7 is considered a good value. The AVE (Average Variance Extracted) value should exceed 0.5, indicating that the construct has the effect of convergence. Table 1 shows that all values of FL and AVE are above 0.5, indicating that the questionnaire had a high degree of validity.

When performing construct discriminant validity analysis (as shown in Table 2), we must first obtain the square root of AVE for each dimension, and it should exceed the absolute value of the Pearson correlation coefficient between the two dimensions (53). In the current study, the analysis showed that the square root of AVE value of all variables exceeded the absolute value of the correlation coefficient between variables, thus indicating that the measurement model had good discriminative validity (53).

#### Hypothesis testing and path analysis

In this study, the absolute fit index and relative fit index were used to evaluate the degree of fit of the model. The value of GFI is 0.906 which is more than 0.9 and < 1.0 (54). NFI and CFI should both be > 0.9 (44). The value of NFI is 0.932 and CFI is 0.961. RMSEA should be < 0.1 (44), and here it is 0.057. From the perspective of the model indexes as Table 3 shows, the  $\chi^2/df$ ,

#### TABLE 2 Dimension discriminant validity analysis.

Construct	1	2	3	4	5
1. SDL-approach	0.774				
2. SDL-attitude	0.388	0.817			
3. ICF	0.469	0.422	0.814		
4. Flow	0.527	0.435	0.405	0.814	
5. Learning ineffectiveness	0.193	0.186	0.307	0.303	0.871

The diagonal elements (bold) are the square roots of AVE and the off-diagonal elements are values of the inter-construct correlations.

TABLE 3 M	lodel	fittina	analysis.
-----------	-------	---------	-----------

Fitting index	Threshold	Values	Results
Chi-square/df	<3	2.234	Supported
RMSEA	< 0.08	0.057	Supported
Goodness-of-fit index (GFI)	>0.8	0.906	Supported
Adjusted fitness index (AGFI)	>0.8	0.882	Supported
Normed fitness index (NFI)	>0.9	0.932	Supported
Non-normalized fitness index (NNTI/TFI)	>0.9	0.955	Supported
Comparative fitness index (CFI)	>0.9	0.961	Supported
Incremental fitness index (IFI)	>0.9	0.961	Supported
Relative fitness index (RFI)	>0.9	0.922	Supported

RMSEA, GFI, CFI, NFI, and IFI all fell within the acceptable ranges, illustrating that the model of this study fits the data well.

The hypotheses of the research model were tested by path analysis of the relationship among variables. Table 4 shows that the significance of the five hypotheses proposed in this study was verified. There are significant states among the hypotheses. All of the *p*-values are < 0.001. The SDL-Approach and SDL-Attitude have a direct negative association with ICF ( $\beta$  = -0.592, t = -7.704\*\*\*;  $\beta$  = -0.366, t = -6.305\*\*\*), while the SDL and SDLA have a direct positive association with Flow ( $\beta$  = 0.514, t = 8.806\*\*\*;  $\beta$  = 0.264, t = 6.308\*\*\*). Moreover, ICF has a direct positive association with LI ( $\beta$  = 0.202, t = 3.728\*\*\*), and Flow has a direct negative association with LI ( $\beta$  = -0.273, t = -3.732\*\*\*).

The determination coefficient  $R^2$  quantifies the variance ratio interpreted by the statistical model. It is an important statistic for summarizing biological benefits. When  $R^2$  values are < 0.6, we consider that 0.3–0.6 is medium, and < 0.3 is low (55). In addition, the model effect size ( $f^2$ ) was proposed by Cohen (56) to enable researchers to move from simply recognizing statistical significance to providing a more general quantifiable description of the size of the effect (57).  $f^2$  values > 0.8 can be considered large. When  $f^2$  is between 0.2 and 0.8, it can be considered medium, and when it is < 0.2, it can be considered small. In this study, the explanatory power of SDL and SDLA on ICF is 31% ( $R^2 = 0.31$ ,  $f^2 = 0.449$ ), and Flow is 38% ( $R^2 = 0.38$ ,  $f^2 = 0.613$ ). The explanatory variance of CF and Flow on LI is 13.0% ( $R^2 = 0.13$ ,  $f^2 = 0.149$ ). The six variables in this study are therefore shown to have good predictive power (44). However, in order to improve the degree of fit of the model, adjustments to the model were made, as shown in Figure 2.

#### Discussion

In the existing studies, taking COVID-19 as source of stress, there were many studies on the theoretical literature describing how COVID-19 may affect online learning, for example, similarities and differences between online learning and face-to-face learning (58–60). However, the empirical literature related to the two types of self-directed learning that affect individual mental state and learning effectiveness is limited. Thus, the present study explored the correlates between SDL-approach, SDL-attitude, Internet cognitive fatigue, flow experience, and perceived online learning ineffectiveness. After statistical analysis with item suitability, construct reliability and validity, structural equation modeling was applied to test the hypotheses. The results of this study are discussed as follows.

According to the TAT, individual traits are latent potentials residing in the individual attitude and approach; what triggers mental state is critical for understanding how the two types of SDL affect Internet cognitive fatigue and flow experience in this study. Self-directed learning can be defined as the mode of learning in which students who establish their own study goals and strategies are accountable for outcomes. It is essential to learn by oneself under the threat of COVID-19 (61). According to environmental psychology theory, environmental change may activate or deactivate individual mental activities, and self-directed learning should be prioritized with online learning (61).

Moreover, when students are in a state of flow, they are engaged in and focused on performing the activity, and they may focus or lose concentration as a result of any environmental change (30). ICF may affect students' online learning performance, such as by causing distraction and reduced focus, heavy mental load, and problems with Internet usage that recurrently influence their learning performance (29). Because online learning, which includes either watching video lectures or attending real-time video class meetings, is relatively unrestricted in terms of time and space, individuals can proactively steer the learning environment and accommodate SDL (61). Moreover, as the expectation of SDL is that individuals will assume responsibility for their own online learning depending on their unique needs and individual goals (23), SDL attitude and approach can balance the challenge of online learning and result in a change in mental state (40). How two types of SDL affect two types of mental state in online learning was explored in this study. The results revealed that the SDL approach is negatively

Hypothesis	Causal factors	Standardized coefficient (β)	S.E.	t	р	Result
H1	SDL- approach→ ICF	592	.082077	-7.194704	<i>p</i> < 0.001	supported
H2	SDL- approach→ Flow	.514	.058	8.806	<i>p</i> < 0.001	supported
Н3	SDL- attitude→ ICF	366	.058	-6.305	<i>p</i> < 0.001	supported
H4	SDL-attitude $\rightarrow$ Flow	.264	.042	6.308	<i>p</i> < 0.001	supported
H5	$ICF \rightarrow LI$	.202	.054	3.728	p < 0.001	supported
H6	$Flow \rightarrow LI$	273	.073	-3.732	<i>p</i> < 0.001	supported

#### TABLE 4 Path coefficient analysis.



related to ICF but positively related to Flow, whereas SDL attitude is negatively related to ICF but positively related to Flow.

In line with TAT, shared challenge stressors may overwhelm groups to achieve desired work outcomes. On the other hand, taking COVID-19 as a hindrance stressor will inhibit psychometric responses to self-evaluation. Mental states can facilitate or inhibit students' constructive use of instructional materials when they engage in online learning conversations (42, 43). Some studies have reported that paying attention is more difficult when mind wandering occurs (44). However, to explore how students' ICF and Flow affect their perceptions of learning ineffectiveness in the particular context of online learning, the present study found that ICF was positively related to learning ineffectiveness, suggesting that the higher the learner's ICF, the lower their learning performance would be. Thus, H5 is true. Flow is the opposite of ICF, so the higher a learner's level of concentration, the higher their learning performance is; H6 is thus also proved.

# Conclusion

According to cognitive appraisal theory, environmental psychology theory, and trait activation theory, this study puts forward that the four factors of self-directed learning approach and self-directed learning attitude, ICF, and Flow will directly or indirectly affect the quality of university students' online learning. Through path analysis for the model, it was found that the self-directed learning approach and self-directed learning attitude can predict two types of mental state: negatively to ICF and positively to Flow. Moreover, ICF can negatively predict and Flow can positively predict learning ineffectiveness. Therefore, the influence of psychological distress on online learning should be taken seriously.

#### Implications

The results show that self-directed learning can predict mental state, and has a direct or indirect impact on the ineffectiveness of online learning, confirming that the four factors have a significant influence on learning ineffectiveness. That is similar to the findings of other studies. When conducting online learning for university students, more attention should be paid to the cultivation of students' SDL awareness, carrying out relevant lectures, strengthening the training of their SDL approaches and paying attention to guiding their attitude toward SDL in online learning.

#### Limitations

There are some limitations of the study that should be noted. First, the snowball sampling method was used to connect with a limited population of university students in one area. Future studies should involve a greater number of participants from a variety of different areas. Second, this study adopts the cross-sectional survey results of a node at a certain time. In the future, more longitudinal data at different time points should be collected, which will increase the objectivity and stability of the conclusions and increase the rigor of the study. Last but not least, the present study focused on cognitive appraisal evaluation under the stress of COVID-19 and explored the correlates between individual trait and mental state of online learning reflected in learning effectiveness, without considering the comparison of types of online learning and online learning effectiveness. Future studies may compare different online approaches to examine participants' cognitive and effective issues.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### **Ethics statement**

Ethical review and approval were not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The survey data participants provided were anonymous and would not be of any commercial use.

# Author contributions

All authors contributed equally to the conception of the idea, implementing and analyzing the experimental results, writing the manuscript, and reading and approving the final manuscript.

#### Funding

This study was funded by National Social Science Foundation (No. BCA200093).

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### References

<sup>1.</sup> Su CY, Guo YQ. Factors impacting university students' online learning experiences during the COVID-9 epidemic. *J Comput Assist Learn*. (2021) 37:1578–90. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12555

<sup>2.</sup> Oliver R. Assuring the Quality of Online Learning in Australian Higher Education. Perth: ECU Publications (2020).

<sup>3.</sup> Sulla F, Aquino A, Rollo, D. University students' online learning during COVID-19: the role of grit in academic performance. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:1–6. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.825047

<sup>4.</sup> Knowles MS. Self-directed learning: a guide for learners and teachers. *J Contin Educ Nursing.* (1975) 7:60. doi: 10.3928/0022-0124-19760501-17

<sup>5.</sup> Kim D, Jung E, Yoon M, Chang Y, Park S, Kim D, et al. Exploring the structural relationships between course design factors, learner commitment, self-directed learning, and intentions for further learning in a self-paced MOOC. *Comput Educ.* (2021) 166:104171. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104171

<sup>6.</sup> Kao CP. The effect of SDLR and self-efficacy in preschool teachers by using WS learning. J Comput Assis Learn. (2021) 32:128–38. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12122

7. Cinquin PA, Guitton P, Sauzéon, H. Online e-learning and cognitive disabilities: a systematic review. *Comput Educ.* (2019) 130:152-67. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2018.12.004

8. Jeon K, Choi S, Kim P. Smart phone application program development for self-directed learning and attention training. *Int J.* (2012) 6:23–31.

9. Csikszentmihalyi M. Flow: The Psychology of Optimal Experience. New York: Harper and Row (1990).

10. Hong JC, Hwang MY, Chang SW, Tai KH, Kuo YC, Tsai YH. Internet cognitive failure and fatigue relevant to learners' self-regulation and learning progress in English vocabulary with a calibration scheme. *J Comput Assist Learn.* (2015) 31:450–61. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12103

11. Liu H, Song X. Exploring "Flow" in young Chinese EFL learners' online English learning activities. *System.* (2021) 96:102425. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2020.102425

12. Panigrahi R, Srivastava PR, Sharma D. Online learning: Adoption, continuance, and learning outcome—A review of literature. *Int J Inf Manage.* (2018) 43:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.05.005

13. Anderson J, Cheers C. Does the dark triad predict prejudice? The role of Machiavellianism, psychopathy, and narcissism in explaining negativity toward asylum seekers. *Aust Psychol.* (2018) 53:271–81. doi: 10.1111/ap.12283

14. Kassas B, Palma M. A Self-serving biases in social norm compliance. J Econ Behav Organ. (2019) 159:388–408. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2019.02.010

15. Hong JC, Lee YF, Ye JH. Procrastination predicts online self-regulated learning and online learning ineffectiveness during the coronavirus lockdown. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2021) 174:110673. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.110673

16. Tough A. The assistance obtained by adult self-teachers. *Adult Educ Q.* (1966) 17:30–7. doi: 10.1177/074171366601700105

17. Caffarella RS. Qualitative research on self-directed learning. Spring. (1993) 57:25-35. doi: 10.1002/ace.36719935705

18. Wang YH, Ma J, Gu Y, Wang J, Chen C, Zhang Y, et al. How does group cooperation help improve self-directed learning ability in nursing students? A trial of one semester intervention. *Nurse Educ Today.* (2021) 98:104750. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104750

19. González-García N, Sánchez-García AB, Nieto-Librero AB, Galindo-Villardón MP. Attitude and learning approaches in the study of general didactics: A multivariate analysis. *Rev Psicodidact.* (2019) 24:154–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psicoe.2019.03.001

20. Tett RP, Burnett DD. A personality trait-based interactionist model of job performance. J Appl Psychol. (2003) 88:500–17. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.3.500

21. Song L, Hill JR. A conceptual model for understanding self-directed learning in online environments. *J Interact Online Learn*. (2007) 6:27–42. Available online at: http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/6.1.3.pdf

22. Kim R, Olfman L, Ryan T, Eryilmaz E. Leveraging a personalized system to improve self-directed learning in online educational environments. *Comput Educ.* (2014) 70:150–60. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2013.08.006

23. Beach P. Self-directed online learning: a theoretical model for understanding elementary teachers' online learning experiences. *Teach Teach Educ.* (2017) 61:60–72. doi: 10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.007

24. Holtzer R, Shuman M, Mahoney JR, Lipton R, Verghese J. Cognitive fatigue defined in the context of attention networks. *Aging Neuropsychol Cogn.* (2010) 18:108–28. doi: 10.1080/13825585.2010.517826

25. Ackerman PL. Cognitive fatigue: multidisciplinary perspectives on current research and future applications. *Washington*. (2011) 126:463–70. doi: 10.1037/12343-000

26. Sander C, Modes F, Schlake HP, Eling P, Hildebrandt, H. Capturing fatigue parameters: The impact of vagal processing in multiple sclerosis related cognitive fatigue. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 32:13–8. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.04.013

27. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer (1984).

28. Hwang MY, Hong JC, Tai KH, Chen JT, Timothy G. The relationship between the online social anxiety, perceived information overload and fatigue, and job engagement of civil servant line users. *Gov Inf Q.* (2020) 37:101423. doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2019.101423

29. Hussein E, Daoud S, Alrabaiah H, Badawi, R. Exploring undergraduate students' attitudes towards emergency online learning during COVID-19: A case from the UAE Child Youth. *Serv Rev.* (2020) 119:105699. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105699

30. Park J, Seo M (in press). Influencing factors on nursing students' learning flow during the COVID-19 pandemic: a mixed method research. *Asian Nurs Res.* (2022) 16:35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2021.12.006

31. Csikszentmihałyi M. Beyond Boredom and Anxiety (1st ed.). San Francisco (California): Jossey-Bass (1975).

32. Hong JC, Tai KH, Ye JH. Playing a Chinese remote associated game: the correlation among flow, self-efficacy, collective self-esteem, and competitive anxiety. *Br J Educ Technol.* (2019) 50:2720–35. doi: 10.1111/bjet.12721

33. Hong JC, Hwang MY, Tai KH, Lin PH, Lin PC. Learning progress in a Chinese order of stroke game: The effects of intrinsic cognitive load and gameplay interest mediated by flow experience. *J Educ Comput Res.* (2020) 58:842–62. doi: 10.1177/0735633119881471

34. Inman J, Myers S. Now Streaming: Strategies that Improve Video Lectures. Prague: IDEA Center, Inc. (2018).

35. Bozkurt A, Sharma RC. Emergency remote teaching in a time of global crisis due to CoronaVirus pandemic. *Asian J Distan Educ*. (2020) 15:i–vi. doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.3778083

36. Flaxman S, Mishra S, Gandy A, Unwin H, Walker PG. Estimating the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions on covid-19 in europe. *Nature*. (2020) 584:257-61. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2405-7

37. Nakayama M, Mutsuura K, Yamamoto H. Impact of learner's characteristics and learning behaviour on learning performance during a fully online course. *Elect J e-Learning*. (2014) 12:394–408. doi: 10.1007/978-981-16-6104-4\_2

38. Shepperd J, Malone W, Sweeny K. Exploring causes of the self-serving bias. Soc Personal Psychol Compass. (2008) 2:895–908. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00078.x

39. Uus N, Seitlinger PC, Ley TT. Cognitive capacity in self-directed learning: evidence of middle school students' executive attention to resist distraction. *Acta Psychol.* (2020) 209:103089. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2020.1 03089

40. Esteban-Millat I, Martínez-López FJ, Huertas-García R, Meseguer A, Rodríguez-Ardura I. Modelling students' flow experiences in an online learning environment. *Comput Educ.* (2014) 71:111–23. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2013.09.012

41. Robinson A, Cook D. "Stickiness": gauging students' attention to online learning activities. *Inform Learn Sci.* (2018) 119:460– 8. doi: 10.1108/ILS-03-2018-0014

42. Lohse KR, Sherwood DE, Healy AF. On the advantage of an external focus of attention: a benefit to learning or performance?. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2014) 33:120–34. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2013.07.022

43. Hollis RB, Was CA. Mind wandering, control failures, and social media distraction in online learning. *Learn Instr.* (2016) 42:104–12. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.01.007

44. Weinstein Y. Mind-wandering, how do I measure thee with probes? Let me count the ways. *Behav Res Methods*. (2018) 50:642-61. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0891-9

45. Smith CA, Ellsworth, PC. Patterns of cognitive appraisal in emotion. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1985) 48:813–38. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.48.4.813

46. Moser G, Uzzell D. Environmental Psychology Theory. Encyclopedia of Social Psychology. London: Sage (2007).

47. Sun W, Hong JC, Dong Y, Huang Y, Fu Q. Self-directed learning predicts online learning engagement in higher education mediated by perceived value of knowing learning goals. *Asia-Pacific Educ Res.* (2022) 14:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s40299-022-0 0653-6

48. Williamson SN. Development of a self-rating scale of self-directed learning. Nurs Research. (2007) 14:66–83. doi: 10.7748/nr2007.01.14.2.66.c6022

49. Crook J. A validation study of a self-directed learning readiness scale. J Nurs Educ. (1985) 24:274–9. doi: 10.3928/0148-4834-19850 901-05

50. Schwid SR, Tyler CM, Scheid EA, Weinstein A, Goodman AD, Mcdermott MP. Cognitive fatigue during a test requiring sustained attention: a pilot study. *Mult Scler.* (2003) 9:503–8. doi: 10.1191/1352458503ms9460a

51. Hair JF, Black WC, Babin BJ, Anderson RE. Multivariate Data Analysis (8th ed). Boston, MA: Cengage (2019).

52. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *J Mark Res.* (1981) 18:39–50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104

53. Schumacker RE, Lomax RG. A Beginner's Guide To Structural Equation Modeling. New York: Routledge. (2016).

54. Foster JJ, Barkus E, Yavorsky C. Understanding and Using Advanced Statistics. London: SAGE Publications. (2006). doi: 10.4135/9780857020154 55. Nakagawa S, Johnson PC, Schielzeth, H. The coefficient of determination R2 and intra-class correlation coefficient from generalized linear mixed-effects models revisited and expanded. *J R Soc Interface*. (2017) 14:20170213. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2017.0213

56. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis For the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum (1988).

57. Fritz CO, Morris PE, Richler JJ. Effect size estimates: Current use, calculations, and interpretation. *J Exp Psychol-Gen.* (2012) 141:2–18. doi: 10.1037/a0024338

58. Maqableh M, Alia M. Evaluation online learning of undergraduate students under lockdown amidst COVID-19 Pandemic: The online

learning experience and students' satisfaction. Child Youth Serv Rev. (2021) 128:106160. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106160

59. Al-Nasa'h M, Al-Tarawneh I., Abu Awwad FM, Ahmad I. Estimating students' online learning satisfaction during COVID-19: a discriminant analysis. *Heliyon.* (2021) 7:e08544. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08544

60. Bdair IA. Nursing students' and faculty members' perspectives about online learning during COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. *Teach Learn Nurs.* (2021) 16: 220–6. doi: 10.1016/j.teln.2021.02.008

61. Kim S, Jeong SH, Kim HS, Jeong YJ. Academic success of online learning in undergraduate nursing education programs in the COVID-19 pandemic era. *J Prof Nurs*. (2022) 38:6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2021.10.005

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rasmieh Al-amer, Isra University, Jordan

REVIEWED BY Maram Darwish, University Hospital of Wales, United Kingdom Jafar Alkhawaldeh, Isra University, Jordan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Caiming Xu xucmy0709@zcmu.edu.cn

#### <sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 27 May 2022 ACCEPTED 15 July 2022 PUBLISHED 04 August 2022

#### CITATION

Xu R, Liu Y, Mu T, Ye Y and Xu C (2022) Determining the association between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms among over-65-year-old people: The moderating role of outdoor activities. *Front. Public Health* 10:954416. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.954416

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Xu, Liu, Mu, Ye and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Determining the association between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms among over-65-year-old people: The moderating role of outdoor activities

# Rixiang Xu<sup>1†</sup>, Yulian Liu<sup>1,2†</sup>, Tingyu Mu<sup>3</sup>, Yaping Ye<sup>1</sup> and Caiming Xu<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Humanities and Management, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup>Ningbo Municipal Hospital of TCM Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Ningbo, China, <sup>3</sup>School of Nursing, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>School of Law, Zhejiang University City College, Hangzhou, China

**Background:** China is presently facing the challenge of meeting enormous health demands because of its rapidly aging society. Enrolling older persons in eldercare institutions is a helpful alternative for relieving family caregivers and promoting healthy aging. However, changes in the living environment may negatively affect the mental health of the elderly.

**Objective:** To explore the association between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms among over-65-year-old people in China and the moderating role of outdoor activities.

**Method:** The 2018 wave of the Chinese Longitudinal Healthy Longevity Survey (CLHLS) used a mixed sampling method to collect the health and demographic information of 15,874 older adults over 65 years from 23 provinces in China. After considering this study's inclusion and exclusion criteria, the final sample comprised 12,200 participants. The participants' risk of depressive symptoms was assessed using the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CESD-10). The potential association between the two elements was tested using a regression model.

**Result:** This study's findings suggested a significant relationship between depressive symptoms and living arrangements (P < 0.001). Participants living alone and those living in eldercare institutions had 1.26-times (95%CI: 1.10–1.44) and 1.39-times (95%CI: 1.09–1.77) higher risks of depressive symptoms, respectively, than those living with household members. Outdoor activities play a moderating role between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms. Among participants who engaged in outdoor activities, no significant difference was observed in the risk of depressive symptoms between those living in eldercare institutions and those living with household members (adjusted odds ratio = 1.15, 95%CI = 0.81-1.64, P = 0.426).
**Conclusion:** The high risk of depressive symptoms among older Chinese people living alone or in eldercare institutions requires considerable attention. The evidence from this study suggests that older people living alone and those living in eldercare institutions should regularly engage in appropriate outdoor activities.

KEYWORDS

depression, living outdoor activities

living arrangement, eldercare institutions, aging population,

## Introduction

Population aging (and its adverse effects) is becoming a global challenge (1). As in Japan, South Korea, and some European countries, population aging in China has emerged as an increasingly crucial social issue in the last decade. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the number of older people aged over 65 years in China reached 200.56 million (14.2% of the total population) by the end of 2021, indicating that China has become a rapidly aging society (2). The main contributors to this issue are the declining birth rate and the increasing life expectancy (3). The immediate threat of population aging to society is increasing labor and health costs due to chronic age-related conditions. Empirical evidence suggests that age-related diseases, especially among people aged over 65 years, account for over half of the global burden among adults (4). Population aging has also resulted in a social burden in China, potentially contributing to 92.8 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) between 1997 and 2017 (5). Therefore, given that the current population aging trend is almost irreversible, each government's effort focuses on improving health outcomes in the aging population.

Depression is defined as a group of symptoms forming a syndrome and causing functional impairment (6). Depression consists of three main subtypes, including emotional symptoms, neurovegetative symptoms, and neurocognitive symptoms; depressed mood and anhedonia are the fundamental symptoms of depression (6). Depression negatively contribute to the quality of life in aging populations (7). Not only can they considerably reduce each individual's well-being, especially based on the declining physical function in older people, they are also a highrisk factor for many diseases or adverse events (such as suicide, pain, chronic diseases, disability, among others), resulting in more DALYs and years of life lost (YLLs) (8-10). Unfortunately, the prevalence of depressive symptoms among elderly Chinese people was as high as 35.19% (11). Therefore, the research focusing on promoting the mental health of the elderly holds great value at both the social and individual levels.

At present, expanding the industrial scale of eldercare institutions is an essential measure to achieve positive

aging and ease the economic burden on society in China (12). Living in eldercare institutions is deemed appropriate behavior because the elderly can benefit from the professional services provided by licensed caregiving staff (13), and family caregivers can be relieved by enrolling older persons in elder care institutions, especially in the era of the post-onechild policy (a family planning measure aimed to control the rapidly growing population). These factors will encourage an increasing population of elderly Chinese individuals to live in eldercare institutions. However, a high prevalence of depressive symptoms was observed among older people living in eldercare institutions (14). Therefore, this study determined the association between depressive symptoms and living arrangements, and explore the moderating role of outdoor activities between depressive symptoms and different living arrangements.

This research framework was designed using the environment-stress theory in environmental psychology (15). This theory states that changes in the living environment (based on how an individual perceives the environment, such as atmosphere, light, and color, among others) will affect an individual's emotional, behavioral, and physiological reactions. Positive emotional reactions in individuals are influenced by elements such as bright light, fresh air, and green spaces in outdoor activities (16-18). Furthermore, individual participation in outdoor activities boosts physical activity and social interaction. Based on the research experience in molecular biology, the serotonin hypothesis is one of the most popular causal hypotheses for depression, suggesting that depression is caused by lower concentrations of the serotonin neurotransmitter (19). Appropriate levels of physical activity can significantly increase the extracellular concentration of serotonin (20). Moreover, the evolutionary theory of loneliness contends that social interaction can effectively lower the increased physical and mental health risks caused by loneliness (21). Therefore, a national-level survey database was selected in this study to examine the differences in the risk of depressive symptoms among the elderly with different living arrangements and whether outdoor activities play a moderating role.

## **Methods**

## Study design and sample

This study's data were sourced from the Chinese Longitudinal Healthy Longevity Survey (CLHLS), which was conducted by the National School of Development at Peking University. The nationwide community-based prospective longitudinal study began in 1998, and examinations are conducted every 2-3 years (the latest wave was conducted around 2018). It aims to provide representative data for identifying the determinants of longevity. New participants are registered during the follow-up to reduce the attrition caused by death and loss to follow-up. The CLHLS (2018) was conducted in randomly selected counties and cities in 23 out of 31 provinces in Mainland China (including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Shanxi, Liaoning, Jilin, Heilongjiang, Shanghai, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Anhui, Fujian, Jiangxi, Shandong, Henan, Hubei, Hunan, Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, Chongqing, Sichuan, and Shaanxi). It focussed on the health status, quality of life, cognitive function, personality, psychological characteristics, daily activities, disease treatment, and medical expenses of the older Chinese people. The CLHLS was initially designed to facilitate global comparative analysis, and its survey instruments were translated into Chinese from the instruments of the Danish longevity survey (22). The CLHLS used a multistage cluster sampling method to include all consenting centenarians who live in selected areas. Next, other age groups of the same gender (65-80, 80s, and 90s) in the vicinity of the centenarian's place of residence (in the selected street or village, or in the selected city or county) were randomly invited for this study. Well-trained local Center for Disease Control investigators and university students were hired to conduct in-person interviews at the participants' residences. An earlier investigation reported a more detailed introduction to the CLHLS study design (23).

This study's data were sourced from the 2018 wave of the CLHLS. This wave of the CLHLS collected data from 15,874 participants, from October 2017 to July 2019. First, 95 participants younger than 65 years were excluded. Then, 3,403 participants were excluded because of inability or unwillingness to complete the ten-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CESD-10) or for answering data with apparent errors. In addition, 73 participants who failed to respond to questions regarding their living arrangements were also excluded. Finally, 12,200 eligible subjects were screened from 15,874 participants. From the data collected from all participants, a total of 12,461 participants completed the CESD-10 scale (a response rate of 78.50%) and 15,549 participants responded to the questions about their recent living arrangements (a response rate of 97.95%), and 15,619 participants reported outdoor activities in the survey (a response rate of 98.39%). The details of the eligible participants are described in the following section. All participants provided written informed consent at the time of participation, and the CLHLS data collection (IRB00001052–13074) was approved by the Biomedical Ethics Review Committee of Peking University.

### Measures

#### Depressive symptoms (dependent variable)

The CESD-10 was used to assess the participants' risk of depressive symptoms and was added to the 2018 wave of the CLHLS questionnaire for the first time. This scale was compiled by Anderson and used after being translated into Chinese (24). The Chinese version of the scale was proven to be well validated for the assessment of depression in the general Chinese elderly population (25). The scale contains eight forward-scoring and two reverse-scoring questions that measure the frequencies of the participant's negative feelings in the past week. A previous report provided specific information for each question (24). Each question has four response options with different frequencies: rarely or none of the time, some or a little of the time, occasionally or a moderate amount of the time, and most or all the time. Forward-scored questions are scored as 0-3 points according to the frequency from low to high, and 3-0 points are scored in the reverse direction. The total range of CESD-10 scores was 0-30, with scores  $\geq$  10 indicating significant depressive symptoms. The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  of CES-D-10 was 0.730, indicating a reasonable reliability level of internal consistency. The Pearson correlation analysis revealed that each variable was significantly correlated with the total score of the scale (P < 0.01), indicating that the scale has reasonable content validity.

#### Living arrangements (independent variable)

In this study, living arrangement refers to the recent longterm living status: living with family members (spouse, parents, children, etc.), living alone (without the company of family members for a long time, including babysitters and sexual partners), and living in eldercare institutions (elderly center, elderly home, care home, etc.).

#### Outdoor activities (moderating variable)

Outdoor activities here refer to individuals leaving their familiar house to participate in positive activities, such as physical activity, social activities, playing chess, fishing, and traveling, among others. The questionnaire in the 2018 wave of the CLHLS included an item about the frequency of regular participation in outdoor activities (including Tai Chi, square dancing, socializing with friends, and other outdoor activities). The older people in China prefer these outdoor activities. There are five different frequencies under the question: There are five different frequencies under the question: (1) almost daily. (2) at least once weekly. (3) at least once monthly. (4) less than once monthly, and (5) never participate (scoring 4, 3, 2, 1, and 0 points, respectively)Scores < 0 indicate participation in outdoor activities and scores equal to 0 indicate no participation in outdoor activities.

## Covariates

The participants' demographic or socioeconomic characteristics (such as gender, age, living location, years of schooling, marital status, income, and hukou status) and health status (number of chronic diseases) were some of the control variables included in this study's analyses. This study included these covariates because they were described as the confounders for depressive symptoms in the previous studies or preliminary univariate analyses.

#### Age

Age as a risk factor for depressive symptoms in the Chinese elderly was reported in a previous study (26). Age in this study was divided into two groups: 65–80 and over 80 years old.

#### Hukou status

Hukou is a unique existence in China; it refers to the national household registration that Chinese governments have historically used to try to fix the population in a place geographically. The primary study reported a significant difference in the prevalence of depressive symptoms among residents with different hukou (27). In our study, Hukou was divided into agricultural and non-agricultural.

#### Marital status

Marital status was categorized as married and living with a spouse, married and living without a spouse, widowed, never married, or divorced. A national-level survey in China found that separation, widow, or divorce are risk factors for depressive symptoms (28).

#### Years of schooling

Since this database does not collect data on specific educational levels, it only includes each participant's years of schooling. Therefore, the years of schooling were divided into 0 years (illiterate), 1 to 9 years (elementary school or middle school), and over 10 years (high school and above), according to the length of different learning stages. Previous studies found that individuals with higher levels of education have a lower risk of depressive symptoms (28, 29).

#### Chronic diseases

A total of 13 chronic diseases were included, namely hypertension, dyslipidaemia, diabetes, cancer, hepatitis, heart attack, stroke & cerebrovascular disease, asthma & lung disease, Parkinson's disease, dementia, digestive disease, arthritis, and nephritis. Previous studies have reported a higher risk of depressive symptoms in patients with a higher number of chronic diseases (9).

#### Household income

Annual household income was classified as < 10,000, 10,000–50,000, 50,000–100,000, and more than 100,000 CNY (1 USD $\approx$ 6.62 CNY in 2018). A previous study found a negative correlation between income and depressive symptoms in the elderly in China (26).

#### Disability

The KATZ scale was used to estimate whether participants had difficulty in six activities: eating, dressing, bathing, transferring in and out of bed, using the toilet, and controlling urination and defecation. Respondents were identified as having a disability if they had difficulty completing one of the activities. In all individuals with a disability, difficulty completing 1–2 activities, 3–4 activities, and 5–6 activities were considered mild, moderate, and severe disability, respectively. Our previous study found that individuals with higher levels of disability were at greater risk of depressive symptoms (29). The Cronbach's αvalue was 0.908, indicating a reasonable reliability level.

## Data processing and analysis

The original data from the CLHLS database were exported in the SAV. format to Microsoft EXCEL 2016 for data screening and description. Before formally processing the data, an author (RXX) checked the legibility and completeness of the data. Any extraneous variables that must be controlled for and any potential problems in the data collection process were identified and avoided. Two other authors (YLL and TYM) independently performed data cleaning for outliers. Target data were transcoded and interpreted according to the CLHLS data coding guidelines (available at https://opendata. pku.edu.cn/dataverse/CHADS). All measurement data were recorded according to Supplementary Table 1 and imported into SPSS 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, US) software for data analysis. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, US). A chi-square test was applied to the association between independent, control, and moderator variables and depressive symptoms. A binary logistic regression adjusting for all confounding factors was conducted to compare the strength of the relationship between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms. Living arrangements and outdoor activities were sequentially included in the regression model to explore whether the association between living arrangements and depressive symptoms was affected after considering participation in outdoor activities. In addition, an interaction group for living arrangements and outdoor activities was introduced to determine whether outdoor activities moderated the independent and dependent variables.

P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant in this study.

## Results

### Sample characteristics

Table 1 presents the descriptive data for the sample and evaluates the odds risk (OR) value of depressive symptoms in control and independent variable groups. A total of 12,200 participants were included in this study, 46.5% of whom were male and 53.5% female, with a mean age of 83.39  $\pm$  11.02 years. Most of the participants lived in rural areas (76.5%), had an agricultural hukou (70.8%), had < 9 years of education (89.5%), and had lost their spouses (52.2%). Regarding the individual health status, 18.5% of respondents reported disabilities and 63.1% had one or more chronic diseases. Furthermore, 79.9, 16.8, and 3.3% of the respondents lived with household members, alone, and in eldercare institutions, respectively. Moreover, 30.4% of the older people did not engage in any outdoor activities, whereas 39.5% of the older people who participated in outdoor activities maintained the habit almost once daily.

## Associations between living arrangements and depressive symptoms

Table 1 shows the results of the univariate analyses performed to determine the distributions of depressive symptoms by relevant covariates and independent variables. Participants with the following characteristics were significantly associated with a higher risk of depressive symptoms (P < 0.05): female (OR = 1.33, 95%CI = 1.23–1.45), over 80 years old (OR = 1.47, 95%CI = 1.35–1.6), living in rural areas (OR = 1.41, 95%CI = 1.27–1.56), with agricultural hukou (OR = 1.39, 95%CI = 1.27–1.53), widowed (OR = 1.62, 95%CI = 1.49–1.76), and never married (OR = 3.21, 95%CI = 2.17–4.76). In addition, participants with fewer years of schooling, a higher number of chronic diseases, lower annual household income, higher levels of disability, and lower frequency of outdoor activities had higher risks of depressive symptoms (P < 0.05). Table 1 also presents more details.

Table 2 presents the binary logistic regression analysis results testing the relationship between living arrangements and depressive symptoms. After controlling for confounders (Model 1), participants living alone had a 1.26-times higher risk of depressive symptoms than those living with household members (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 1.26, 95%CI = 1.10–1.44, P = 0.001), while for those living in eldercare institutions, this risk was 1.39-times higher (AOR = 1.39, 95%CI = 1.09–1.77, P = 0.008). In Model 2, the results demonstrated

that outdoor activities could significantly reduce the risk of depressive symptoms in respondents (AOR = 0.90, 95%CI = 0.87–0.92, P < 0.001). Moreover, the introduction of the outdoor activities variable in the model revealed that the risk of depressive symptoms increased to 1.31 times (95%CI = 1.14–1.50, P < 0.001) and 1.41 times (95%CI = 1.11–1.80, P = 0.006) for respondents living alone and those living in eldercare institutions, respectively.

## Moderating effect of outdoor activities

The results in Table 3 demonstrated the risk of depressive symptoms for the interaction groups of different living arrangements and outdoor activities. The binary regression model demonstrated a strong interaction effect between living arrangements and outdoor activities with regard to depressive symptoms. Overall, participants who never engaged in outdoor activities and lived in eldercare institutions were 2.04 times more likely to experience depressive symptoms (95%CI = 1.44–2.9, *P* < 0.001) than participants who had a habit of participating in outdoor activities and lived with household members, and those who never participated in outdoor activities and lived alone were 1.69 times more likely to experience depressive symptoms (95%CI = 1.35–2.13, *P* < 0.001). Figure 1 depicts the AOR values of depressive symptoms for different interaction groups after controlling for all covariates.

## Discussion

This study used a national-level survey database to determine the relationship between living arrangements and depressive symptoms among 12,200 Chinese people aged over 65 years. It explored the moderating effect of outdoor activities on both these variables. The main findings of this study indicated that participants living alone and those living in eldercare institutions had a significantly higher risk of depressive symptoms than those living with household members, and outdoor activities were effective in eliminating the risk of depressive symptoms caused by different living arrangements. These findings provide compelling evidence for future government decision-making on promoting active and healthy aging.

This study was not the first to explore the relationship between living arrangements and depressive symptoms. Some empirical studies conducted in South Korea, Singapore, and Japan have discovered that living alone is an independent risk factor contributing to depressive symptoms (30-32), which was consistent with this study's findings. Some in-depth studies based on other perspectives compared the risk of depressive symptoms in elder adults living with different household members and revealed that living with children was negatively

Category	Total (%)	Depressive	symptoms (n)	Crude OR (95%CI)	
		No (9060)	Yes (3140)	Р	
Age				<0.001	
65-80	5297 (43.4)	4150	1147		1
80<	6903 (56.6)	4910	1993		1.47 (1.35-1.60)*
Gender				< 0.001	
Male	5667 (46.5)	4374	1293		1
Female	6533 (53.5)	4686	1847		1.33 (1.23-1.45)*
Living location				< 0.001	
Urban	2871 (23.5)	2269	602		1
Rural	9329 (76.5)	6791	2538		1.41 (1.27-1.56)*
Hukou status				< 0.001	
Non-agricultural	3560 (29.2)	2798	762		1
Agricultural	8623 (70.8)	6250	2373		1.39 (1.27–1.53)*
Households income				< 0.001	
<10000	3016 (25.8)	2052	964		1
10000-50000	3721 (31.8)	2788	933		0.71 (0.64-0.79)*
50000-100000	2705 (23.1)	2045	660		0.69 (0.61-0.77)*
>100000	2257 (19.3)	1823	434		0.51 (0.45-0.58)*
Marital status				< 0.001	
Married and living with spouse	5402 (44.7)	4283	1119		1
Married and living without spouse	224 (1.9)	174	50		1.10 (0.80-1.52)
Divorced	45 (0.4)	32	13		1.56 (0.81-2.97)
Widowed	6304 (52.2)	4431	1873		1.62 (1.49–1.76)*
Never married	103 (0.9)	56	47		3.21 (2.17-4.76)*
Years of schooling				< 0.001	
0	4656 (44.3)	3225	1431		1
1–9	4758 (45.2)	3722	1036		0.63 (0.57-0.69)*
10-	1103 (10.5)	883	220		0.56 (0.48-0.66)*
Disability				< 0.001	
No	9947 (81.5)	7608	2339		1
Mild	1341 (11.0)	930	411		1.44 (1.27–1.63)*
Moderate	490 (4.0)	294	196		2.17 (1.8–2.61)*
Severe	422 (3.5)	228	194		2.77 (2.27-3.37)*
Number of chronic diseases				< 0.001	
0	4496 (36.9)	3439	1057		1
1	4056 (33.2)	3060	996		1.6 (0.96–1.17)
2	2072 (17.0)	1491	581		1.27 (1.13–1.43)*
3	928 (7.6)	662	266		1.31 (1.12–1.53)*
$\geq 4$	648 (5.3)	408	240		1.91 (1.61–2.28)*
Living arrangement				< 0.001	
With household members	9747 (79.9)	7401	2346		1
Alone	2050 (16.8)	1394	656		1.49 (1.34–1.65)*
Elderly institution	403 (3.3)	265	138		1.64 (1.33–2.3)*
Outdoor activities				< 0.001	
0	3711 (30.4)	2515	1196		1
1	849 (7.0)	591	258		0.92 (0.78–1.80)
2	754 (6.2)	548	206		0.79 (0.66-0.94)*
3	2064 (16.9)	1526	538		0.74 (0.66–0.84)*
4	4822 (39.5)	3880	942		0.51 (0.46-0.56)*

TABLE 1 General characteristics of the participants by the occurrence of depressive symptoms and their unadjusted odds risk.

\*P < 0.05; OR, odds rate.

Variables		Model 1			Model 2	
	AOR	95%CI	Р	AOR	95%CI	Р
Age	1.07	0.96-1.20	0.224	1.01	0.90-1.14	0.825
Hukou status	1.13	0.95-1.34	0.168	1.12	0.95-1.33	0.178
Living location	1.24	1.03-1.48	0.021	1.25	1.05-1.50	0.015
Gender	1.05	0.95-1.17	0.352	1.06	0.95-1.18	0.294
Household income	0.84	0.80-0.89	< 0.001	0.85	0.81-0.89	< 0.001
Marital status	1.07	1.03-1.12	0.001	1.07	1.03-1.11	0.001
Years of schooling	0.87	0.79-0.95	0.002	0.88	0.81-0.97	0.006
Number of chronic diseases	1.22	1.17-1.27	< 0.001	1.22	1.17-1.28	< 0.001
Disability	1.37	1.29-1.46	< 0.001	1.28	1.20-1.37	< 0.001
Living arrangements						
With household members	Ref.	/	/	Ref.	/	/
Alone	1.26	1.10-1.44	0.001	1.31	1.14-1.50	< 0.001
Elderly institution	1.39	1.09-1.77	0.008	1.41	1.11-1.80	0.006
Outdoor activities				0.90	0.87-0.92	< 0.001

TABLE 2 Binary logistic regression for the association between living arrangements and depressive symptoms.

Model 1, controlling for age, Hukou status, gender, living location, marital status, household income, years of schooling, number of chronic diseases, disability. Model 2, introducing outdoor activities variable on the basis of Mode 1. AOR, adjusted odds rate. Reference, compare to living with household members Ref., Reference.

TABLE 3 Measuring the moderating effect of outdoor activities on living arrangements and depressive symptoms.

Interaction group	Total (%)	В	SE	AOR	95%CI	Р
Living with household members × Have outdoor activities	6733 (55.19)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Living with household members $\times \mathrm{No}$ outdoor activities	3014 (24.70)	0.226	0.062	1.254	1.11-1.41	< 0.001
Living alone ×Have outdoor activities	1534 (12.57)	0.196	0.081	1.216	1.04-1.43	0.015
Living alone ×No outdoor activities	516 (4.29)	0.527	0.116	1.694	1.35-2.13	< 0.001
Living in elderly institution ×Have outdoor activities	222 (1.82)	0.143	0.179	1.153	0.81-1.64	0.426
Living in elderly institution $\times \mathrm{No}$ outdoor activities	181 (1.48)	0.715	0.178	2.044	1.44-2.90	< 0.001

controlling for age, Hukou status, gender, living location, marital status, household income, years of schooling, number of chronic diseases, disability. B, regression coefficient; SE, standard error; AOR, adjusted odds rate.

associated with elders' depressive symptoms (33, 34). All evidence suggested that living with household members was a protective factor against depressive symptoms. In addition, this study's results suggested a 34.2% prevalence of depressive symptoms among the elderly living in Chinese eldercare institutions. The mental health issues of this population have gradually aroused the interest of researchers in other countries and regions. Previous studies from Taiwan, Brazil, and the United States also reported a high prevalence of depression in this population (36–54.8%) (35–37). However, no empirical study had reported the risk of depressive symptoms among older adults choosing to enroll in eldercare institutions than other living arrangements, based on this study's rigorous literature search.

China currently faces a huge demand for elderly care services, which will gradually grow with the increasingly severe issue of population aging and the shortage of family caregivers

(from 1982 to 2016, China had the peculiar 4-2-1 family structure where a couple could only have one child) (38). However, this study's results revealed that eldercare institutions are not a good alternative for the mental health of the elderly. In fact, the risk of depressive symptoms among the elderly living in eldercare institutions was 1.41 times higher than that among those living with household members. Differences in the depressive risk for different living arrangements could be explained or speculated for the following reasons. First, the traditional family-centered culture in China makes the elderly reluctant to leave their familiar house (even if they live alone) (39). A study conducted in the Zhejiang Province (China) discovered that only 3.8% of elderly adults were willing to enroll in an eldercare facility. This change in the living environment and their rejection psychology (maybe a stigma (13)) might be potential risk factors for depressive symptoms. Second, the noise pollution, crowding, and cramped indoor



activity spaces of some eldercare institutions in China might contribute to the depressive symptoms of older adults. Some Chinese eldercare institutions face severe noise pollution and the lack of adequate indoor activity space because of irrational site selection and renovations from other-use buildings (40, 41). Moreover, several community eldercare institutions arrange for multiple people to live in one room. This lack of personal privacy and noisy space reduces the elderly people's quality of sleep. In previous investigations, these negative factors were found to be significantly associated with depressive symptoms (42, 43). Third, many elderly Chinese people regard living in an eldercare institution as "the last journey in their lives." As the older adults around them die one after another, they feel like there is a countdown to their lives, making them pessimistic (44). Fourth, some eldercare institutions in China lack functional mental health services, and the caregivers working in these institutions hardly pay attention to the clients' mental health in their daily work. This deficiency is directly related to the shortage, old age, and low education level of the caregivers (45).

A key finding of this study suggested that outdoor activities, as a moderator between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms, reduced and eliminated the risk of depressive symptoms associated with older Chinese adults living alone and in eldercare institutions, respectively. Previous empirical studies have proven that outdoor activities were an effective measure for preventing depressive symptoms (46, 47). This study did not thoroughly explore the mechanisms of the moderating effect of outdoor activities between living arrangements and depression. However, the mechanism by which outdoor activities ameliorates depression is relatively clear. It can be viewed as a blend of strategies that include environmental factors (bright light, fresh air, green space, and ample space for activity), individual factors (increased physical activity), and social factors (increased socialization) (16, 17). This study included the types of outdoor activities that are generally preferred by the elderly in China, such as Tai Chi and square dancing, among others. Tai Chi is a way of improving immunity in traditional Chinese medicine. A systematic review and meta-analysis pooling 37 relevant randomized controlled trials showed that Tai Chi interventions exerted beneficial effects for various populations with regard to depressive symptoms (48). Tai Chi is a series of meditative movements. An earlier study demonstrated that meditation can alleviate several stress-related emotional symptoms by activating the parasympathetic nervous system (49). Similarly, square dancing reduced depressive symptoms in older adults, which has also been reported in previous intervention studies (50). Square dancing may reduce depression risk through socialization and exercises. Although this study advocated that elderly people living alone or in eldercare institutions should actively participate in outdoor activities to prevent depressive symptoms, it should also be remembered that each elder adult needs to select suitable activities according to their health status (because some patients are advised not to participate in outdoor activities).

This study had several limitations. First, it did not consider how long participants had lived alone or in eldercare institutions. This provision might interfere with this study's results as the risk of depressive symptoms may differ among participants with different event durations. Second, it did not categorize the outdoor activities the participants engaged in, which would affect the interpretation of the results. Third, the older people in this study living in eldercare intuitions accounted for only 3.3% of the total sample (403 cases), which may have biased the results. However, this study used a comprehensive analysis to avoid these biases.

## Practical implications

This study's results have practical implications for Chinese governments and organizers of future eldercare institutions in selecting the building sites and planning the internal organization and work content settings. First, the caregivers of the institutions should encourage and organize the elderly to participate in outdoor activities and cultivate their interests in some outdoor activities. Second, prioritizing the locations of eldercare institutions away from commercial areas and close to parks and squares can reduce the exposure of the elderly to noise pollution and facilitate their participation in outdoor activities. Third, eldercare institutions should pay more attention to the mental health of older adults and should not limit their services to physical care; they can do this, for example, by setting up psychological counseling rooms. Fourth, those who make the designs of the internal environments of the eldercare institutions should consider the characteristics of the elderly as much as possible; for example, they should plan for bright light, quietness, personal privacy protection, and sufficient indoor activity space.

## Conclusion

This study suggests that the elderly living alone and those living in eldercare institutions are significantly more likely to have depressive symptoms than those living with household members. In addition, outdoor activities play a moderating role between different living arrangements and depressive symptoms. In future work, community or eldercare institution staff need to encourage older people, especially those living alone or in eldercare institutions, to actively participate in the outdoor activities suitable for them.

## Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://opendata.pku.edu.cn/dataverse/CHADS.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Biomedical Ethics Review Committee of Peking University(IRB00001052–13074). The patients/participants

# References

1. Boccardi V. Population ageing: the need for a care revolution in a world 2 0. *Geriatrics (Basel).* (2019) 4:47. doi: 10.3390/geriatrics4030047

2. National Bureau of Statistics of China. *Statistical Communiqué of the People's Republic of China on National Economic and Social Development in 2021.* (2022). Available online at: http://www.stats.gov.cn/xxgk/sjfb/zxfb2020/202202/ t20220228\_1827971.html (accessed May 20, 2022).

3. Wu L, Huang Z, Pan Z. The spatiality and driving forces of population ageing in China. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e243559. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243559

4. Chang AY, Skirbekk VF, Tyrovolas S, Kassebaum NJ, Dieleman JL. Measuring population ageing: an analysis of the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet Public Health.* (2019) 4:e159–67. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30 019-2

5. Li R, Cheng X, Schwebel DC, Yang Y, Ning P, Cheng P, et al. Disability-adjusted life years associated with population ageing in China, 1990-2017. *BMC Geriatr.* (2021) 21:369. doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02322-7

6. Malhi GS, Mann JJ. Depression. Lancet. (2018) 392:2299– 312. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2 provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

RX and CX designed the study and assessed the quality of the studies and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. YL and RX conducted data analysis. CX monitored article quality and language polish. YL, YY, and TM extracted the data from CLHLS according to the inclusion criteria and proofread these data. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.954416/full#supplementary-material

7. Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B. Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the world health surveys. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:851–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61415-9

8. Jiang C, Zhu F, Qin T. Relationships between chronic diseases and depression among middle-aged and elderly people in China: a prospective study from CHARLS. *Current Med Sci.* (2020) 40:858–70. doi: 10.1007/s11596-020-2270-5

9. Ma Y, Xiang Q, Yan C, Liao H, Wang J. Relationship between chronic diseases and depression: the mediating effect of pain. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:436. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03428-3

10. Van Orden KA, Conwell Y. Issues in research on aging and suicide. Aging Ment Health. (2015) 20:240-51. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2015.1065791

11. Zhou L, Ma X, Wang W. Relationship between cognitive performance and depressive symptoms in Chinese older adults: the China Health and Retirement Longitudinal Study (CHARLS). J Affect Disorders. (2021) 281:454– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.059

12. State Council of China. The 14th Five-Year Plan for the Development of National Aging and Elderly Care Service System. (2022). Available online at:

http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2022-02/21/content\_5674844.htm (accessed May 20, 2022).

13. Lou M, Xue Y, Zhang S, Dong Y, Mo D, Dong W, et al. What factors influence older people's intention to enrol in nursing homes? a cross-sectional observational study in Shanghai, China. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e21741. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021741

14. Xiaohua C, Jing L, Shuangyan W, Xin L, Pushiyi H, Chenxi M. Mental health of the elderly under different elderly care models. *Ch J Gerontol.* (2018) 38:2013–4. (In Chinese).

15. Ma T. Environmental Psychology and Psychological Environment. Beijing: National Defense Industry Press. (1996).

16. Min K, Kim H, Kim H, Min J. Parks and green areas and the risk for depression and suicidal indicators. *Int J Public Health.* (2017) 62:647–56. doi: 10.1007/s00038-017-0958-5

17. Tao L, Jiang R, Zhang K, Qian Z, Chen P, Lv Y, et al. Light therapy in non-seasonal depression: an update meta-analysis. *Psychiat Res.* (2020) 291:113247. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113247

18. Thompson R, Fisher HL, Dewa LH, Hussain T, Kabba Z, Toledano MB. Adolescents' thoughts and feelings about the local and global environment: a qualitative interview study. *Child Adol Ment H-Uk.* (2022) 27:4–13. doi: 10.1111/camh.12520

19. Coppen A, Shaw DM, Malleson A. Changes in 5-hydroxytryptophan metabolism in depression. *Brit J Psychiat.* (1965) 111:105–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.111.470.105

20. Wilson WM, Marsden CA. *In vivo* measurement of extracellular serotonin in the ventral hippocampus during treadmill running. *Behav Pharmacol.* (1996) 7:101–4. doi: 10.1097/00008877-199601000-00011

21. Liu Y, Hu J, Liu J. Social support and depressive symptoms among adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic: the mediating roles of loneliness and meaning in life. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:e916898. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.916898

22. Zeng Y, Feng Q, Hesketh T, Christensen K, Vaupel JW. Survival, disabilities in activities of daily living, and physical and cognitive functioning among the oldest-old in China: a cohort study. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:1619–29. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30548-2

23. Christensen K, Thinggaard M, Oksuzyan A, Steenstrup T, Andersen-Ranberg K, Jeune B, et al. Physical and cognitive functioning of people older than 90 years: a comparison of two Danish cohorts born 10 years apart. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:1507–13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60777-1

24. Andresen EM, Malmgren JA, Carter WB, Patrick DL. Screening for depression in well older adults: evaluation of a short form of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale). *Am J Prev Med.* (1994) 10:77–84. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(18)30622-6

25. Huang Q, Wang X, Chen G. Reliability and validity of 10 - item CES - D among middle aged and older adults in China. *Chin J Health Psychol.* (2015) 23:1036–41. doi: 10.13342/j.cnki.cjhp.2015.07.023

26. Huang G, Duan Y, Guo F, Chen G. Prevalence and related influencing factors of depression symptoms among empty-nest older adults in China. *Arch Gerontol Geriat.* (2020) 91:104183. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2020.104183

27. Jiang H, Burström B, Chen J, Burström K. Rural-Urban inequalities in poor self-rated health, self-reported functional disabilities, and depression among Chinese older adults: evidence from the china health and retirement longitudinal study 2011 and 2015. *Int J Env Res Pub He.* (2021) 18:6557. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18126557

28. Lu J, Xu X, Huang Y, Li T, Ma C, Xu G, et al. Prevalence of depressive disorders and treatment in China: a cross-sectional epidemiological study. *Lancet Psychiat.* (2021) 8:981–90. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00251-0

29. Mu T, Xu R, Xu J, Dong D, Zhou Z, Dai J, et al. Association between self-care disability and depressive symptoms among middle-aged and elderly Chinese people. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e266950. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 66950

30. Kim YB, Lee SH. Gender Differences in the relationship between Living alone and depressive symptoms in elderly Korean adults. *Iran J Public Health.* (2019) 48:465–73. doi: 10.18502/ijph.v48i3.890

31. Honjo K, Tani Y, Saito M, Sasaki Y, Kondo K, Kawachi I, et al. Living alone or with others and depressive symptoms, and effect modification by residential social cohesion among older adults in Japan: the JAGES longitudinal study. *J Epidemiol.* (2018) 28:315–22. doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20170065

32. Ge L, Yap CW, Ong R, Heng BH. Social isolation, loneliness and their relationships with depressive symptoms: a population-based study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e182145. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 82145

33. Ogawa K, Shirai K, Nozaki S, Shikimoto R, Sawada N, Mimura M, et al. The association between midlife living arrangement and psychiatrist-diagnosed depression in later life: who among your family members reduces the risk of depression? *Transl Psychiatry*. (2022) 12:156. doi: 10.1038/s41398-022-01880-7

34. Yea M, Chen Y. The influence of domestic living arrangement and neighborhood identity on mental health among urban Chinese elders. *Aging Ment Health.* (2014) 18:40–50. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2013.837142

35. Pithon KR, Jesus de, Souto CS, Souza SJN, et al. Depressive symptoms and associated factors in elderly long-term care residents Sintomas depressivos e fatores associados em idosos residentes em instituição de longa permanência. *Cien Saude Colet.* (2019) 24:3275–82. doi: 10.1590/1413-81232018249.30942017

36. Ulbricht CM, Hunnicutt JN, Hume AL, Lapane KL. Depression, anxiety, and pain among newly admitted nursing home residents. *J Nurs Home Res Sci.* (2019). doi: 10.14283/jnhrs.2019.8

37. Tsai Y. Self-Care management and risk factors for depressive symptoms among elderly nursing home residents in Taiwan. *J Pain Symptom Manag.* (2006) 32:140–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2006.02.008

38. Chu L, Chi I. Nursing homes in China. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2008) 9:237-43. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2008.01.008

39. Yuhuan W. Analysis for cause of the disability old people aid to Xinjiang choose long-term home care. *Population Develop*. (2013) 19:72–8. (In Chinese).

40. Yang Z, Jiang Y, Wang M, Zeng H. Current status and challenges of community-based elderly care centers in chongqing, china: a cross-sectional study. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. (2020) 13:2975–83. doi: 10.2147/RMHP.S283145

41. Jing W. Analysis on the mental health problems of the elderly in welfare homes and the advantages of social work intervention. *Soc Public Welfare*. (2020) 11:169. (In Chinese).

42. Franzen PL, Buysse DJ. Sleep disturbances and depression: risk relationships for subsequent depression and therapeutic implications. *Dialogues Clin Neuro*. (2008) 10:473–81. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2008.10.4/plfranzen

43. Rautio N, Filatova S, Lehtiniemi H, Miettunen J. Living environment and its relationship to depressive mood: a systematic review. *Int J Soc Psychiatr.* (2018) 64:92–103. doi: 10.1177/0020764017744582

44. Abdel Khalek AM, Dadfar M, Lester D. Death depression in Egyptian clinical and non-clinical groups. *Nurs Open*. (2021) 8:48–53. doi: 10.1002/nop2.601

45. Rui C, Ning R, Ning G, Xueni F, Min L, Jianxin D, et al. Investigation and problem an analysis of nursing staff in elderly care institutions in Zhejiang province. *Chin General Pract Nurs.* (2019) 17:4113–7. (In Chinese).

46. Xu Y, Qi J, Yang Y, Wen X. The contribution of lifestyle factors to depressive symptoms: a cross-sectional study in Chinese college students. *Psychiat Res.* (2016) 245:243–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.03.009

47. Fortier M, McFadden T, Faulkner G. Evidence-based recommendations to assist adults with depression to become lifelong movers. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* (2020) 40:299–308. doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.40.10.01

48. Wang F, Lee EO, Wu T, Benson H, Fricchione G, Wang W, et al. The effects of Tai Chi on depression, anxiety, and psychological well-being: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Behav Med.* (2014) 21:605–17. doi: 10.1007/s12529-013-9351-9

49. Yeung A, Chan J, Cheung JC, Zou L. Qigong and Tai-Chi for mood regulation. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ).* (2018) 16:40–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20170042

50. Chang J, Chen Y, Liu C, Yong L, Yang M, Zhu W, et al. Effect of square dance exercise on older women with mild mental disorders. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:699778. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.699778

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Amira Mohammed Ali, Alexandria University, Egypt

#### REVIEWED BY Abid Hasan Khan, Jahangirnagar University, Bangladesh Rati Khurana, IILM Institute for Higher Education, India

\*CORRESPONDENCE Yi Xu xuyizju@zju.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 29 April 2022 ACCEPTED 15 July 2022 PUBLISHED 12 August 2022

#### CITATION

Alam MD, Abedin MJ, Islam A, Mosfeq-Ul-Hasan M, Rahman O and Xu Y (2022) Psychological effects and associated factors among vaccinated and unvaccinated general population against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:916160. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.916160

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Alam, Abedin, Islam, Mosfeq-Ul-Hasan, Rahman and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Psychological effects and associated factors among vaccinated and unvaccinated general population against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh

# Md. Dhedharul Alam<sup>1,2</sup>, Md. Joynal Abedin<sup>3</sup>, Asraful Islam<sup>4</sup>, Md. Mosfeq-Ul-Hasan<sup>5</sup>, Obaydur Rahman<sup>6</sup> and Yi Xu<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup>The Key Laboratory of Mental Disorder Management in Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Population Sciences, University of Dhaka, Dhaka, Bangladesh, <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychology, Jagannath University, Dhaka, Bangladesh, <sup>5</sup>Examination Controller Section, Hajee Mohammad Danesh Science and Technology University, Dinajpur, Bangladesh, <sup>6</sup>Department of Physics, Mawlana Bhashani Science and Technology University, Tangail, Bangladesh

**Background:** The global effort to develop herd immunity in the general public against the COVID-19 pandemic is currently ongoing. However, to the best of our knowledge, there have been no studies on how the COVID-19 vaccine affects mental health in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh. The present study investigated the psychological effects and associated factors among vaccinated and unvaccinated general populations against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh.

**Methods:** A nationwide online cross-sectional survey was conducted in Bangladesh from June 23 to December 25, 2021. The frequency of symptoms of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), insomnia, and fear was assessed using the Bangla versions of the GHQ-12, PHQ-2, GAD-2, PSS-4, PC-PTSD-5, ISI, and FCV-19S scales, respectively.

**Results:** The study included 3,013 persons from all eight divisions of Bangladesh, with 1,272 (42.2%) being vaccinated and 1,741 (57.8%) being unvaccinated. Compared with unvaccinated populations, vaccinated populations had significantly lower prevalence rates of psychological distress (36.4 vs. 51.5%), depression (21.1 vs. 37.9%), anxiety (25.1 vs. 44.9%), stress (19.4 vs. 30.4%), PTSD (29.4 vs. 38.3%), insomnia (18.7 vs. 39.4%), and fear symptoms (16.1 vs. 27.5%). Among vaccinated populations, respondents who lived in nuclear families were significantly associated with higher risk of psychological distress (AOR, 1.38; 95% CI, 1.09–1.78), depression (AOR, 1.49; 95% CI, 1.11–1.98), anxiety (AOR, 1.77; 95% CI, 1.21–1.98), and fear (AOR, 1.43; 95% CI, 1.11–1.83) symptoms. Participants who lost family members, friends, or colleagues due to the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly higher risk of symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 1.35; 95% CI, 1.02–1.79), anxiety (AOR, 1.41;

95% CI, 1.11–1.87), and PTSD (AOR, 1.76; 95% CI, 1.24–2.19). On the other hand, unvaccinated populations who lived in the Dhaka division were significantly associated with an increased risk of depression (AOR, 2.06; 95% CI, 1.40–2.52), anxiety (AOR, 1.86; 95% CI, 1.15–2.47), stress (AOR, 1.92; 95% CI, 1.12–2.88), and insomnia (AOR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.20–2.94) symptoms. Except for PTSD and fear symptoms, unemployed participants had considerably higher rates of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, and insomnia symptoms (e.g., psychological distress: AOR, 1.83; 95% CI, 1.10–2.62; depression: AOR, 1.74; 95% CI, 1.37–2.19).

**Conclusions:** This study recommends immunizing unvaccinated populations as soon as possible to prevent infection and boost mental health. Vulnerable people needed special care, health-related education, and psychological assistance.

KEYWORDS

Bangladesh, COVID-19, general populations, immunization, psychological effects, refusal, uptake

## Introduction

Since the commencement of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in 2019, more than 536 million people from 225 countries have been infected with the virus. Approximately 6.3 million people passed away (as of June 19, 2022) (1). To prevent the epidemic from spreading further, all governments have established mandatory measures including containment, quarantine, community control, and business and school closures (2-4). As a result of this large-scale contagious public health calamity and significant disruptions in daily life, people are under a lot of stress. They are experiencing a lot of mental health problems (5). In previous epidemiological studies, survivors of the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), middle east respiratory syndrome (MERS), and Ebola virus disease (EVD) outbreaks reported depression, anxiety, negative psychological repercussions, panic attacks, psychomotor excitement, psychotic symptoms, loneliness, boredom, delirium, and even suicidal tendencies (6-9). According to a recent comprehensive review study, the prevalence of depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms among SARS survivors were 19, 20, and 28%, respectively (10).

However, the estimates of psychological problems among the general public are higher than those for regular periods during the COVID-19 pandemic (11, 12). A recent systematic review of global (including 32 different countries and 398,771 participants) prevalence of mental health issues in the general population showed prevalence's of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, PTSD, and sleep problems, at 50.0, 28.0, 26.9, 36.5, 24.1, and 27.6%, respectively (13). Another review study included 82 studies with a total of 96,100 participants showed that the overall prevalence of depression (23.9%), anxiety (23.4%), stress (14.2%), distress (16.0%), PTSD (24.9%), insomnia (26.5%), and poor mental health (26.5%) during the SARS and COVID-19 epidemics (14). Bangladesh, a densely populated and resource-limited country is confronted with widespread devastation and serious psychological issues during the COVID-19 outbreak (15). The first COVID-19 case was reported in Bangladesh on March 8, 2020, and as of June 19, 2022, the country had 1.95 million verified COVID-19 cases and 29,131 deaths (Supplementary Figures S1, S2) (16). Bangladesh is among the top 32 countries contributing to 0.56% of the COVID-19 cases in the world.

Like many countries, Bangladesh has employed various tactics to limit the spread of COVID-19, including lockdown, social distancing, self-isolation, and quarantine (17). The government announced a nationwide lockdown from March 26 to May 30, 2020, which was extended seven times (18, 19). In addition, until August 31, 2020, the government has imposed limits on public activities and movement across the country to prevent the spread of COVID-19 (20). As a result of the virus's ongoing spread and pandemic-related limits, the general public is progressively experiencing various types of psychological distress. According to previous studies, many people acquired psychological symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic, including depression, anxiety, stress, panic attacks, sleep problems, and even suicidal ideation (21-23). During the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, a statewide survey of 1,427 persons in Bangladesh found that 57.9% of participants experienced depression, 33.7% had anxiety, and 59.7% had stress (24).

Vaccination has quickly emerged as an important strategy for prevention in the current COVID-19 pandemic. High

82

vaccination coverage rates are necessary to protect the entire population indirectly. The global economy will reopen, and society will resume its regular routines, which is especially important given the present COVID-19 pandemic (25). High vaccination rates are also required to develop herd immunity, which minimizes COVID-19 transmission and infection risk in the general population and those most vulnerable to illness (26, 27). It has been estimated between 55 and 82% of populations would need to be vaccinated to reach herd immunity for COVID-19, depending on varying biological, environmental, socio-behavioral factors and infection rates within each country (28). Vaccine hesitancy, described as delayed acceptance, hesitation, or refusal of vaccination despite the availability of vaccination services, is a barrier to establishing herd immunity (27, 29).

The World Health Organization's strategy for achieving universal COVID-19 vaccination by mid-2022 lays out the path we must all take together to meet the goals of vaccinating 40% of the population of each country by the end of 2021 and 70% by the middle of 2022 (30). Bangladesh started distributing COVID-19 vaccinations on January 27, 2021, with bulk immunization beginning on February 7, 2021, and the second dosage starting on April 8, 2021. As of June 19, 2022, the number of first doses administered in Bangladesh exceeds 128,943,393 (75.7% of the total population), and the number of second doses administered exceeds 118,629,297 (69.7% of the total population) (Supplementary Figure S3) (31). With such a large number of volunteers being vaccinated, their psychological wellbeing should be examined as well. Even though COVID-19 vaccinations are safe for most persons over the age of 18, uncommon adverse effects still occur. After immunization, moderate side effects such as arm discomfort, slight fever, weariness, and headaches have been noted (32, 33). Furthermore, vaccine efficacy had not been well-validated in the general public before mass immunizations, and controversy about efficacy lingered even among those vaccinated (34).

A nationally representative Understanding America Study (UAS) of 8,003 adults in the United States discovered that people experienced lower distress levels after receiving the first dose of the COVID vaccination (35). Another study conducted in China discovered that stress levels dramatically lowered after vaccination (36). Moreover, a study conducted among 1,779 adults in Germany between January 1, 2021, to January 11, 2021, showed that COVID-19 vaccination could positively correlate with COVID-19-related anxiety and fears (37). Furthermore, a survey of 250 Jordanians who received their first dose of the COVID-19 vaccine by Al-Amer et al. (38) revealed that the vaccine is a source of distress for those who receive it for the first time, with higher levels of stress and anxiety after vaccination among those who experienced normal levels of anxiety before vaccination. Individuals with certain conditions (e.g., chronic disease such as psoriasis) as well as those intensively exposed to vaccine-related conspiracy

beliefs may develop distress symptoms following vaccination. However, to our knowledge, there have been no studies on the psychological effects of COVID-19 vaccination among both vaccinated and unvaccinated general populations in Bangladesh yet. Therefore, we conducted a cross-sectional nationwide survey to assess the psychological effects and associated factors among the vaccinated and unvaccinated general population against SARS-CoV-2 infection in Bangladesh. The goal of this study opted to examine the prevalence of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, PTSD, insomnia, and fear symptoms among the vaccinated and unvaccinated people against SARS-CoV-2 infection in Bangladesh and explored its contributing factors. This research will add to our understanding, describe, and address the general public's change in psychological effects after receiving the COVID-19 vaccine. It may also assist the government and policymakers in providing comprehensive and accurate information to those who are hesitant or resistant to vaccination and boost their confidence in the ongoing vaccination campaign.

## Materials and methods

## Study design

A cross-sectional design was utilized to perform this study. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Department of Psychology, Jagannath University, Dhaka, Bangladesh (JnU/DoP/206021), and the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China (IIT20220190B). The criteria for inclusion were as follows: (1) possessing the following requirements: being at least 18 years old, (2) residing in Bangladesh at the time of the COVID-19, (3) being willing to participate in this study by providing online informed consent, (4) completing the entire questionnaire, (5) not having a history of mental health issues, and (6) getting the second dose of the COVID-19 vaccines.

### Participants

The sample size was calculated using OpenEpi software. A prior investigation of the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak in Bangladesh discovered that about half of the people had psychological issues (24). This 50% proportion would provide maximum variance and sample size. At 95% confidence level, 80% power, and 2.5 design effect, we arrived at a sample size of 960. The estimated sample was 1,920, assuming an equal number of respondents (n = 960) in the vaccinated and unvaccinated subsamples. However, assuming a non-response rate of 10%, the final sample size decided in the current study was 2,112, with 1,056 respondents in each subsample.

## Procedure

A nationwide online study using Google Forms and the Bangla language was done from June 23 to December 25, 2021. The goal of this study was mentioned on the first page of the online form, and all participants' consent was ensured on that page. The five research assistants distributed the poll link via email, Facebook, Viber, WhatsApp, Imo, and other social media sites. Participants were encouraged to complete the form and share the link with their networks to reach a larger audience. The five research assistants used convenient and snowball sampling to circulate the survey link throughout their professional and social networks. Participants were instructed that participating in the study was completely voluntary and that they should share the survey link with their colleagues or friends once they finished it. All participants were given assurances about the privacy and confidentiality of their information and the ability to have their data removed at any time. The current study received a total of 3,064 responses at the onset. After screening, 51 responses were eliminated due to incomplete information, the first dose vaccinated, under 18 years old, and being outside of Bangladesh. Finally, responses from 3,013 general populations were included in this study. A total of 3,013 Bangladeshi people completed the questionnaire, with 1,272 (42.2%) vaccinated and 1,741 (57.8%) unvaccinated.

#### Measurements

# Demographic, health, and COVID-19-related information

The participant's sex (male or female), age (18-29, 30-39, 40–49, 50–59 or  $\geq$ 60 years), divisions (Dhaka, Chittagong, Barisal, Khulna, Rajshahi, Rangpur, Mymensingh, or Sylhet), residence (urban or rural), nature of family (nuclear or joint), educational level (college/below or university/higher) were selfreported demographic characteristics. Participants were asked about their status of marriage, whether or not they had children, occupation (student, unemployed, employed, businessman, housewife, or other), and socioeconomic status (lower, middle or upper class). In addition, participants were also asked to provide health, behavior, and COVID-19-related information (yes or no). Such as daily physical exercise, smoking habit, current alcohol drinking behavior, daily social media use, whether participants had been infected with COVID-19, whether anyone in their family members, friends, or colleagues had been infected with COVID-19, and whether anyone in their family members, friends, or colleagues had died from COVID-19.

#### General health questionnaire

The Bangla version of the twelve-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) (39, 40) evaluates psychological distress on a four-point Likert scale, with "1" defining never and "4" defining frequently. For a full score of 0 to 12, each item can be assigned a value of 0 (if option 1 or 2) or 1 (if options 3 and 4). An overall score  $\geq$  3 indicates a clinically significant level of poor mental health status. Its reliability in the current sample is very good (coefficient alpha = 0.80).

## Patient health questionnaire

The Bangla version of the two-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2) (41, 42) evaluates depression symptoms rated on a four-point Likert scale, with "1" defining never and "4" defining almost every day. The total score ranges from 0 to 6. An overall score  $\geq$  3 indicates a clinically significant level of depression. Its reliability in the present study is acceptable (coefficient alpha = 0.72).

#### Generalized anxiety disorder scale

The Bangla version of the two-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder scale (GAD-2) (43, 44) evaluates anxiety symptoms on a four-point Likert scale, with "1" defining never and "4" defining almost every day. The total score ranges from 0 to 6. An overall score  $\geq$  3 indicates a clinically significant level of anxiety. Its reliability in the current sample is very good (coefficient alpha = 0.84).

#### Perceived stress scale

The Bangla version of the four-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4) (45, 46) evaluates stress symptoms on a fourpoint Likert scale, with "1" defining never and "4" defining always. The total score ranges from 0 to 16. An overall score  $\geq$  9 indicates a clinically significant level of stress. Its reliability in the present study is acceptable (coefficient alpha = 0.71).

#### Primary care PTSD screen for DSM-5

The Bangla version of the five-item Primary Care PTSD Screen for DSM-5 (PC-PTSD-5) (47, 48) evaluates post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms over the past month by asking five binary questions about re-experiencing, avoidance, physiological reactions, emotional numbness, and trauma-distorted guilt and blame thoughts. This scale was previously used in a Bangladeshi study. The total score ranges from 1 to 5. An overall score  $\geq$  3 indicates a clinically significant level of post-traumatic stress disorder. Its reliability in the current sample is acceptable (coefficient alpha = 0.75).

#### Insomnia severity index

The Bangla version of the seven-item Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (49, 50) evaluates the severity of insomnia on a fivepoint Likert scale, with "0" defining no problem and "4" defining a major problem. The total score ranges from 0 to 28. An overall score  $\geq 8$  indicates a clinically significant level of insomnia. Its reliability in the present study is acceptable (coefficient alpha = 0.74).

### Fear of COVID-19 scale

The Bangla version of the seven-item Fear of COVID-19 Scale (FCV-19S) (51, 52) evaluates the level of fear associated with COVID-19 on a five-point Likert scale, with "1" defining strongly disagree and "5" defining strongly agree. The total score ranges from 7 to 35. An overall score  $\geq$  18 indicates a clinically significant level of COVID-19-related fear. Its reliability in the current sample is very good (coefficient alpha = 0.89).

### Oslo social support scale

The Bangla version of the three-item Oslo Social Support Scale (OSSS-3) evaluates respondents' social support (48, 53). The sum score ranges from 3 to 14, with high values representing strong levels and low values representing poor levels of social support. Social support has been leveled as poor, moderate, or strong based on a score of 3–8, 9–11, or 12–14. The reliability of the OSSS-3 in this study is acceptable (coefficient alpha = 0.79).

## Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were run by SPSS version 20.0, and figures were prepared in GraphPad Prism version 9. Categorical data was represented using numbers and percentages. To compare categorical variable variations between groups, Chi-square tests were used. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, the Shapiro-Wilk test, and normal Q-Q plots were used to determine the data's normality. The median of the interquartile range (IQR) of data from non-normal distributions was shown. When comparing non-normally distributed data between two groups, the Mann-Whitney U-test was used, and when comparing data between more than two groups, the Kruskal-Wallis-test was used. Spearman correlations were used to compare the psychological effects of vaccinated and unvaccinated populations. In addition, binary logistic regression analysis was used to examine potential predictors of psychological effects in both groups. The model fitness test was checked using the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness of fit test. All of the variables were added in the univariate analysis. Then the multivariate analysis only included the significant variables in the univariate analysis after controlling for confounders (e.g., sex, age, divisions, residence, etc.). For a single predictor,

univariate analysis expressed as crude odds ratio (COR) was used, while multivariate analysis expressed as adjusted odds ratio (AOR) was used for multiple predictors, and psychological effects were considered dependent variables. All analyses were conducted at a 95% confidence level, with *p*-values equal to or <0.05 considered significant.

## Results

# Demographic, health, and COVID-19-related characteristics

Finally, 3,013 general populations were enrolled in our study, with 1,272 (42.2%) being vaccinated and 1,741 (57.8%) being unvaccinated. The demographic, health, and COVID-19related characteristics of the study participants are shown in Table 1. Vaccinated populations were significantly more likely to be Dhaka division (56.8 vs. 28.9%, p = 0.00), be married (75.5 vs. 65.8%, p = 0.00), having children (48.3 vs. 38.1%, p = 0.00), smoke (33.5 vs. 24.0%, p = 0.00), have chronic diseases (31.1 vs. 7.9%, p = 0.00), daily social media used (43.3 vs. 29.4%, p = 0.00), be infected with COVID-19 (39.5 vs. 26.3%, p = 0.00), have family members, friends, or colleagues infected with COVID-19 (45.8 vs. 32.1%, p = 0.00), have family members, friends, or colleagues died from COVID-19 (32.2 vs. 24.6%, p = 0.00), and moderate social support (60.9 vs. 45.1%, p = 0.00) than unvaccinated populations. On the other hand, unvaccinated populations were significantly more likely to be male (66.2 vs. 56.4%, p = 0.00), 30-39 years old (60.0 vs. 58.8%, p = 0.00), and have a joint family (64.9 vs. 60.5%, p= 0.02) than vaccinated populations. However, there were no significant differences between the vaccinated and unvaccinated populations in terms of residence (p = 0.06), education level (p = 0.06), occupation (p = 0.17), socioeconomic status (p = 0.17)0.61), physical exercise (p = 0.52), and current alcohol drinking behavior (p = 0.18).

## Scores of psychological effects

Table 2 shows the median of the IQR of psychological effects scores in vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection. When compared to unvaccinated populations, vaccinated populations had significantly lower median of the IQR of scores for depression (1.0 [1.0–2.0] vs. 3.0 [1.0–4.0]; p = 0.00), anxiety (2.0 [1.0–3.0] vs. 3.0 [1.0–4.0]; p = 0.00), stress (1.0 [7.0–8.0] vs. 6.0 [4.0–10.0]; p = 0.00), insomnia (3.0 [4.0–7.0] vs. 7.0 [4.0–11.0]; p = 0.00), and fear (7.0 [9.0–16.0] vs. 10.0 [9.0–19.0]; p = 0.01) symptoms, but significantly same median of the IQR of scores for psychological distress symptoms. However, the IQR of scores for PTSD symptoms

Characteristics	Total ( <i>n</i> = 3,013)	Vaccinated population (n = 1,272)	Unvaccinated population ( $n = 1,741$ )	χ <sup>2</sup>	df	<i>p</i> -value
	No. (%)	No. (%)	No. (%)			
Sex						
Male	1,870 (62.1)	718 (56.4)	1,152 (66.2)	29.50	1	0.00
Female	1,143 (37.9)	554 (43.6)	589 (33.8)			
Age, y						
18-29	448 (14.9)	166 (13.1)	282 (16.2)	14.26	4	0.00
30-39	1,792 (59.5)	748 (58.8)	1,044 (60.0)			
40-49	647 (21.5)	293 (23.0)	354 (20.3)			
50-59	96 (3.2)	53 (4.2)	43 (2.5)			
≥60	30 (1.0)	12 (0.9)	18 (1.0)			
Divisions of Bangladesh						
Dhaka	1,226 (40.7)	722 (56.8)	504 (28.9)	254.93	7	0.00
Chittagong	415 (13.8)	152 (11.9)	263 (15.1)			
Barisal	294 (9.8)	80 (6.3)	214 (12.3)			
Khulna	365 (12.1)	129 (10.1)	236 (13.6)			
Rajshahi	196 (6.5)	50 (3.9)	146 (8.4)			
Rangpur	221 (7.3)	56 (4.4)	165 (9.5)			
Mymensingh	115 (3.8)	25 (2.0)	90 (5.2)			
Sylhet	181 (6.0)	58 (4.6)	123 (7.1)			
Residence						
Urban	1,805 (59.9)	737 (57.9)	1,068 (61.3)	3.54	1	0.06
Rural	1,208 (40.1)	535 (42.1)	673 (38.7)			
Family type						
Nuclear	1,114 (37.0)	503 (39.5)	611 (35.1)	6.24	1	0.02
Joint	1,899 (63.0)	769 (60.5)	1,130 (64.9)			
Education level						
College/below	1,069 (35.5)	427 (33.6)	642 (36.9)	3.51	1	0.06
University/higher	1,944 (64.5)	845 (66.4)	1,099 (63.1)			
Marital status						
Single	716 (23.8)	258 (20.3)	458 (26.3)	36.76	2	0.00
Married	2,105 (69.9)	960 (75.5)	1,145 (65.8)			
Divorced/separated/widowed	192 (6.4)	54 (4.2)	138 (7.9)			
Having children						
Yes	1,279 (42.4)	615 (48.3)	664 (38.1)	31.36	1	0.00
No	1,734 (57.6)	657 (51.7)	1,077 (61.9)			
Occupation						
Student	227 (7.5)	103 (8.1)	124 (7.1)	7.76	5	0.17
Unemployed	156 (5.2)	72 (5.7)	84 (4.8)			
Employed	1,587 (52.7)	652 (51.3)	935 (53.7)			
Businessman	347 (11.5)	143 (11.2)	204 (11.7)			
Housewife	102 (3.4)	54 (4.2)	48 (2.8)			
Other	594 (19.7)	248 (19.5)	346 (19.9)			
Socioeconomic status	_					
Lower	208 (6.9)	87 (6.8)	121 (7.0)			
Middle	801 (26.6)	350 (27.5)	451 (25.9)	0.97	2	0.61
Upper	2,004 (66.5)	835 (65.6)	1,169 (67.1)			

TABLE 1 Demographic, health, and COVID-19-related characteristics in vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection.

(Continued)

Characteristics	Total ( <i>n</i> = 3,013)	Vaccinated population $(n = 1,272)$	Unvaccinated population ( $n = 1,741$ )	x <sup>2</sup>	df	<i>p</i> -value
	No. (%)	No. (%)	No. (%)			
Physical exercise						
Yes	825 (27.4)	356 (28.0)	469 (26.9)	0.40	1	0.52
No	2,188 (72.6)	916 (72.0)	1,272 (73.1)			
Smoking habit						
Yes	843 (28.0)	426 (33.5)	417 (24.0)	33.18	1	0.00
No	2,170 (72.0)	846 (66.5)	1,324 (76.0)			
Alcohol use						
Yes	163 (5.4)	77 (6.1)	86 (4.9)	1.78	1	0.18
No	2,850 (94.6)	1,195 (93.9)	1,655 (95.1)			
Chronic diseases						
Yes	533 (17.7)	395 (31.1)	138 (7.9)	269.98	1	0.00
No	2,480 (82.3)	877 (68.9)	1,603 (92.1)			
Social media use						
Yes	1,062 (35.2)	551 (43.3)	511 (29.4)	62.81	1	0.00
No	1,951 (64.8)	721 (56.7)	1,230 (70.6)			
Have you been infected with	h COVID-19?					
Yes	961 (31.9)	503 (39.5)	458 (26.3)	59.29	1	0.00
No	2,052 (68.1)	769 (60.5)	1,283 (73.7)			
Have any of your family me	embers, friends, or colleague	es been infected with C	OVID-19?			
Yes	1,141 (37.9)	582 (45.8)	559 (32.1)	58.17	1	0.00
No	1,872 (62.1)	690 (54.2)	1,182 (67.9)			
Have any of your family me	embers, friends, or colleague	es died of COVID-19?				
Yes	839 (27.8)	410 (32.2)	429 (24.6)	21.08	1	0.00
No	2,174 (72.2)	862 (67.8)	1,312 (75.4)			
Social support						
Poor	911 (30.2)	330 (25.9)	581 (33.4)	77.92	2	0.00
Moderate	1,560 (51.8)	775 (60.9)	785 (45.1)			
Strong	542 (18.0)	167 (13.1)	375 (21.5)			

#### TABLE 1 Continued

did not differ significantly between vaccinated and unvaccinated populations (p = 0.23).

# Prevalence of psychological effects

The prevalence of psychological effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection are shown in Figure 1 and Table 3. The prevalence rates of symptoms of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, PTSD, insomnia, and fear symptoms among vaccinated populations were 36.4, 21.1, 25.1, 19.4, 29.4, 18.7, and 16.1%, respectively. On the other hand, the prevalence rates of symptoms of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, PTSD, insomnia, and fear symptoms among unvaccinated populations were 51.5, 37.9, 44.9, 30.4, 38.3, 39.4, and 27.5%, respectively. However, these findings showed that vaccinated populations had significantly lower prevalence rates of psychological distress (36.4 vs. 51.5%, p = 0.00), depression (21.1 vs. 37.9%, p = 0.00), anxiety (25.1 vs. 44.9%, p = 0.00), stress (19.4 vs. 30.4%, p = 0.00), PTSD (29.4 vs. 38.3%, p = 0.00), insomnia (18.7 vs. 39.4%, p = 0.00), and fear symptoms (16.1 vs. 27.5%, p = 0.00) than unvaccinated populations.

## Correlations of psychological effects

Spearman's correlations of psychological effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated populations are shown in Table 4.

TABLE 2 The median of the interquartile range (IQR) of psychological effects scores in vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection.

Psychological effects	Vaccinated population	Unvaccinated population	z score	<i>p</i> -value
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)		
Psychological distress	5.0 (1.0-6.0)	5.0 (1.0-6.0)	-5.64	0.00
symptoms				
Depression symptoms	1.0 (1.0-2.0)	3.0 (1.0-4.0)	-12.4	0.00
Anxiety symptoms	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	3.0 (1.0-4.0)	-7.61	0.00
Stress symptoms	1.0 (7.0-8.0)	6.0 (4.0-10.0)	-10.5	0.00
PTSD symptoms	3.0 (1.0-4.0)	3.0 (1.0-4.0)	-1.19	0.23
Insomnia symptoms	3.0 (4.0-7.0)	7.0 (4.0–11.0)	-12.6	0.00
Fear symptoms	7.0 (9.0–16.0)	10.0 (9.0–19.0)	-2.51	0.01

IQR, Interquartile range; PTSD, Post-traumatic stress disorder.



In the vaccinated populations, there was a positive correlation between psychological distress scores and depression ( $r_s = 0.118$ , p < 0.01) scores. Moreover, depression scores were positively linked to anxiety ( $r_s = 0.207$ , p < 0.01), and PTSD ( $r_s = 0.134$ , p < 0.01) scores. Furthermore, there was a positive relationship between anxiety and PTSD ( $r_s = 0.117$ , p < 0.01) scores. In the unvaccinated populations, there was a positive correlation between psychological distress scores and fear ( $r_s = 0.139$ , p < 0.01) scores. Moreover, depression scores were positively linked to anxiety ( $r_s = 0.306$ , p < 0.01) and insomnia ( $r_s = 0.762$ , p < 0.01) scores. Furthermore, there was a positive relationship between anxiety scores and stress ( $r_s = 0.825$ , p < 0.01), PTSD ( $r_s = 0.212$ , p < 0.01), and insomnia ( $r_s = 0.644$ , p < 0.01) scores. In addition, stress scores were positively linked to PTSD (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.832, p < 0.01) and insomnia (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.773, p < 0.01) scores.

# Factors associated with psychological effects

The univariate logistic regression analysis results are presented in Supplementary Table S1. The multivariate logistic regression analysis (Supplementary Table S2) showed that among the COVID-19 vaccine recipients, males were significantly higher risk of symptoms of depression (AOR, 1.80; 95% CI, 1.14–2.14), anxiety (AOR, 1.79; 95% CI, 1.13–2.04), and PTSD (AOR, 1.49; 95% CI, 1.18–1.93) compared to females.

Psychological effects	Total ( <i>n</i> = 3,013)	Vaccinated population (n = 1,272)	Unvaccinated population ( <i>n</i> = 1,741)	<i>p</i> -value
	No. (%)	No. (%)	No. (%)	
Psychological distress symptoms				
Yes	1,359 (45.1)	463 (36.4)	896 (51.5)	0.00
No	1,654 (54.9)	809 (63.6)	845 (48.5)	
Depression symptoms				
Yes	928 (30.8)	268 (21.1)	660 (37.9)	0.00
No	2,085 (69.2)	1,004 (78.9)	1,081 (62.1)	
Anxiety symptoms				
Yes	1,101 (36.5)	319 (25.1)	782 (44.9)	0.00
No	1,912 (63.5)	953 (74.9)	959 (55.1)	
Stress symptoms				
Yes	776 (25.8)	247 (19.4)	529 (30.4)	0.00
No	2,237 (74.2)	1,025 (80.6)	1,212 (69.6)	
Post-traumatic stress disorder sympto	oms			
Yes	1,040 (34.5)	374 (29.4)	666 (38.3)	0.00
No	1,973 (65.5)	898 (70.6)	1,075 (61.7)	
Insomnia symptoms				
Yes	924 (30.7)	238 (18.7)	686 (39.4)	0.00
No	2,089 (69.3)	1,034 (81.3)	1,055 (60.6)	
Fear symptoms				
Yes	684 (22.7)	205 (16.1)	479 (27.5)	0.00
No	2,329 (77.3)	1,067 (83.9)	1,262 (72.5)	

TABLE 3 The prevalence of psychological effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection.

TABLE 4 Spearman's correlations of psychological effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection.

Populations	Psychological effects	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Vaccinated	1	1.00						
population								
	2	0.118**	1.00					
	3	0.003	0.207**	1.00				
	4	0.053	0.011	0.005	1.00			
	5	0.002	0.134**	0.117**	0.014	1.00		
	6	-0.011	0.044	0.004	0.018	0.030	1.00	
	7	-0.019	-0.014	0.006	0.004	0.005	0.018	1.00
Unvaccinated	1	1.00						
population								
	2	0.038	1.00					
	3	0.014	0.306**	1.00				
	4	0.016	0.031	0.825**	1.00			
	5	0.006	0.025	0.212**	0.832**	1.00		
	6	0.003	0.762**	0.644**	0.773**	0.042	1.00	
	7	0.139**	0.003	0.002	0.028	0.024	0.014	1.00

 $^{**}p < 0.01$ . 1. Psychological distress, 2. Depression, 3. Anxiety, 4. Stress, 5. Post-traumatic stress disorder, 6. Insomnia, 7. Fear.

Vaccinated respondents who lived in nuclear families were significantly higher risk of symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 1.38; 95% CI, 1.09-1.77), depression (AOR, 1.49; 95% CI, 1.11-1.98), anxiety (AOR, 1.69; 95% CI, 1.21-1.98), and fear (AOR, 1.43; 95% CI, 1.11-1.82) than those who lived in joint families. Except for stress and fear symptoms, married vaccine recipients people were significantly greater risk of all psychological symptoms than those who were divorced, separated, or widowed (e.g., psychological distress: AOR, 1.44; 95% CI, 1.08-1.90; depression: AOR, 2.37; 95% CI, 1.72-3.24). Vaccinated people who used daily social media had significantly more likely to suffer from symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 1.75; 95% CI, 1.18-2.01), depression (AOR, 1.48; 1.21-1.83), anxiety (AOR, 1.57; 95% CI, 1.16-1.87), and insomnia (AOR, 1.68; 95% CI, 1.02-1.97). Vaccinated respondents who had COVID-19 infected family members, friends, or colleagues were considerably more likely to experience symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 2.01; 95% CI, 1.33-2.86) and PTSD (AOR, 1.59; 95% CI, 1.10-1.86), but were less likely to experience symptoms of depression (AOR, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.47-0.94) and anxiety (AOR, 0.54; 95% CI, 0.21-0.81). Vaccinated people who lost family members, friends, or colleagues due to the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly higher risk of symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 1.35; 95% CI, 1.02-1.79), anxiety (AOR, 1.41; 95% CI, 1.11-1.87), and PTSD (AOR, 1.76; 95% CI, 1.24-2.19) than those who did not.

On the other hand, unvaccinated populations who lived in the Dhaka division were significantly associated with an increased risk of depression (AOR, 2.06; 95% CI, 1.40-2.52), anxiety (AOR, 1.86; 95% CI, 1.15-2.47), stress (AOR, 1.92; 95% CI, 1.12-2.88), and insomnia (AOR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.20-2.94) symptoms than those living in other divisions. Unvaccinated people who had children had significantly higher risk of depression (AOR, 1.66; 95% CI, 1.21-2.18), anxiety (AOR, 1.49; 95% CI, 1.12-1.87), stress (AOR, 1.43; 95% CI, 1.07-1.83), and PTSD (AOR, 1.32; 95% CI, 1.05-1.71) symptoms than those who did not. Except for PTSD and fear symptoms, unvaccinated participants who were unemployed had considerably higher rates of psychological distress (AOR, 1.83; 95% CI, 1.10-2.62), depression (AOR, 1.74; 95% CI, 1.37-2.19), anxiety (AOR, 1.70; 95% CI, 1.12-2.11), stress (AOR, 1.46; 95% CI, 1.08-1.92), and insomnia (AOR, 1.87; 95% CI, 1.20-2.46) symptoms. Unvaccinated people who drank alcohol had significantly greater risk of symptoms of psychological distress (AOR, 2.01; 95% CI, 1.23-2.78), depression (AOR, 1.96; 95% CI, 1.17-2.41), anxiety (AOR, 2.28; 95% CI, 1.27-3.03), and stress (AOR, 1.83; 95% CI, 1.04-2.66) than those who did not. When compared to unvaccinated people who did not have chronic diseases, those with chronic diseases were significantly more likely to experience symptoms of depression (AOR, 1.75; 95% CI, 1.16-2.01), anxiety (AOR, 1.51; 95% CI, 1.07-1.82), and PTSD (AOR, 1.98; 95% CI, 1.12-2.41). Unvaccinated people who were infected with COVID-19 had considerably higher

risk of psychological distress (AOR, 1.66; 95% CI, 1.23–2.02), depression (AOR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.07–2.01), and anxiety (AOR, 1.61; 95% CI, 1.22–1.98) symptoms, but lower risk of fear (AOR, 0.69; 95% CI, 0.41–0.91) symptoms than those who did not. When compared to unvaccinated respondents who had strong social support, those who had poor social support had significantly greater experience of depression (AOR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.35–2.41), anxiety (AOR, 1.48; 95% CI, 1.01–1.81), and PTSD (AOR, 1.71; 95% CI, 1.20–2.09) symptoms.

# Discussion

Bangladesh has been impacted heavily by the COVID-19 pandemic. Every sector has made it an important priority to reduce the impact of COVID-19. This is the first nationwide study that has evaluated the factors associated with psychological effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated populations against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh. A total of 3,013 general populations were enrolled in our study, with 1,272 (42.2%) being vaccinated and 1,741 (57.8%) being unvaccinated. Our study showed lower prevalence of the symptoms of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, PTSD, insomnia, and fear among vaccinated participants compared with those who were unvaccinated. Psychological distress and PTSD did not vary between groups all other symptoms were considerably lower among vaccinated participants.

This study showed that vaccinated populations had lower prevalence of psychological effects than unvaccinated populations against the COVID-19 outbreak in Bangladesh. Our results are consistent with a study conducted in China among 34,041 general public, which found that the psychological stress level decreased after vaccination (36). Moreover, a nationally representative cohort study of 5,792 adults conducted in the United States found that receiving a COVID-19 vaccination was linked to reduced psychological distress (54), which is also consistent with our findings. Furthermore, a study conducted in Turkey among 304 individuals by Bilge et al. (55) found that the vaccinated individuals had lower scores for depression and anxiety symptoms than unvaccinated individuals, indicating that vaccination may have a positive effect on improving mental health. This finding is also in line with our results. Understanding and addressing the general public's change in psychological effects after receiving the COVID-19 vaccine may assist the government and policymakers in providing comprehensive and accurate information to those who are hesitant or resistant to vaccination, as well as boosting their confidence in the ongoing vaccination campaign. The current study showed many demographic, health, and COVID-19-related factors linked to vaccinated and unvaccinated populations.

Our results showed that male vaccinated populations were significantly higher risk of symptoms of depression, anxiety,

90

and PTSD compared to females, which is consistent with the findings in other studies (56). This finding is consistent with prior research, which found that male participants displayed a remarkably higher risk for depression symptoms (57). Another study found that male participants showed higher PTSD symptoms than females during the COVID-19 pandemic, which is also consistent with our results (58). But most of the previous Bangladeshi studies found that females were at a higher risk of depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms than males during the COVID-19 pandemic period (22, 24). Male participants' higher susceptibility to mental health symptoms during the pandemic may be due to their higher infective rate and more frequent risky behaviors during pandemics (59, 60). However, a study in Bangladesh reported that male participants were more likely to the willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine than females, which is in line with our results (61). Males may have known more about COVID-19 vaccines in Bangladesh than females (62). Therefore, they are more likely to accept the COVID-19 vaccine.

The current study demonstrated that vaccinated people who lived in nuclear families were significantly higher risk of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, and fear symptoms. This finding is consistent with previous Bangladeshi research, which found that participants living in nuclear families reported a higher level of depression and anxiety symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (63). A nationwide cross-sectional study among 1,427 Bangladeshi adults found that individuals who lived in nuclear families ( $\leq$ 4 members) were more likely to suffer from psychological problems during the COVID-19 pandemic (24). Since the lockdown was implemented, it's probable that people have been in close contact with their families and have been forced to stay at home for extended periods. As a result, persons who lived in larger families were more likely to have meaningful dialogues and interactions with their family members than those who lived in nuclear households. Therefore, people who lived in nuclear families were more likely to suffer from mental illness. However, recent research in Bangladesh found that residing in a nuclear family was associated with more excellent knowledge about COVID-19 vaccines, which is consistent with our findings (64). Another study indicated that people who lived alone or with a large family (five people) were less likely to say they would be vaccinated for COVID-19 than people who lived in families of two to four people (65). People who grew up in nuclear households were probably more concerned about their health, so they were more accepting of vaccines.

Our findings found that except for stress and fear symptoms, vaccinated populations who were married were significantly associated with a greater risk of all psychological symptoms. A recent national cross-sectional study involving 1,311 community-dwelling individuals in Bangladesh, which found that participants who were married were more likely to be suffering from anxiety symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (23). Another study in the same country discovered that marriage increases the risk of mental health problems (66, 67). Both findings are consistent with our findings. It could be why married people have more family responsibilities than unmarried people. However, a cross-sectional online survey among 850 Bangladeshi adults discovered that married individuals were more aware of the vaccine than unmarried individuals, which is similar to our findings (68). Similarly, married people were more likely to declare their intention to obtain COVID-19 immunizations (69). The possible reason behind this might be that married people are worried about their partner. For both, immunization can minimize the chance of illness. Furthermore, knowledge distribution can be enough when they discuss with their partner. Perceived illness risks and attitudes alter depending on relationship status, influencing the decision to use a vaccine.

The present study discovered that vaccinated populations who used daily social media had significantly more likely to suffer from symptoms of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, and insomnia. A Bangladeshi study reported that respondents who used higher social media were associated with depression and anxiety symptoms, which is in line with our findings (70). Similar studies conducted in the same country also reported that those who follow COVID-19-related news on social or other media daily were more likely to have mental health problems (15, 21). Propaganda, falsehoods, conspiracy theories, and other aspects of the pandemic have risen, while social media has emerged as one of the most critical sources of COVID-19-related information. As a result, regularly utilizing social media was a substantial risk factor for psychological problems (71). In August 2020, a survey of 517 Nigerian social media users indicated that 74.5 percent intend to take the COVID-19 vaccination when it is ready (72). Similarly, Piltch-Loeb et al. (73) discovered that those who obtained vaccine information through traditional media rather than social media or both traditional and social media were more willing to accept it. Both studies corroborate our findings. This could be because social media platforms can help educate vaccination doubts, while traditional media outlets should continue to offer datadriven and informed vaccine information to their audiences.

Our findings revealed that vaccinated populations with COVID-19 infected family members, friends, or colleagues had significantly higher risk of symptoms of psychological distress and PTSD but lower risk of depression and anxiety. A study done on Bangladeshi residents demonstrated that participants who reported having family or acquaintances infected with COVID-19 were a protective factor against anxiety symptoms, confirming our findings (21). Furthermore, a cross-sectional study conducted on 3,480 people in Spain reported that those with a close relative infected were associated with more significant symptomatology in PTSD symptoms (74). Family members, acquaintances, or colleagues of COVID-19 patients may likely be concerned about becoming infected, quarantined, and feeling ostracized, all of which may worsen psychological problems. However, a large sample study in Bangladesh showed that those with family members diagnosed with COVID-19 were more likely to accept the COVID-19 vaccine, which is in line with our findings (75). Their decision was probably affected by social responsibility and positive experiences with vaccination and immunization programs.

The current study discovered that people who were vaccinated against COVID-19 and lost family members, friends, or coworkers were significantly higher risk of psychological distress, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms. In a study conducted in Bangladesh by Zubayer et al. (21), having relatives or acquaintances who died from COVID-19 was found to be a stronger predictor of anxiety symptoms, which is in line with our findings. Similarly, another study involving 10,754 people from 31 Iranian districts revealed that losing a loved one to COVID-19 causes psychological issues (76). This conclusion is also consistent with the framework proposed by Ghaleb et al. (66), which found that having a friend who died of COVID-19 was related to greater psychological distress levels. It could be due to people's concern for the wellbeing of family members, friends, or coworkers and their safety. However, a cross-sectional study of 883 people in Pakistan reported that those who had lost family members, friends, or coworkers significantly impacted their willingness to accept the COVID-19 vaccine (77). A probable explanation is that people whose relatives have died from COVID-19 may have learned more about the virus and its consequences on human health. As a result, they may desire to protect themselves by getting COVID-19 vaccines.

The present study found that unvaccinated populations who lived in the Dhaka division were significantly associated with an increased risk of depression, anxiety, stress, and insomnia symptoms. A study conducted among 10,609 individuals in the COVID-19 outbreak in Bangladesh showed that respondents who lived in Dhaka found higher experienced symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress (78). According to two similar studies conducted in the same country, respondents who lived in the Dhaka division were significantly more likely to be depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptoms (22, 79). The initial findings supported our findings. This could be a contributing factor because the Dhaka division has the most significant population and handles most COVID-19 cases in Bangladesh (16). Therefore, during this or future pandemics, residents from the Dhaka division should receive special attention and care from the relevant authorities. In addition, Dhaka, the capital city of Bangladesh, is home to an estimated four million slum inhabitants (80). They are a socioeconomically deprived group with little understanding of COVID-19 and weak prophylactic actions against virus infection (17). This may contribute to their aversion to immunization. A comparable survey in the Mumbai slum in India reported a 20% unacceptance of COVID-19 vaccines among slum inhabitants (81).

Our findings showed that unvaccinated populations who had children had a significantly greater risk of depression, anxiety, stress, and PTSD symptoms. A recent study in Bangladesh found that respondents who had children during the COVID-19 pandemic had more depression and stress symptoms, which is confirmed by our findings (82). Similarly, it is also consistent with earlier studies conducted among the 1,041 general population of the Republic of Ireland, Karatzias et al. (58) revealed that people with children had a higher risk of PTSD symptoms. Similar findings are reported in a previous study (66). This link could be explained by concern about spreading the virus to family members. However, this outcome is consistent with other investigations, which found that vaccine hesitancy was higher among those who had children at home (83). It's possible that participants were worried about vaccine side effects on themselves or their children.

Unsurprisingly, the current study found that unvaccinated populations who were unemployed had higher rates of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, stress, and insomnia symptoms. This conclusion is backed by research of 974 healthy persons done in Bangladesh, which found that unemployed people had higher rates of depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (84). This finding is also supported by a nationwide study conducted in the same country, which reported that unemployed respondents experienced high-stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic (24). Similarly, an online cross-sectional survey among 672 Bangladeshi people during the COVID-19 pandemic showed that unemployed respondents were more likely to be had poor mental health (85). Unemployment is likely linked to low self-esteem, social isolation, and low income, which can contribute to psychological problems. However, a nationwide investigation in Bangladesh involving 1,134 adults aged 18 and over found that unemployment was associated with a higher risk of COVID-19 vaccine discomfort, which is consistent with our findings (86). On the other hand, other research found that unemployed persons were more inclined to receive the COVID-19 vaccination since, in some locations, unemployed people may seek to return to employment, which can only happen after immunization (83, 87).

The current study revealed that unvaccinated populations who drank alcohol had significantly higher risk of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms. This conclusion is supported by several Bangladeshi COVID-19related studies, which found that those who drank alcohol had a substantially increased risk of developing psychological problems (22, 88). Research shows that people who drink alcohol are more likely to develop mental health problems. People with severe mental illness are also more prone to have alcohol issues. This could be because they 'self-medicate' or drink to cope with unpleasant feelings or symptoms (89). However, a nationwide study of 23,142 people in Japan found that respondents who consumed alcohol were significantly associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, which is similar to our results (90). Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that those who drank alcohol daily had a lower level of vaccine literacy (91). It might be possible because there are misleading rumors and misconceptions about immunizations. To boost vaccine acceptance among the general population, our findings suggest that false rumors and misconceptions concerning COVID-19 immunizations should be eliminated, and people should be educated on the actual scientific facts.

The present study demonstrated that unvaccinated populations with chronic diseases were significantly higher risk of symptoms of depression, anxiety, and PTSD. Our findings supported Mamun et al. (22) from a population-based nationwide study of 10,067 individuals in Bangladesh, which indicated that respondents with chronic diseases were more experienced with depression symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic. Another study in the same country also reported that participants with chronic diseases had a higher chance of depression and anxiety symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (79). During the COVID-19 pandemic, a similar study undertaken in Ireland found that people with chronic conditions had a higher risk of depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms (58). Any psychological containment plan should cater to these individuals and provide them with tailored tools and tactics to help them psychologically cope with the COVID-19 crisis. However, in a study of 3,646 Bangladeshi adults aged 18 years or above, Abedin et al. (92) discovered that those with chronic conditions were more likely to be vaccine-hesitant, which is also supported by our findings. Low vaccine understanding, concerns about effectiveness, potential adverse effects, and a lack of trust in vaccines are possible reasons for vaccine refusal. Our findings indicated that people should be health-conscious and vaccinated as soon as possible.

Our findings discovered that unvaccinated populations who were infected with COVID-19 were more likely to suffer from psychological distress, depression, and anxiety symptoms but lower risk of fear symptoms. Consistent with our findings, a recent study conducted in Bangladesh by Abir et al. (93) discovered that those who had been tested for COVID-19 had a higher risk of psychological distress symptoms. Another study in the same country also found the same results (94). A study involving 56,679 adults aged 18 and older from all 34 province-level locations in China found that people with confirmed or suspected COVID-19 had a significantly higher risk of depression and anxiety symptoms, which also matched our findings (57). Moreover, Wang and colleagues (95) observed similar findings in a comprehensive evaluation of 68 research, including 288,830 participants from 19 countries. It's probable that they were worried about the consequences of getting infected with such a dangerous new virus and that they were bored, isolated, and frustrated while in guarantine. However, a study in Bangladesh indicated that those who had previously been infected with COVID-19 were less willing to get vaccinated

than those who had not, which is supported by our results (92). This implies a lack of health communication, as there is a widespread misconception that a person gains immunity after recovering from a COVID-19 infection, which may have contributed to this group's unwillingness. The findings of this study point to the necessity for increased public education and risk awareness to take preventive measures to improve COVID-19 pandemic control.

Undoubtedly, unvaccinated populations with poor social support had significantly more significant experience of depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms. Our results are consistent with those of Zhang et al. (96), who discovered that people who had less social support had a higher risk of depression and anxiety symptoms. A similar study conducted in China also demonstrated that respondents who had lower social support were more likely to be a chance of depression and PTSD symptoms (56). However, a study conducted in the Philippines found that having more social support was associated with a good intention to obtain the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine, which is in line with our findings (97). Social support is vital for dealing with psychological problems and may also be associated with vaccine antibody responses (53, 98). Therefore, the results of this study may guide authorities and policymakers on how to address psychological difficulties and reduce resistance to the COVID-19 vaccine by enlisting the help of family, friends, and coworkers.

## Suggestions

Several actions may and should be taken right now to mitigate the psychological effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the general public. First, COVID-19 vaccination uptake can be increased after the findings highlighted in this study are addressed, and the immunizations' long-term beneficial and psychological effects are communicated to the general public. To ensure that COVID-19 immunizations reach as many people as possible, the government, public health professionals, and advocates must be prepared to handle vaccine anxiety and boost vaccine education among potential recipients. Evidence-based educational and policy approaches are needed to address these concerns and support COVID-19 vaccination programs. Second, according to the current findings, risky persons should receive special care due to their vulnerability to significant psychological problems. Third, cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) is the most evidence-based treatment, notably internet-based CBT, which can be helpful for mental health interventions during the pandemic. Fourth, the government, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), voluntary organizations, and youth-led projects should offer free tele-counseling and video-counseling, develop psychological support programs for various institutions and workplaces, and develop guidelines for these support services to assist people

with mental health problems. Fifth, based on our findings, Bangladesh's general population needs immediate communitybased psychosocial support and mental health awareness. Sixth, providing clear communication with regular and transparent updates about the COVID-19 outbreak, advising people to activate their social networks to improve connection with others and maintain their normal daily routine when applicable, and ensuring basic supplies could all help to alleviate mental health problems.

# Strengths and limitations

Some of the study's advantages are as follows: first, this is the first nationwide study in Bangladesh that has evaluated the psychological effects and associated factors among vaccinated and unvaccinated general populations against COVID-19 infection. Second, this groundbreaking study revealed that people's COVID-19 immunization had a significant positive impact on their mental health. Third, it was possible to draw meaningful conclusions from this study because it included all of Bangladesh's divisions and occupations. Fourth, this research will add to our understanding of COVID-19 vaccination and mental health, as well as assist governments and policymakers in developing an effective vaccine campaign to achieve vaccination coverage and herd immunity among various occupational populations during the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, our findings could be useful in policymaking, identifying highrisk communities, and developing frameworks for populationspecific psychological crisis management.

Our research is not without limitations. First, psychological effects were assessed using a self-report technique and an online survey. Only people who have a smartphone and use some SNS/apps participated in the survey. To acquire a more thorough understanding of the situation, future studies should involve clinical interviews or qualitative studies. Second, only the people who had the two doses of vaccine were included in the survey, and those who had one dose of vaccine were excluded. Future studies should examine whether there were comparable differences between those who received a single dose or booster dose of the vaccination and those who did not. Third, because it was a cross-sectional study, there was no way to prove causation. Therefore, this study recommends that longitudinal studies be conducted to overcome this limitation. Fourth, convenient and snowball sampling was used in this study, resulting in selection biases and poor representativeness. Fifth, it is impossible to assess the participation rate because it is unknown how many subjects received the survey link. Sixth, pre-existing co-morbidity (males, Dhaka residents, and unemployed individuals) may also have the effect on mental health following vaccination, which is considered a stressful event. Last but not least, in this study, factors such as which developer's vaccination you received and whether or

not you received any vaccine beyond the age of 18 were not considered.

# Conclusion

This study recommends immunizing unvaccinated populations as soon as possible to prevent infection and boost mental health. Males, nuclear family members, married people, daily social media users, people who had COVID-19 infected family members, friends, or colleagues, and people who had lost family members, friends, or colleagues due to the COVID-19 pandemic were associated with higher mental health problems among vaccine recipients. In contrast, participants living in the Dhaka division, having children, unemployed, drinking alcohol, having chronic diseases, being infected with COVID-19, and having poor social support were associated with higher mental health problems among those who did not receive the vaccine. Vulnerable people needed special care, health-related education, and psychological assistance.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Department of Psychology, Jagannath University, Dhaka, Bangladesh, and the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

MDA: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, and writing-original draft. MDA, MJA, AI, MM-UH, and OR: data collection. MDA and YX: writing—review and editing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

# Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 81801340 and 81971271) and the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (Grant No. LQ18H090001). The funding sources had no involvement in the study design, data collection, analysis, interpretation of data, writing of the report, or the decision to submit the paper for publication.

# Acknowledgments

The authors thank all participants for their time and excellent cooperation in the survey.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.916160/full#supplementary-material

## References

1. World Health Organization. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. (2022). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weekly-epidemiological-update-on-covid-19-\$-\$22-june-2022 (accessed June 24, 2022).

2. Ebrahim SH, Ahmed QA, Gozzer E, Schlagenhauf P, Memish ZA. Covid-19 and community mitigation strategies in a pandemic. *BMJ.* (2020) 368:m1066. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1066

3. Chen S, Yang J, Yang W, Wang C, Bärnighausen T. COVID-19 control in China during mass population movements at new year. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:764–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30421-9

4. Adalja AA, Toner E, Inglesby TV. Priorities for the US Health Community Responding to COVID-19. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1343– 4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.3413

5. Bao Y, Sun Y, Meng S, Shi J, Lu L. 2019-nCoV epidemic: address mental health care to empower society. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:e37-8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30309-3

6. Mak IW, Chu CM, Pan PC, Yiu MG, Chan VL. Long-term psychiatric morbidities among SARS survivors. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2009) 31:318-26. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.03.001

7. Lee AM, Wong JG, McAlonan GM, Cheung V, Cheung C, Sham PC, et al. Stress and psychological distress among SARS survivors 1 year after the outbreak. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2007) 52:233–40. doi: 10.1177/070674370705200405

8. Jalloh MF, Li W, Bunnell RE, Ethier KA, O'Leary A, Hageman KM, et al. Impact of Ebola experiences and risk perceptions on mental health in Sierra Leone, July 2015. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2018) 3:e000471. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000471

9. Jeong H, Yim HW, Song Y-J, Ki M, Min J-A, Cho J, et al. Mental health status of people isolated due to Middle East Respiratory Syndrome. *Epidemiol Health.* (2016) 38:e2016048. doi: 10.4178/epih.e2016048

10. Chau SWH, Wong OWH, Ramakrishnan R, Chan SSM, Wong EKY, Li PYT, et al. History for some or lesson for all? A systematic review and metaanalysis on the immediate and long-term mental health impact of the 2002-2003 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) outbreak. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:670. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10701-3

11. Pan KY, Kok AAL, Eikelenboom M, Horsfall M, Jörg F, Luteijn RA, et al. The mental health impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with and without depressive, anxiety, or obsessive-compulsive disorders: a longitudinal study of three Dutch case-control cohorts. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:121–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30491-0

12. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LMW, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

13. Nochaiwong S, Ruengorn C, Thavorn K, Hutton B, Awiphan R, Phosuya C, et al. Global prevalence of mental health issues among the general population

during the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:10173. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-89700-8

14. Zhao YJ, Jin Y, Rao WW, Li W, Zhao N, Cheung T, et al. The prevalence of psychiatric comorbidities during the SARS and COVID-19 epidemics: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 287:145–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.03.016

15. Islam SMD, Bodrud-Doza M, Khan RM, Haque MA, Mamun MA. Exploring COVID-19 stress and its factors in Bangladesh: a perception-based study. *Heliyon.* (2020) 6:e04399. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04399

16. Institute of Epidemiology, Disease Control and Research (IEDCR). *Covid-19 Status Bangladesh.* (2020). Available online at: https://iedcr.gov.bd/covid-19/ (accessed January 13, 2022).

17. Anwar S, Nasrullah M, Hosen MJ. COVID-19 and Bangladesh: challenges and how to address them. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:154. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00154

 The Daily Star. Coronavirus Outbreak: Govt Orders Closure of Public, Private Offices from March 26 to April 4. (2020). Available online at: https:// www.thedailystar.net/coronavirus-deadly-new-threat/news/govt-offices-closedmarch-26-april-4-cabinet-secretary-1884730 (accessed January 15, 2022).

19. The Daily Star. Coronavirus Outbreak: Shutdown Won't Be Extended after May 30. (2020). Available online at: https://www.thedailystar.net/ coronavirusoutbreak-shutdown-wont-be-extended-after-may-30-1905826 (accessed January 15, 2022).

 Dhaka Tribune. Restriction on Public Movement Extended till August 31.
(2020). Available online at: https://www.dhakatribune.com/health/coronavirus/ 2020/08/03/restriction-on-public-movement-extended-till-august-31 (accessed January 15, 2022).

21. Zubayer AA, Rahman ME, Islam MB, Babu SZD, Rahman QM, Bhuiyan M, et al. Psychological states of Bangladeshi people four months after the COVID-19 pandemic: an online survey. *Heliyon.* (2020) 6:e05057. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05057

22. Mamun MA, Sakib N, Gozal D, Bhuiyan AI, Hossain S, Bodrud-Doza M, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic and serious psychological consequences in Bangladesh: a population-based nationwide study. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 279:462–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.036

23. Islam MS, Ferdous MZ, Potenza MN. Panic and generalized anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic among Bangladeshi people: an online pilot survey early in the outbreak. *J Affect Disord*. (2020) 276:30–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.049

24. Banna MHA, Sayeed A, Kundu S, Christopher E, Hasan MT, Begum MR, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of the adult population in Bangladesh: a nationwide cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Health Res.* (2022) 32:850–61. doi: 10.1080/09603123.2020.1802409

25. Dubé E, Laberge C, Guay M, Bramadat P, Roy R, Bettinger J. Vaccine hesitancy: an overview. *Hum Vaccin Immunother.* (2013) 9:1763-73. doi: 10.4161/hv.24657

26. Larson HJ, Jarrett C, Schulz WS, Chaudhuri M, Zhou Y, Dube E, et al. Measuring vaccine hesitancy: the development of a survey tool. *Vaccine*. (2015) 33:4165–75. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.037

27. MacDonald NE. Vaccine hesitancy: definition, scope and determinants. *Vaccine*. (2015) 33:4161-4. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.036

28. Sanche S, Lin YT, Xu C, Romero-Severson E, Hengartner N, Ke R. High contagiousness and rapid spread of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2020) 26:1470–7. doi: 10.3201/eid2607.200282

29. World Health Organization. *Ten Threats to Global Health in 2019*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.who.int/newsroom/spotlight/ten-threats-to-global-health-in-2019 (accessed January 18, 2022).

30. World Health Organization. WHO Bangladesh COVID-19 Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Update (MMWU). (2022). Available online at: https://cdn.who. int/media/docs/default-source/searo/bangladesh/covid-19-who-bangladeshsituation-reports/who\_ban\_sitrep\_121\_20220620.pdf?sfvrsn=5142caa8\_1 (accessed June 24, 2022).

31. Directorate General of Health Services. *COVID-19 Dynamic Dashboard for Bangladesh*. (2022). Available online at: https://dghs-dashboard.com/pages/ covid19.php (accessed June 24, 2022).

32. Allergic reactions including anaphylaxis after receipt of the first dose of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine - United States, December 14-23, 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2021) 70:46–51. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7002e1

33. Allergic reactions including anaphylaxis after receipt of the first dose of moderna COVID-19 vaccine - United States, December 21, 2020-January 10, 2021. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2021) 70:125–9. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7004e1

34. Kaplan RM, Milstein A. Influence of a COVID-19 vaccine's effectiveness and safety profile on vaccination acceptance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2021726118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2021726118

35. Perez-Arce F, Angrisani M, Bennett D, Darling J, Kapteyn A, Thomas K. COVID-19 vaccines and mental distress. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0256406. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0256406

36. Zheng YB, Sun J, Liu L, Zhao YM, Yan W, Yuan K, et al. COVID-19 vaccinerelated psychological stress among general public in China. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:774504. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.774504

37. Bendau A, Plag J, Petzold MB, Ströhle A. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and related fears and anxiety. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2021) 97:107724. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107724

38. Al-Amer R, Malak MZ, Burqan HMR, Stănculescu E, Nalubega S, Alkhamees AA, et al. Emotional reaction to the first dose of COVID-19 vaccine: postvaccination decline in anxiety and stress among anxious individuals and increase among individuals with normal prevaccination anxiety levels. *J Pers Med.* (2022) 12:912. doi: 10.3390/jpm12060912

39. Goldberg DP, Gater R, Sartorius N, Ustun TB, Piccinelli M, Gureje O, et al. The validity of two versions of the GHQ in the WHO study of mental illness in general health care. *Psychol Med.* (1997) 27:191-7. doi: 10.1017/S0033291796004242

40. Islam MN, Iqbal K. Mental health and social support. *Chittagong Univ J Biol Sci.* (2008) 3:95–107. doi: 10.3329/cujbs.v3i1.13410

41. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. *Med Care.* (2003) 41:1284– 92. doi: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C

42. Chowdhury AN, Ghosh S, Sanyal D. Bengali adaptation of brief patient health questionnaire for screening depression at primary care. *J Indian Med Assoc.* (2004) 102:544–7. Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/7853095\_Bengali\_adaptation\_of\_Brief\_Patient\_Health\_Questionnaire\_for\_screening\_depression\_at\_primary\_care (accessed January 25, 2022).

43. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Monahan PO, Löwe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. *Ann Intern Med.* (2007) 146:317–25. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-146-5-200703060-00004

44. Haque M, Das C, Ara R, Alam M, Ullah S, Hossain Z. Prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder and its effect on daily living in the rural community of Rajshahi. *TAJ: J. Teach. Assoc.* (2014) 27:14–23. doi: 10.3329/taj.v27i1.37603

45. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav. (1983) :385-96. doi: 10.2307/2136404

46. Mozumder MK. Validation of Bengali perceived stress scale among LGBT population. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2017) 17:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1482-0

47. Prins A, Bovin MJ, Smolenski DJ, Marx BP, Kimerling R, Jenkins-Guarnieri MA, et al. The primary care PTSD screen for DSM-5 (PC-PTSD-5): development

and evaluation within a veteran primary care sample. J Gen Intern Med. (2016) 31:1206–11. doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3703-5

48. Alam MD PS, Momi M, Ni L Xu Y. Factors associated with psychological outcomes among vaccinated and unvaccinated health care workers against COVID-19 infection in Bangladesh. *Front. Med.* (2022) 9:852922. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.852922

49. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* (2001) 2:297– 307. doi: 10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4

50. Mamun MA, Alimoradi Z, Gozal D, Manzar MD, Broström A, Lin C-Y, et al. Validating Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) in a Bangladeshi population: using classical test theory and rasch analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:225. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010225

51. Ahorsu DK, Lin CY, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The fear of COVID-19 scale: development and initial validation. *Int J Ment Health Addict.* (2020) 20:1537–45. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8

52. Sakib N, Bhuiyan A, Hossain S, Al Mamun F, Hosen I, Abdullah AH, et al. Psychometric validation of the bangla fear of COVID-19 scale: confirmatory factor analysis and rasch analysis. *Int J Ment Health Addict.* (2020) 11:1–12. doi:10.1007/s11469-020-00289-x

53. Kocalevent R-D, Berg L, Beutel ME, Hinz A, Zenger M, Härter M, et al. Social support in the general population: standardization of the Oslo social support scale (OSSS-3). *BMC Psychol.* (2018) 6:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s40359-018-0249-9

54. Koltai J, Raifman J, Bor J, McKee M, Stuckler D. Does COVID-19 vaccination improve mental health? A difference-in-difference analysis of the Understanding Coronavirus in America study. *medRxiv.* [*Preprint*]. (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.07.19.21260782

55. Bilge Y, Keles E, Baydili KN. The impact of COVID-19 vaccination on mental health. J Loss Trauma. (2021) 27:285–88. doi: 10.1080/15325024.2021.1963558

56. Song X, Fu W, Liu X, Luo Z, Wang R, Zhou N, et al. Mental health status of medical staff in emergency departments during the Coronavirus disease 2019 epidemic in China. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:60–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.06.002

57. Shi L, Lu ZA, Que JY, Huang XL, Liu L, Ran MS, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with mental health symptoms among the general population in China during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14053

58. Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Murphy J, McBride O, Ben-Ezra M, Bentall RP, et al. Posttraumatic stress symptoms and associated comorbidity during the COVID-19 pandemic in Ireland: a population-based study. *J Trauma Stress.* (2020) 33:365– 70. doi: 10.1002/jts.22565

59. Zhong BL, Luo W, Li HM, Zhang QQ, Liu XG, Li WT, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices towards COVID-19 among Chinese residents during the rapid rise period of the COVID-19 outbreak: a quick online cross-sectional survey. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2020) 16:1745-52. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.45221

60. Li LQ, Huang T, Wang YQ, Wang ZP, Liang Y, Huang TB, et al. COVID-19 patients' clinical characteristics, discharge rate, and fatality rate of meta-analysis. *J Med Virol.* (2020) 92:577–83. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25757

61. Banik R, Islam MS, Pranta MUR, Rahman QM, Rahman M, Pardhan S, et al. Understanding the determinants of COVID-19 vaccination intention and willingness to pay: findings from a population-based survey in Bangladesh. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2021) 21:892. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06406-y

62. Paul A, Sikdar D, Mahanta J, Ghosh S, Jabed MA, Paul S, et al. Peoples' understanding, acceptance, and perceived challenges of vaccination against COVID-19: A cross-sectional study in Bangladesh. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0256493. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0256493

63. Mehareen J, Rahman MA, Dhira TA, Sarker AR. Prevalence and sociodemographic correlates of depression, anxiety, and co-morbidity during COVID-19: a cross-sectional study among public and private university students of Bangladesh. *J Affect Disord Rep.* (2021) 5:100179. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.1 00179

64. Islam MS, Siddique AB, Akter R, Tasnim R, Sujan MSH, Ward PR, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions towards COVID-19 vaccinations: a cross-sectional community survey in Bangladesh. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1851. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11880-9

65. Yang Y, Dobalian A, Ward KD. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and its determinants among adults with a history of tobacco or marijuana use. *J Community Health.* (2021) 46:1090–8. doi: 10.1007/s10900-021 -00993-2

66. Ghaleb Y, Lami F, Al Nsour M, Rashak HA, Samy S, Khader YS, et al. Mental health impacts of COVID-19 on healthcare workers in the Eastern

Mediterranean Region: a multi-country study. J Public Health. (2021) 43 (Suppl. 3):iii34-iii42. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdab321

67. Debnath PR, Islam MS, Karmakar PK, Sarker R, Zhai ZW, Potenza MN. Mental health concerns, insomnia, and loneliness among intern doctors amidst the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence from a large tertiary care hospital in Bangladesh. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2021) 11:1–21. doi: 10.1007/s11469-021-00690-0

68. Rahman MM, Chisty MA, Sakib MS, Quader MA, Shobuj IA, Alam MA, et al. Status and perception toward the COVID-19 vaccine: a cross-sectional online survey among adult population of Bangladesh. *Health Sci Rep.* (2021) 4:e451. doi: 10.1002/hsr2.451

69. Wang J, Jing R, Lai X, Zhang H, Lyu Y, Knoll MD, et al. Acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. *Vaccines*. (2020) 8:482. doi: 10.3390/vaccines8030482

70. Hasan MT, Hossain S, Safa F, Anjum A, Khan AH, Koly KN, et al. Prevalence of anxiety and depressive symptoms among physicians during the COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh: a cross-sectional study. *medRxiv.* [*Preprint*]. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.12.08.20245829

71. Hossain MT, Ahammed B, Chanda SK, Jahan N, Ela MZ, Islam MN. Social and electronic media exposure and generalized anxiety disorder among people during COVID-19 outbreak in Bangladesh: a preliminary observation. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0238974. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238974

72. Adebisi YA, Alaran AJ, Bolarinwa OA, Akande-Sholabi W, Lucero-Prisno DE. When it is available, will we take it? Social media users' perception of hypothetical COVID-19 vaccine in Nigeria. *Pan Afr Med J.* (2021) 38:230. doi: 10.11604/pamj.2021.38.230.27325

73. Piltch-Loeb R, Savoia E, Goldberg B, Hughes B, Verhey T, Kayyem J, et al. Examining the effect of information channel on COVID-19 vaccine acceptance. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0251095. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone .0251095

74. González-Sanguino C, Ausín B, Castellanos M, Saiz J, López-Gómez A, Ugidos C, et al. Mental health consequences during the initial stage of the 2020 coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) in Spain. *Brain Behav Immun*. (2020) 87:172–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.040

75. Akiful Haque MM, Rahman ML, Hossian M, Matin KF, Nabi MH, Saha S, et al. Acceptance of COVID-19 vaccine and its determinants: evidence from a large sample study in Bangladesh. *Heliyon.* (2021) 7:e07376. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07376

76. Moghanibashi-Mansourieh A. Assessing the anxiety level of Iranian general population during COVID-19 outbreak. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2020) 51:102076. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102076

77. Tahir MJ, Saqlain M, Tariq W, Waheed S, Tan SHS, Nasir SI, et al. Population preferences and attitudes towards COVID-19 vaccination: a cross-sectional study from Pakistan. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1759. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11814-5

78. Abir T, Kalimullah NA, Osuagwu UL, Nur AYDM, Husain T, Goson PC, et al. Prevalence and factors associated with mental health impact of COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh: a survey-based cross-sectional study. *Ann Glob Health.* (2021) 87:43. doi: 10.5334/aogh.3269

79. Tasnim R, Sujan MSH, Islam MS, Ferdous MZ, Hasan MM, Koly KN, et al. Depression and anxiety among individuals with medical conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic: findings from a nationwide survey in Bangladesh. *Acta Psychol.* (2021) 220:103426. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2021 .103426

80. Ferdous MZ, Islam MS, Sikder MT, Mosaddek ASM, Zegarra-Valdivia JA, Gozal D. Knowledge, attitude, and practice regarding COVID-19 outbreak in Bangladesh: an online-based cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0239254. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0239254

81. Islam S, Emran GI, Rahman E, Banik R, Sikder T, Smith L, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and practices associated with the COVID-19 among slum dwellers resided in Dhaka City: a Bangladeshi interview-based survey. *J Public Health.* (2021) 43:13–25. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdaa182

82. Santamaría MD, Mondragon NI, Santxo NB, Ozamiz-Etxebarria N. Teacher stress, anxiety and depression at the beginning of the academic year during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Glob Ment Health.* (2021) 8:e14. doi: 10.1017/gmh.2021.14

83. Khubchandani J, Sharma S, Price JH, Wiblishauser MJ, Sharma M, Webb FJ. COVID-19 vaccination hesitancy in the United States: a rapid national assessment. *J Community Health.* (2021) 46:270–7. doi: 10.1007/s10900-020-00958-x

84. Khan MAS, Debnath S, Islam MS, Zaman S, Ambia NE, Barshan AD, et al. Mental health of young people amidst COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh. *Heliyon.* (2021) 7:e07173. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07173

85. Das R, Hasan MR, Daria S, Islam MR. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health among general Bangladeshi population: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e045727. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045727

86. Ali M, Hossain A. What is the extent of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in Bangladesh? A cross-sectional rapid national survey. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e050303. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050303

87. Dror AA, Eisenbach N, Taiber S, Morozov NG, Mizrachi M, Zigron A, et al. Vaccine hesitancy: the next challenge in the fight against COVID-19. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2020) 35:775–9. doi: 10.1007/s10654-020-00671-y

88. Tasnim R, Sujan MSH, Islam MS, Ritu AH, Siddique MAB, Toma TY, et al. Prevalence and correlates of anxiety and depression in frontline healthcare workers treating people with COVID-19 in Bangladesh. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2021) 21:271. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03243-w

89. Mental Health Foundation. *Alcohol and Mental Health*. (2022). Available online at: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/a/alcohol-and-mental-health#:~:text=In%20the%20long%2Dterm%2C%20alcohol,start%20a%20cycle %20of%20dependence (accessed June 11, 2022).

90. Okubo R, Yoshioka T, Ohfuji S, Matsuo T, Tabuchi T. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and its associated factors in Japan. *Vaccines.* (2021) 9:662. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9060662

91. Gusar I, Konjevoda S, Babić G, Hnatešen D, Cebohin M, Orlandini R, et al. Pre-vaccination COVID-19 vaccine literacy in a croatian adult population: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:7073. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18137073

92. Abedin M, Islam MA, Rahman FN, Reza HM, Hossain MZ, Hossain MA, et al. Willingness to vaccinate against COVID-19 among Bangladeshi adults: understanding the strategies to optimize vaccination coverage. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0250495. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250495

93. Abir T, Osuagwu UL, Kalimullah NA, Yazdani DMN, Husain T, Basak P, et al. Psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh: analysis of a cross-sectional survey. *Health Secur.* (2021) 19:468–78. doi: 10.1089/hs.2020. 0205

94. Sabrina F, Chowdhury MTH, Nath SK, Imon AA, Quader SMA, Jahan MS, et al. Psychological distress among bangladeshi dental students during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 19:176. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010176

95. Wang Y, Kala MP, Jafar TH. Factors associated with psychological distress during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic on the predominantly general population: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0244630. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 44630

96. Zhang C, Yang L, Liu S, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, et al. Survey of insomnia and related social psychological factors among medical staff involved in the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:306. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00306

97. Young AM, Crosby RA, Jagger KS, Richardson MB, Kloha RA, Safarian V. HPV vaccine acceptability among women in the Philippines. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* (2010) 11:1781–7. Available online at: http://journal.waocp.org/article\_ 25450\_954d0fcbc1f01fc9238d667e8fbd6192.pdf (accessed January 29, 2022).

98. Uchino BN, Landvatter J, Zee K, Bolger N. Social support and antibody responses to vaccination: a meta-analysis. *Ann Behav Med.* (2020) 54:567–74. doi: 10.1093/abm/kaaa029

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Amira Mohammed Ali, Alexandria University, Egypt

#### REVIEWED BY

Jorge Rodrigues, University of Porto, Portugal Liudmila Gamaiunova, Université de Lausanne, Switzerland Luís Sérgio Vieira, University of Algarve, Portugal

\*CORRESPONDENCE Min Li limin52267@tmmu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 07 July 2022 ACCEPTED 06 September 2022 PUBLISHED 26 September 2022

#### CITATION

Xu Y, Huang W, Yan X, Lu F and Li M (2022) Anticipatory threat responses mediate the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety: A cross-sectional study. *Front. Public Health* 10:988577. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.988577

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Xu, Huang, Yan, Lu and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY).

The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Anticipatory threat responses mediate the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety: A cross-sectional study

Yuanyuan Xu<sup>1†</sup>, Wenqiang Huang<sup>2†</sup>, Xiaofan Yan<sup>1</sup>, Fang Lu<sup>3</sup> and Min Li<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Military Psychology, Army Medical University, Chongqing, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Sleepy Psychosome, Chongqing Jiangbei Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chongqing, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Nursing, Army Medical University, Chongqing, China

Increasing research has shown that mindfulness-based interventions can effectively alleviate anxiety; however, the underlying neural mechanism has not yet been elucidated. Recent studies suggest that abnormal and excessive anticipatory responses to unpredictable threats play an important role in anxiety symptoms. Mindfulness refers to the non-judgmental awareness of the present moment's real experience, which is antithetical to the futureoriented thinking processes involved in anxiety-oriented cognition and its corresponding emotion regulation tactics. Thus, mitigating anticipatory threat responses may be a potential mechanism by which mindfulness alleviates anxiety. This study aimed to detect the possible mediating effects of anticipatory threat responses on the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety. A total of 35 trait-anxious (TA) individuals and 36 lowanxious (LA) individuals were recruited to participate in the predictable and unpredictable threat test. Self-reported intolerance of uncertainty (IU) and electroencephalographic responses to uncertainty were recorded. TA individuals reported more IU and less mindfulness, and exhibited significantly higher late positive potential (LPP) and longer reaction time (RT) than LA individuals in the unpredictable negative threat condition. In addition, there were significant mediating effects of the LPP amplitude and RT in the uncertain threats on the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety. The data from this study verified that mitigating anticipatory threat responses (including self-reported IU, behavioral RT, and LPP amplitude) might be the potential mechanism by which mindfulness alleviates anxiety. These findings may have practical implications for the development and optimization of mindfulness treatments for anxiety.

#### KEYWORDS

anxiety, mindfulness, anticipatory threaten responses, intolerance of uncertainty, LPP

# Introduction

Anxiety is a salient feeling of worry, nervousness, or unease when facing a threatening situation. People with pathological anxiety experience hypervigilance and increased behavioral responsivity in the absence of rationally fearful stimuli (1). A lifetime prevalence estimate of 28.8% places anxiety disorders as the most common class of mental disorders, causing serious damage to patients' social functioning (2). Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has led to an 11.2% increase (95% uncertainty interval: 5.3–17.3) in cases of anxiety disorders in China in 2020 (3, 4), which heavily burdens both families and society.

Mindfulness-based interventions (MBIs) are a promising category of anxiety treatment. Mindfulness is the basic attentional stance underlying various Buddhist traditions, such as Theravada, Vajrayana and Mahayana (Zen), and has been called "the heart" (or "dharma" in Sansfrit) of Buddhist meditation, which was historically developed as a method to suspend personal suffering (5). Since it spread to the West, it has been increasingly applied in clinical settings. Mindfulness is commonly defined as the perception and acceptance of constantly changing experiences (6), which may include thoughts, emotions, somatic sensations, and responses to the external stimuli (7, 8). Evidence of its validity in alleviating anxiety comes from studies demonstrating negative relationships between mindfulness and anxiety (9, 10), intervention research (11–14), and meta-analysis (15–17). Over the past several decades, MBIs have been increasingly utilized among groups of relatively healthy individuals to promote wellbeing, as well as in a wide variety of clinical disorders, as a complement to cognitive or behavioral techniques to relieve mental distress (18, 19). The most common and well-studied MBIs are mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT) and mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR). MBSR is a manualized treatment program widely used to reduce psychological morbidity associated with chronic illnesses and treat emotional and behavioral disorders (6). MBCT is similar to and involves MBSR but emphasizes the ability to self-manage, control, and improve (17). Although empirical research on the effectiveness of mindfulness is increasing, the mechanisms through which mindfulness improves anxiety have rarely been investigated. One potential mechanism is an anticipatory response to uncertain threats (20).

Immoderate reactions to uncertain stimuli have been regarded as an intolerance of uncertainty (IU) (20). People with high IU are inclined to consider ambiguity a threat and are prone to overestimate the likelihood of an uncertain event and the cost of responding, thus resulting in maladaptive behaviors such as vigilance (i.e., paying more early phasic and sustained attention to uncertain target cueing) (21) and avoidance, which aims to decrease uncertainty (22). Recent perspectives consider anxiety to be a future-oriented emotional state; abnormal and excessive anticipatory responses under unpredictable threats explain the unique variance in anxiety psychopathology that contributes to stress and anxious behaviors (20, 23). Consistent with this perspective, a meta-analysis showed that IU is strongly associated with a range of symptoms in disorders, such as obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, social anxiety disorder, and agoraphobia, thus validating IU's trans-diagnostic importance (24).

Unlike the excessive anticipation reaction to potential future threats experienced in a state of anxiety, mindfulness refers to the non-judgmental awareness of the present moment's real experience, which is contrary to the future-oriented thinking involved in anxiety-driven cognition and its relevant emotion regulation strategies (7, 25). The anxiety-attenuating effects of MBIs have already been observed in the anticipatory phase for negative emotions, cortisol, and the autonomic nervous system (26), especially in the parasympathetic nervous system (27). Kim's research on panic disorders claimed that there was a significant correlation between the reduction in IU and relief of panic symptoms after MBCT (12). In line with this research, another cross-sectional study indicated that the benefits of mindfulness on anxiety symptoms are mediated by self-reported IU. However, this mediating effect was not confirmed in physiological responses (i.e., the startle reflex) to uncertain threats (20). One possible interpretation of this finding is that the IU questionnaire measured a higher-order cognitive process response to uncertainty while the startle reflex measured a lower-order defensive response to uncertainty.

Recent electrophysiological (EEG) studies have focused on the modulation of anxiety over threat anticipation by the intensity of uncertainty and found that, compared with certain cues, uncertain aversive cues elicit significantly larger stimuluspreceding negativity (SPN), P2 (a positive posterior deflection peaking at 200-250 ms), and late positive potential (LPP) (21, 28). The LPP is a centroparietal slow wave that seems to be modulated by higher-level cognitive processing (29) and has been demonstrated to be sensitive to stimulus predictability (30). With respect to uncertainty processing, studies have reported increased LPP amplitude for uncertain aversive cues compared with certain safe cues in threat-of-shock designs (21, 31). According to Grupe's "uncertainty and anticipation model of anxiety" (UAMA) theory (23), the overestimation of threat costs and probabilities causes exaggerated emotional and behavioral reactivity in anxious individuals. Thus, we chose LPP as an indicator of sustained cognitive processing in our research, which explores the potential mediating effects of uncertain threat responses on the association between mindfulness and anxiety and further investigates whether the relationships would vary according to the degree of threat exhibited by the stimuli (32).

Ongoing research has shown that the neural correlates of trait anxiety can predict pathological anxiety-driven behaviors (32). Thus, the present study focused on highly anxious

individuals to explore the underlying mechanisms through which mindfulness alleviates anxiety. It was hypothesized that (1) both trait-anxious (TA) individuals and low-anxious (LA) individuals would express excessive anticipatory responses (including self-reported IU, behavioral reaction time (RT) and EEG responses) under conditions of threat uncertainty, and that the TA group's response would be more intense; (2) mindfulness would be negatively correlated with anxiety and IU; and (3) reactions to uncertainty might be the possible mechanism by which mindfulness alleviates anxiety.

# Materials and methods

## Participants

To recruit individuals with different levels of anxiety, recruitment advertisements were posted at the Army Medical University and three affiliated hospitals. Volunteers who scanned the quick response (QR) codes on the advertisements to sign up for the study were asked to complete the screening questionnaires (n = 191). The presence of psychiatric and neurological diseases was assessed through this screening questionnaires. We applied the following inclusion criteria: (1) aged 18-45 years, (2) right-handed individuals, (3) no history of neurological or psychiatric diagnosis, and (4) normal visual acuity or corrected visual acuity. In total, 162 subjects completed all questionnaire items and met all inclusion criteria. Based on their scores on the Trait Anxiety Inventory (TAI) in the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (33), participants who scored 44 and above were classified as TA individuals while those with a score of 34 and below were classified as LA individuals (34). Thus, we invited 35 TA individuals and 36 LA individuals to participate in further EEG research. The intentions and project procedure of this study were then provided to qualified participants, and their written informed consent was obtained. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The regional ethics committee of the Army Medical University approved this consent procedure and the study protocol (reference number: 2020-019-02). Participants were paid 50 RMB after they finished this study.

Figure 1 shows the participants' flowchart. A total of 71 participants (TA group = 35, LA group = 36) were eligible to participate in the EEG experiments. Eight subjects were excluded because of excessive EEG artifacts. The final sample comprised 63 participants (TA group = 32, LA group = 31). G\*Power 3.1.9.7. was used to determine the sample size. Based on the input parameters specifying a medium effect size of f = 0.25,  $\alpha = 0.05$ ,  $1-\beta = 0.95$ , number of groups = 2, and number of measurements = 4, we obtained a total sample size of N = 36. Thus, the sample size of our study (n = 63) was sufficient for statistical analysis.

## Task design

Participants completed self-report questionnaires and EEG assessments under predictable and unpredictable conditions. The EEG recordings were conducted in a sound-attenuated room. The task was a modified version of a published threat test (35) that included four conditions: (1) predictable positive events (PP), (2) predictable negative events (PN), (3) unpredictable positive events (UP), and (4) unpredictable negative events (UN). Each condition contained 80 trials, with each trial consisting of a 300-ms fixation point presented at the center of the computer screen, followed by a 600-ms cue (i.e., "positive" or "negative"), after which a sequence of numbers would appear. Participants were told that a pleasant or aversive image (their valence was in accordance with the cues) would be shown on the screen after the sequence of numbers. During predictable conditions, the numbers would count down from any number between 10 and 6 to 1, at which point an image would appear. Under unpredictable conditions, the sequence of numbers would appear randomly, and pleasant or aversive images would be presented at any time. Pictures were presented for 1,500 ms and subjects were required to determine whether the scenes in the image occurred indoors (press "F" on the keyboard) or outdoors (press "J" on the keyboard). The image disappeared after the keystroke. After a 100-ms blank screen, feedback (correct or false) for participants' responses appeared (see Figure 2). The RT of the images was collected only for the correct response and then averaged for each condition.

The task consisted of two predictable runs and two unpredictable runs with a counterbalanced sequence. Each run consisted of 40 positive and 40 negative trials, and the order of the images was randomized. At the end of each run, a mandatory 30-s rest was provided. Before the formal experiment began, eight practice trials were performed to familiarize the participants with the paradigm. To ensure that all participants received the same information, instructions on the experimental procedures were standardized and displayed on a computer screen before the practice stage. The same researcher answered all questions throughout the study process.

## Materials

A total of 320 images were selected from the native Chinese Affective Picture System (CAPS) (36). A 9-point scale ranging from 1 (negative/calm) to 9 (positive/arousal) was used to evaluate each picture's valence and arousal degree. In the present study, the mean valence and arousal ratings of the selected 160 positive images were  $6.71 \pm 0.37$  and  $5.76 \pm 0.58$ , respectively. The selected 160 negative images had a mean valence and arousal rating of  $2.84 \pm 0.83$  and  $5.01 \pm 0.55$ , respectively. The valence and arousal ratings of the 160 pictures following the



FIGURE 2

Schematic of experimental procedure.

predictable cue and the 160 pictures following the unpredictable cue were not significantly different [valence rating: t(318,1) = -1.5, p = 0.13; arousal rating: t(318,1) = -0.98, p = 0.33]. Both predictable and unpredictable trials contained half of the positive and half of the negative images. Differences in the valence and arousal ratings between the 80 negative and 80 positive pictures for predictable trials [valence rating: t(158,1) = 33.43, p < 0.01; arousal rating: t(158,1) = 11.86, p < 0.01] were similar to the corresponding differences in unpredictable

trials [valence rating: t(158,1) = 66.98, p < 0.01; arousal rating: t(158,1) = 5.91, p < 0.01].

## Questionnaires

#### Hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS)

The HADS was constructed using the 7-item anxiety subscale and the 7-item depression subscale. A 4-point Likert

scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (almost all the time) was used to evaluate participants' emotional states in the preceding month. The total scores ranged from 0 to 21, with a critical value of 9 for each subscale (37). The internal consistency coefficients of the anxiety subscale and the depression subscale for our sample were 0.90 and 0.89, respectively.

#### Trait anxiety inventory (TAI)

The 20-item TAI was administered to measure participants' general feelings of anxiety using a 4-point Likert scale (1 = barely, 4 = almost always). The total scores range from 20 to 80, with higher scores indicating greater trait anxiety (33). The Cronbach's alpha for our sample was 0.95.

#### Intolerance of uncertainty scale (IUS)

The IUS includes 11 items that assess how people react to uncertain situations in their lives. Participants rated the items on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = "not at all characteristic of me" to 5 = "entirely characteristic of me". The total scores ranged from 11 to 55, with higher scores indicating less tolerance to uncertainty (38). The Cronbach's alpha for our sample was 0.96.

#### Five facet mindfulness questionnaire (FFMQ)

The 20-item FFMQ was used to measure five facets of mindfulness: observing, describing, acting with awareness, non-judging to inner experience, and non-reacting to inner experience. Participants rated the items on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = never or very rarely true, 5 = very often or always true) (39). The Cronbach's alpha for our sample was 0.84.

## EEG recording and data reduction

Continuous EEG data were collected using a 64 channel NuAmp acquisition system (Neuroscan Inc.) according to the international 10–20 system, with a reference at Cz and the ground placed between Fz and Fpz. Horizontal and vertical EEG activity was recorded from positions next to the outer rims of each eye and from above and below the right eye, respectively. The sampling rate was 1,000 Hz, and the impedances of all electrodes were below  $5k\Omega$ .

Offline, a digital average mastoid reference, (M1+M2)/2, was performed. The raw EEG data were bandpass filtered from 0.01 Hz to 30 Hz and manually scored for muscle and eye movement artifacts. They were segmented from 100 ms before cue onset to 2,000 ms afterward, referred to as baseline -100 to 0 ms before cue onset. Six electrodes-CP3, CPz, CP4, P3, Pz, and P4-were selected for further analysis, since the LPP in existing research was detected mostly in the centro-parietal region of the scalp (21). The inspection of the EEG data revealed a late positive component (with an onset of approximately 400 ms and an offset of approximately 1,100 ms) over parietal occipital sites. The mean amplitude of the LPP was extracted for further analysis (see Supplementary Table 1).

## Data analyses

Data analyses were performed using SPSS 19.0 and AMOS 20.0. The Shapiro-Wilk normality test was used to assess data or variable distribution. Age, HADS\_A, TAI, and IUS did not show a normal distribution; therefore, comparisons were made by the Mann-Whitney U test. The differences in demographic variables (except Age) and FFMQ between TA group and LA group were analyzed by independent samples *t-tests* and chi-square tests. After splitting the data by group, a 2 (Groups: TA, LA)  $\times$  4 (Conditions: PP, UP, PN, and UN) repeated-measures analysis of variance (rmANOVA) was applied to examine the discrepancies in behavioral RT and LPP amplitude with respect to the four stimuli conditions for the TA and LA groups. Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied to correct all ANOVA results. The Sidak correction was used to correct alpha for multiple comparisons. The Spearman rank-order correlation was used to calculate the relationships between variables. The cocor was used to conduct statistical comparisons between correlations (40). The mediation hypothesis was tested with structural equation modeling (SEM). Indices including CMIN/DF (a value between 1 and 3 indicates acceptable fit between the hypothetical model and the sample data), adjusted goodness-of-fit index (AGFI, a value >0.90 indicates acceptable model fit) (41), and root-meansquare error of approximation (RMSEA, a value between 0.05 and 0.08 reflects reasonable model fit) (42) were calculated to assess the overall model fit.

## Results

## Self-report measures

According to the parametric and non-parametric test results, group differences in the demographic variables were not significant (see Table 1). Table 2 shows the means and standard deviations for all self-reported variables for the TA and LA groups. According to the independent samples *t*-test and Mann-Whitney U test, the grouping effects for all selfreported variables were significant, with lower scores for FFMQ and subscales (except for the observing subscale), and higher scores for HADS-A, TAI, and IUS in the TA group. The results indicated that the participants in the TA group were more intolerant of uncertainty, tended to feel more stress, and had less mindfulness than emotionally healthy participants.

	LA, n	= 31	TA, $n = 32$		Total, $n = 63$	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Age	21.45	3.54	22.63	6.66	22.05	5.35
	п	%	n	%	n	%
Gender						
Male	24	77.42	27	84.38	51	80.95
Female	7	22.58	5	15.62	12	19.05
Educational background						
Junior high school diploma	0	0	3	9	3	4.76
Senior high school diploma	4	12.90	5	16	9	14.29
College degree	24	77.42	24	75	48	76.19
Graduate degree	3	0	0	0	3	4.76
Marital status						
Single	30	96.77	28	87.50	58	92.06
Married	1	3.23	4	12.50	5	7.94

#### TABLE 1 Between-group differences regarding demographic data.

Using Mann-Whitney U tests and Chi-square tests, between-group differences in the demographic variables were not statistically significant. LA, Low-anxious individuals; TA, Trait-anxious individuals.

TABLE 2 Scores on self-report scales for the LA (n = 31) and TA (n = 32).

	LA M (SD)	TA M (SD)	p
HADS-A	10.19 (1.92)	17.47 (3.11)	< 0.001
TAI	29.26 (3.39)	54.94 (5.91)	< 0.001
IUS	21.94 (8.70)	40.63 (6.98)	< 0.001
FFMQ	71.61 (7.32)	56.91 (9.23)	< 0.001
FFMQ_Observing	13.77 (3.30)	12.94 (2.75)	0.278
FFMQ_Describing	15.10 (3.03)	11.09 (2.75)	< 0.001
FFMQ_Acting with awareness	16.16 (2.42)	10.78 (3.77)	< 0.001
FFMQ_Non-judging to inner experience	13.35 (2.97)	11.00 (2.55)	0.002
FFMQ_Non-reacting to inner experience	13.35 (2.90)	11.09 (3.31)	0.005

LA, Low-anxious individuals; TA, Trait-anxious individuals; M, Means; SD, Standard Deviations; HADS-A, Anxiety subscale of Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; TAI, Trait Anxiety Inventory; FFMQ, Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire; IUS, Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale.

### RT to the images

Table 3 presents the results of the rmANOVA after splitting the RT to analyze the TA and LA groups across the four conditions. Although no significant group  $\times$  condition interaction was found, there was a significant main effect of the condition. For all participants, the mean RT during the UN condition was significantly longer than those during the other three conditions, and the mean RT during PN was significantly longer than that during PP. The rmANOVA for RT also revealed a significant main effect of the group. The mean RT of TA group was significantly longer than that of the LA group, particularly with UN stimuli. Based on the results, we found that participants waited longer to press keys on uncertain and negative stimuli, especially in the TA group.

## LPP

Table 4 presents the significant main effect of condition and group × condition interactions at the three occipital electrodes (i.e., CP3, PZ, and P4). Follow-up planned comparisons indicated that for the TA group, the amplitude of LPP during trials signaling unpredictable negative stimuli was greater than that of LPP during trials signaling certain positive stimuli (p < 0.009). Although there were upward trends from certain conditions to unpredictable conditions and from positive to negative stimuli on the amplitude of LPP for the LA group, the changes were not statistically significant. In addition, within the unpredictable negative condition, the TA group demonstrated significantly higher LPP than the LA group (p = 0.02, CP4 and 0.01, P4), whereas in the other three conditions (PP, UP, PN), the amplitude of LPP to cues did not differ significantly between groups (see Table 4, Figure 3).

## Mediation model of anticipatory response to uncertain threats on mindfulness improving anxiety

The intercorrelations between all variables are summarized in Table 5. IUS scores, RT, and LPP amplitude to uncertain threats were all significantly related to scores on measures of

	Ν	PP M(SD)	UP M(SD)	PN M(SD)	UN M(SD)	Within subject effect <i>F(df)</i>	Interaction Effect <i>F(df)</i>	Between subject effect F(df)
LA	31	646.13 (14.38) <sup>abc</sup>	660.90 (14.46) <sup>ab</sup>	673.68 (15.31) <sup>ab</sup>	711.11 (16.63) <sup>a</sup>	54.51***	0.44	10.52***
						(2.49, 151.81)	(2.49, 151.81)	(1, 61)
TA	32	712.04 (14.16) <sup>bc</sup>	718.36 (14.24) <sup>b</sup>	741.07 (15.07) <sup>b</sup>	780.53 (15.95)			

TABLE 3 Means (M), Standard Deviations (SD) and the results of rmANOVA for RT.

LA, Low-anxious individuals; TA, Trait-anxious individuals; UP, Unpredictable positive events; PP, Predictable positive events; PN, Predictable negative events; UN, Unpredictable negative events; RT, Reaction time; M, Means; SD, Standard Deviations.

\*\*\*p < 0.001.

 $^{a}p < 0.05$  for rmANOVA post hoc test for LA – TA.

 $^{b}p < 0.0087$  (Sidak correction) for rmANOVA post hoc test for UP/PP/PN – UN.

 $^{c}p < 0.0087$  (Sidak correction) for rmANOVA post hoc test for PP – PN.

TABLE 4 Results of the rmANOVA on two groups and four conditions for LPP.

		РР	UP	PN	UN	Interaction effect
		M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	<i>M</i> (SD)	F(df)
CP3	LA	0.22 (0.35)	0.35 (0.39)	0.38 (0.44)	0.26 (0.40)	2.93*
						(2.87, 175.29)
	TA	$-0.21(0.34)^{a}$	0.15 (0.38)	0.59 (0.43)	1.10 (0.40)	
CPZ	LA	0.49 (0.38)	0.45 (0.39)	0.66 (0.46)	0.54 (0.47)	2.22
						(2.86, 174.67)
	TA	0.57 (0.37) <sup>a</sup>	0.78 (0.39)	0.95 (0.46)	1.75 (0.46)	
CP4	LA	0.37 (0.35)	0.32 (0.39)	0.55 (0.45)	0.33 (0.45)	2.79
						(2.72, 165.94)
	TA	0.60 (0.34) <sup>a</sup>	0.82 (0.38)	1.01 (0.44)	1.91 (0.45) <sup>b</sup>	
P3	LA	0.14 (0.33)	0.28 (0.41)	0.37 (0.40)	0.32 (0.35)	2.26
						(2.67, 162.99)
	TA	0.25 (0.32) <sup>a</sup>	0.21 (0.40)	0.47 (0.40)	1.26 (0.34)	
PZ	LA	0.66 (0.34)	0.66 (0.39)	0.72 (0.43)	0.77 (0.46)	3.57*
						(2.75, 167.47)
	TA	0.44 (0.34) <sup>a</sup>	0.86 (0.38)	1.09 (0.42)	2.04 (0.45)	
P4	LA	0.18 (0.33)	0.31 (0.43)	0.43 (0.42)	0.31 (0.43)	3.23*
						(2.71, 165.25)
	TA	0.44 (0.33) <sup>a</sup>	0.85 (0.42)	0.97 (0.41)	2.03 (0.42) <sup>b</sup>	

LPP, late positive potential; LA, Low-anxious individuals; TA, Trait-anxious individuals; UP, Unpredictable positive events; PP, Predictable positive events; PN, Predictable negative events; UN, Unpredictable negative events; CP3; CP2; CP4; P3; Pz and P4, electrodes on the centro-parietal region of the scalp.

\**p* < 0.05.

 $a^{*}p < 0.0087$  (Sidak correction) for rmANOVA post hoc test for PP – UN.

 $^{b}p < 0.05$  for rmANOVA post hoc test for LA-TA. The bold values indicates statistically significant *p*-values.

anxiety symptoms and were inversely related to FFMQ scores. These results support the supposed correlations and allow for further mediation analyses. Self-reported IUS was significantly associated with RT to the images in both anxiety groups. No significant relationship between IUS scores and LPP amplitude was found.

The SEM results demonstrated that the overall model yielded a satisfactory fit, CMIN/DF = 1.68, RMSEA<0.08, and AGFI = 0.99. All specific indirect effects on anxiety

*via* anticipatory responses to uncertain threats, including IUS scores, RT, and LPP amplitude to uncertain threats, were significant (all p < 0.05, see Figure 4). There was no significant direct effect of mindfulness on anxiety. However, anticipatory responses to uncertain threats were found to mediate the association between mindfulness and anxiety. The standardized indirect effects of IU scores, RT, and LPP amplitude on uncertain threats were -0.40, -0.05, and -0.05, respectively (all p < 0.05).



# Discussion

Uncertainty about future threats is disruptive in anxiety. The current research aimed to explore whether an excessive threat response (both self-reported IU and behavioral and EEG responses to uncertain threats) significantly mediates the negative relationship between mindfulness and anxiety and to further investigate whether the relationship would vary according to various degrees of anxiety.

# Excessive anticipatory response to uncertain threats

Substantial research has shown that excessive reactions to uncertainty play a crucial role in pathological anxiety (21, 23, 43). According to the study results, in comparison with LA individuals, there was greater self-reported IU in TA group, which supports the previous findings of a positive relationship between IU and anxiety (20). Longer RT before key presses in the

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. HADS_A	-										
2. FFMQ	-0.61**	-									
3. IUS	0.83**	-0.63**	-								
4. RT_UP	0.32*	-0.22	0.31*	-							
5. RT_PP	0.37**	-0.27**	0.35**	0.87**	-						
6. RT_PN	0.39**	-0.26*	0.34**	0.87**	0.94**	-					
7. RT_UN	0.44*	$-0.25^{*}$	0.38**	0.88**	0.88**	0.90**	-				
8. LPP_PP	0.13	-0.14	-0.02	-0.09	-0.1	-0.09	-0.07	-			
9. LPP_UP	0.17	-0.09	-0.04	-0.01	-0.07	-0.07	-0.09	0.62**	-		
10. LPP_PN	0.18	-0.10	0.09	0.14	0.05	0.06	0.14	0.61**	0.51**	-	
11. LPP_UN	0.28*	$-0.30^{*}$	0.17	-0.04	0.01	0.07	0.02	0.60**	0.48**	0.57**	-

TABLE 5 Correlations between all variables.

HADS-A, Anxiety subscale of Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; IUS, Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale; FFMQ, Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire; RT, Reaction time; LPP, Late positive potential; UP, Unpredictable positive events; PP, Predictable positive events; PN, Predictable negative events; UN, Unpredictable negative events. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01.



uncertain negative stimuli was found in both groups, suggesting that individuals might be more involved in uncertain threats. Moreover, according to the attentional control theory, increased attention consumes limited cognitive resources and less impairs the performance efficiency of concurrent task processing (44, 45).

In addition, LPP was recorded while the subjects were exposed to predictable and unpredictable conditions. As hypothesized, the LPP amplitude of the TA group regarding uncertain threats was significantly higher than that of the LA group. Enhanced LPP during trials signals unpredictable threats, suggesting increased salience and sustained higherlevel cognitive processing for these cues. Previous EEG research has investigated uncertainty-related dynamics in attentional allocation and sustained stimulus elaboration in a cued-picture paradigm. The results showed larger P2 and LPP amplitudes in uncertain conditions, suggesting that the threat uncertainty context could enhance individuals' ability for early attentional capture and late top-down allocation of attention to stimuli (21).

Further, the present study contrasted participants with high and low TA to demonstrate that this trend of excessive anticipatory response to uncertain threats is more pronounced in the TA group. It seems that people with higher TA may demonstrate lower cognitive flexibility. They tend to prioritize uncertain threats and experience more difficulty adapting to new information (46), which may predispose them to pathological anxiety-driven behaviors (32).

Correlation analysis showed that self-reported IUS was significantly associated with RT to the images in both anxiety groups, which is consistent with a previous research (47). However, the relationship between IUS and LPP amplitude was not statistically significant. The result was inconsistent with Nelson et al.'s research (48). In their study, participants were invited to complete a passive fear generalization paradigm, and the research found that prospective IU (IUS-P, and not inhibitory IUS) was negatively correlated with LPP amplitude in the face of uncertainty, suggesting that individuals high in IUS-P might engage in cognitive avoidance during the threat uncertainty condition. Nevertheless the present study used a different version of IUS and conducted a different task that required participants' feedback. Thus, future research should adopt an experimental paradigm that includes trials that (1) only need participants' passive observation and (2) need their active feedback to further investigate the relationship between IUS and LPP amplitude.

## Anticipatory threat responses mediating the benefits of mindfulness on anxiety symptoms

A previous cross-sectional study conducted by Kraemer et al. affirmed that self-reported IU mediates the relationship between mindfulness and health anxiety (10). However, research on the relationship between mindfulness, anxiety, and physiological responses (i.e., the startle reflex) in the unpredictable threat condition has shown mixed results (20). The authors explained that this might be due to the IU scale measuring a higher-order cognitive response to uncertainty involving cognitive processes such as attention, working memory, and metacognition (49) while the startle magnitude measures a lower-order defensive response to uncertainty (20), and the latter does not seem necessary for the conscious experience of any emotional cognitive state (50). Thus, in the current study, the LPP amplitude to uncertain negative stimuli was chosen as an indicator of higher-level cognitive processing (29). As we assumed, the results demonstrated significant mediating effects of excessive threat response (both self-reported IU as well as RT and LPP amplitudes to uncertain threats) on the beneficial effects of mindfulness on anxiety.

Over the past few decades, MBIs have become increasingly ideal therapeutic strategies for relieving anxiety (15, 16). Of

the mindfulness elements, the non-judging awareness of the present moment's real experience was strongly associated with anxiety symptoms (7, 9). This mindful awareness of the present moment could allow anxious individuals to avoid futureoriented thinking and the overestimation of a threat's costs and related possibilities (23), thereby mitigating individuals' threat anticipation of an uncertain event from excessive expectations to more reasonable expectations and eventually to non-judgmental acceptance (23, 51). Moreover, mindful acceptance might help decrease the defensive motivation elicited by uncertainty and instead strengthen one's ability to allow an experience to be as it is, thereby relieving intolerance and inflated anxiety about potential threats (20, 21).

Smaller amplitudes of LPP during trials signaling unpredictable negative stimuli and shorter RT before key presses in uncertain threats were observed in people with higher degrees of mindfulness. It could be speculated that people with higher mindfulness would appear less blocked by uncertain threats and that under uncertainty, their cognitive resources would be more flexibly deployed according to circumstantial demands (21). Thus, higher mindfulness would contribute to alleviating negative reactions to unpredictable stimuli, in that uncertainty would be less likely to be identified as something that is unacceptable or needs to be stopped (20), ultimately relieving anxiety.

This study provides insight into mindfulness interventions for individuals with anxiety. Mindfulness practices would work well on higher-level cognitive processing by guiding anxious individuals to: (1) observe the present moment rather than worry about the future so they are less involved in the potential threat that they imagine might happen and (2) act with awareness and allow everything (including the thoughts in the mind) to just be as it is rather than trying to control them. This approach does not mean that there is no coping with mental distress, but that there is a way to respond consciously in a state of awareness without judgment (19), which could help individuals with anxiety reduce their automatic avoidance of pain since mental discomfort is often unavoidable and a failure to cope often brings more anxiety.

## Limitations and future research

First, the mediating effect of the anticipatory threat responses on the association between mindfulness and anxiety was based on a cross-sectional survey. Further intervention studies are warranted, and responders and non-responders should be compared to measure the causal nature of these relationships. Second, the findings were based on 63 individuals who were either emotionally healthy or trait anxious and did
not include anyone with clinical anxiety disorders, which may undermine the significance of several relationships between variables. For example, the correlation between IU and LPP amplitude in response to uncertain threats was only marginally significant in the present study (p = 0.056). Third, we did not inquire about previous contemplative/meditative or bodymind practices. Such practices may affect the responses of the participants, entailing a risk of reporting bias. Given the role of social desirability in self-reported measures, the study itself may also entail a risk of self-reporting bias, which may have affected the selection of TA and LA respondents, as well as the response of the participants to other measures (e.g., IUS and HADS). In addition, the sample size was small, which limits the power of the study to detect possible relationships and mediating effects. Therefore, a large-scale intervention study involving adequately-powered samples with comparable experiences of contemplative/meditative or bodymind practices and heightened symptom levels on multiple anxiety dimensions is necessary to replicate these findings in future research.

## Contribution to the field

Anxiety disorders are associated with substantial functional impairment and imposes a heavy burden on both families and society. Many studies have shown that MBIs can effectively alleviate anxiety; however, the underlying neural mechanism has not yet been elucidated. Research based on self-reported IU suggests that alleviating higher-order cognitive responses to uncertainty might mediate the effect of mindfulness on anxiety symptoms. Accordingly, the current study collected the LPP amplitudes in response to uncertain negative stimuli as the physiological indicators of higher-level cognitive processing. The results demonstrated significant mediating effects of LPP amplitude and RT on uncertain threats in the relationship between mindfulness and anxiety. The results provide further evidence that reactions to uncertain threats may play a role in the association between mindfulness and anxiety and suggest that interventions are needed to specifically target excessive anticipatory responses to uncertain threats.

## Conclusion

In summary, the current research demonstrated that unpredictable, high-threat conditions might trigger a more intense anticipatory response (including self-reported IU, behavioral RT, and LPP amplitude) in TA. It further verified that mitigating anticipatory threat responses might be the potential mechanism by which mindfulness alleviates anxiety. These findings lay important groundwork for understanding the role of strong intolerance of potential threats in the development and maintenance of anxiety and may have practical implications for informing the development and optimization of mindfulness treatments for anxiety.

## Data availability statement

Data used in the present analysis are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Army Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

YX: designed and executed the study, assisted with the data analyses, gained ethical approval, and wrote the paper. WH: recruited the subjects, collaborated with the design, and writing of the study. XY: collaborated with the recruiting of the subjects and analyzed the data. FL: collaborated with material preparation and data collection. ML: collaborated in the writing and editing of the final manuscript. All author approved the final version of the manuscript for submission.

## Funding

This study was financially supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 31700958).

## Acknowledgments

The authors sincerely thank all the participants for their cooperation.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those

of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.988577/full#supplementary-material

## References

1. Rosen JB, Schulkin J. From normal fear to pathological anxiety. *Psychol Rev.* (1998) 105:325–50. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.105.2.325

2. Calhoon GG, Tye KM. Resolving the neural circuits of anxiety. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:1394–404. doi: 10.1038/nn.4101

3. Santomauro DF, Mantilla Herrera AM, Shadid J, Zheng P, Ashbaugh C, Pigott DM, et al. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02143-7

4. World Health Organization. World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization. (2022). p 30.

5. Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness-Based interventions in context: past, present, and future. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2003) 10:144–56. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bpg016

6. Bishop SR. Mindfulness: a proposed operational definition. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2004) 11:230–41. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bph077

7. Ca Sh M, Whittingham K. What facets of mindfulness contribute to psychological well-being and depressive, anxious, and stress-related symptomatology? *Mindfulness*. (2010) 1:177-82. doi: 10.1007/s12671-010-0023-4

8. Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness. *Mindfulness*. (2015) 6:1481-3. doi: 10.1007/s12671-015-0456-x

9. Schneider MN, Zavos HMS, Mcadams TA, Kovas Y, Sadeghi S, Gregory AM. Mindfulness and associations with symptoms of insomnia, anxiety and depression in early adulthood: a twin and sibling study. *Behav Res Ther.* (2019) 118:18–29. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2018.11.002

10. Kraemer KM. O Bryan EM, Mcleish AC. Intolerance of uncertainty as a mediator of the relationship between mindfulness and health anxiety. *Mindfulness*. (2016) 7:1–7. doi: 10.1007/s12671-016-0524-x

11. Hoge EA, Bui E, Marques L, Metcalf CA, Simon NM. Randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation for generalized anxiety disorder: Effects on anxiety and stress reactivity. *J Clin Psychiat.* (2013) 74:786–92. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12m08083

12. Kim MK, Lee KS, Kim B, Choi TK, Lee SH. Impact of Mindfulness-Based cognitive therapy on intolerance of uncertainty in patients with panic disorder. *Psychiat Invest.* (2016) 13:196–202. doi: 10.4306/pi.2016.13.2.196

13. Goldin PR, Gross JJ. Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) on emotion regulation in social anxiety disorder. *Emotion*. (2010) 10:83–91. doi: 10.1037/a0018441

14. Koszycki D, Guérin E, Dimillo J, Bradwejn J. Randomized trial of cognitive behaviour group therapy and a mindfulness-based intervention for social anxiety disorder: Preliminary findings. *Clin Psychol Psychot.* (2020) 28:200–18. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2502

15. Hofmann SG, Sawyer AT, Witt AA, Oh D. The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: a meta-analytic review. *J Consult Clin Psych.* (2010) 78:169–83. doi: 10.1037/a0018555

16. Carletto S, Cavalera C, Sadowski I, Rovaris M, Pagnini F. Mindfulnessbased interventions for the improvement of well-being in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med.* (2020) 82:600– 13. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000819

17. Bamber MD, Morpeth E. Effects of Mindfulness Meditation on college student anxiety: a meta-analysis. *Mindfulness.* (2019) 10:203–14. doi: 10.1007/s12671-018-0965-5

18. Grossman P, Niemann L, Schmidt S, Walach H. Mindfulnessbased stress reduction and health benefits. *J Psychosom Res.* (2004) 57:35-43. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00573-7

19. Shen H, Zhang L, Li Y, Zheng D, Du L, Xu F, et al. Mindfulness-based intervention improves residual negative symptoms and cognitive impairment in

schizophrenia: a randomized controlled follow-up study. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 1–10. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721002944

20. Papenfuss I, Lommen MJJ, Grillon C, Balderston NL, Ostafin BD. Responding to uncertain threat: a potential mediator for the effect of mindfulness on anxiety. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2021) 77:102332. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102332

21. Dieterich R, Endrass T, Kathmann N. Uncertainty is associated with increased selective attention and sustained stimulus processing. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2016) 16:447–56. doi: 10.3758/s13415-016-0405-8

22. Norr AM, Oglesby ME, Capron DW, Raines AM, Korte KJ, Schmidt NB. Evaluating the unique contribution of intolerance of uncertainty relative to other cognitive vulnerability factors in anxiety psychopathology. J Affect Disorders. (2013) 151:136–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.063

23. Grupe DW, Nitschke JB. Uncertainty and anticipation in anxiety: an integrated neurobiological and psychological perspective. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:488–501. doi: 10.1038/nrn3524

24. Mcevoy PM, Hyett MP, Shihata S, Price JE, Strachan L. The impact of methodological and measurement factors on transdiagnostic associations with intolerance of uncertainty: a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2019) 73:101778. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101778

25. Luberto CM, Mcleish AC, Zvolensky MJ, Baer RA. Mindfulness skills and anxiety-related cognitive processes among young adult daily smokers: a pilot test. *Mindfulness.* (2011) 2:129–36. doi: 10.1007/s12671-011-0052-7

26. Gamaiunova L, Kreibig SD, Dan-Glauser E, Pellerin N, Brandt P, Kliegel M. Effects of two mindfulness based interventions on the distinct phases of the stress response across different physiological systems. *Biol Psychol.* (2022) 172:108384. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2022.108384

27. Hoge EA, Bui E, Palitz SA, Schwarz NR, Owens ME, Johnston JM, et al. The effect of mindfulness meditation training on biological acute stress responses in generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychiat Res.* (2018) 262:328–32. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.006

28. Ma Q, Qiu W, Fu H, Sun X. Uncertain is worse. Neuroreport. (2018) 29:1023-9. doi: 10.1097/WNR.000000000001061

29. Koenig S, Mecklinger A. Electrophysiological correlates of encoding and retrieving emotional events. *Emotion.* (2008) 8:162-73. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.8.2.162

30. Picton, Terence W. The p300 wave of the human Event-Related potential. J Clin Neurophysiol. (1992) 9:456–79. doi: 10.1097/00004691-199210000-00002

31. Weymar M, Bradley MM, Hamm AO, Lang PJ. When fear forms memories: threat of shock and brain potentials during encoding and recognition. *Cortex.* (2013) 49:819–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2012.02.012

32. Wang C, Wang Y, Lau WKW, Wei X, Feng X, Zhang C, et al. Anomalous static and dynamic functional connectivity of amygdala subregions in individuals with high trait anxiety. *Depress Anxiety*. (2021) 38:860–73. doi: 10.1002/da.23195

33. Shek DTL. Reliability and factorial structure of the Chinese version of the state-trait anxiety inventory. *J Psychopathol Behav Assess.* (1988) 10:303–17. doi: 10.1007/BF00960624

34. Ansari TL, Derakshan N. The neural correlates of cognitive effort in anxiety: effects on processing efficiency. *Biol Psychol.* (2011) 86:337– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.12.013

35. Schmitz A, Grillon C. Assessing fear and anxiety in humans using the threat of predictable and unpredictable aversive events (the NPU-threat test). *Nat Protoc.* (2012) 7:527–32. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2012.001

36. Bai L, Ma H, Huang Y, Luo Y. The development of netive Chinese affective picture system - a pretest in 46 college students. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2005) 19:719–22. doi: 10.1016/j.molcatb.2005.02.001

37. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiat Scand. (1983) 67:361–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x

38. Huang R, Li J, Li W. The effects of tolerance of uncertain on risk preferences and it's context-dependency. J Psychological Sci. (2014) 37:1302–7.

39. Hou J, Wong YS, Lo HM, Mak WS, Ma SW. Validation of a Chinese version of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in Hong Kong and development of a short form. *Assessment*. (2014) 21:363–71. doi: 10.1177/1073191113485121

40. Birk D, Jochen M, Jake O. Cocor: a comprehensive solution for the statistical comparison of correlations. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e121945. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131499

41. Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Model.* (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

42. Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociol Method Res. (1992) 21:230–58. doi: 10.1177/0049124192021002005

43. Qiao Z, Geng H, Wang Y, Li X. Anticipation of uncertain threat modulates subsequent affective responses and covariation bias. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:2547. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02547

44. Eysenck MW, Derakshan N, Santos R, Calvo MG. Anxiety and cognitive performance: attentional control theory. *Emotion.* (2007) 7:336–53. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.2.336

45. Han S, Hu J, Gao J, Fan J, Xu X, Xu P, et al. Neural dynamics and coupling underlying uncertain anticipatory conflicts in anxious individuals. *Cereb Cortex.* (2022) 00:1–9. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhab482

46. Knowles KA, Olatunji BO. Specificity of trait anxiety in anxiety and depression: Meta-analysis of the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2020) 82:101928. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101928

47. Morriss J. What do I do now? Intolerance of uncertainty is associated with discrete patterns of anticipatory physiological responding to different uncertain contexts. *Psychophysiology*. (2019) 56:e13396. doi: 10.1101/527317

48. Nelson BD, Weinberg A, Pawluk J, Gawlowska M, Proudfit GH. An Event-Related potential investigation of fear generalization and intolerance of uncertainty. *Behav Ther.* (2014) 46:661–70. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2014. 09.010

49. Ledoux JE, Brown R, A. higher-order theory of emotional consciousness. *P Natl Acad Sci Usa.* (2017) 114:E2016. doi: 10.1073/pnas.16193 16114

50. Ledoux JE, Hofmann SG. The subjective experience of emotion: A fearful view. *Curr Opin Behav Sci.* (2018) 19:67–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2017. 09.011

51. Tang YY, Hoelzel BK, Posner MI. The neuroscience of mindfulness meditation. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2015) 16:312–25. doi: 10.1038/nrn3916

#### Check for updates

### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yuan Yuan Wang, De Montfort University, United Kingdom

## REVIEWED BY

Raphael Machado Castilhos, Clinical Hospital of Porto Alegre, Brazil Mijung Lee, Korea Armed Forces Nursing Academy, South Korea

\*CORRESPONDENCE Abdulmajeed A. Alkhamees a.alkhamees@qu.edu.sa

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 05 August 2022 ACCEPTED 26 September 2022 PUBLISHED 25 October 2022

#### CITATION

Ali AM, Alameri RA, Hendawy AO, Al-Amer R, Shahrour G, Ali EM, Alkhamees AA, Ibrahim N and Hassan BH (2022) Psychometric evaluation of the depression anxiety stress scale 8-items (DASS-8)/DASS-12/DASS-21 among family caregivers of patients with dementia. *Front. Public Health* 10:1012311.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1012311

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ali, Alameri, Hendawy, Al-Amer, Shahrour, Ali, Alkhamees, Ibrahim and Hassan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Psychometric evaluation of the depression anxiety stress scale 8-items (DASS-8)/DASS-12/DASS-21 among family caregivers of patients with dementia

Amira Mohammed Ali<sup>1</sup>, Rana Ali Alameri<sup>2</sup>, Amin Omar Hendawy<sup>3</sup>, Rasmieh Al-Amer<sup>4,5</sup>, Ghada Shahrour<sup>6</sup>, Esraa M. Ali<sup>7</sup>, Abdulmajeed A. Alkhamees<sup>8</sup>\*, Nashwa Ibrahim<sup>9</sup> and Bothaina Hussein Hassan<sup>10,11</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatric Nursing and Mental Health, Faculty of Nursing, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, <sup>2</sup>Fundamentals of Nursing Department, College of Nursing, Imam Abdulrahman Bin Faisal University, Dammam, Saudi Arabia, <sup>3</sup>Department of Animal and Poultry Production, Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour University, Damanhour, Egypt, <sup>4</sup>Faculty of Nursing, Isra University, Amman, Jordan, <sup>5</sup>School of Nursing and Midwifery, Western Sydney University, Penrith, NSW, Australia, <sup>6</sup>Jordan University of Science and Technology, Faculty of Nursing, Irbid, Jordan, <sup>7</sup>Department of Basic and Educational Sciences, Faculty of Education for Early Childhood, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, <sup>8</sup>Department of Medicine, Unayzah College of Medicine and Medical Sciences, Qassim University, Unayzah, Saudi Arabia, <sup>9</sup>Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing Department, Faculty of Nursing, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt, <sup>10</sup>Department of Nursing, College of Applied Medical Sciences, King Faisal University, Al-Ahsa, Saudi Arabia, <sup>11</sup>Department of Gerontological Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt

Patients with dementia express a set of problematic and deteriorating symptoms, along with self-care dependency. Over time, the mental health of family caregivers of persons with dementia may be affected, putting them at a high risk for psychopathology, which may be associated with endangered wellbeing of people with dementia. This cross-sectional instrumental design study examined the psychometric properties of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8-items (DASS-8), DASS-12, and DASS-21 in a convenient sample of 571 caregivers from northern Italy and southern Switzerland (mean age = 53 years, SD = 12, range = 24-89 years). A bifactor structure of the three measures had the best fit; some items of the DASS-12/DASS-21 failed to load on their domain-specific factors. The three-factor structure was invariant across various groups (e.g., gender and education), expressed adequate reliability and convergent validity, and had strong positive correlation with the three-item UCLA Loneliness Scale (UCLALS3). Distress scores did not differ among carers of different types of dementia (Alzheimer's disease vs. other types, e.g., vascular dementia). However, distress scores were significantly high among female individuals, adult children caregivers, those caring for dependent patients, and those who received help with care. For 54.9 and 38.8% of the latter, care was

provided by relatives and health professionals, respectively. Since the DASS-8 expresses adequate psychometrics comparable with the DASS-21, it may be used as a brief measure of distress in this population.

KEYWORDS

psychological distress/anxiety/depression, dementia/cognitive impairment/Alzheimer's disease/Parkinson's disease, short form of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21/Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8-items, factor structure/psychometric properties/structural validity/criterion validity/knowngroup validity/validation/measurement invariance/discriminant validity, old age/elders/elderly, loneliness, informal/family caregivers, spouse/adult children

## Introduction

Dementia is a devastating clinical syndrome, which represents the second prevalent neurological condition after headache and the third most burdensome disease-striking more than 50 million people worldwide and contributing to an annual cost of care of more than \$232 billion in the United States (1-4). The most common form of dementia is Alzheimer's disease (60-80% of dementia cases) (1, 5). However, it may develop in Parkinson's disease, cerebral vascular injury, metabolic disorders, etc. (1, 3, 6, 7). Dementia runs a progressive course. Drastic deteriorations in cognitive and functional performance develop during late stages of the disease (2, 3). Thus, dementia represents a major source of disability, with most patients expressing significant impairments in all aspects of life and high dependency in all activities of daily living (ADL). Dementia care is largely provided by family members, friends, or informal caregivers (2, 3, 8).

More than two-thirds of family caregivers of patients with dementia in the United States perform numerous medical/nursing tasks, which are usually performed by health professionals such as managing multiple medications, injections, tube feedings, and wound care (9). Family caregivers are stressed with dementia symptoms (e.g., cognitive alterations, anxiety, agitation, disinhibition, aggressive behavior, and sleep disturbances), comorbidities, and complex medication regimen (8, 9). Moreover, family caregivers are primarily elderly spouses (mean age =  $62.5 \pm 23.3$  years, 74.1% women), who may endure physical and mental adversities associated with their own old age (e.g., age-related diseases and disability) (9, 10). As a result, caregivers frequently experience burnout, emotional distress, anxiety, sleep disturbance, poor general health, low quality of life, and social isolation (8, 9, 11-13), with higher vulnerability among women, spouses, and elders, especially those with deficient coping, social isolation, lack of training/information about the disease, poor premorbid relationship with care recipients, and high levels of negative expressed emotions (8, 9). Caregiving distress among adult-child caregivers of parents with dementia predominately originates from the impact of caregiving on children's health, schedule, and finance (14).

caregivers of patients with dementia have exhibited a range of mental symptoms such as mood dysfunction (e.g., anxiety and depression), sleep disturbance, loneliness, and dysfunctional eating (16, 17). Increased caregiver distress is reported to be a direct effect of COVID-19 confinement, independent of dementia stage. It is also associated with family caregivers' concerns about unavailability of paid caregivers and fear of transmitting COVID-19 infection while caring for their relatives (18). In addition, the COVID-19 era has witnessed an increase in the severity of dementia symptoms: behavioral dysfunctions, anxiety, apathy/depression, and an excessive decline in cognitive functions (18, 19). Deteriorations in dementia symptoms during COVID-19 are associated with increased caregiver distress, as well as increased intensity of caregiving and severity of caregiver burden (16, 18, 20). Distress among family and informal caregivers can adversely affect the dementia course, leading to further deteriorations in the cognitive, behavioral, and emotional symptoms of dementia, in addition to the institutionalization of dementia care recipients and increased elder abuse (8, 10). Therefore, proper assessment of distress symptomatology among dementia caregivers is necessary to mobilize actions, which are necessary to facilitate resilience in such a vulnerable group.

Orchestrated with the overall rise in distress among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic (15),

According to the tripartite model, general affective distress is a common component of both depression and anxiety. However, both conditions are suggested to have distinct features, which can be reliably measured (21). The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21) has been designed and is commonly used to measure the distinct features of depression, anxiety, and stress (22). Nonetheless, subsequent investigations revealed failure of the DASS-21 to express a consistent dimensional structure (23– 27), along with concerns about its psychometric equivalence across different groups both in English-speaking countries and other parts of the world (23, 28–30), as well as a ceiling effect (31). Accordingly, the scale has undergone extensive revisions, resulting in several brief forms with better psychometric properties [DASS-18 (32, 33), DASS-14 (34), DASS-13, DASS-9 (23), DASS-12 (35), and DASS-8 (36)]. Given that short scales

encourage higher response rates, the last two shortened versions of the DASS-21 have been recently tested among psychiatric patients from Korea and Saudi Arabia; healthy individuals from the USA, Australia, Saudi Arabia, and Ghana; and Australian women with chronic pelvic pain (35-38). In all studies, the DASS-8 expressed the best fit and invariance across different groups. Its internal consistency and convergent validity were close to or greater than those of the parent scale and the DASS-12. Discriminant validity analysis revealed that the subscales of the DASS-8 are more distinct than those of the parent scale and the DASS-12 (37, 38). Because of its brevity and simplicity, the DASS-8 seems to be a more attractive measure of general distress and mental symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress. However, individuals from different cultures have their own unique ways of responding to stressful events and reporting their mental distress. Such variations may affect the manner through which they respond to the items of a symptom scale, resulting in a reporting bias, which may reduce the credibility of measurement (39). Therefore, further investigations of the psychometric characteristics of the DASS-8 in various cultural contexts and among different groups are needed, should the scale be used as a global measure of common mental symptomatology. This study aimed to evaluate the psychometric properties of the DASS-8 relative to the DAS-12 and the DASS-21 among dementia family caregivers from Italy and Switzerland. Based on previous studies, we hypothesized that the DASS measures will express a consistent three-dimensional structure and measurement invariance among caregivers from both countries. The DASS measures would congruently have positive correlations with caregiver loneliness. Based on the literature (8-10, 14), distress levels are expected to be higher among respondents who are females, spouses of care recipients, those not receiving help with care, and those caring for patients with Alzheimer's disease or who are ADL-dependent patients than in those who are males, adult children, receiving help, caring for other types of dementia, or autonomous patients.

## Materials and methods

## Study design, participants, and procedure

This cross-sectional study is a secondary analysis of a public dataset (40) comprising a convenient sample of Italian-speaking adult family caregivers of people with dementia. Participants were recruited through advertisements disseminated through social media and 53 dementia day-care centers in Italy and southern Switzerland. Data were collected through an online survey implemented in Research Electronic Data Capture (RedCap) during the period between 25 May and 25 June 2020. All the participants signed a digital informed consent. The data collection procedure was approved by Italian and Swiss Cantonal ethics committees (16), and the dataset is shared under the terms of creative common license (CC BY

4.0) (40). Therefore, no ethical approval was obtained for the current study.

#### Measures

The participants completed a self-administered questionnaire, which was in Italian and consisted of three sections. The first section inquired about participants' sociodemographic characteristics (age, gender, education, and employment), the type of dementia, level of ADL dependency, duration of dementia care provision, their relationship with the care recipient, and if they received help with dementia care (16).

Section two comprised the Italian version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21) (41) as a measure of psychological distress, depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms. The DASS-21 is composed of three subscales, and each subscale comprised seven items. The respondents would rate the intensity of their symptoms during the last week on a four-point scale, which ranged from 0 (did not apply to me at all) to 3 (applied to me very much or most of the time). The minimum and maximum total scores of the DASS-21 ranged between 0 and 63 (27, 33). In this instrumental design study, the short versions of the DASS-21 were nested within the parent scale, i.e., the data on the items of the short scales were obtained from the DASS-21 and analyzed as shown below. The DASS-8 is the shortest version of the DASS-21. It is composed of three subscales: depression (three items, e.g., felt that I had nothing to look forward), anxiety (three items, e.g., felt close to panic), and stress (two items, e.g., was using a lot of my mental energy) (36, 38). The minimum score of the DASS-8 and its subscales is 0, while the maximum scores are 24, 9, 9, and 6, respectively. The DASS-12 consists of three subscales; each subscale consists of four items. The minimum and maximum scores of the DASS-12 ranges from 0 to 36, while and the minimum and maximum scores of each of its three subscales range from 0 to 12 (35). For all the DASS measures, higher scores denote higher endorsement of mental distress symptoms. The reliability of the DASS-21, DASS-8, and DASS-12 in this sample is excellent (please see the Results section for the details).

Section three comprised the Italian version of the University of California, Los Angeles, Loneliness Scaleversion 3 (UCLALS3) (42); three items of the UCLALS3 were used [lack of companionship, feel left out (exclusion), and feel isolated (isolation)], which represent three interrelated dimensions of isolation, relational connectedness, and trait loneliness. The frequency of endorsing items since the start of the COVID-19 outbreak is rated on a three-point Likert scale, which ranges from 1 (hardly never) to 3 (often). Thus, the minimum and maximum total scores of the current version of the UCLALS3 range between 3 and 9. Higher scores reflect higher loneliness (16, 42, 43). The reliability of the UCLALS3 in this study is very good (coefficient alpha = 0.87).

Models	Samples	$\chi^2$	Р	Df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA	RMSEA 90% CI	SRMR
Model 1	Crude	212.534	0.001	20	0.942	0.919	0.130	0.114-0.146	0.0391
1F DASS-8	Correlated error	115.331	0.001	17	0.971	0.952	0.101	0.084-0.119	0.0288
Model 2	Crude	89.717	0.001	17	0.978	0.964	0.087	0.069-0.105	0.0241
3F DASS-8	Correlated error	60.321	0.012	16	0.987	0.977	0.070	0.052-0.089	0.0178
Model 3 Bifactor DASS-8	Crude	50.737	0.001	16	0.990	0.982	0.062	0.043-0.081	0.0162
Model 4	Crude	515.206	0.001	54	0.912	0.892	0.122	0.113-0.132	0.0508
1F DASS-12	Correlated error	303.428	0.001	49	0.951	0.935	0.095	0.085-0.106	0.0390
Model 5	Crude	356.390	0.001	51	0.942	0.924	0.102	0.093-0.113	0.0450
3F DASS-12	Correlated error	336.485	0.001	46	0.945	0.924	0.103	0.092-0.113	0.0429
Model 6 Bifactor DASS-12	Crude	153.312	0.001	50	0.980	0.974	0.060	0.049-0.071	0.0253
Model 7	Crude	1,279.948	0.001	189	0.903	0.892	0.101	0.095-0.106	0.0444
1F DASS-21	Correlated error	1,070.892	0.001	185	0.921	0.910	0.092	0.89-0.97	0.0406
Model 8	Crude	997.013	0.001	186	0.928	0.918	0.087	0.082-0.093	0.0404
3F DASS-21	Correlated error	864.902	0.001	183	0.939	0.930	0.081	0.075-0.086	0.0366
Model 9 Bifactor DASS-21	Crude	701.337	0.001	184	0.954	0.947	0.070	0.065-0.076	0.0328

TABLE 1 Goodness of fit of the confirmatory factor analysis models representing the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-8 (DASS-8), DASS-12, and DASS-21 among dementia family caregivers.

 $\chi^2$ , chi-square; df, degrees of freedom; CFI, comparative fit index; TLI, Tucker–Lewis index; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation; CI, confidence interval; SRMR, standardized root mean residual.

## Statistical analysis

Shapiro–Wilk W test was used to examine the distribution of different versions of the DASS and the UCLALS3. Variables with a non-normal distribution were described by median (MD) and interquartile range (IQR; Q1–Q3). Variables with a normal distribution were described by mean and standard deviation. Categorical variables were described by frequencies and percentages.

Based on the findings of previous studies (36-38), the factor structures of the DASS-8 and DASS-12 were examined using confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). In this study, four models were tested: a unidimensional structure, a three-factor structure, a second-order factor structure, and a bifactor structure. The criteria used to evaluate model fit were chi-square  $(\chi^2)$  index, comparative fit index (CFI), Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), standardized root-mean-square residual (SRMR), and root-mean-square error of approximation (RMSEA). Ideally,  $\chi^2$  should be non-significant. However,  $\chi^2$  values can be greatly affected by sample size. Therefore, model fit can be parsimoniously considered good or acceptable based on the values of absolute fit measures: CFI and TLI equal to or above 0.95 and 0.90, along with SRMR and RMSEA <0.06 and 0.08, respectively (44, 45). Based on suggestions pointed out by modification indices, few error terms were correlated to improve the model fit.

Measurement invariance of the DASS-8/DASS-12/DASS-21 was examined at the configural, metric, scalar, and strict levels (46, 47) across groups of gender, education (compulsory, high school, and university), employment (employed and nonemployed), country of residence, type of dementia (Alzheimer's disease vs. all other types), level of dependency (autonomous vs. dependent), receiving help with caregiving (yes vs. no), and relationship with care recipients (spouses vs. adult children). Models with a significant  $\chi^2$ -value were considered non-invariant if  $\Delta$ CFI and  $\Delta$ RMSEA exceeded 0.02 and 0.015, respectively (15, 46).

To examine the known-group validity of the DASS-8/DASS-12/DASS-21, Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used to determine whether these measures and their subscales can differentiate respondents with higher distress across groups of gender, dementia type, level of dependency, and help with caregiving. To examine the discriminant validity of the DASS measures, we computed heterotrait-to-monotrait (HTMT) ratio of correlations of items comprising the DASS-8/DASS-12/DASS-21 (38, 48).

The internal consistency of the three scales and their subscales was evaluated by coefficient alpha, alpha if item deleted, and item-total correlations. The latter was also used as an indicator of convergent validity. Spearman's correlations of the DASS-8, DASS-12, and their subscales with the DASS-21 scale and its subscales were used to examine their convergent validity. The criterion validity of the DASS measures was tested by correlating their scores with the UCLALS3. Respondents with higher loneliness scores were expected to display higher levels of distress. The analyses were conducted in Amos version 24 and SPSS version 28. Significance was considered at a probability less than 0.05 in two-tailed tests.



## Results

## Characteristics of the participants

The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants (N = 571, mean age = 53  $\pm$  12 years, range = 24–89 years, 74.4% Italian, and 25.6% Swiss) are described in detail elsewhere (16). In brief, most of the participants were

females (81.6%) and adult children of patients with dementia (71.8%). They mostly had high school education (56.4%), were employed (49.6%), provided dementia care for an average of 6.1 (SD = 4.0) years, and received help with care from other family members, friends, or health professionals (58.7%). Alzheimer's disease was the most prevalent type of dementia (55.3%), and 79.7% of patients with dementia were dependent in activities of ADL.

# Results of confirmatory factor analysis and invariance analysis

Table 1 shows poor fit of the one-factor structure of the three DASS measures. The three-factor structure of the DASS-8 and the DASS-21 had good and acceptable fit, respectively. Meanwhile, RMSEA indicated misfit of the three-factor structure of the DASS-12, even when the error terms of three items were correlated. Notably, the bifactor structures of the three scales expressed the best fit among all models. In that model, all the items of the DASS-8 loaded significantly on their domain-specific factors, albeit the loadings of items 12 and 13 on the corresponding factors were below 0.3. Simultaneously, item 13 had loadings below 0.1, while items 11 and 12 failed to load on their corresponding factors in models representing the DASS-12 and the DASS-21, respectively (Supplementary materials). Given the good fit of the three-factor structure, with considerably satisfactory item loadings (Figure 1), this model was used for testing measurement invariance of the DASS scales.

As indicated in Table 2, the three-factor structures of the DASS-8, DASS-12, and DASS-21 were invariant at the configural, metric, scalar, and strict levels across all groups. Nevertheless, the DASS-8 was non-invariant at the scalar level across country groups ( $\Delta$ CFI > 0.02 and  $\Delta$ RMSEA >0.15). The DASS-12 also tended to be non-invariant at the scalar level ( $\Delta$ CFI > 0.02).

# Results of known-group validity and discriminant validity tests

Table 3 indicates significantly higher scores of all the DASS scales and their subscales among female respondents and those caring for dependent patients as hypothesized. Contrary to expectations, distress levels did not significantly vary according to the type of dementia. Also, respondents receiving help demonstrated higher scores of the DASS-8/DASS-12/DASS-21 than those who did not receive help (all *p*-values < 0.001). Adult children caregivers expressed significantly higher levels of distress than spouse caregivers.

Based on the lenient limit of the HTMT ratio of correlations (<0.90), the depression and anxiety subscales of the DASS-8 and the DASS-21 were distinct from each other (HTMT ratio = 0.89 and 0.90, respectively). Meanwhile, the depression and anxiety subscales of both measures expressed an overlap with the stress subscale. As for the DASS-12, all its subscales had perfect correlations with one another (Supplementary materials), except for the anxiety and stress subscales, which were marginally distinct from each other (HTMT ratio = 0.88).

# Results of tests of reliability, convergent validity, and criterion validity

Table 4 shows adequate reliability of the DASS-8/DASS-12/DASS-21 (coefficient alpha = 0.93, 0.95, and 0.97, respectively) and their subscales (coefficient alpha ranging from 0.77 to 0.95). For the three scales, item–total correlations were considerably high, with no increase in reliability up on item deletion from any measure. The shortened versions and their subscales strongly correlated with the parent scale/subscales, suggesting adequate convergent validity. As expected, all the DASS measures had strong positive correlations with the UCLALS3, which supports their criterion validity.

## Discussion

This study examined the psychometric properties of three DASS measures among dementia family caregivers, with the aim of providing a credible short version that may be promptly used for detecting mental distress in this vulnerable population. Compared with the DASS-12 and the DASS-21, the three-factor structure of the DASS-8 had the best fit. It also expressed adequate measurement equivalence, reliability, convergent validity, discriminant validity, and criterion validity relative to the longer versions.

As shown in Table 2, all the DASS measures were invariant at all levels across a wide range of participant characteristics (gender, education, employment, relationship with care recipient, type of dementia, level of dependency, and receiving help with care giving). The shortened versions of the DASS were or tended to be non-invariant at the scalar level across the country of residence. Non-invariance of these measures has been previously reported across English-speaking and Ghanian individuals. Nonetheless, they were invariant across English-speaking respondents from Australia and the United States (38). Likewise, the DASS-21 was non-invariant across countries with different languages, locations, economy, and cultural backgrounds (e.g., Poland and Russia vs. the United States and the United Kingdom as well as Germany vs. Pakistan) (28, 29). In the current study however, the respondents were recruited from a limited border area where people from both countries could fluently speak Italian. Thus, it is not expected that participants in this sample present major cultural variations. Therefore, non-invariance of the shortened version across country in the present study may be partially attributed to the considerably small number of participants in the Swiss group relative to the Italian group. Variations in group and sample sizes are reported to wrongly affect scale score equivalence. Many typical fit criteria may not be suitable in such contexts (49, 50). Moreover, the number of items, degree of factor over determination, and the level of indicator communalities can considerably affect measure fit and scale invariance (49). In

TABLE 2 Invariance of the three-factor structures of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8 (DASS-8), DASS-12, and DASS-21 across different characteristics of dementia family caregivers	s.
--	----

Model	Groups	Invariance levels	$\chi^2$	Df	Р	$\Delta \chi^2$	∆df	$p(\Delta \chi^2)$	CFI	ΔCFI	TLI	ΔTLI	RMSEA	ΔRMSEA	SRMF
DASS-8	Gender	Configural	74.110	32	0.001				0.987		0.977		0.048		0.0319
		Metric	78.903	37	0.001	4.792	5	0.442	0.987	0.000	0.981	-0.004	0.045	0.003	0.0342
		Strong	102.237	43	0.001	23.334	6	0.001	0.982	0.005	0.976	0.005	0.049	-0.004	0.0725
		Strict	120.553	52	0.001	18.316	9	0.032	0.979	0.003	0.977	-0.001	0.048	0.001	0.0880
DASS-12		Configural	398.202	96	0.001				0.941		0.919		0.074		0.05560
		Metric	410.241	105	0.001	12.039	9	0.211	0.940	0.001	0.925	-0.006	0.072	0.002	0.0596
		Strong	427.588	111	0.001	17.347	6	0.008	0.938	0.002	0.926	-0.001	0.071	0.001	0.0781
		Strict	451.821	126	0.001	24.233	15	0.061	0.936	0.002	0.933	-0.007	0.067	0.004	0.0867
DASS-21		Configural	1,146.243	366	0.001				0.929		0.919		0.061		0.0541
		Metric	1,163.750	384	0.001	17.507	18	0.489	0.929	0.000	0.923	-0.004	0.060	0.001	0.0586
		Strong	1,186.036	390	0.001	22.286	6	0.001	0.928	-0.001	0.922	0.001	0.060	0.000	0.0741
		Strict	1,233.315	414	0.001	47.278	24	0.003	0.926	-0.002	0.925	-0.003	0.059	0.001	0.0837
ASS-8	Education	Configural	157.803	68	0.001				0.973		0.967		0.048		0.0659
		Metric	158.825	73	0.001	1.021	5	0.961	0.974	0.001	0.970	-0.003	0.045	0.003	0.065
		Strong	163.449	79	0.001	4.624	6	0.593	0.975	-0.001	0.973	-0.003	0.043	0.002	0.0680
		Strict	177.112	88	0.001	13.663	9	0.135	0.973	0.001	0.974	-0.001	0.042	0.001	0.0735
DASS-12		Configural	541.567	174	0.001				0.929		0.919		0.061		0.0839
		Metric	545.488	183	0.001	3.921	9	0.917	0.930	-0.001	0.924	-0.005	0.059	0.002	0.0872
		Strong	551.762	189	0.001	6.274	6	0.393	0.930	0.000	0.927	-0.003	0.058	0.001	0.0916
		Strict	570.557	204	0.001	18.795	15	0.223	0.929	0.0001	0.931	-0.004	0.056	0.002	0.0976
DASS-21		Configural	1,570.145	597	0.001				0.914		0.909		0.054		0.0792
		Metric	1,579.413	615	0.001	9.268	18	0.953	0.914	0.000	0.912	-0.003	0.053	0.001	0.0812
		Strong	1,587.843	621	0.001	8.430	6	0.208	0.914	0.000	0.913	-0.001	0.052	0.001	0.0828
		Strict	1,631.604	645	0.001	43.760	24	0.008	0.912	0.002	0.914	-0.001	0.052	0.00	0.0904
DASS-8	Employment	Configural	90.001	32	0.001				0.982		0.968		0.056		0.203
		Metric	94.891	37	0.001	4.890	5	0.429	0.982	0.000	0.973	-0.005	0.052	0.004	0.213
		Strong	103.106	43	0.001	8.215	6	0.223	0.981	0.001	0.975	-0.002	0.050	0.002	0.245
		Strict	122.100	52	0.001	18.994	9	0.025	0.978	0.003	0.976	-0.001	0.049	0.001	0.292
ASS-12		Configural	404.982	96	0.001				0.938		0.915		0.075		0.0476
		Metric	413.900	105	0.001	8.918	9	0.445	0.938	0.000	0.922	-0.007	0.072	0.003	0.0500
		Strong	428.248	111	0.001	14.348	6	0.026	0.936	0.002	0.924	-0.002	0.071	0.001	0.053
		Strict	448.730	126	0.001	20.482	15	0.154	0.935	0.001	0.932	-0.008	0.067	0.004	0.0561

(Continued)

Model	Groups	Invariance levels	χ <sup>2</sup>	Df	Р	$\Delta \chi^2$	∆df	$p(\Delta \chi^2)$	CFI	ΔCFI	TLI	ΔTLI	RMSEA	<b>ARMSEA</b>	SRMI
DASS-21		Configural	1,133.240	366	0.001				0.929		0.918		0.061		0.0410
		Metric	1,160.683	384	0.001	27.443	18	0.071	0.928	0.001	0.921	-0.003	0.060	0.001	0.0438
		Strong	1,175.832	390	0.001	15.194	6	0.019	0.927	0.001	0.921	0.000	0.060	0.000	0.0457
		Strict	1,219.078	414	0.001	43.246	24	0.009	0.925	0.002	0.924	-0.003	0.058	0.002	0.0487
DASS-8	Country	Configural	91.407	32	0.001				0.978		0.961		0.057		0.0232
		Metric	92.290	37	0.001	0.883	5	0.971	0.979	-0.001	0.969	-0.008	0.051	0.006	0.0233
		Strong	213.162	43	0.001	120.871	6	0.001	0.936	0.043	0.917	0.052	0.083	-0.032	0.0501
		Strict	252.328	52	0.001	39.166	9	0.001	0.925	0.011	0.919	-0.002	0.082	0.001	0.0522
ASS-12		Configural	431.680	96	0.001				0.922		0.892		0.078		0.0529
		Metric	441.663	105	0.001	9.983	9	0.352	0.921	0.001	0.901	0.001	0.075	0.003	0.0539
		Strong	577.042	111	0.001	135.379	6	0.001	0.891	0.030	0.871	0.030	0.086	-0.011	0.0711
		Strict	643.813	126	0.001	66.771	15	0.001	0.879	0.012	0.873	-0.002	0.085	0.001	0.0719
ASS-21		Configural	1,244.101	366	0.001				0.904		0.890		0.065		0.0467
		Metric	1,263.384	384	0.001	19.283	18	0.375	0.904	0.000	0.895	-0.005	0.063	0.002	0.047
		Strong	1,430.786	390	0.001	167.402	6	0.001	0.887	0.017	0.878	0.017	0.068	-0.005	0.0668
		Strict	1,528.048	414	0.001	97.263	24	0.001	0.879	0.008	0.877	0.001	0.069	-0.001	0.0687
ASS-8	Relationship	Configural	98.766	32	0.001				0.978		0.961		0.063		0.0222
	(spouse/child	)													
		Metric	103.065	37	0.001	4.299	5	0.507	0.978	0.000	0.967	-0.006	0.058	0.005	0.0221
		Strong	115.920	43	0.001	12.855	6	0.045	0.976	0.002	0.968	-0.001	0.057	0.001	0.0288
		Strict	134.804	52	0.001	18.885	9	0.026	0.972	0.004	0.970	-0.001	0.055	0.002	0.0365
ASS-12		Configural	375.451	96	0.001				0.941		0.919		0.074		0.0438
		Metric	386.799	105	0.001	11.348	9	0.253	0.940	0.001	0.925	-0.006	0.071	0.003	0.0438
		Strong	410.290	111	0.001	23.491	6	0.001	0.937	0.003	0.925	0.000	0.072	-0.001	0.0465
		Strict	429.829	126	0.001	19.539	15	0.190	0.936	0.001	0.933	-0.008	0.068	0.004	0.0465
ASS-21		Configural	1,116.091	366	0.001				0.926		0.915		0.062		0.0363
		Metric	1,141.408	384	0.001	25.318	18	0.116	0.926	0.000	0.919	-0.004	0.061	0.001	0.0360
		Strong	1,157.691	390	0.001	16.283	6	0.012	0.925	0.001	0.919	0.000	0.061	0.000	0.0392
		Strict	1,200.414	414	0.001	42.723	24	0.011	0.923	0.002	0.922	-0.003	0.060	0.001	0.0428
ASS-8	Type of Dementia	Configural	73.426	32	0.001				0.988		0.978		0.048		0.0194
		Metric	75.085	37	0.001	1.659	5	0.894	0.989	-0.001	0.983	-0.005	0.043	0.005	0.0195

118

Ali et al.

#### TABLE 2 (Continued)

Model	Groups	Invariance levels	χ <sup>2</sup>	Df	Р	$\Delta \chi^2$	Δdf	$p(\Delta \chi^2)$	CFI	ΔCFI	TLI	ΔTLI	RMSEA	<b>ARMSEA</b>	SRMR
		Strong	81.576	43	0.001	6.491	6	0.370	0.989	0.000	0.985	-0.002	0.040	0.003	0.0254
		Strict	111.745	52	0.001	30.169	9	0.001	0.982	0.007	0.981	0.004	0.045	-0.005	0.0402
DASS-12		Configural	404.163	96	0.001				0.941		0.920		0.075		0.0481
		Metric	407.589	105	0.001	3.427	9	0.945	0.943	-0.002	0.928	-0.008	0.071	0.004	0.0481
		Strong	410.935	111	0.001	3.345	6	0.764	0.943	0.000	0.932	-0.004	0.069	0.002	0.0560
		Strict	448.012	126	0.001	37.077	15	0.001	0.939	0.004	0.936	-0.004	0.067	0.002	0.0560
DASS-21		Configural	1,114.320	366	0.001				0.934		0.924		0.060		0.0367
		Metric	1,126.020	384	0.001	11.700	18	0.862	0.935	-0.001	0.928	-0.004	0.058	0.002	0.0372
		Strong	1,130.640	390	0.001	4.620	6	0.593	0.935	0.000	0.930	-0.002	0.058	0.000	0.0406
		Strict	1,197.276	414	0.001	66.636	24	0.001	0.931	0.004	0.930	0.000	0.058	0.000	0.0507
DASS-8	Level of dependency	Configural	85.979	32	0.001				0.984		0.971		0.054		0.0164
	· ·	Metric	94.700	37	0.001	8.721	5	0.827	0.982	0.002	0.973	-0.002	0.052	0.002	0.0170
		Strong	99.625	43	0.001	4.925	6	0.554	0.983	-0.001	0.978	-0.005	0.048	0.004	0.0174
		Strict	106.294	52	0.001	6.669	9	0.671	0.984	-0.001	0.982	-0.004	0.043	0.005	0.0179
DASS-12		Configural	375.451	96	0.001				0.941		0.919		0.074		0.0421
		Metric	386.799	105	0.001	11.348	9	0.253	0.940	0.001	0.925	-0.006	0.071	0.003	0.0412
		Strong	410.290	111	0.001	23.491	6	0.001	0.937	0.003	0.925	0.000	0.072	-0.001	0.0438
		Strict	429.829	126	0.001	19.539	15	0.190	0.936	0.001	0.933	-0.008	0.068	0.004	0.0465
DASS-21		Configural	1,119.346	366	0.001				0.932		0.922		0.060		0.0479
		Metric	1,137.433	384	0.001	18.087	18	0.450	0.932	0.000	0.926	-0.004	0.059	0.001	0.0508
		Strong	1,153.591	390	0.001	16.157	6	0.013	0.931	0.001	0.926	0.000	0.059	0.000	0.0537
		Strict	1,179.034	414	0.001	25.443	24	0.382	0.931	0.000	0.930	-0.004	0.057	0.002	0.0587
DASS-8	Receiving	Configural	71.359	32	0.001				0.988		0.979		0.046		0.0180
	help	Metric	74.438	37	0.001	3.080	5	0.688	0.988	0.000	0.982	-0.003	0.042	0.004	0.0193
		Strong	77.536	43	0.001	3.097	6	0.797	0.989	-0.001	0.986	-0.004	0.038	0.004	0.0231
		Strict	80.204	52	0.001	2.669	9	0.976	0.991	-0.002	0.991	-0.005	0.031	0.007	0.0234
DASS-12		Configural	414.540	96	0.001				0.937		0.914		0.076		0.0398
		Metric	418.887	105	0.001	4.346	9	0.887	0.938	-0.001	0.922	-0.008	0.072	0.004	0.0399
		Strong	438.250	111	0.001	19.363	6	0.004	0.936	0.002	0.923	-0.001	0.072	0.000	0.0441
		Strict	455.058	126	0.001	16.809	15	0.330	0.935	0.001	0.932	-0.009	0.068	0.004	0.0460
DASS-21		Configural	1,166.435	366	0.001				0.927		0.916		0.062		0.0402
		Metric	1,182.852	384	0.001	16.418	18	0.563	0.927	0.000	0.920	-0.004	0.060	0.002	0.0420
		Strong	1,194.925	390	0.001	12.073	6	0.060	0.927	0.000	0.921	-0.001	0.060	0.00	0.0428
		Strict	1,227.466	414	0.001	32.541	24	0.114	0.926	0.001	0.925	-0.004	0.059	0.001	0.0449

10.3389/fpubh.2022.1012311

χ<sup>2</sup>, chi-square; df, degrees of freedom; CFI, comparative fit index; TLI, Tucker–Lewis index; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation; CI, confidence interval; SRMR, standardized root mean residual, values in bold indicate variance or tendency toward variance.

DASS versions	Gend	er	Dependen	cy level	Receivin	g help	Relation	iship	Dement	ia type
	U	z	U	z	U	Ζ	U	z	U	z
DASS-8	17,268.0***	-4.59	20,755.0***	-3.56	29,328.0**	-5.26	19,325.5***	-3.33	39,309.5	-0.50
Depression	19,232.0***	-3.32	22,206.5**	-2.66	30,074.0**	-4.90	19,585.5***	-3.18	40,106.5	-0.09
Anxiety	16,333.5***	-5.23	20,627.5***	-3.66	29,215.0**	-5.35	19,398.5***	-3.30	38,408.0	-0.98
Stress	19,165.0**	-3.39	21,642.5**	-3.04	32,017.5**	-3.93	21,351.5*	-1.98	38,719.5	-0.80
DASS-12	16,452.5***	-5.13	20,835.0***	-3.50	28,614.0**	-5.63	18,907.5***	-3.62	38,779.0	-0.77
Depression	17,260.5***	-4.61	21,783.0**	-2.92	29,357.5**	-5.26	19,429.0**	-3.27	38,762.5	-0.78
Anxiety	15,847.5***	-5.54	20,514.0***	-3.72	28,690.5**	-5.60	18,618.0***	-3.83	38,647.0	-0.84
Stress	19,122.5**	-3.38	21,675.0**	-2.99	30,515.0**	-4.67	20,497.5*	-2.54	39,258.0	-0.53
DASS-21	16495.0***	-5.10	20598.0***	-3.65	28696.0**	-5.58	18995.5***	-3.56	39482.5	-0.41
Depression	17,611.0***	-4.37	21,609.5**	-3.02	29,316.0**	-5.27	19,700.5**	-3.08	39,211.5	-0.55
Anxiety	15,868.5***	-5.52	20,352.0***	-3.81	28,649.5**	-5.61	18,726.5***	-3.75	38,741.0	-0.79
Stress	17,731.0***	-4.29	21,271.0**	-3.23	29,717.0**	-5.06	19,955.0**	-2.91	39,300.0	-0.51

TABLE 3 Known-group validity of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-8, DASS-12, and DASS-21) among dementia family caregivers.

DASS, Depression Anxiety Stress Scale; U, Mann-Whitney U-test.

\*, \*\*, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>Differences are significant at a level of 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001, respectively.

this respect, models with small degrees of freedom (df) tend to express inflated RMSEA (51, 52). This was notable in the model examining the DASS-8 compared with that of the DASS-12, which also exhibited inflation in  $\Delta$ CFI—a more reliable measure of misfit in small scales than RMSEA (51, 52). Accordingly, future studies investigating the invariance of these shortened versions need to take the influence of sample size on scale equivalence into consideration.

As for the tests of known-group validity, the DASS measures significantly identified distressed groups (Table 3). As expected, female carers and those caring for ADL-dependent patients had higher distress levels than male carers and those caring for autonomous patients, with no difference between Alzheimer's disease and other types of dementia. More than half the respondents (58.7%) stated that they received help with caring for patients with dementia. In contradiction to our hypothesis, those receiving help expressed greater levels of distress than those who did not receive help. Dementia caregiving is primarily provided by families (in up to 65% of cases) (18), and the worst levels of caregiver distress are largely reported among those caring for severe cases than those caring for mild cases (18, 19). For those who reported receiving help, 55.3% of their patients had Alzheimer's disease, and 79.7% of patients were not able to perform ADL. Therefore, ADL dependency, which may be associated with dementia severity, is the possible cause of distress in this group. In addition, caregiving is also reported to negatively influence the health of caregivers (14). Accordingly, those who perceive their health as deteriorating as a result of extensive caregiving are more likely to ask for help. For 54.9, 38.8, and 6.3% of the respondents who indicated that their patients received supplementary care, care was provided by another relative, nurse, or friend, respectively. Caregiver distress during the COVID-19 pandemic is associated with fear of the absence of paid caregivers as well as fear that contact with people who assist with instrumental activities may transmit this virulent infection to their patients (18). In addition, caregiving interferes with adult children's work schedule, while hiring health professionals to care for this chronic condition may represent a persistent financial burden (14).

Based on an existing review, we hypothesized that spouse caregivers would express higher levels of distress than adult children caregivers (8). Paradoxically, the latter demonstrated more distress than spouse caregivers. This finding can be related to the fact that the pandemic has created a lot of challenges for younger groups such as increased time spent caring for their children due to school closure, loss of jobs/income, and social isolation imposed by the lockdown. Meanwhile, spouses are older and more likely to be retired, with a greater possibility of being more home-bound than the youth. Moreover, age is reported as a protective factor against distress and trauma during the pandemic (15).

Discriminant validity tests show that the depression and anxiety subscales of the DASS-8 and the DASS-21 were distinct from each other. Thus, the DASS-8/DASS-21 may be used to distinguish the symptoms of depression from those of anxiety, albeit the stress subscale was overlapping with both subscales in both measures. A total of two previous studies revealed that most subscales of the DASS-8 were distinct from each other—the stress and anxiety subscales were overlapping with one another (37, 38). However, that was not true for the DASS-12, which could only discriminate anxiety symptoms from stress symptoms in the current study. All the DASS measures positively correlated with the UCLALS3 at the same level of significance, indicating usefulness of the DASS-8, DASS-12, and DASS-21 as criterion variables. All these measures also demonstrated comparably adequate internal consistency and convergent validity, as noted by high values of item-total correlations and correlations of the shortened versions with the parent scale/subscales.

This study expands the literature by using various techniques to examine three DASS measures in a particularly distressed group (dementia family caregivers) from two European countries during the COVID-19 outbreak. Given that the psychometrics of the DASS-8 were adequately similar to those of longer DASS scales, it may be easier to frequently screen for possible psychopathology among dementia caregivers using this brief version. Scale brevity is a key advantage, especially for a scale that inherits the validity of the parent scale since response rates decrease with the administration of long scales (51, 52). The study also enjoys the merit of repurposing already available public data to generate new knowledge without consuming extensive economic and intellectual resources. Despite these advantages, a number of limitations should be noted. The recruitment and data collection methods entail a risk for selection bias where only those using social media and a smart phone could participate in the present study. Another possibility of selection bias stems from the fact that most of the participants of the study are women. Women may vary in the extent of their emotional experience and expression of distress from men (53)-in fact, greater levels of distress among women were detected in our analysis. Nonetheless, the DASS measures were invariant across genders, indicating that they are less likely to be biased by women's tendency to express more negative emotions than men. Additionally, the UCLALS3 expressed adequate internal consistency, denoting that it enjoys the basic psychometric properties of a scale. Nevertheless, statistics on the different types of validity of this three-item scale as an adequate measure of loneliness are lacking, putting our test of criterion validity at jeopardy. The results may not be generalized because of the crosssectional design, the convenience sample, and the limited time and location of data collection (during an early stage of a prolonged pandemic and from a border region between Italy and Switzerland). Examining the invariance of the DASS measures across those two border regions may not be sufficient to reflect invariance across countries. Although the sample size meets the requirements for CFA analysis based on 21 items of the DASS-21 (20 responses per one item), multigroup comparisons across countries may not be that robust because of the vivid variation in the number of respondents in the country groups. Using an adequate number of groups and participants in groups is necessary for future investigations to properly examine the measurement invariance of the DASS-8/DASS-12 across more European and non-European countries. Multiple participation may represent a threat to data integrity since the survey was conducted online, and there is no information available on the control of the number of participations per person. Moreover, the respondents were included based on self-reporting their state as family caregivers

TABLE 4 Internal consistency, convergent validity, and criterion validity of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) 21, DASS-12, DASS-8, and their subscales among dementia family caregivers.

	•	ı								ł		
	DASS-8	DASS-8 Depression	Anxiety	Stress	DASS-12	Depression	Anxiety	Stress	DASS-21	Depression	Anxiety	Stress
MD (IQR)	15 (8–19)	6 (3-8)	4 (1-7)	4 (2-5)	21 (12–28)	7 (4–10)	6 (2–9)	8 (6–10)	38 (19–49)	13 (7–17)	10 (4–16)	14 (9–17)
Coefficient alpha	0.933	0.850	0.904	0.773	0.948	0.866	0.902	0.859	0.973	0.929	0.945	0.923
Range of corrected item-total	0.739 - 0.823	0.699 - 0.743	0.802-0.822	0.633	0.717 - 0.801	0.701 - 0.756	0.752-0.816	0.635-0.738	0.701 - 0.850	0.718 - 0.806	0.742 - 0.858	0.730-0.788
correlations												
Range of alpha if–item–deleted	0.920 - 0.925	0.770 - 0.818	0.853 - 0.870	ļ	0.942-0.946	0.812 - 0.839	0.861 - 0.884	0.806 - 0.854	0.971-0.972	0.914 - 0.923	0.933 - 0.943	0.907 - 0.914
Correlation with the	I	0.945**	0.948**	0.928**	I	$0.974^{**}$	0.968**	0.967**	I	I	I	I
corresponding subscale of the												
DASS-21												
Correlation with the DASS-21	0.977**	0.894**	0.929**	0.852**	0.987**	0.945**	0.903**	0.903**	I	0.959**	0.954**	0.943**
Correlation with UCLALS3	0.737**	0.688**	0.724**	0.594**	0.735**	0.729**	0.673**	0.644**	0.748**	0.731**	0.724**	0.679**
MD, median; IQR, interquartile range; DASS, Depression Anxiety Stress Scale; UCLALS3, the 3-item University of California, Los Angeles, Loneliness Scale-version 3. "Correlations are significant at a level of 0.01.	ge; DASS, Depress vel of 0.01.	ion Anxiety Stress Sc	ale; UCLALS3, th	e 3-item Uni	ersity of Californ	ia, Los Angeles, Lone	eliness Scale-versic	on 3.				

121

of people with dementia. Not using credible references (e.g., the medical record for the care-recipients) to confirm that the respondents were really caregivers may entail a risk for selection bias.

## Conclusion

The DASS-8 displayed a better factor structure than longer versions, and all its other psychometrics (measurement invariance, reliability, convergent validity, criterion validity, and known-group and discriminant validity) were adequate, compared with longer versions. Because the course of dementia is chronic and progressive, considerable attention should be paid to the identification of high levels of distress among caregivers, especially female carers, adult children of patients with dementia, those with highly dependent patients, and those who ask for supplementary care. The DASS-8 can be a useful brief measure for achieving this aim.

## Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. The dataset supporting the conclusions of this article is available in Zenodo repository at https://zenodo.org/record/4748652#. YdbwiWhBw2w.

## **Ethics statement**

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## References

1. Dumurgier J, Sabia S. Life expectancy in dementia subtypes: exploring a leading cause of mortality. *Lancet Healthy Longev.* (2021) 2:e449–50. doi: 10.1016/S2666-7568(21)00166-5

2. Alzheimer's Association. 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dement.* (2018) 14:367–429. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018. 02.001

3. Tobore TO. On the etiopathogenesis and pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease: a comprehensive theoretical review. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2019) 68:417-37. doi: 10.3233/JAD-181052

4. GBD Neurological Disorders Collaborator Group. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders during 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:877–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30299-5

5. Yang P, Sun F. Aducanumab: the first targeted Alzheimer's therapy. Drug Discov Ther. (2021) 15:166–8. doi: 10.5582/ddt.2021.01061

6. Hawkes CA, Jayakody N, Johnston DA, Bechmann I, Carare RO. Failure of perivascular drainage of beta-amyloid in cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Brain Pathol.* (2014) 24:396–403. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12159

7. Anand A, Patience AA, Sharma N, Khurana N. The present and future of pharmacotherapy of Alzheimer's disease: a comprehensive review. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2017) 815:364–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.09.043

## Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

## Acknowledgments

The researchers would like to thank the Deanship of Scientific Research, Qassim University, for funding the publication of this project.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.1012311/full#supplementary-material

8. Isik AT, Soysal P, Solmi M, Veronese N. Bidirectional relationship between caregiver burden and neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a narrative review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2019) 34:1326– 34. doi: 10.1002/gps.4965

9. Lee M, Ryoo JH, Campbell C, Hollen PJ, Williams IC. Exploring the challenges of medical/nursing tasks in home care experienced by caregivers of older adults with dementia: an integrative review. *J Clin Nurs.* (2019) 28:4177–89. doi: 10.1111/jocn.15007

10. Stall NM, Kim SJ, Hardacre KA, Shah PS, Straus SE, Bronskill SE, et al. Association of informal caregiver distress with health outcomes of communitydwelling dementia care recipients: a systematic review. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2019) 67:609–17. doi: 10.1111/jgs.15690

11. Ali AM, Kunugi H. Royal jelly as an intelligent anti-aging—a focus on cognitive aging and Alzheimer's disease: a review. Antioxidants. (2020) 9:E937. doi: 10.3390/antiox9100937

12. Ali AM, Kunugi H. Apitherapy for age-related skeletal muscle dysfunction (sarcopenia): a review on the effects of royal jelly, propolis, and bee pollen. *Foods*. (2020) 9:E1362. doi: 10.3390/foods9101362

13. Khatatbeh H, Al-Dwaikat T, Alfatafta H, Ali AM, Pakai A. Burnout, quality of life and perceived patient adverse events among paediatric nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Clin Nurs.* (2022) 2022:e16540. doi: 10.1111/jocn.16540

14. Wawrziczny E, Duprez C, Antoine P. Predictors of caregiver distress among spouses, adult children living with the person with dementia, and adult children not living with the person with dementia. *Psychogeriatrics*. (2020) 20:594–601. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12553

15. Ali AM, Alkhamees AA, Elhay ESA, Taha SM, Hendawy AO. COVID-19-related psychological trauma and psychological distress among community-dwelling psychiatric patients: people struck by depression and sleep disorders endure the greatest burden. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 2022:e799812. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.799812

16. Messina A, Lattanzi M, Albanese E, Fiordelli M. Caregivers of people with dementia and mental health during COVID-19: findings from a cross-sectional study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2022) 2022:966605. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-966605/v1

17. Carcavilla N, Pozo AS, González B, Moral-Cuesta D, Roldán JJ, Erice V, et al. Needs of dementia family caregivers in Spain during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2021) 80:533–7. doi: 10.3233/JAD-201430

18. Cohen G, Russo MJ, Campos JA, Allegri RF. Living with dementia: increased level of caregiver stress in times of COVID-19. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2020) 32:1377–81. doi: 10.1017/S1041610220001593

19. Borelli WV, Augustin MC, de Oliveira PBF, Reggiani LC, Bandeirade-Mello RG, Schumacher-Schuh AF, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with dementia associated with increased psychological distress in caregivers during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Alzheimers Dis. (2021) 80:1705– 12. doi: 10.3233/JAD-201513

20. Cohen SA, Kunicki ZJ, Drohan MM, Greaney ML. Exploring changes in caregiver burden and caregiving intensity due to COVID-19. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* (2021) 7:2333721421999279. doi: 10.1177/2333721421999279

21. Clark LA, Watson D. Tripartite model of anxiety and depression: psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (1991) 100:316–36. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.100.3.316

22. Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. 2nd ed. Sydney, NSW: Psychology Foundation (1995). doi: 10.1037/t01004-000

23. Osman A, Wong JL, Bagge CL, Freedenthal S, Gutierrez PM, Lozano G. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 (DASS-21): further examination of dimensions, scale reliability, and correlates. *J Clin Psychol.* (2012) 68:1322–38. doi: 10.1002/jclp.21908

24. Vaughan RS, Edwards EJ, MacIntyre TE. Mental health measurement in a post Covid-19 world: psychometric properties and invariance of the DASS-21 in athletes and non-athletes. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:590559. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.590559

25. Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2005) 44:227–39. doi: 10.1348/014466505X29657

26. Yildirim A, Boysan M, Kefeli MC. Psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21). *Br J Guid Counsel.* (2018) 2018:1–14. doi: 10.1080/03069885.2018.1442558

27. Ali AM, Ahmed A, Sharaf A, Kawakami N, Abdeldayem SM, Green J. The Arabic version of the depression anxiety stress scale-21: cumulative scaling and discriminant-validation testing. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2017) 30:56–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2017.07.018

28. Bibi A, Lin M, Zhang XC, Margraf J. Psychometric properties and measurement invariance of Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scales (DASS-21) across cultures. *Int J Psychol.* (2020) 2020:12671. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12671

29. Scholten S, Velten J, Bieda A, Zhang XC, Margraf J. Testing measurement invariance of the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scales (DASS-21) across four countries. *Psychol Assess.* (2017) 29:1376–90. doi: 10.1037/pas0000440

30. Zanon C, Brenner RE, Baptista MN, Vogel DL, Rubin M, Al-Darmaki FR, et al. Examining the dimensionality, reliability, and invariance of the depression, anxiety, and stress scale-21 (DASS-21) Across Eight Countries. *Assessment.* (2020) 2020:1073191119887449. doi: 10.1177/1073191119887449

31. Page AC, Hooke GR, Morrison DL. Psychometric properties of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) in depressed clinical samples. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2007) 46:283–97. doi: 10.1348/014466506X158996

32. Oei TPS, Sawang S, Goh YW, Mukhtar F. Using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21 (DASS-21) across cultures. *Int J Psychol.* (2013) 2013:755535. doi: 10.1080/00207594.2012.755535

33. Ali AM, Green J. Factor structure of the depression anxiety stress Scale-21 (DASS-21): unidimensionality of the Arabic version among Egyptian drug users. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy*. (2019) 14:40. doi: 10.1186/s13011-019-0226-1

34. Wise FM, Harris DW, Olver JH. The DASS-14: improving the construct validity and reliability of the depression, anxiety, and stress scale in a cohort of health professionals. *J Allied Health*. (2017) 46:e85–90. Available online at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29202170/

35. Lee EH, Moon SH, Cho MS, Park ES, Kim SY, Han JS, et al. The 21-item and 12-item versions of the depression anxiety stress scales: psychometric evaluation in a Korean Population. *Asian Nurs Res.* (2019) 13:30–7. doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2018.11.006

36. Ali AM, Alkhamees AA, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21: development and validation of the depression anxiety stress scale 8-item in psychiatric patients and the general public for easier mental health measurement in a post-COVID-19 world. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:10142. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181910142

37. Ali AM, Hendawy AO, Al-Amer R, Shahrour G, Ali EM, Alkhamees AA, et al. Psychometric evaluation of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8 among women with chronic non-cancer pelvic pain. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 2022:1212124. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-1212124/v1

38. Ali AM, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 8-items expresses robust psychometric properties as an ideal shorter version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21 among healthy respondents from three continents. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:799769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.799769

39. Office of the Surgeon General (US), Center for Mental Health Services (US), National Institute of Mental Health (US). Mental Health: Culture, Race and Ethnicity: A Supplement to Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US). Chapter 2 Culture Counts: The Influence of Culture and Society on Mental Health. (2001).

40. Messina A. Caregivers of People With Dementia and Mental Health During COVID-19: Findings From a Cross-Sectional Study. Version 1. Zenodo (2021). doi: 10.5281/zenodo.4748651

41. Bottesi G, Ghisi M, Altoè G, Conforti E, Melli G, Sica C. The Italian version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21: factor structure and psychometric properties on community and clinical samples. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2015) 60:170–81. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.04.005

42. Boffo M, Mannarini S, Munari C. Exploratory structure equation modeling of the UCLA loneliness scale: a contribution to the Italian adaptation. *TPM*. (2012) 19:345–63. doi: 10.4473/TPM19.4.7

43. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A short scale for measuring loneliness in large surveys: results from two population-based studies. *Res Aging*. (2004) 26:655–72. doi: 10.1177/0164027504268574

44. Ali AM, Ahmed AH, Smail L. Psychological climacteric symptoms and attitudes toward Menopause among Emirati Women. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2020) 17:5028. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17145028

45. Ali AM, Hori H, Kim Y, Kunugi H. Predictors of nutritional status, depression, internet addiction, Facebook addiction, and tobacco smoking among women with eating disorders in Spain. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:2001. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.735109

46. Ali AM, Hendawy AO, Almarwani AM, Alzahrani N, Ibrahim N, Alkhamees AA, et al. The Six-item Version of the Internet Addiction Test: Its development, psychometric properties, and measurement invariance among women with eating disorders and healthy school and university students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:12341. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182312341

47. Ali AM, Hendawy AO, Elhay ESA, Ali EM, Alkhamees AA, Kunugi H, et al. The Bergen Facebook Addiction Scale: its psychometric properties and invariance among women with eating disorders. *BMC Women's Health.* (2022) 22:99. doi: 10.1186/s12905-022-01677-2

48. Henseler J, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *J Acad Market Sci.* (2015) 43:115–35. doi: 10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8

49. Meade AW, Bauer DJ. Power and precision in confirmatory factor analytic tests of measurement invariance. *Struct Eq Model.* (2007) 14:611–35. doi: 10.1080/10705510701575461

50. Rutkowski L, Svetina D. Assessing the hypothesis of measurement invariance in the context of large-scale international surveys. *Educ Psychol Meas.* (2014) 74:31–57. doi: 10.1177/0013164413498257

51. Kenny DA, Kaniskan B, McCoach DB. The performance of RMSEA in models with small degrees of freedom. *Sociol Methods Res.* (2015) 44:486–507. doi: 10.1177/0049124114543236

52. Shi D, DiStefano C, Maydeu-Olivares A, Lee T. Evaluating SEM model fit with small degrees of freedom. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2021) 2021:1–36. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2020.1868965

53. Ali AM, Al-Amer R, Kunugi H, Stănculescu E, Taha SM, Saleh MY, et al. The Arabic version of the Impact of Event Scale – Revised: psychometric evaluation in psychiatric patients and the general public within the context of COVID-19 outbreak and quaran-tine as collective traumatic events. *J Personal Med.* (2022) 12:681. doi: 10.3390/jpm12050681

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Maha Atout, Philadelphia University, Jordan

REVIEWED BY Zezhou Wang, Fudan University, China Hajime Iwasa, Fukushima Medical University, Japan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Jia-In Lee u9400039@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 27 September 2022 ACCEPTED 03 November 2022 PUBLISHED 17 November 2022

#### CITATION

Chen T-Y, Geng J-H, Chen S-C and Lee J-I (2022) Living alone is associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in a population-based cross-sectional study. *Front. Public Health* 10:1054615. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1054615

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Geng, Chen and Lee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Living alone is associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in a population-based cross-sectional study

# Te-Yu Chen<sup>1</sup>, Jiun-Hung Geng<sup>2,3,4,5</sup>, Szu-Chia Chen<sup>5,6,7,8</sup> and Jia-In Lee<sup>9,10\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Post-Baccalaureate Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup>Department of Urology, Kaohsiung Municipal Siaogang Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup>Department of Urology, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup>Graduate Institute of Clinical Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>5</sup>Research Center for Environmental Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>6</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Municipal Siaogang Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>7</sup>Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>8</sup>Faculty of Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup>Graduate Institute of Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung Medical

**Background:** Living alone has been linked to poor mental health, however large-scale epidemiological studies on the association between living alone and psychiatric morbidity including depression and anxiety are lacking. The aim of this study was to investigate this issue in a large Taiwanese cohort.

**Methods:** In this cross-sectional study, we enrolled 121,601 volunteers from 29 community recruitment stations in Taiwan and divided them into two groups based on whether or not they lived alone. Psychiatric morbidity was defined as a Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item score  $\geq$  3, Patient Health Questionnaire 2-item score  $\geq$  3, or self-reported depression. Logistic regression was used to explore the associations between living alone and psychiatric morbidity.

**Results:** The participants who lived alone had a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity [odds ratio (OR) = 1.608, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.473 to 1.755] after adjusting for potential confounders. In a subgroup analysis, married subjects who lived alone and divorce/separation (OR = 2.013, 95% CI = 1.763 to 2.299) or widowing (OR = 1.750, 95% CI = 1.373 to 2.229) were more likely to have psychiatric morbidity than those who were married and not living alone.

**Conclusions:** Our findings suggest that living alone is a risk factor for psychiatric morbidity, especially for married subjects who live alone in concordance with divorce, separation, or the death of a spouse.

#### KEYWORDS

dependence, depression, anxiety, Psychiatric disorders, psychiatric distress, psychiatric morbidities, living alone

## Introduction

In recent years, the increase in unmarried, later marriage, and divorce rates has caused the pattern of marriage and family to change dramatically. A smaller family size has led to a growth in single-person households (1), and social isolation and a lack of contact has been associated with health issues such as mental disorders, dementia, poor nutrition, and cardiac disease (2-4). Worldwide, more than 300 million people are affected by depression, and more than 250 million live with anxiety disorders (5). According to a cross-sectional survey in Taiwan, the prevalence of potentially common mental diseases, including non-psychotic, depression, and anxiety disorders, doubled from 11.5% in 1990 to 23.8% in 2010 (6). Proper care and treatment for these patients can reduce mortality and extend life expectancy (7). Moreover, an increase in the prevalence of these common mental diseases would result in tremendous medical and social costs (8, 9), making it crucial to determine the risk factors and comorbidities associated with them.

Researchers have investigated the relationship between living alone and mental health, and found that social isolation increases the risk of common mental diseases (10). However, these studies mainly focused on the effects of depression on elderly populations, rather than on the general or young populations. In addition, only a few have mentioned the association between living alone and other psychiatric conditions, such as anxiety, and most only included a small number of subjects (11). Furthermore, as the number of singleperson households increases, mental disorders could also affect younger people who are unmarried or divorced as well as elderly populations.

Psychiatric morbidity is a symptom-based medical term generally applied to those aware of their condition, including a variety of mental illnesses, such as depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, et cetera, which is well-suited for exploring the association between living alone and mental health (12). One advantage of using psychiatric morbidity to test our hypothesis is that it not only covers depression, but also other psychiatric disorders as well. Another advantage is that psychiatric morbidity often represents the symptomatic group, which makes our results more clinically meaningful (12). Because living alone has been associated with loneliness (13), social support (14), and substance use (15), which are risk factors for psychiatric morbidity, we hypothesize that living alone is associated with psychiatric morbidity. Previously, numerous studies have documented that education (16), smoking (17), drinking (18), chronic disorders (19), stressful life events (20) and obesity (21) are associated with psychiatric morbidity; however, only a few have mentioned the association between living alone and psychiatric morbidity, and most only included a small number of subjects (10). The goals of this study were to determine the association between living alone and psychiatric morbidity.

## Materials and methods

## Data source and study population

The data used in this study were from a populationbased dataset derived from 29 community recruitment stations in Taiwan since 2008, details of which have been described in our previous publications (22-24). In brief, all subjects were enrolled as volunteers and completed several questionnaires including basic profile, habitus, past history, Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item (GAD-2) and Patient Health Questionnaire 2-item (PHQ-2). They also underwent physical examinations during which body weight and height were measured and blood tests were performed. Before enrollment, all subjects understood the purpose, interests, pros and cons of our research and signed a consent form. All researchers followed the Declaration of Helsinki throughout the study, which was approved by the Institutional Review Board of our institute (KMUHIRB-E(I)-20210058).

## Variables

The variables used in this study came from the aforementioned questionnaires, physical examinations, and blood tests. Data on age, gender, smoking status, drinking status, exercise status, marital status, educational status, medical history, GAD-2 and PHQ-2 scores, were obtained from the questionnaires. Data on body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference were obtained from the physical examinations, and data on serum creatinine and chronic kidney disease (defined as an estimated glomerular filtration rate < 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) were obtained from the blood tests.

## Living arrangements and marital status

Each subject would need to fill out a questionnaire about their living arrangements and marital status. Regarding living arrangements, there are two options in the questionnaire: (1) living alone and (2) living with family or others. Based on the subjects' responses, they were divided into living alone (+) and living alone (-). Regarding marital status, there are four options in the questionnaire: (1) unmarried (single/never married), (2) married, (3) divorced or separated, and (4) widowed. We further combined living arrangements with marital status, and subjects were subdivided into 6 groups: (1) living alone (+)and unmarried, (2) living alone (+) and married, (3) living alone (+) and divorce/separation, (4) living alone (+) and widowing, (5) living alone (-) and unmarried, (6) living alone (-) and married.

## Psychiatric morbidity

Psychiatric morbidity was defined as depression and anxiety in this study. We used the PHQ-2, GAD-2, and self-reported depression to assess the presence or absence of psychiatric morbidity. The PHQ-2 uses the following two questions to assess a subject's depressive condition in the last 2 weeks: "Do you feel little interest or pleasure in doing things? (0 = not)at all; 1 = several days; 2 = more than half the days; 3= nearly every day)" and "Do you feel down, depressed, or hopeless? (0 = not at all; 1 = several days; 2 = more than half the days; 3 = nearly every day)". The GAD-2 also uses two questions to assess a subject's anxiety in the last 2 weeks as follows: "Do you feel nervous, anxious, or on edge? (0 = not at all; 1 = several days; 2 = more than half the days; 3 = nearly every day)" and "Do you feel unable to stop or control worrying? (0 = not at all; 1 = several days; 2 = morethan half the days; 3 = nearly every day)". Participants with a PHQ-2 score of 3 to 6 were considered to have depressive tendencies, and those with a GAD-2 score of 3 to 6 were considered to have anxiety tendencies. We further defined psychiatric morbidity as a GAD-2 score > 3, PHQ-2 score > 3, or self-reported depression.

## Statistical analysis

We used descriptive statistics to describe the profiles of all subjects. Continuous variables are expressed as means and standard deviations, and categorical variables are expressed as numbers and percentages. We then divided the subjects into two groups according to whether or not they lived alone, and the differences between groups were measured using the independent t test and chi-square test. The possible confounders of the association between living alone and psychiatric morbidity were identified through literature reviews, including age (25), sex (25), obesity (21), educational status (16), smoking (17), drinking (18), physical activity (26), marital status (27) and chronic diseases (heart disease, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, gastrointestinal problems, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, gout, osteoporosis, chronic kidney disease, neurological diseases and substance abuse) (19, 28-30). To further identify the risk factors, these possible confounders were entered into the feature selection process using the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression, by assigning each training observation to be subdivided randomly into 10 parts, then by a method of an automated 10-fold cross-validation (31). We further used univariable and multivariable logistic regression to test the association of each variable with psychiatric morbidity. Finally, we conducted a subgroup analysis to explore the association of marriage and dependency with psychiatric morbidity. In this study, a p value < 0.05 indicated a

significant association. Our analysis was performed using R (version 3.6.2, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Wien, Austria), SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States) and SPSS (version 20.0, IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, United States).

## Results

## Profiles of the participants

A total of 121,601 participants with sufficient data were included in our analysis. Their average age was 50 years, 27.3% smoked, 8.5% drank alcohol, 86.4% were married, 3.6% had self-reported diagnosed depression, 4.5% had psychiatric morbidity and 8.1% lived alone (Table 1). Among the 16,582 participants who completed the PHQ-2 and GAD-2, the average PHQ-2 score was 0.53, the GAD-2 score was 0.56, 4.2% had a PHQ-2  $\geq$  3, and 5.4% had a GAD-2  $\geq$  3. The subjects' past medical histories are also listed in Table 1. The subjects who lived alone (n =9,828) had a lower BMI, lower waist circumference, higher proportion of smoking, drinking, PHQ-2  $\geq$  3, GAD-2  $\geq$ 3, psychiatric morbidity, and more were unmarried than those who did not live alone. Concerning past medical history, the subjects who lived alone were more likely to have diabetes, respiratory diseases, gastrointestinal diseases, orthopedic diseases, neurological diseases and self-reported diagnosed depression than those who did not live alone (Table 1).

# Parameters associated with psychiatric morbidity in univariable binary logistic analysis

By performing LASSO regression, we excluded three variables, including drinking status, exercise and chronic kidney disease, that had minimal effects on psychiatric morbidity (Supplementary Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 1). The remaining 24 variables were entered into further analysis. In univariable binary logistic analysis, female gender, smoking, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, orthopedic diseases, gastrointestinal diseases, neurological diseases, and living alone were associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric disorders (Table 2). The subjects who lived alone had a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity with an odds ratio (OR) of 1.831 [95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.689 to 1.986, p <0.001]. Conversely, being married and having a high degree of education were associated with a lower prevalence of psychiatric disorders (Table 2).

#### TABLE 1 Profiles of participants.

Characteristics	Total	Living alone (+)	Living alone (-)	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 121,601)	(n = 9,828)	(n = 111,773)	
Age, yr	$50 \pm 11$	$50 \pm 12$	$50 \pm 11$	0.311
Male gender, $n$ (%)	43,699 (35.9)	3,000 (30.5)	40,699 (36.4)	< 0.001
Body mass index, kg/m2	$24.2\pm3.8$	$24.0\pm4.0$	$24.2\pm3.8$	< 0.001
Waist circumference, cm	$83.3\pm10$	$82.7\pm10.8$	$83.4\pm10.2$	< 0.001
Smoking status, ever, <i>n</i> (%)	33,156 (27.3)	2,765 (28.1)	30,391 (27.2)	0.044
Drinking status, ever, $n$ (%)	10,357 (8.5)	892 (9.1)	9,465 (8.5)	0.039
Regular exercise, yes, $n$ (%)	49,304 (40.5)	4,073 (41.4)	45,231 (40.5)	0.059
Marital status, married, <i>n</i> (%)	105,059 (86.4)	5,409 (55.0)	99,650 (89.2)	< 0.001
Education status, $\geq$ College, <i>n</i> (%)	70,475 (58.0)	6,054 (61.6)	64,421(57.6)	< 0.001
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	14,887 (12.2)	1,185 (12.1)	13,702 (12.3)	0.574
Diabetes, n (%)	6,276 (5.2)	569 (5.8)	5,707 (5.1)	0.003
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	9,041 (7.4)	759 (7.7)	8,282 (7.4)	0.261
CAD, <i>n</i> (%)	1,562 (1.3)	142 (1.4)	1,420 (1.3)	0.146
Valvular heart disease, $n$ (%)	5,092 (4.2)	513 (5.2)	4,579 (4.1)	< 0.001
Asthma. n (%)	4,301 (3.5)	408 (4.2)	3,893 (3.5)	0.001
COPD, <i>n</i> (%)	1,390 (1.1)	154 (1.6)	1,236 (1.1)	< 0.001
Osteoporosis, n (%)	4,994 (4.1)	535 (5.4)	4,459 (4.0)	< 0.001
Gout, <i>n</i> (%)	4,675 (3.8)	289 (2.9)	4,386 (3.9)	< 0.001
GERD, <i>n</i> (%)	16,666 (13.7)	1,463 (14.9)	15,203 (13.6)	< 0.001
Peptic ulcer, <i>n</i> (%)	17,701 (14.6)	1,531 (15.6)	16,170 (14.5)	0.003
IBS, <i>n</i> (%)	3,026 (2.5)	275 (2.8)	2,751 (2.5)	0.041
CKD, <i>n</i> (%)	1,951 (1.6)	178 (1.8)	1,773 (1.6)	0.092
Parkinson's disease, n (%)	131 (0.1)	11 (0.1)	120 (0.1)	0.872
Dementia, n (%)	37 (0.2)	7 (0.1)	30 (0.0)	0.027
Schizophrenia, <i>n</i> (%)	237 (0.2)	34 (0.3)	203 (0.2)	0.001
Substance abuse, <i>n</i> (%)	44 (0.0)	9 (0.1)	35 (0.0)	0.008
Self-reported depression	4,362 (3.6)	607 (6.2)	3,755 (3.4)	< 0.001
PHQ-2	$0.53\pm0.99$	$0.73\pm1.15$	$0.51\pm0.97$	< 0.001
$PHQ-2 \ge 3^*$	699 (4.2)	87 (6.4)	612 (4.0)	< 0.001
GAD-2	$0.56\pm0.97$	$0.73\pm1.15$	$0.54\pm0.96$	< 0.001
$GAD-2 \ge 3^*$	896 (5.4)	117 (8.6)	779 (5.0)	< 0.001
Psychiatric morbidity	5,414 (4.5)	729 (7.4)	4,685 (4.2)	< 0.001

CAD, coronary artery disease; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; GERD, gastroesophageal reflux disease; IBS, irritable bowel syndrome; CKD, chronic kidney disease; PHQ-2, Patient Health Questionnaire 2-item; GAD-2, Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item.

\*There were 16,582 participants providing data on GAD-2 and PHQ-2.

# Parameters associated with psychiatric morbidity in multivariate binary logistic analysis

In multivariable binary logistic analysis, female gender, waist circumference, smoking, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, orthopedic diseases, gastrointestinal diseases, neurological diseases, and living alone were associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric disorders (Table 3). The subjects who lived alone had a higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity with an OR of 1.608 (95% CI = 1.473 to 1.755, p < 0.001) after adjusting for potential confounders. In contrast, age, BMI, being married, and having a high degree of education were associated with a lower prevalence of psychiatric disorders (Table 3). We further analyzed males and females separately, and the results were similar to the results of the whole study population (Supplementary Table 2).

TABLE 2	Parameters associated with psychiatric morbidity in
univarial	ole binary logistic analysis.

Parameters	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Age (per 1 year)	1.002 (1.000 to 1.005)	0.086
Female gender (vs. male gender)	1.683 (1.581 to 1.791)	< 0.001
Body mass index (per 1 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.996 (0.989 to 1.003)	0.277
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.001 (0.999 to 1.004)	0.338
Smoking status, ever (vs. never)	1.244 (1.173 to 1.319)	< 0.001
Marital status, married (vs. no)	0.805 (0.747 to 0.867)	< 0.001
Education status, $\geq$ College (vs. no)	0.846 (0.809 to 0.884)	< 0.001
Hypertension, yes (vs. no)	1.264 (1.171 to 1.366)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus, yes (vs. no)	1.485 (1.336 to 1.650)	< 0.001
Dyslipidemia, yes (vs. no)	1.700 (1.561 to 1.853)	< 0.001
CAD, yes (vs. no)	1.804 (1.494 to 2.177)	< 0.001
Valvular heart disease, yes (vs. no)	2.115 (1.910 to 2.342)	< 0.001
Asthma, yes (vs. no)	2.016 (1.802 to 2.254)	< 0.001
COPD, yes (vs. no)	2.128 (1.766 to 2.564)	< 0.001
Osteoporosis, yes (vs. no)	1.853 (1.664 to 2.064)	< 0.001
Gout, yes (vs. no)	0.768 (0.656 to 0.900)	0.001
GERD, yes (vs. no)	2.244 (2.106 to 2.391)	< 0.001
Peptic ulcer, yes (vs. no)	2.048 (1.921 to 2.182)	< 0.001
IBS, yes (vs. no)	3.023 (2.698 to 3.387)	< 0.001
Parkinson's Disease, yes (vs. no)	3.877 (2.407 to 6.247)	< 0.001
Dementia, yes (vs. no)	9.096 (4.492 to 18.418)	< 0.001
Schizophrenia, yes (vs. no)	6.857 (5.085 to 9.249)	< 0.001
Substance abuse, yes (vs. no)	7.166 (3.620 to 14.186)	< 0.001
Living alone, yes (vs. no)	1.831 (1.689 to 1.986)	< 0.001

Abbreviations are as Table 1, CI, Confidence interval.

# Odds ratios for psychiatric morbidity by marital status

Because the presence or absence of living alone is related to marital status, we then performed a subgroup analysis, and divided the subjects into two groups according to marital status. As shown in Supplementary Table 3, the risk of psychiatric morbidity in the unmarried group was not affected by living alone (OR = 1.155, 95% CI = 0.990 to 1.348, p = 0.067), however the risk of psychiatric disorders in the married group was related to living alone (OR = 1.876, 95% CI = 1.692 to 2.081, p < 0.001). The results were similar when analyzing men and women separately (Supplementary Table 4). Moreover, married subjects who lived alone and divorce/separation (OR = 2.013, 95% CI = 1.763 to 2.299, p < 0.001) or widowing (OR = 1.750, 95% CI = 1.373 to 2.229, p <0.001) were more likely to have psychiatric morbidity than those who were married and not living alone (Table 4 and Supplementary Table 5).

TABLE 3 Parameters associated with psychiatric morbidity in multivariate binary logistic analysis.

Parameters	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value
Age (per 1 year)	0.992 (0.989 to 0.995)	< 0.001
Female gender (vs. male gender)	2.359 (2.180 to 2.553)	< 0.001
Body mass index (per 1 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.966 (0.953 to 0.979)	< 0.001
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.016 (1.010 to 1.021)	< 0.001
Smoking status, ever (vs. never)	1.771 (1.650 to 1.900)	< 0.001
Marital status, married (vs. no)	0.899 (0.824 to 0.980)	0.015
Education status, $\geq$ College (vs. no)	0.856 (0.806 to 0.909)	< 0.001
Hypertension, yes (vs. no)	1.184 (1.084 to 1.292)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus, yes (vs. no)	1.263 (1.125 to 1.417)	< 0.001
Dyslipidemia, yes (vs. no)	1.358 (1.234 to 1.495)	< 0.001
CAD, yes (vs. no)	1.397 (1.143 to 1.708)	0.001
Valvular heart disease, yes (vs. no)	1.569 (1.411 to 1.744)	< 0.001
Asthma, yes (vs. no)	1.632 (1.453 to 1.834)	< 0.001
COPD, yes (vs. no)	1.482 (1.218 to 1.803)	< 0.001
Osteoporosis, yes (vs. no)	1.418 (1.264 to 1.591)	< 0.001
Gout, yes (vs. no)	0.844 (0.713 to 0.999)	0.048
GERD, yes (vs. no)	1.661 (1.550 to 1.780)	< 0.001
Peptic ulcer, yes (vs. no)	1.618 (1.510 to 1.733)	< 0.001
IBS, yes (vs. no)	2.375(2.109 to 2.674)	< 0.001
Parkinson's Disease, yes (vs. no)	2.750 (1.620 to 4.669)	< 0.001
Dementia, yes (vs. no)	5.679 (2.586 to 12.472)	< 0.001
Schizophrenia, yes (vs. no)	5.435 (3.932 to 7.513)	< 0.001
Substance abuse, yes (vs. no)	4.178 (1.960 to 8.908)	< 0.001
Living alone, yes (vs. no)	1.608 (1.473 to 1.755)	< 0.001

Abbreviations are as Table 1, CI, Confidence interval.

Covariates in the multivariable model included age, gender, body mass index, waist circumference, smoking status, married status, educational status, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, coronary artery disease, valvular heart disease, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, osteoporosis, gout, gastroesophageal reflux disease, peptic ulcer, irritable bowel syndrome, Parkinson's Disease, dementia, schizophrenia and substance abuse.

## Discussion

This study is the largest population-based study to examine the association between living alone and psychiatric morbidity, and it showed a statistically significant association between them. We also found that this association was present in the subjects who were married, but not in those who were not married. In addition, married subjects who lived alone in concordance with divorce, separation, or the death of a spouse were associated with a higher risk of psychiatric morbidity.

Living alone has been associated with poor mental health conditions (32–36). Stahl, et al. (32) found that living alone was associated with elevated levels of depressive symptoms compared to living with a family member. Similar findings were

#### TABLE 4 Odds ratios for psychiatric morbidity by marital status.

Characteristics	No. of psychiatric morbidity cases/ no. of subjects (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	p value
All subjects, unmarried ( $n = 16,542$ )			
Living alone (-)	619/12,123 (5.1)	reference	-
Living alone (+)	259/4,419 (5.9)	1.155 (0.990 to 1.348)	0.067
All subjects, married ( $n = 105,059$ )			
Living alone (-)	4,066/99,650 (4.1)	reference	-
Living alone (+) and married	74/1,088 (6.8)	1.688(1.368 to 2.056)	< 0.001
Living alone (+) and widowing	120/1,392 (8.6)	1.750 (1.373 to 2.229)	< 0.001
Living alone (+) and divorce or separation	276/2,929 (9.4)	2.013 (1.763 to 2.299)	< 0.001

CI, Confidence interval.

Covariates in the multivariable model included age, gender, body mass index, waist circumference, smoking status, educational status, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, coronary artery disease, valvular heart disease, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, osteoporosis, gout, gastroesophageal reflux disease, peptic ulcer, irritable bowel syndrome, Parkinson's Disease, dementia, schizophrenia and substance abuse.

also noted in the elderly population (34). In a qualitative metaanalysis, Hu, et al. found that older people living alone had a higher risk of depression than those not living alone (33). Consistent with our results, the relationship between living alone and anxiety has also been discussed in previous research; for example, Hunt, et al. (35) and Yu, et al. (36) found that people living alone had a significantly higher risk of generalized anxiety disorder than those living with their families.

An interesting finding of this study is that living alone increased the risk of psychiatric morbidity in married subjects, but not in unmarried subjects. A previous study reported that the psychological well-being of divorced and widowed people was poorer than those who never married (37). Marital relationships can provide a sense of well-being and emotional support, producing mutual obligations and reinforcements between the two parties (38, 39). These relationships reduce vulnerability to psychological disorders. However, a change in this connection has been shown to significantly increase depressive symptoms (40). Thus, this might explain a higher likelihood of married people but living alone suffering from psychiatric disorders.

We also found that married subjects who lived alone and widowed had a 1.76-fold risk of having psychiatric morbidity compared to those who were married and not living alone. Widowhood has been known for being a catastrophic event with a negative impact on both physical and emotional wellbeing (41, 42). Various factors have influenced the degree of emotional response to spouse loss such as age, gender, length of widowhood, health condition, economic status, and living arrangements (43, 44). Srivastava, et al. (45) reported that the interaction between marital status and living arrangements on depression showed that widowed and living alone elderly were more likely to suffer from depression than those currently married and co-residing. The rates of depression were highest in widowed and living alone, followed by widowed and co-residing, currently married and co-residing, currently married and living alone (45). The negative psychological well-being of widowhood could be explained by the poor emotional and financial support that comes with spouse loss (46, 47).

Meanwhile, the relationship between living alone and lack of social support was also reported in COVID-19 related studies that resulted in higher risk of depression and anxiety (48, 49). The addition of widowed and separated status was revealed to be related to depression and poor quality of life due to loneliness (50). Poor psychological well-being has been linked to objective social isolation (51) and subjectively perceived social support, such as loneliness (52). Moreover, in a large nationally longitudinal study, Domènech-Abella, et al. (53) reported that both loneliness and social isolation affected the probability of suffering from depression and anxiety.

This is an important public health issue, because people suffered from psychiatric disorders are at increased risk of suicide, self-harm, and mortality (54-56). Thus, proper care and treatment are crucial to reduce mortality and extend life expectancy. Stahl, et al. (32) suggested that adults living alone need to have a better perception of neighborhood social quality. Having a good relationship with neighbors has been shown to relieve loneliness and depression by increasing the availability of social activities, receiving practical help from others, and making older people feel safer and more secure (57-59). Another study showed that leisure activities may moderate poor mental health in older adults living alone (60). Older adults living alone may have reduced physical activity and social interaction, and encouraging them to participate in leisure activities could increase their level of physical activity and social connection with others and affect positive emotional outcomes (60-62). Thus, people living alone tend to have fewer social interactions and activities and feel lonely and insecure (36).

Having a good relationship with neighbors or participating in leisure activities could reduce the risk of suicide, self-harm, and mortality.

Besides living alone, other parameters are also associated with psychiatric morbidity. Our results revealed that the subjects with chronic diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular, respiratory, orthopedic, gastrointestinal, or neurological diseases had a higher likelihood of psychiatric morbidity (63-66). Chaudhry, et al. (67) reported a prevalence of psychiatric morbidity among insulin-dependent patients of 18%, and that people with diabetes mellitus were twice as likely as the general population to suffer from psychiatric morbidity. Psychiatric morbidity is common in patients with coronary heart disease, and a previous study reported that 16% of patients assessed seven days after myocardial infarction had symptoms consistent with a major depressive episode (68, 69). With regards to the relationship between respiratory diseases and psychiatric morbidity, a study in India found that 44.8% of patients with respiratory illnesses had a mental illness compared with 24.3% of controls (70).

The relationship between psychiatric morbidity and chronic diseases could be attributed to patients' panic, pessimism, and emotional imbalance after diagnosis. From the aspect of biology, the hypothalamic adrenocortical axis could be induced by both depression and diabetes (67). Devolving psychiatric morbidity, hypertension, and cardiovascular diseases could be attributed to a lack of the central neurotransmitter serotonin (68, 71, 72). Thus, people with chronic diseases have an increased risk of psychiatric morbidity.

Although our study is the most extensive populationbased study examining the relationship between living alone and psychiatric morbidity to date, several limitations should be acknowledged. First, the design of this study was crosssectional, and thus determining the duration of psychiatric morbidity in the people living alone is difficult. Further prospective studies are needed to elucidate the causal effects of living alone on psychopathology. Second, we used selfreport questionnaires to assess psychiatric morbidity. As psychiatric disorders remain a social stigma, some people may have hesitated to answer truthfully, and thus we may have underestimated the prevalence of psychiatric morbidity. Furthermore, we may have underestimated the role of certain comorbid conditions due to a lack of information. Third, we defined psychiatric morbidity as a GAD-2 score  $\geq$ 3, PHQ-2 score  $\geq$ 3, or self-reported depression to include both depression and anxiety as the main focus of this study. However, we lacked data on self-reported anxiety. The initial questionnaire design of our study did not cover self-reported anxiety, so we used the GAD-2 score  $\geq 3$  to represent anxiety groups. Such an approach has been validated in other studies (73, 74). Fourth, we did not include some factors that may affect

mental health, such as income, work, socioeconomic status, physical activity, and family support (75–77). This may have led to an underestimation of the risk of psychiatric morbidity and the association with living alone. Finally, only 16,582 participants completed the PHQ-2 and GAD-2, resulting in a lot of missing data. However, both PHQ-2 and GAD-2 are quantitative indicators which can represent the current status of participants, and by combining self-reported depression, PHQ-2 and GAD-2 can provide a holistic understanding of living alone and mental disorders.

## Conclusion

Our findings suggest that living alone is a risk factor for psychiatric morbidity, especially in those who are married. This highlights the importance of improving the care system for married persons living alone in concordance with divorce, separation or the death of a spouse to protect their physical and mental health. Further well-designed prospective studies are needed to investigate the causal effects of living alone on psychopathology.

## Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: the data underlying this study is from the Taiwan Biobank. Due to restrictions placed on the data by the Personal Information Protection Act of Taiwan, the minimal data set cannot be made publicly available. Data may be available upon request to interested researchers. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to S-CC, scarchenone@yahoo.com.tw.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital (KMUHIRB-E(I)-20210058). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

Conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing—review and editing, and visualization: J-HG and J-IL. Software and project administration: J-HG. Validation, supervision, and funding acquisition: S-CC. Resources: J-HG and S-CC. Writing original draft preparation: T-YC. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## Funding

This work was supported partially by the Research Center for Environmental Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, from The Featured Areas Research Center Program within the framework of the Higher Education Sprout Project by the Ministry of Education (MOE) in Taiwan and by Kaohsiung Medical University Research Center Grant (KMU-TC111A01-1 and KMUTC1111FSP01).

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.1054615/full#supplementary-material

## References

1. Aldrich HE, Cliff JE. The pervasive effects of family on entrepreneurship: toward a family embeddedness perspective. *J Busi Ventur.* (2003) 18:573–96. doi: 10.1016/S0883-9026(03)00011-9

2. Hanna KL, Collins PF. Relationship between living alone and food and nutrient intake. *Nutr Rev.* (2015) 73:594–611. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv024

3. Udell JA, Steg PG, Scirica BM, Smith SC, Ohman EM, Eagle KA, et al. Living alone and cardiovascular risk in outpatients at risk of or with atherothrombosis. *Arch Intern Med.* (2012) 172:1086–95. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2012.2782

4. Hughes M, Gove WR. Living alone, social integration, and mental health. Am J Sociol. (1981) 87:48–74. doi: 10.1086/227419

5. World Health O. Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization en. (2017).

6. Fu TS, Lee CS, Gunnell D, Lee WC, Cheng AT. Changing trends in the prevalence of common mental disorders in Taiwan: a 20-year repeated cross-sectional survey. *Lancet (London, England).* (2013) 381:235– 41. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61264-1

7. Liu NH, Daumit GL, Dua T, Aquila R, Charlson F, Cuijpers P, et al. Excess mortality in persons with severe mental disorders: a multilevel intervention framework and priorities for clinical practice, policy and research agendas. *World Psychiatry.* (2017) 16:30–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20384

8. Trautmann S, Rehm J, Wittchen HU. The economic costs of mental disorders: Do our societies react appropriately to the burden of mental disorders? *EMBO Rep.* (2016) 17:1245–9. doi: 10.15252/embr.201642951

9. Rice DP, Kelman S, Miller LS. The economic burden of mental illness. *Hosp Community Psychiatry*. (1992) 43:1227–32. doi: 10.1176/ps.43.12.1227

10. Jacob L, Haro JM, Koyanagi A. Relationship between living alone and common mental disorders in the 1993, 2000 and 2007 national psychiatric morbidity surveys. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0215182. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215182

11. Ansseau M, Fischler B, Dierick M, Albert A, Leyman S, Mignon A. Socioeconomic correlates of generalized anxiety disorder and major depression in primary care: the GADIS II study (Generalized Anxiety and Depression Impact Survey II). *Dep Anxiety.* (2008) 25:506–13. doi: 10.1002/da.20306

12. Lee JI, Burdick KE, Ko CH, Liu TL, Lin YC, Lee MB. Prevalence and factors associated with suicide ideation and psychiatric morbidity among inpatients of a general hospital: A consecutive three-year study. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci.* (2021) 37:427–33. doi: 10.1002/kjm2.12336

13. Russell D. Living arrangements, social integration, and loneliness in later life: the case of physical disability. *J Health Soc Behav.* (2009) 50:460–75. doi: 10.1177/0022146509050 00406

14. Grav S, Hellzèn O, Romild U, Stordal E. Association between social support and depression in the general population: the HUNT study, a cross-sectional survey. *J Clin Nurs.* (2012) 21:111–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.03868.x

15. Heydari ST, Izedi S, Sarikhani Y, Kalani N, Akbary A, Miri A, et al. The prevalence of substance use and associated risk factors among university students in the City of Jahrom, Southern Iran. *Int J High Risk Behav Addic.* (2015) 4:e22381. doi: 10.5812/ijhrba.4(2)2015.22381

16. Dutta S, Kar N, Thirthalli J, Nair S. Prevalence and risk factors of psychiatric disorders in an industrial population in India. *Indian J Psychiatry*. (2007) 49:103–8. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.33256

17. Asharani PV, Ling Seet VA, Abdin E, Siva Kumar FD, Wang P, Roystonn K, et al. Smoking and mental illness: prevalence, patterns and correlates of smoking and smoking cessation among psychiatric patients. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:5571. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17155571

18. Raghuraman P, Balasundaram S, Sarkar S, Subramaniam E, A. cross-sectional study of psychiatric morbidity and quality of life among participants utilizing the preventive health-care services of a tertiary hospital. *Indian J Psychiatry.* (2019) 61:192–7. doi: 10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry\_159\_18

19. Daré LO, Bruand PE, Gérard D, Marin B, Lameyre V, Boumédiène F, et al. Co-morbidities of mental disorders and chronic physical diseases in developing and emerging countries: a meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health.* (2019) 19:304. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6623-6

20. Su TP, Lien TC, Yang CY, Su YL, Wang JH, Tsai SL, et al. Prevalence of psychiatric morbidity and psychological adaptation of the nurses in a structured SARS caring unit during outbreak: a prospective and periodic assessment study in Taiwan. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2007) 41:119–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.12.006

21. Lee JI, Busler JN, Millett CE, Principe JL, Levin LL, Corrigan A, et al. Association between visceral adipose tissue and major depressive disorder across the lifespan: a scoping review. *Bipolar Disord.* (2022) 24:375-91. doi: 10.1111/bdi.13130

22. Li JY, Lee JI, Lu CC, Su YD, Chiu CT, Chen SC, et al. Hyperuricemia and its association with osteoporosis in a large Asian Cohort. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:2206. doi: 10.3390/nu14112206

23. Chang CW, Ke HL, Lee JI, Lee YC, Jhan JH, Wang HS, et al. Metabolic syndrome increases the risk of kidney stone disease: a cross-sectional and longitudinal cohort study. *J Personal Med.* (2021) 11:1154. doi: 10.3390/jpm11111154

24. Lee MR, Ke HL, Huang JC, Huang SP, Geng JH. Obesity-related indices and its association with kidney stone disease: a cross-sectional and longitudinal cohort study. *Urolithiasis*. (2022) 50:55–63. doi: 10.1007/s00240-021-01288-w

25. Bebbington P, Dunn G, Jenkins R, Lewis G, Brugha T, Farrell M, et al. The influence of age and sex on the prevalence of depressive conditions: report

from the national survey of psychiatric morbidity. Int Rev Psychiatry. (2003) 15:74–83. doi: 10.1080/0954026021000045976

26. Schuch FB, Vancampfort D. Physical activity, exercise, and mental disorders: it is time to move on. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother*. (2021) 43:177–84. doi: 10.47626/2237-6089-2021-0237

27. Olaya B, Bobak M, Haro JM, Demakakos P. Trajectories of verbal episodic memory in middle-aged and older adults: evidence from the english longitudinal study of ageing. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2017) 65:1274–81. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14789

28. Sporinova B, Manns B, Tonelli M, Hemmelgarn B, MacMaster F, Mitchell N, et al. Association of mental health disorders with health care utilization and costs among adults with chronic disease. *JAMA Network Open.* (2019) 2:e199910. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.9910

29. Raghupathi W, Raghupathi V. An empirical study of chronic diseases in the United States: a visual analytics approach. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2018) 15:431. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15030431

30. Bridges KW, Goldberg DP. Psychiatric illness in inpatients with neurological disorders: patients' views on discussion of emotional problems with neurologists. *Br Med J.* (1984) 289:656–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.289.6446.656

31. Wang XY, Lin JJ, Lu MK, Jang FL, Tseng HH, Chen PS, et al. Development and validation of a web-based prediction tool on minor physical anomalies for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia*. (2022) 8:4. doi: 10.1038/s41537-021-00198-5

32. Stahl ST, Beach SR, Musa D, Schulz R. Living alone and depression: the modifying role of the perceived neighborhood environment. *Aging Mental Health.* (2017) 21:1065–71. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2016.1191060

33. Xiu-Ying H, Qian C, Xiao-Dong P, Xue-Mei Z, Chang-Quan H. Living arrangements and risk for late life depression: a meta-analysis of published literature. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2012) 43:19–34. doi: 10.2190/PM.43.1.b

34. Dean A, Kolody B, Wood P, Matt GE. The influence of living alone on depression in elderly persons. J Aging Health. (1992) 4:3-18. doi: 10.1177/089826439200400101

35. Hunt C, Issakidis C, Andrews G, DSM-IV. generalized anxiety disorder in the Australian national survey of mental health and well-being. *Psychol Med.* (2002) 32:649–59. doi: 10.1017/S0033291702005512

36. Yu J, Choe K, Kang Y. Anxiety of older persons living alone in the community. Healthcare. (2020) 8:287. doi: 10.3390/healthcare8030287

37. Tucker JS. Health-related social control within older adults' relationships. J Gerontol Series B. (2002) 57:P387–95. doi: 10.1093/geronb/57.5.P387

38. Gove WR, Style CB, Hughes M. The effect of marriage on the well-being of adults:a theoretical analysis. *J Family Issues.* (1990) 11:4–35. doi: 10.1177/019251390011001002

39. Ren XS. Marital status and quality of relationships: the impact on health perception. *Soc Sci Med.* (1982) 44:241–9. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00158-X

40. Kim HK, McKenry PC. The relationship between marriage and psychological well-being: a longitudinal analysis. *J Family Issues.* (2002) 23:885–911. doi: 10.1177/019251302237296

41. Schneider DS, Sledge PA, Shuchter SR, Zisook S. Dating and remarriage over the first two years of widowhood. *Ann Clin Psychiatry.* (1996) 8:51–7. doi: 10.3109/10401239609148802

42. Wilcox S, Evenson KR, Aragaki A, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Mouton CP, Loevinger BL. The effects of widowhood on physical and mental health, health behaviors, and health outcomes: the women's health initiative. *Health Psychol.* (2003) 22:513–22. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.22.5.513

43. Krochalk PC Li Y, Chi I. Widowhood and self-rated health among Chinese elders: the effect of economic condition. *Aust J Ageing.* (2008) 27:26–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6612.2007.00269.x

44. Moon JR, Kondo N, Glymour MM, Subramanian SV. Widowhood and mortality: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2011) 6:e23465. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023465

45. Srivastava S, Debnath P, Shri N, Muhammad T. The association of widowhood and living alone with depression among older adults in India. *Scient Rep.* (2021) 11:21641. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-01238-x

46. Ansari S, Muhammad T, Dhar M. How does multi-morbidity relate to feeling of loneliness among older adults? Evidence from a population-based survey in India. *J Popul Ageing.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s12062-021-09343-5

47. Srivastava S, Shaw S, Chaurasia H, Purkayastha N, Muhammad T. Feeling about living arrangements and associated health outcomes among older adults in India: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1322. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11342-2

48. Wang S, Quan L, Chavarro JE, Slopen N, Kubzansky LD, Koenen KC, et al. Associations of depression, anxiety, worry, perceived stress, and loneliness prior

to infection with risk of post-COVID-19 conditions. JAMA Psychiatry. (2022) 79:1081-91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.2640

49. Qi T, Hu T, Ge QQ, Zhou XN Li JM, Jiang CL, et al. COVID-19 pandemic related long-term chronic stress on the prevalence of depression and anxiety in the general population. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2021) 21:380. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03385-x

50. Wongprommate D, Wongpakaran T, Pinyopornpanish M, Lerttrakarnnon P, Jiraniramai S, Satthapisit S, et al. Predictors for quality of life among older adults with depressive disorders: A prospective 3-month follow-up cohort study. *Perspect Psychiatr Care*. (2022) 58:1029–36. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12895

51. Levula A, Wilson A, Harré M. The association between social network factors and mental health at different life stages. *Quality of Life Res.* (2016) 25:1725–33. doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1200-7

52. Wang J, Mann F, Lloyd-Evans B, Ma R, Johnson S. Associations between loneliness and perceived social support and outcomes of mental health problems: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2018) 18:156. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1736-5

53. Domènech-Abella J, Mundó J, Haro JM, Rubio-Valera M. Anxiety, depression, loneliness and social network in the elderly: Longitudinal associations from The Irish longitudinal study on ageing (TILDA). J Affect Disord. (2019) 246:82–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.043

54. Shaw RJ, Cullen B, Graham N, Lyall DM. Mack, et al. Living alone, loneliness and lack of emotional support as predictors of suicide and self-harm: a nineyear follow up of the UK Biobank cohort. J Affect Disord. (2021) 279:316– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.026

55. Turecki G, Brent DA. Suicide and suicidal behaviour. Lancet. (2016) 387:1227-39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00234-2

56. Tabue Teguo M, Simo-Tabue N, Stoykova R, Meillon C, Cogne M, Amiéva H, et al. Feelings of loneliness and living alone as predictors of mortality in the elderly: the PAQUID study. *Psychosomat Med.* (2016) 78:904–9. doi: 10.1097/PSY.000000000000386

57. Robinette JW, Charles ST, Mogle JA, Almeida DM. Neighborhood cohesion and daily well-being: results from a diary study. *Soc Sci Med.* (1982) 96:174– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.07.027

58. Arrieta H, Rezola-Pardo C, Echeverria I, Iturburu M, Gil SM, Yanguas JJ, et al. Physical activity and fitness are associated with verbal memory, quality of life and depression among nursing home residents: preliminary data of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr.* (2018) 18:80. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0770-y

59. Elliott J, Gale CR, Parsons S, Kuh D. Neighbourhood cohesion and mental wellbeing among older adults: a mixed methods approach. *Soc Sci Med.* (1982) 107:44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.02.027

60. Yoshida Y, Iwasa H, Ishioka Y, Suzukamo Y. Leisure activity moderates the relationship between living alone and mental health among Japanese older adults. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2021) 21:421–5. doi: 10.1111/ggi.14151

61. Yoshida Y, Iwasa H, Kumagai S, Suzuki T, Awata S, Yoshida H. Longitudinal association between habitual physical activity and depressive symptoms in older people. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2015) 69:686–92. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12324

62. Chao SF. Changes in leisure activities and dimensions of depressive symptoms in later life: a 12-year follow-up. *Gerontologist.* (2016) 56:397–407. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu052

63. Yellowlees PM, Alpers JH, Bowden JJ, Bryant GD, Ruffin RE. Psychiatric morbidity in patients with chronic airflow obstruction. *Med J Aust.* (1987) 146:305–7. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.1987.tb120267.x

64. Bergquist H, Ruth M, Hammerlid E. Psychiatric morbidity among patients with cancer of the esophagus or the gastro-esophageal junction: a prospective, longitudinal evaluation. *Dis Esoph.* (2007) 20:523–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2007.00741.x

65. Wong WS, Chen PP, Yap J, Mak KH, Tam BK, Fielding R. Chronic pain and psychiatric morbidity: a comparison between patients attending specialist orthopedics clinic and multidisciplinary pain clinic. *Pain Med.* (2011) 12:246– 59. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.01044.x

66. Ron MA, Logsdail SJ. Psychiatric morbidity in multiple sclerosis: a clinical and MRI study. *Psychol Med.* (1989) 19:887–95. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700005602

67. Chaudhry R, Mishra P, Mishra J, Parminder S, Mishra BP. Psychiatric morbidity among diabetic patients: a hospital-based study. *Indust Psychiatry J.* (2010) 19:47–9. doi: 10.4103/0972-6748.77637

68. Davies SJ, Jackson PR, Potokar J, Nutt DJ. Treatment of anxiety and depressive disorders in patients with cardiovascular disease. *BMJ.* (2004) 328:939–43. doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7445.939

69. Frasure-Smith N, Lespérance F, Talajic M. Depression and 18-month prognosis after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. (1995) 91:999–1005. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.91.4.999

70. Sharma BB, Singh S, Sharma VK, Choudhary M, Singh V, Lane S, et al. Psychiatric morbidity in chronic respiratory disorders in an Indian service using GMHAT/PC. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2013) 35:39–44. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2012.09.009

71. Serebruany VL, Glassman AH, Malinin AI, Nemeroff CB, Musselman DL, van Zyl LT, et al. Platelet/endothelial biomarkers in depressed patients treated with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor sertraline after acute coronary events: the sertraline antidepressant heart attack randomized trial (SADHART) platelet substudy. *Circulation.* (2003) 108:939–44. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000085163.21752.0A

72. Sauer WH, Berlin JA. Kimmel SE. Effect of antidepressants and their relative affinity for the serotonin transporter on the risk of myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. (2003) 108:32–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000079172.43229.CD

73. Zhang C, Wang T, Zeng P, Zhao M, Zhang G, Zhai S, et al. Reliability, validity, and measurement invariance of the general anxiety disorder

scale among Chinese medical university students. Front Psychiatry. (2021) 12:648755. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.648755

74. Silva MT, Caicedo Roa M, Martins SS, da Silva ATC, Galvao TF. Generalized anxiety disorder and associated factors in adults in the Amazon, Brazil: a population-based study. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 236:180–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.04.079

75. Araya R, Lewis G, Rojas G, Fritsch R. Education and income: which is more important for mental health? *J Epidemiol Commun Health.* (2003) 57:501–5. doi: 10.1136/jech.57.7.501

76. Yu Y, Williams DR. Socioeconomic status and mental health. In: Aneshensel CS, Phelan JC, editors. *Handbook of the Sociology of Mental Health*. Boston, MA: Springer US (1999). p. 151–166.

77. Williams DR, Yan Y, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial differences in physical and mental health: socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. *J Health Psychol.* (1997) 2:335–51. doi: 10.1177/135910539700200305

# Frontiers in **Public Health**

## Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

## **Discover the latest Research Topics**



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

## Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



